
 
 

CABINET 
Agenda 
 

Date Monday 15 November 2021 
 

Time 6.00 pm 
 

Venue Crompton Suite, Civic Centre, Oldham, West Street, Oldham, OL1 1NL 
 

Notes 
 

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST- If a Member requires any advice on 
any item involving a possible declaration of interest which could affect 
his/her ability to speak and/or vote he/she is advised to contact Paul 
Entwistle or Liz Drogan in advance of the meeting. 
 
2. CONTACT OFFICER for this Agenda is Liz Drogan Tel. 0161 770 5151 
or email elizabeth.drogan@oldham.gov.uk  
 
3. PUBLIC QUESTIONS – Any member of the public wishing to ask a 
question at the above meeting can do so only if a written copy of the 
question is submitted to the Contact officer by 12 Noon on Wednesday, 10 
November 2021. 
 
4.  FILMING – This meeting will be recorded for live and/or subsequent 
broadcast on the Council’s website.  The whole of the meeting will be 
recorded, except where there are confidential or exempt items and the 
footage will be on our website. This activity promotes democratic 
engagement in accordance with section 100A(9) of the Local Government 
Act 1972. The cameras will focus on the proceedings of the meeting.  
 
Any member of the public who attends a meeting and objects to being 
filmed for the Council’s broadcast should advise the Constitutional Services 
Officer who will instruct that they are not included in the filming. 
 
Members of the public and the press may also record / film / photograph or 
broadcast this meeting when the public and the press are not lawfully 
excluded. Please note that anyone using recording equipment both audio 
and visual will not be permitted to leave the equipment in the room where a 
private meeting is held. 
 
Recording and reporting the Council’s meetings is subject to the law 
including the law of defamation, the Human Rights Act, the Data Protection 
Act and the law on public order offences. 
 

 MEMBERSHIP OF THE CABINET IS AS FOLLOWS: 
 Councillors Akhtar, Chadderton, Chauhan, Jabbar, Moores, Mushtaq, 

Roberts, Shah and Stretton 
 

 

Public Document Pack



 
 

Item No  

1   Apologies For Absence  

2   Urgent Business  

 Urgent business, if any, introduced by the Chair 

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To Receive Declarations of Interest in any Contract or matter to be discussed at 
the meeting. 

4   Public Question Time  

 To receive Questions from the Public, in accordance with the Council’s 
Constitution. 

5   Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 18th October 2021 (Pages 1 - 4) 

6   Oldham Council Corporate Peer Challenge : Action Plan (Pages 5 - 14) 

7   Final Accounts 2020-21 (Pages 15 - 302) 

8   Treasury Management Mid Year Review 2021/22 (Pages 303 - 328) 

9   Refresh of Greater Manchester VCSE Accord (Pages 329 - 358) 

10   Oldham Performance Space: Design Team appointment (Pages 359 - 366) 

11   Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they contain exempt information under paragraph 3 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and it would not, on balance, be in the 
public interest to disclose the reports. 

12   Oldham Performance Space: Design Team appointment (Pages 367 - 376) 

 



 

CABINET 
18/10/2021 at 6.00 pm 

 
 

Present: Councillor   Shah (Chair)  
Councillors Akhtar, Chauhan, Jabbar, Moores, Mushtaq, 
Roberts and Stretton 
 

 

 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

Apologies were received from Councillor Chadderton. 
  

2   URGENT BUSINESS   

There were no items of urgent business received. 

3   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

Councillor Chauhan declared a personal interest at item 6 of the 
agenda by virtue of being a Founder of a Homeless Friendly 
Charity. 

4   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   

There were no public questions received.  

5   MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 20TH 
SEPTEMBER 2021  

 

RESOLVED - That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 
20th September 2021 be approved as a correct record. 

6   OLDHAM HOMELESSNESS PREVENTION AND 
REDUCTION STRATEGY 2021-26  

 

Consideration was given to a report of the Director of Economy 
which informed the Cabinet that all Local Authorities were 
required to publish a new Homelessness Strategy every five 
years, as a minimum, based on a review of homelessness in the 
district. The Council’s current Strategy covered the period 2016-
21. The report sought approval for the new Homelessness 
Strategy 2021-26. 
 
Members were informed that the Homelessness Act 2002 
placed a statutory requirement on local authorities to publish a 
Homelessness Strategy based on a Review of homelessness in 
their district. These strategies must be published at least every 5 
years, with Oldham’s most recent Strategy running from 2016-
2021. 
 
Oldham’s new Homelessness Prevention and Reduction 
Strategy 2021-26 had been developed in consultation with 
residents, stakeholders and Elected Members, and informed by 
a comprehensive Review of homelessness between 2016-2020. 
The Review particularly focussed on the period since the 
introduction of the Homelessness Reduction Act between 2018-
2020, including an in-depth analysis of customer groups 
presenting to the Housing Options service, their support needs 
and the reasons why they came to be homeless. 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 5



 

 
The Strategy Delivery Plan took a pragmatic approach to 
tackling homelessness in Oldham, acknowledging that 
resources were finite, and the effects of austerity and the Covid-
19 pandemic would have a lasting impact on communities. Its 
focus was on making best use of what the Council had and 
demonstrated an effective business case for further investment 
and working in partnership to deliver the following priorities: 

 Advice and information 

 Early identification 

 Pre-crisis intervention 

 Prevent recurring homelessness 

 Partnership arrangements 
 
Options/alternatives  

1. Approve the contents of the Oldham Homelessness 
Prevention and Reduction Strategy 2021-26 

2. Retain the priorities from the previous Homelessness 
Strategy 2016-21 

 
RESOLVED – That: 

1. The contents of the Oldham Homelessness Review 2016-
20 be noted. 

2. The contents of the Oldham Homelessness Prevention 
and Reduction Strategy 2021-26 be approved. 

7   TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION STRATEGY 2021-24   

Members gave consideration to a report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive which sought approval of a new Temporary 
Accommodation Strategy and accompanying delivery plan, 
which set out how the Council would deliver efficiency and 
sustainment of temporary accommodation options pursuant to 
its statutory obligations. 
 
The Cabinet noted that the introduction of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act coupled with the Council’s statutory housing 
advice service coming back in-house were notable contributors 
to the development of the Council’s Temporary Accommodation 
Strategy 2021-24. 
 
The approach outlined in the Strategy would ensure the Council 
was able to withstand forthcoming homelessness pressures that 
hade been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic, namely the 
introduction of the Domestic Abuse Act 2021 and moratorium on 
bailiff evictions. 
 
The Strategy and Delivery Plan outlined a programme for 
delivery of temporary accommodation that would help reduce 
budgetary pressures, meet suitability and legal compliance 
standards and improve sustainability in the light of anticipated 
challenges. 
 
Options/alternatives  

1. Do not approve the Temporary Accommodation Strategy 
2021-24 and accompanying Delivery Plan.  Page 2



 

2. Approve the Temporary Accommodation Strategy 2021-
24 and the accompanying delivery plan and commence a 
procurement exercise to create a TA Provider framework. 

3. Approve the Temporary Accommodation Strategy 2021-
24 and accompanying delivery plan only. 

 
RESOLVED – That the Cabinet would consider the 
commercially sensitive information detailed at Item 10 before 
making a decision. 

8   WASTE COLLECTION VEHICLES   

Members gave consideration to a report of the Deputy Chief 
Executive which sought approval to purchase five new waste 
collection vehicles. The vehicles would replace five old vehicle 
(2012 plates) and allow the waste management service to 
maintain and appropriately manage its statutory duties around 
domestic and commercial waste collections. 
 
Members were informed that Oldham Council’s Waste 
Management Service required five new vehicles to maintain the 
service. After exploring all available options, the service was 
seeking approval to purchase the new vehicle fleet through the 
procurement process outlined within the report. 
 
RESOLVED – That the Cabinet would consider the 
commercially sensitive information detailed at Item 11 before 
making a decision. 

9   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC   

RESOLVED that, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded 
from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they contain exempt information under paragraph 3 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and it would not, on 
balance, be in the public interest to disclose the reports. 

10   TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION STRATEGY 2021-24   

The Cabinet gave consideration to the commercially sensitive 
information in relation to Item 7 – Temporary Accommodation 
Strategy 2021-24. 
 
RESOLVED – That the recommendations as detailed within the 
report be agreed.  

11   WASTE COLLECTION VEHICLES   

The Cabinet gave consideration to the commercially sensitive 
information in relation to Item 8 – Waste Collection Vehicles. 
 
RESOLVED – That the recommendations as detailed within the 
report be agreed. 
 

The meeting started at 6.00pm and ended at 6.17pm 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
Reason for Decision 
Full Council received the LGA’s Corporate Peer Challenge feedback report in June 2020 
and as part of that report a commitment was made to present an action plan setting out 
how Oldham is responding to the recommendations contained within the feedback report. 
Attached as an appendix to this report is a copy of that action plan which is presented to 
the Cabinet for agreement.  
 
Executive Summary 
Oldham Council undertook a voluntary Corporate Peer Challenge between 21-24 January 
2020 which was facilitated by the Local Government Association and undertaken by 
Senior Elected Members and Chief Officers across Local Government and the Voluntary 
Sector.  
 
As part of the commitment to commissioning a Corporate Peer Challenge the Council 
agreed to prepare an action plan setting out how we will respond to the recommendations 
contained within the feedback report and ensure that this is presented to the Cabinet. This 
action plan is set out in appendix 1 to this report. 
 
Recommendations 
 
The Cabinet is asked to note the contents of the report and agree to the action plan as set 
out in appendix 1. 
 

Report to CABINET  

 
Oldham Council Corporate Peer Challenge : 
Action Plan 
 

Portfolio Holder:  
Councillor Arooj Shah, Leader of the Council 
 
Officer Contact:  Harry Catherall, Chief Executive 
 
Report Author: Lewis Greenwood, Head of Executive Services 
 
 
15 November 2021 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



 

  2 

 
Cabinet 15 November 2021 
 
 
1 Background 
 

1.1 Oldham Council undertook a voluntary Corporate Peer Challenge between 21-24 
January 2020 which was facilitated by the Local Government Association and 
undertaken by Senior Elected Members and Chief Officers across Local 
Government and the Voluntary Sector.  

 

As part of the commitment to commissioning a Corporate Peer Challenge the 
Council agreed to prepare an action plan setting out how we will respond to the 
recommendations contained within the feedback report and ensure that this is 
presented to the Cabinet. This action plan is set out in appendix 1 to this report. 

 
 All Corporate Peer Challenges explore a number of areas as set out below: 
 

1. Understanding of the local place and priority setting 
2. Leadership of Place 
3. Financial Planning and Viability  
4. Organisational Leadership and Governance 
5. Capacity to Deliver 

 
In addition to this the Council sought feedback on our whole system approach to Public 
Service Reform. 
 
The Challenge Team spent four days in Oldham and during this time spoke with a large 
number of Councillors, staff, partners and community groups which focused on the above 
areas. 
 
The Council received a feedback report following the process and this was presented to 
Full Council in June 2020. This report highlighted that the Council has clear vision and 
energy for the Borough, our ambition and future direction of travel, our relentless focus to 
improving outcomes for our residents and the strong partnership ethos that is in place 
across the Borough. The report also praised our ‘bold, brave and honest’ approach to 
Public Service Reform and that the Council has commitment, passion and ambition for our 
organisation and place and that we pride ourselves of being a Council of Oldham and not 
in Oldham. 
 
The report identified that the scale of Oldham’s ambition is a strength, although this does 
present a challenge. The challenge team recommended a number of key points to be 
considered by the Council. These recommendations are set out in the action plan 
attached to this report, together with an update on how the Council is responding to them.
   

 
2 Current Position 
 
2.1 The Council has prepared an action plan in response to the recommendations of the 

feedback report and that is presented to the Cabinet as appendix 1 for agreement. The 
narrative sets out the progress already made against the actions but also confirms our 
commitment as a Council to taking these actions forward as part of business as usual 
activity.  

 
3 Options/Alternatives 

Page 6



 

  3 

 
3.1 The Council committed to publishing an action plan in response to the Peer Challenge 

process and that is being presented to the Cabinet for agreement prior to being made 
available on our website. 

 
4 Preferred Option 
 
4.1 As set out in section 3.1 of this report. 
 
5 Consultation 
 
5.1 Progress against the recommendations contained within the action plan will be presented 

to Overview and Scrutiny Committee to ensure the appropriate scrutiny and oversight is in 
place.  

 
6 Financial Implications  
 
6.1 None. 
 
 Anne Ryans, Director of Finance 
 
7 Legal Services Comments 
 
7.1 None. 
 
 Paul Entwistle, Director of Legal 
 
8. Co-operative Agenda 
 
8.1 The response to the recommendations contained within the feedback report are 

complimentary to the Council’s co-operative agenda. 
 
9 Human Resources Comments 
 
9.1 None. 
 
 Julia Veall, Director of Workforce and Organisational Design 
 
10 Risk Assessments 
 
10.1 N/A 
 
11 IT Implications 
 
11.1 N/A 
 
12 Property Implications 
 
12.1 N/A 
 
13 Procurement Implications 
 
13.1 N/A 
 
14 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 

Page 7



 

  4 

14.1 N/A 
 
15 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
15.1 None. 
 
16 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 
 
16.1  No 
 
17 Key Decision 
 
17.1 No 
 
18 Key Decision Reference 
 
18.1 N/A 
 
19 Background Papers 
 
19.1 The following papers are attached as background papers: 
 1. Corporate Peer Challenge report to Full Council – June 2020 
 2. Corporate Peer Challenge feedback report received – June 2020 
 
20 Appendices  
 
20.1 The Council’s action plan in response to the recommendations contained within the 

feedback report is attached as appendix 1 to this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 8



                 Appendix 1 

Oldham Council – Corporate Peer Challenge High Level Action Plan setting out how Oldham has and is continuing to respond to 

the recommendations contained within the feedback report. 

 

Peer Challenge Team – key recommendations 
 
 

How Oldham is responding to the recommendation 

Focus the various priorities into a clear, achievable singular 
corporate set as part of the forthcoming Team Oldham Plan 

The Council has significantly refreshed the organisation’s 
corporate plan and developed the Covid-19 Recovery Strategy 
as its interim Corporate Plan for 2021/22. The refreshed plan 
sets out the Council’s priorities and this was approved at Full 
Council in July 2021. 
 
In May 2021 new Council Leader, Councillor Arooj Shah set out 
her priorities for the organisation and the borough. These are: 

1. Building a stronger relationship with residents, creating a 
Council that is responsive to local priorities  

2. Delivering clean streets initiative and tackling fly tipping 
– significant investment in tackling cleanliness of the 
borough 

3. Delivering the Council’s transformational regeneration 
plan for town centres based on principles of equality and 
shared prosperity  

 
A new 5-10 year Corporate Plan and Partnership Oldham Plan 
has been commissioned by the Leader of the Council for 
completion by Spring 2022. 
 

P
age 9



Once done, review the levels of oversight and assurance 
against this more focused set of priorities to ensure appropriate 
support and challenge is in place, which is suitably informed 
 

The levels of oversight and assurance against the council’s 
priorities as included within the Covid-19 Recovery Strategy is 
jointly owned by the Cabinet and Senior Management Team of 
the Council. Actions linked to the Covid-19 Recovery Strategy 
are contained within departmental business plans and reported 
to Overview and Scrutiny on a quarterly basis. This progress 
will also form part of the annual Overview and Scrutiny report 
presented to Full Council. 
 
A new revised Corporate Performance Framework is in place 
which is presented to the Cabinet on a quarterly basis. 
 

Review the additional benefits that Overview and Scrutiny can 
bring in helping to shape and challenge the delivery of the key 
priorities for the council and the borough 
 

A review of the role and functions of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees has been undertaken. A revised workplan for 
2020/21 and future years is in place which provides challenge 
and input to progress made against the priorities contained 
within the Covid-19 Recovery Strategy and the future 
Corporate Plan. 
 

Continue to embed the Strategic Design Authority approach at 
pace so that it can drive the delivery of the transformation 
programme and realisation of savings 
 

The Council has embedded its approach to the delivery of the 
programme delivering both transformation and budget savings 
throughout its governance. The Cabinet continues to provide 
the direction of travel and have overall oversight of the 
programme to deliver transformation and budget savings. 
 
Delivery of an effective member led priority-based budget is a 
priority for the Council and that work is underway. 
 

Agree a programme of ongoing savings which can be delivered 
at pace to stop the reliance on one off funding and reserves 
 
 

As per the above section.  
 
 

P
age 10



 

Progress the ‘Creating a Better Place’ vision and strategic 
framework given the significant potential benefits for the 
borough, as well as the medium – longer terms financial 
sustainability of the council 
 

We are continuing to progress our ‘Creating a Better Place’ 
vision and strategic framework for the borough. Since the Peer 
Challenge the Cabinet have taken forward: 

 An updated vision for Oldham Town Centre; 

 A Housing Strategy 2019 

 An updated Medium Term Property Strategy. 
 
Cabinet have also requested that we have: 

 An approach to accelerate delivery of new homes and 
jobs, enhanced training, places to visit and ensure 
Oldham is a place for investment; 

 The ambition to deliver ‘Creating a Better Place’ in ways 
that contribute to a reduction in carbon in support of the 
Council’s Green New Deal. 

 
Since May 2021 the Council have secured investment into the 
borough including a successful bid for Town Deal Funding of 
£24m, on top of the £10m awarded from the Future High Street 
Fund and £6m Brownfield Housing Land Fund.  
 
The corporate recovery plan and embracing new ways of 
working has enabled new momentum for the delivery of various 
programmes of work and delivery of the first year savings 
target of £1.8m is also underway.  
 
The Council continues to provide update reports to the Cabinet 
at different stages of delivering the vision and strategic 
framework for the borough. It will also report through to 
Overview and Scrutiny on a regular basis to ensure that there 
is robust support and challenge in place. 
 

P
age 11



Develop a specific set of phased asks from partners both inside 
Oldham and across Greater Manchester which will help you to 
deliver the vision for Oldham 
 

As highlighted within the Corporate Peer Challenge feedback 
report, the Council has established excellent working 
relationships both at a local and regional level. We continue to 
be constructive at Greater Manchester via the Leader and 
Chief Executive to ensure Oldham receives the maximum 
benefits for the place and our residents. These relationships 
have been strengthened significantly since May 2021. 
 
Our Covid-19 Recovery Strategy is a shared ambition of the 
Council and our partners. Our partners continue to play a vital 
role in ensuring Oldham achieves its ambitions. The Council’s 
current Oldham Plan – which is developed and agreed by the 
Leader of the Council and the Oldham Leadership Board – is 
scheduled to be refreshed in 2022 and as part of this we will 
have a detailed action plan which will deliver against our vision 
and priorities. 
 

Further develop relationships with partners in the private sector 
 

The Council is committed to further developing relationships 
with the private sector. The private sector plays a key role in 
Oldham and will continue to do so going forward to ensure that 
we deliver our ‘Creating a Better Place’ vision and strategic 
framework. The private sector has a key role in ensuring 
successful delivery of our refreshed housing strategy as agreed 
at Cabinet in 2019. 
 
The Council launched our Town Deal Board and Housing 
Partnership in 2020 – both of which include private sector 
partners to help inform, collaborate and deliver broader 
opportunities for our local communities. 
 
In September 2021, the Leader and Chief Executive of the 
Council have relaunched the Council’s commitment to 

P
age 12



Business Breakfast events in Oldham which bring together a 
range of businesses to promote, showcase and highlight the 
incredible businesses that are on offer in Oldham. 
 

Work with partners in the VCFSE to formalise a framework 
setting out how the council works with the sector, building on 
the good practice already being seen 
 

Oldham continues to have strong working relationships with the 
VCFSE sector and very much sees them as an equal partner in 
delivering vital services to our communities. This has been 
even more evident during our response to the Covid-19 
Pandemic. 
 
A MOU is in place with Greater Manchester and the sectors 
and Oldham continues to adopt the principles of this. 
 

Consider holistically how the energy, commitment and creativity 
of the workforce across Team Oldham can be optimised 
 

Prior to the peer challenge process, work had progressed at 
pace on developing a new workforce strategy for Team Oldham 
which aligns to the priorities as set out within the Covid-19 
Recovery Strategy. This strategy is now in place and 
compliments the delivery of the transformation programme and 
business as usual activity. It also ensures that the workforce is 
fully supported to deliver against our priorities.  
 
The Cabinet agreed to the workforce strategy in June 2020. 
 

 

 

Lewis Greenwood 

Head of Executive Services 

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

Executive Summary 
 
The report presents the Council’s Statement of Accounts for the financial year 2020/21 
as considered by the Audit Committee on 29 July 20201.  Delegated authority was given 
to the Vice Chair of the Audit Committee after consultation with Director of Finance to 
approve the accounts, pending the completion of the outstanding work on the Council’s 
group accounts, IT audit and the receipt, by the External Auditor, of assurances with 
regard to the audit of the Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF).  
 
The accounts were subsequently approved on 30 September 2021 within the statutory 
deadline. There were no changes to the Statement of Accounts presented and accepted 
at the Audit Committee on 29 July 2020. 
 
The report highlights: 

 

• The overall revenue outturn position for 2020/21 was a surplus of £2.153m;  

• The year-end variances that were attributable to each Portfolio;    

• The level of grants received in relation to the COVID-19 Pandemic; 

• Schools balances at 31 March 2021 were £9.306m 

• The Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) deficit was £3.560m which is now held in 
an unusable reserve rather than being netted off the Schools balances (as 
presented in the accounts in previous years); 

• The final Housing Revenue Account (HRA) balance was £21.370m; 

• The balance on the Collection Fund was a deficit of £27.213m; 

 
Report to Cabinet 

 

2020/21 Annual Statement of Accounts 
 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Abdul Jabbar MBE – Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Member - Finance and Low Carbon  
 

Officer Contact:   Anne Ryans – Director of Finance   
 
Report Author:    Lee Walsh – Finance Manager (Capital and Treasury)  
Ext. 6608 
 
15 November 2021 

 
 

Reason for Decision  
 

To advise Cabinet of the approved 2020/21 audited Statement of Accounts and External 
Auditor (Mazars LLP) Audit Completion Report (ACR).  
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



 

  2 

• The revenue account earmarked reserves at £113.512m, other earmarked 
reserves at £29.452m (Revenue Grant Reserves of £20.145m plus School 
Balances as above) and an increase in the General Fund balance of £2.153m to 
£17.263m, reflective of the revenue outturn position;  

• Expenditure on the Council’s Capital Programme for 2020/21 was £73.227m 
which is an increase on the month 9 forecast expenditure of £71.012m. The 
increase in expenditure required funding allocated to future years to be re-profiled 
to fully finance the Capital Programme in 2020/21; 

• The significant items in each of the primary financial statements; 

• The preparation of Group Accounts incorporating the Councils two wholly owned 
companies – the Unity Partnership Ltd. and MioCare Community Interest 
Company; 

• The Annual Governance Statement; 

• The performance of the Finance Team in closing the accounts.  
 
The presentation of the audited Statement of Accounts provides Cabinet Members with 
the opportunity to review the Council’s year-end financial position (following completion 
of the audit by the Council’s External Auditors, Mazars LLP), prior to consideration of 
the accounts by Council.   
 
Recommendations 
 
That Cabinet:  
  

1) Notes the Council’s final accounts position for 2020/21, the  audited Statement 
of Accounts, the draft Audit Completion Report and subsequent letter entitled 
Completion of Pending Matters – Audit Completion Report. 

2) Notes that the audit of the accounts for 2020/21 by the External Auditors Mazars 
LLP can only be finalised once the Value for Money (VFM) opinion is provided 
and Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) audit  is completed and that a further 
report outlining the VFM and WGA final positions will be presented.  

3) Commends this report and Statement of Accounts to Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



 

  3 

Cabinet                                                   15 November 2021
  
1 Background 
 
1.1 The Council is required to prepare a Statement of Accounts for each financial year. The 

accounts must be prepared in accordance with statutory timelines and accounting 
practices. Since 2010/11 those accounting practices have been based on International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) which attempt to facilitate the production of 
accounts in a standardised and consistent format across the public and private sectors 
giving greater transparency for stakeholders.  
 

1.2 These accounting practices are set out in the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) 2020/21 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the 
UK and any additional CIPFA guidance such as the year end Final Accounts Bulletins. 
Members of the Audit Committee can be assured that the accounts were prepared so 
that all the requirements of the Code have been complied with.  

 
1.3 The deadline for the preparation of the 2019/20 Accounts was extended due to the 

pandemic and it was again revised for 2020/21, recognising the multi-year impact of 
COVID-19. The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
introduced the Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021, which changed the 
statutory audit deadlines for all Local Authorities.  

 
1.4  The impact on deadlines and timescales was as follows: 
 

• The publication date for the final, audited, accounts for 2020/21 moved from 31 
July to 30 September 2021 (30 September 2022 for the 2021/22 accounts) 
 

• To give Local Authorities more flexibility, the requirement for the public 
inspection period to include the first 10 working days of June was removed. 
Instead, Local Authorities had to commence the public inspection period on or 
before the first working day of August 2021, which required the draft accounts 
to be presented for audit by 31 July or earlier wherever possible. 

 
1.5 For the year 2020/21, Authorities had to publish the dates of their public inspection 

period, providing a public notice on their websites when the public inspection period 
would usually commence, explaining why they departed from normal practice for 2021. 
The Council published such a notice. This advised that the public inspection period ran 
from 17 June 2021 to 28 July 2021. The Council received no objections to the 
Statement of Accounts within the inspection period. 

 
1.6 The legislation requires that following the conclusion of a 30 working day period of 

public inspection, the Council had to submit the Statement of Accounts for 
consideration and approval to Committee or by Members meeting as a whole. For 
Oldham, the body designated to receive the accounts is the Audit Committee.  

 
2 Current Position 
 
2.1 The Council submitted its draft financial statements to the External Auditors, Mazars 

LLP, on 6 June 2021 which was a little later than expected due to the impact of the 
pandemic. In order to facilitate the audit process, the Council made working papers 
available to the auditors prior to the handover of the Statement of Accounts. 
 

2.2 In line with good practice, the draft Statement of Accounts was issued to Audit 
Committee members. The Statement of Accounts was presented, with a covering 
report outlining key issues, to the Audit Committee at its meeting of 29 June 2021. This 

Page 17



 

  4 

gave members of the Audit Committee the opportunity to consider the key issues and 
ask officers and the External Auditor any relevant questions. All matters raised were 
addressed at the meeting to the satisfaction of the Committee. The Statement of 
Accounts was subsequently considered at the Audit Committee on 29 July 2021.  

 
2.3 At the Audit Committee meeting on 29 July 20201, the audit of the Accounts was 

substantially complete, but there were a few outstanding items: 
 

a) Audit work on the consolidation of the Council’s Group Accounts  
b) The completion of work on the IT audit 
c) The requirement for Mazars LLP to receive on assurance with regard to the audit 

of the Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF).  
 

2.4 As the outstanding matters were still not resolved by the meeting of 29 July, the Audit 
Committee approved the delegation of the final approval of the Council’s Statement of 
Accounts (once there had been a resolution of the outstanding items) to the Vice Chair 
of the Audit Committee having regard to the advice of the Director of Finance and the 
External Auditor. It had been anticipated that it would only take the External Auditor a 
short period of time to conclude the outstanding matters, however this did not prove 
the case and an update the audit was provided to the Audit Committee at its meeting 
on 9 September 2021, advising Members that the audit was still not complete. 

 
2.5 The Statement of Accounts had been updated during the audit process. The changes 

can be found at Appendix 2 and all were included in the version considered at the 29 
July Audit Committee. The accounts were subsequently approved on 30 September 
2021 within the statutory deadline. The full amended Statements are shown in 
Appendix 1.  
 

2.6 Due to a change in the external audit requirement with regard to the Value for Money 
review, Mazars LLP is yet to complete work on the Value for Money (VFM) opinion in 
respect of the Council’s arrangements for the year ended 31 March 2021. This work is 
still ongoing at the time of preparing this report.  To date the auditors have not identified 
any significant weaknesses in arrangements that require them to make a 
recommendation. 

 
2.7 The final element of the 2020/21 audit is the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) 

return. The audit of the WGA is always undertaken after the Statement of Accounts has 
been approved. It is important to note that the audit process cannot be fully finalised 
until WGA audit is complete. This is not expected to be problematic, and the WGA audit 
is likely to be commence early in 2022.  

 
2.8 At the Audit Committee meeting on 29 July 2021, Mazars LLP provided the Council 

with a draft Annual Audit Completion Report (ACR). The draft ACR gave an unqualified 
opinion on the financial statements and provided assurance that no material errors had 
been identified for the twelfth successive year.  The draft ACR is presented at Appendix 
3. 

 
2.9 The draft ACR resulted in only one low priority ranking recommendation with regards 

to Housing Benefit reconciliations and progress has been made to fully address the 
issue highlighted. 

 
2.10 Following the completion of the final elements of audit work, a letter entitled ‘Conclusion 

of  Pending Matters – Audit Completion Report’ was issued.  This is presented at 
Appendix 4.   This highlighted three further low priority recommendations as follows: 

 
a) A revision to the consolidation of the Council’s Group Accounts with regard to the 

Group’s Debtors and Creditors. Whilst accepting the recommendation, it was 

Page 18



 

  5 

considered that the impact on the 2020/21 Statement of Accounts was not 
material therefore the accounts were not adjusted. However, the Council will 
incorporate the recommended action into the 2021/22 close down process.  

b) The IT element of the audit was completed with two low priority recommendations 
for improvement, one relating to single sign on to IT systems and one relating to 
IT system recovery.  Again, action has been taken to address the issues. 

 
2.11 Reports outlining the contents of the letter entitled ‘Conclusion of Pending Matters - 

Audit Completion Report’ and the full response of the Council to the four low priority 
recommendations were presented to the Audit Committee on 2 November 2021. 
. 

2.12  It is important to note that this was the third year that the Council’s audit has been 
undertaken by Mazars LLP, and due to the COVID-19 pandemic as would be expected, 
extensive testing was conducted, including the examination of samples and more in-
depth review of processes.  In view of the limited comments and recommendations, the  
overall audit process was very positive. 

 
3 General Fund Revenue Outturn 

 
3.1 The Council’s 2020/21 revenue outturn position has been presented in the Portfolio 

structure, with a comparison to the revenue budget set out in Table 1 below. The 
forecast outturn position was presented to Cabinet on a monthly basis from month 3 to 
month 9 during 2020/21. This reporting was more frequent than normal given the 
financial challenges the Council faced, certainly in the early part of the financial year. 
 

Table 1 – 2020/21 Revenue Outturn Compared to Revised Budget 
 

 Portfolio  
Budget 

£000 
Actual 
£000 

Variance 
£000 

People and Place 87,923 92,379 4,456 

Community Health & Adult Social Care 69,232 67,575 (1,657) 

Children's Services 81,706 89,765 8,059 

Communities and Reform 42,259 42,626 367 

Commissioning 15,795 16,287 492 

Chief Executive 3,771 3,515 (256) 

Capital, Treasury and Technical Accounting (2,441) 12,803 15,244 

Corporate and Democratic Core 6,731 6,731 - 

Parish Precepts and Grants 310 310 - 

COVID-19 Funding 18,010 (7,641) (25,651) 

Resources Returned from GMCA - (3,248) (3,248) 

Net Service Expenditure 323,295 321,102 (2,193) 

Collection Fund - (29,692) (29,692) 

Total Net Service Expenditure 323,295 291,410 (31,885) 

Financing  (321,895) (321,852) 43 

Collection Fund (Surplus)/Deficit (1,400)  28,291 29,691 

Total Financing (323,295) (293,561) 29,734 

Net Underspend - (2,153) (2,153) 

 
3.2 As mentioned elsewhere in this report and throughout the Statement of Accounts, the 

financial year 2020/21 was unlike any other due to the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic which made expenditure trends and income losses more volatile. 
Unsurprisingly there were a number of variances from the month 9 projected position 
(based on forecasts as at 31 December 2021) for a number of reasons including: 

Page 19



 

  6 

• A year end exercise to maximise the use of time limited revenue grants received;  

• The use of £16.823m of Oldham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) resources 
to underpin the provision of adult social care using the facility of the S75 Agreement 
(of which only £5.9m had been anticipated);  

• Income being received late in the financial year from partner organisations 
including investment income, funding in relation to after care services provided 
under Section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983 and other adult social care related 
payments from Oldham CCG and increased refunds from the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority (GMCA) to top up resources already anticipated; 

• Notifications from Central Government of grant allocations late in the financial year;  

• Displaced activity which will be undertaken and completed in 2021/22 resulting in 
anticipated expenditure and reserve usage not taking place in 2020/21.  
 

3.3 The overall outturn position for the Council was a surplus of £2.153m which has 
increased the Council’s General Fund Balance as discussed at section 4.15. More 
detailed information on the Council’s outturn position can be found in the Narrative 
Report from page 27 in the Statement of Accounts. Further details on the variances are 
provided in the following paragraphs.  
 

3.4 It is important to note that the forecast outturn presented in financial monitoring reports 
all year (and in the table above) showed the COVID-19 funding in the form of 
unringfenced grant received from Central Government offsetting overspending in  
Council Portfolio areas. This approach was chosen so the actual service impact could 
be seen compared to the original budget. Three tranches of unringfenced grant totalling 
£15.055m was received and three tranches of unringfenced Sales, Fees and Charges 
compensation grant totalling £2.955m. In addition, £7.641m of unringfenced grant was 
received in 2019/20 and this was transferred from earmarked reserves to support the 
overall financial position. A total of £25.651m of unringfenced general grant supported 
the outturn. 
 

 People and Place  
 
3.5 The year-end position for the People and Place Portfolio was a deficit of £4.456m, 

against a revised budget of £87.923m. The adverse variance was mostly within the 
Economic Development service and primarily relates to the loss of income as a result 
of the COVID-19 pandemic in the following services: 

 

• the Catering and Cleaning Service as a result of limited opening of schools during 

lockdowns and the impacts of self-isolation when schools reopened; 

• the Corporate Landlord/Investment Estate and Markets Service relating to the 

recoverability of rental income from tenants impacted by lockdowns and the 

pandemic; 

• the Parking Service as a result of a drop in demand for Town Centre Parking.  

 
3.6 The final outturn of £4.456m was an improvement of £0.472m compared to the 

projected deficit of £4.928m at month 9 (31 December 2020). The reduced variance 
was due to the economic impact of the third lockdown being less severe than had been 
anticipated. 
 
Community Health and Adult Social Care 
 

3.7 The favourable outturn of £1.657m represents an improvement of £3.245m compared 
to the forecast pressure of £1.588m reported at month 9 and includes income received 
from Oldham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), both to support the COVID-19 

Page 20



 

  7 

related Hospital Discharge Scheme and to underpin the provision of adult social care 
(£16.823m in total and £10.923m more than had been envisaged when the month 9 
report was prepared). Leaving aside the CCG income (£10.923m), the movement in 
the variance is attributable to; 

 

• the cost of care provision in the last quarter being below expectations, partly as 

more financial support was received via the NHS funded Hospital Discharge 

Scheme; 

• Additional contributions by the CCG to the cost of care, being mainly Section117 

contributions for after-care services;  

• Delayed recruitment to vacant posts and grant income to support staffing costs.   
 
 

 Children’s Services  
 

3.8 The Portfolio as a whole recorded an overspend of £8.059m against a revised budget 
of £81.706m. This is £0.348m less than the forecast at month 9. The majority of the 
adverse variance (£7.784m) was within Children’s Social Care, primarily due to the 
cost of placements; out of borough in particular, and also additional staffing costs, 
mainly agency to address demand pressures arising from the pandemic. The adverse 
variance within Education, Skills and Early Years was £0.345m; the main drivers being 
the cost of SEND provision (including out of borough placements) and staffing costs. 
Preventative services recorded an underspend of £0.070m.  
 
Communities and Reform  

 
3.9 The revenue outturn was an adverse variance of £0.367m, an improvement of £1.663m 

compared to the forecast adverse variance of £2.030m estimated at month 9. The 
overall adverse variance for Communities and Reform Portfolio was due to a number 
of COVID-19 pressures, the reduction of income for the Music Service, Outdoor 
Education, Sports Development, and pressures within the Leisure services contract. 
These pressures were partially mitigated by the reduction in service provision by the 
Heritage, Libraries and Arts and Public Health teams for expenditure such delivery of 
services in primary care and also by vacancies across the Portfolio. 

 
3.10 The main reason for improved performance at the year-end was in relation to the final 

COVID-19 related compensation payments to the Leisure Services provider, further 
service underspends and the maximum utilisation of Government Grants to fund 
COVID-19 related expenditure. 
 

 Commissioning  
 

3.11 The adverse variance was a result of the use of external contractors by the 
Procurement Service and the reduction of income generated against the Council’s early 
payment discount scheme which in part is due to Government guidance (Procurement 
Policy Notice 2) in response to COVID-19 which encouraged immediate payment terms 
for all contracted services thus removing any benefit from an early payment scheme. 
There was also a reduction in summons cost recovery compared to expected levels, 
again due to the Government guidance on limiting debt recovery activity during the first 
half of 2020/21. The pressures were partially offset by vacancies within the Finance 
Division and reductions in non-pay costs. 

 
 Chief Executive 
 
3.12 The favourable outturn position of £0.256m represents a £0.030m reduction compared 

with the forecast favourable variance at month 9 of £0.286m. The Chief Executive 
directorate has been impacted by COVID-19 in respect of income generation for the 

Page 21



 

  8 

Registrars Service, land charges and the recovery of court costs in 2020/21. However, 
these pressures were mitigated by a reduction in costs such as the postponement of 
the local election in May 2020, fewer civic functions, reduced costs for the Coroners 
Services and vacancies within Legal Services. 
 

 Capital, Treasury and Technical Accounting  
 
3.13 The outturn for Capital, Treasury and Technical Accounting was a deficit of £15.244m 

in the main due the impact of the pandemic on anticipated interest, dividend income 
and capital financing transactions. 
 
Corporate and Democratic Core  

 
3.14 This represents the revenue budgets concerned with the executive management of the 

Council and Elected Member related activities including policy making, representing 
local interests and democratic representation.  Total expenditure was £6.731m with no 
variance to budget. 
 
Parish Precepts  

 
3.15 This consists of the payments totalling £0.310m made to the two Parish Councils, 

Saddleworth Parish Council and Shaw and Crompton Parish Council. There was no 
variance to the 2020/21 budget. 
 

4 Other Revenue Outturn Issues 
 

COVID-19 Grants  
 

4.1 The Council received a range of unringfenced and ringfenced grants from Central 
Government in 2020/21 to support the overall response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The financial impact of these grants is included within the outturn and Statement of 
Accounts. These grants together with Business Rates reliefs were administered by the 
Council in line within the guidance received from Central Government.  

 
4.2 Following the receipt of a Government grant the Council had to determine whether in 

administering the grant it was acting as an agent of Government or a principal as 
follows: 

 
a) As an agent the Council acted as an intermediary between the recipient and the 

Government and had no control of the grant conditions – with no flexibility in 
determining the level of grant payable 

b) Where the Council acted as a principal, it was able to use its own discretion when 
allocating the amount of grant payable. 

 
4.3 A full and detailed breakdown of the grants received in year is provided in the Narrative 

Report to the Statement of Accounts from page 32. A summary grant position is 
provided below with table 2 highlighting a total of £107.727m of grant received for 
business grant funding and COVID specific initiatives. 

 
Table 2 – COVID-19 Grant Summary  

   

Total 
Grant 

Allocation 
£000 

The 
Council 

acting as 
Agent 
£000 

The 
Council 

acting as 
Principal  

£000 

Expenditure 
as at 31 

March 2021  
£000 

Grant 
Remaining 

as at 31 
March 
2021  
£000 

Total COVID-19 Grants 107,727 78,859 28,868 86,865 20,862 

Page 22



 

  9 

4.4 In addition to the business grant funding and eighteen COVID-19 specific grants 
summarised in table 2, the Council also received unringfenced general grants to 
support its COVID-19 response totalling £28.106m (with £25.651m being used in year 
as a general offset for the additional expenditure incurred as a result of COVID).  These 
were: 

• Three tranches of general grant totalling £15.055m; 

• One tranche of general grant funding received in 2019/20 but carried forward in 

reserves to support the 2020/21 financial position at £7.641m; 

• Three tranches of Sales, Fees and Charges grant compensation at £2.955m; 

• Local Tax Income Guarantee grant of £2.169m which has been carried forward to 

support the 2021/22 budget; 

• New Burdens funding of £0.286m which was used to support the introduction of 

business grants payment arrangements, and the management of Council Tax and 

Business Rate reliefs. 

 

4.5 The Council also received grant compensation for Business Rate reliefs awarded at 
£25.182m. 
 

4.6 When taking into account the grants and additional funding discussed in this section, 
the Council received £161.015m of additional COVID related grant in 2020/21. This 
shows the extent of Government COVID financial support for the Council and Oldham 
from a wide range of grant initiatives. The accounting treatment of the grants is varied.  
Some are included within Notes 4, 5 and 15 to the Statement of Accounts and others 
are included in the Balance Sheet.  Where possible, grants not used in full in 2020/21 
were carried forward for use in 2021/22. 

 
 Schools and the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 
 
4.7 The total school balances for 2020/21 were £9.306m which was an increase of 

£3.819m compared to the 2019/20 total of £5.487m.  
 
4.8 As advised at Note 6 to the Statement of Accounts, the DSG remains in deficit, a trend 

that first started in 2016/17. The Council has made efforts to reduce the DSG deficit 
and it has fallen from £4.916m in 2019/20 to £3.560m at the end of 2020/21. There is 
a clear Recovery Plan in place, agreed with Schools Forum, to bring the DSG to a 
surplus by the end of 2023/24. 

 
4.9 For the first time, the DSG deficit is presented on the Movement in Reserves Statement 

as an unusable reserve. This is the result of the introduction on 29 November 2020 of 
a new Statutory Instrument to amend the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) Regulations 2003 by establishing new accounting practices in relation to 
the treatment of schools’ budget deficits. The aim is to ensure that DSG deficits are 
ringfenced and held separately from General Fund resources so that specific measures 
can be put in place to address the deficits without placing pressure on resources 
required for other essential services.  

 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 

4.10 By 31 March 2021, the HRA had generated an in-year surplus of £2.263m, after the 
required technical accounting adjustments, this resulted in a decrease of £0.425m to 
the level of balances. This compared favourably with the original budgeted deficit of 
£3.520m which was approved at the Budget Council meeting of 26 February 2020. 
Overall balances have decreased from £21.795m to £21.370m but this still shows a 
healthy level of resources to support future spending initiatives. There are plans in 
place to utilise HRA resources to support the delivery of the Council’s Housing Strategy 

Page 23



 

  10 

up to 2024/25. Details of the HRA are provided in the Statement of Accounts at Section 
4.1. 
 
Collection Fund 

 
4.11 The year-end Collection Fund position shown below includes a release of the Collection 

Fund Surplus totalling £1.470m. Of that amount, £1.400m was allocated to Oldham 
Council to support the 2020/21 budget and the remaining amount was distributed to 
the preceptors.  
 

4.12 The year-end deficit balance of £27.213m is largely due to the additional reliefs which 
were awarded to business ratepayers in 2020/21 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, 
primarily the Extended Retail Discount and Nursery Relief. The Council received a 
compensating grant of £25.182m to offset in full the business rates which it could not 
collect given the awarding of the business rates reliefs to businesses.  This grant 
received in 2020/21 was carried forward as a reserve and used to offset the Collection 
Fund deficit reflected in the budget for 2021/22 

 
4.13 The table below summarises the movements in the Collection Fund during 2020/21:  

 
Table 3 – Collection Fund Position 

 

 Collection Fund  
  

Council 
Tax 
£000 

Business 
Rates 
£000 

Total 
 

£000 

Balance brought forward (surplus) (184) (3,111) (3,295) 

Prior year estimated surplus released in 
year 

410 1,060 1,470 

Deficit for the year 3,220 25,818 29,038 

Deficit Balance carried forward 3,446 23,767 27,213 

 
4.14 Due to the impact on the Council’s ability to collect both Council Tax and Business 

Rates, an important change to Collection Fund accounting was introduced for 2020/21, 
which (with the exception of the £25.182m Government grant funded Business Rate 
reliefs) gives the ability to smooth the impact of COVID-19 related deficits over three 
financial years, thus reducing the impact on the revenue budget. The Council’s 2021/22 
budget and future years budget estimates have been prepared using this new facility. 
 
Reserves and Balances – Financial Resilience 

 
4.15 The level of General Fund reserves included in the Balance Sheet at £142.964m 

underpin the financial resilience of the organisation. These reserves are held to 
manage future risks and expenditure priorities. These are split into Revenue Account 
Earmarked Reserves of £113.512m and Other Earmarked Reserves of £29.452m. The 
latter are comprised of Revenue Grant Reserves of £20.145m and Schools Reserves 
at a sum of £9.306m. As previously explained, in 2019/20 Schools Reserves were 
netted down due to the deficit on the DSG, however, in 2020/21 the accounting 
treatment for this deficit changed and the deficit is now held separately as an unusable 
reserve. The Revenue Grants reserve increased by £11.929m due to the impact of 
COVID-19 grants being held in reserve at year end.  

  
4.16 The most significant movement in earmarked reserves was due to the receipt of 

compensation for lost Collection Fund income at a value of £25.182m. As outlined 
previously, these funds are to be used in  2021/22 to offset the loss of Collection Fund 
revenue due to the Government introducing Business Rate reliefs after the 2020/21 
budget had been set. 

Page 24



 

  11 

 
4.17 Given how difficult it was to manage the financial position of the Council in 2020/21, 

given all the unprecedented events, it was encouraging that there was the flexibility to 
replenish some existing earmarked reserves and also to create additional reserves to 
improve financial resilience. Information on the reserves is presented at Note 15 in the 
Statement of Accounts. 

 
4.18 The Statement of Accounts shows balances at the end of 2020/21 of £17.263m. This 

is an increase of £2.153m which is broadly in line with the originally calculated risk 
assessment for the following two financial years approved at the Council meeting of 4 
March 2021. This movement has enhanced the Council’s financial resilience going into 
2021/22 and over the period of the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  

 
4.19 The level of reserves and balances are a key element in the CIPFA Financial Resilience 

Index that was published for the first time in December 2019 with a new Index based 
on 2019/20 data released in February 2021. Reserves sustainability and change in 
reserves when compared to other Authorities was around the mid-point on the risk 
scale with a positive movement in the overall financial stress of the Council when 
compared with the previous year. The Index provided some useful information and 
confirmed the position that, leading into 2020/21, the Council was financially resilient. 
The Index will be issued again during 2021/22 to reflect the position at the end of 
2020/21. 

 
5 Capital Expenditure  

 
5.1 The Council incurs expenditure on capital projects in accordance with the Local 

Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) Regulations 2003 definition of capital 
expenditure. Essentially this defines capital expenditure as spend on assets that have 
a life of more than one year.  

 
5.2 The Council spent £73.227m on its Capital Programme in 2020/21 compared to the 

forecast spending of £71.012m projected at Month 9 (a variance of £2.215m). The 
Capital Programme was financed using Government Grants, Capital Receipts and 
Prudential Borrowing (although there was no long term borrowing in 2020/21, the 
Council maintained the use of its cash balances to finance expenditure). The capital 
expenditure incurred during the year is shown in the table below by Portfolio area. The 
marginal increase in actual spend when compared to budget required funding allocated 
to future years to be re-profiled to fully finance the capital programme in 2020/21. There 
were no adverse variances to project spending merely the acceleration of expenditure 
compared to forecasts. 

 
Table 4 – Capital Programme Outturn Compared to the Forecast Outturn 

  

Portfolio 2020/21 
Forecast 

£000 

2020/21 
Actuals 

£000 

Variance 
 

£000 

Corporate Services 16,302  16,806  504 

Children's Services 9,099  11,176  2,077 

Communities and Reform 121  57  (64)  

Community Health & Adult Social Care 2,059  2,433  374 

Housing Revenue Account 4,767  4,397  (370)  

People and Place 38,664  38,358  (306)  

Total Expenditure 71,012  73,227  2,215 

 

Page 25



 

  12 

6 Treasury Management  
  
 Investments 
 

6.1 The Council managed all of its short-term investments (surplus cash investments) in 
house with the institutions listed in the Council’s approved lending list. At the end of the 
financial year the Council had £68.540m of investments. 

 

6.2 The Council’s investment strategy was to maintain sufficient cash reserves to give it 
necessary liquidity, whilst trying to attain a benchmark average rate of return compared 
to the London Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID) on the relevant time deposit, multiplied by 
5%, whilst ensuring funds were invested in institutions which were the most secure. 
The table below shows the returns by the relevant time period:  

 

Table 5 – Actual Performance Against Benchmark  
 

  Benchmark 
LIBID Return  

% 

Actual 
Return 

% 

7 Day (0.07%) 0.13% 
1 Month (0.06%) 0.27% 
3 Month  0.02% 0.46% 
6 Month 0.08% 0.63% 

Average Return 0.30% 

Target Rate (0.01%) 

 
6.3 As can be seen, the Council’s overall performance on its cash investments exceeded 

its LIBID benchmark in all periods. 
 

7 Overview of Core Statements  
 

7.1 The four core Statements to the Accounts are the: 
 

i) Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) 
ii) Movement in Reserves Statement (MiRS) 
iii) Balance Sheet  
iv) Cash Flow Statement 
 

7.2 They are included in the Statement of Accounts on pages 52 to 56. A commentary of 
the key issues arising in each Statement is set out as follows:  
 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) 
 

7.3 The CIES is required under IFRS. It shows the accounting cost of providing services 
rather than the amount to be funded from taxation or rents. This means that it includes 
accounting transactions such as depreciation and revaluation gains/losses. 
 

  

Page 26



 

  13 

Table 6 – Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) 

  2020/21 

  

Gross 
Expenditure 

£000 

Gross 
Income 

£000 

Net 
Expenditure 

£000 

Chief Executive  4,776 (1,423) 3,353 

Commissioning 21,123 (7,572) 13,551 

People and Place 77,688 (26,034) 51,654 

Children's Services 267,569 (192,255) 75,314 

Community Health & Adult Social Care 118,885 (63,627) 55,258 

Reform 52,714 (18,150) 34,564 

Capital, Treasury and Technical Accounting 46,149 (50,956) (4,807) 

Corporate and Democratic Core  6,731 - 6,731 

Housing Revenue Account 15,637 (28,636) (12,999) 

Cost of Services 611,272 (388,653) 222,619 

Other Operating Expenditure      

Parish Council precepts    291 

Levies    33,591 
(Gains)/losses on the disposal of non-current 
assets    (1,352) 

Total Other Operating Expenditure    32,530 
Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure (a)    32,941 

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income (b)    (286,567) 

Deficit on Provision of Services (c)     1,523 

Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure      

Revaluation (gains)/losses non-current assets    (21,818) 

Impairment losses on non-current assets    190 

Surplus or deficit on revaluation of available for 
sale financial assets    (1,893) 

Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability    134,528 
Total Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure (d) 
 
Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure     

111,007 
 

112,530 

 
Key points to note from the CIES are: 
  

(a) Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure  
 

7.4 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure of £32.941m (detailed at Note 3) 
contains transactions relating interest payable and receivable and dividend income. 
   
 

(b) Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income  
 

7.5 The sum of £286.567m (detailed at Note 4) contains Council Tax, Business Rates and 
grants received from Central Government to finance revenue expenditure throughout 
the year. This income is not attributable to a specific service. There has been a rise in 
Grant income in 2020/21 of £26.382m, this is largely attributable to COVID-19 support 
grants received in year.  

 
 
 

Page 27



 

  14 

(c) Deficit on the Provision of Services 
 

7.6 The Deficit on the Provision of Services of £1.523m represents the Council’s 
accounting deficit position for the year as required under IFRS which allows 
comparison to be made with other organisations in both the public and private sectors. 
This deficit includes charges for accounting entries such as depreciation, impairment 
and pension adjustments which are reversed under statute as they should not impact 
on the Council's General Fund position and the Council Tax Payer when calculating 
the Council Tax requirement. These reversals are shown in the MiRS. 

 

7.7 As previously highlighted, the Council's outturn position for the year is a £2.153m 
underspend, which has been credited to the Council's General Fund Balance as shown 
in the Movement in Reserves Statement presented below. 

 

(d) Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure  
 

7.8 There are a number of elements to Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure, the       
sum of which totals a surplus £111.007m mainly due to the remeasurement of the net   
defined benefit liability movement of £134.528m as mentioned in 7.10 below.  

 

7.9 The Council’s non-current assets are revalued on a rolling 5 year programme. Any 
movement on the value of these are assets which is not chargeable to the cost of 
service is instead reflected in other comprehensive income and expenditure and the 
revaluation reserve.   

 

7.10 In addition, the remeasurement of the ‘net defined benefit liability’ represents the 
Pension Actuary’s movement of the Council’s pension liability as at the 31 March 2021. 
This remeasurement is based on the financial assumptions made by the Actuary based 
on market conditions at the 31 March 2021 in order to calculate the movement on the 
liability in the year. Further detail of the assumptions used are presented in Note 30 of 
the Statement of Accounts. This adjustment is required by the accounting standards 
covering pensions. 

  

Movement in Reserves Statement (MiRS) 
 

7.11 The MiRS reverses the accounting transactions included within the Deficit on the 
Provision of Services shown above in the CIES. Once these transactions have been 
reversed the amount which is statutorily chargeable to taxpayers or rents is arrived at. 
A summary reconciliation showing the movement between the CIES position and the 
statutory position is shown below. The General Fund and HRA balances are adjusted 
by the net Surplus or Deficit shown above. The subsequent balance will then be 
available to support expenditure in 2021/22. 

 

7.12 A reconciliation of the financial outturn position to both the CIES and MiRS is provided 
in Note 1 Expenditure and Funding Analysis in the Statement of Accounts and is 
summarised below. 

 

   Table 7 – Movement in Reserves Statement Summary 

  
General 

Fund 
£000 

HRA 
£000 

Total 
£000 

(Surplus) /Deficit on the Provision of Services  3,785 (2,263) 1,522 

Total Technical Accounting Adjustments  (56,121) 2,688 (53,433) 

Transfer to Earmarked General Fund Reserves  50,183 - 50,183 

Net (Surplus)/Deficit (2,153) 425 (1,728) 

  
 

Page 28



 

  15 

  Balance Sheet  
 
7.13 The Balance Sheet below shows the Council’s net assets have decreased by 

£112.530m in 2020/21 from £167.061m to £54.531m. 
 

 Table 8 – Balance Sheet 
 

31 March 
2020 
£000 

  Note 31 March 
2021 
£000 

734,215 Property Plant & Equipment 17 754,458 

19,770 Heritage Assets 18 19,770 

20,077 Investment Property 19 18,817 

4,060 Intangible Assets  4,271 

50,095 Long Term Investments 21 55,615 

22,508 Long Term Debtors 22 35,034 

850,725 Long Term Assets   887,965 

40,775 Short Term Investments 21 40,671 

621 Inventories  517 

43,225 Short Term Debtors 22 49,662 

59,898 Cash & Cash Equivalents 23 21,597 

310 Assets Held For Sale (less than 1 year)  568 

144,829 Current Assets   113,015 

(1,716) Short Term Borrowing 21 (6,697) 

(68,456) Short Term Creditors 24 (76,164) 

(12,567) Short Term Provisions 25 (9,761) 

  Short Term Liabilities    

(10,216)  - Private Finance Initiatives 21,28 (9,746) 

(314)  - Finance Leases  (302) 

(1,108)  - Transferred Debt  (1,180) 

(94,377) Current Liabilities   (103,850) 

(15,800) Long Term Provisions 25 (15,666) 

(168,364) Long Term Borrowing 21 (168,355) 

  Other Long Term Liabilities    

(324,871)  - Pension Liabilities 30 (444,288) 

(222,531)  - Private Finance Initiatives 21,28 (212,785) 

(474)  - Finance Leases  (349) 

(1,224)  - Transferred Debt  (44) 

(17)  - Deferred Credits  (17) 

(835) Capital Grants Receipts In Advance  (1,095) 

(734,116) Long Term Liabilities   (842,599) 

167,061 Net Assets   54,531 

(146,515) Usable Reserves MiRS (203,055) 

(20,546) Unusable Reserves MiRS,16 148,524 

(167,061) Total Reserves   (54,531) 

 
  
7.14 The decrease in net assets is mainly attributable to the following movements: 
 

• An increase in the Pension Liability of £119.417m the majority of which relates 
to a change in the assumptions used by the Council’s actuaries (Hymans-
Robertson) as part of the Council’s actuarial valuation, as described at 7.10. 

Page 29



 

  16 

The assumptions are determined by the actuary and represent market 
conditions at the reporting date. 

• An increase in the value of Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) of £20.243m 
mainly due to Non-Current Assets additions in year.  

• Long Term Debtors have increased by £12.526m in year. This primarily relates 
to Shareholder loans to a strategic investment partner in year. 

• A decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents of £38.301m which is discussed 
further at paragraph 7.15. 

 
Cash Flow Statement  

 
7.15 Cash and cash equivalents have decreased by £38.301m, this is largely due to a 

decrease in short term cash equivalent investment balances following the upfront 
pension payment to the Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF) in 2020/21.   

 
 Table 9 – Cash Flow Statement    
 

  
2019/20 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 

Net deficit on the provision of services (72,942) (1,522) 

Adjustment to surplus or deficit on the provision of services 
for non-cash movements 

130,091 32,125 

Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the 
provision of services that are investing and financing activities 

(29,948) (23,533) 

Net cash flows from operating activities 27,201 7,070 

Net Cash flows from Investing Activities (9,835) (35,274) 

Net Cash flows from Financing Activities 9,303 (10,097) 

Net increase or (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 26,669 (38,301) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting 
period 

33,229 59,898 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting 
period  

59,898 21,597 

 
8 Group Accounts/ Annual Governance Statement (AGS) 

 
8.1 The Council carries out a complex range of activities, often in conjunction with external 

organisations. Where those organisations are in partnership with or under the ultimate 
control of the Council a judgement is made by management as to whether they are 
within the Council’s group boundary. This judgement is made in line with the provisions 
set out in the Code and relevant accounting standards.  
 

8.2 The CIPFA Code of Practice requires that where an Authority has material financial 
interests and a significant level of control over one or more entities, it should prepare 
group accounts.  
 

8.3 The assessment of materiality also influences the Council’s decision to produce Group 
Accounts. Each year the Council assesses the entities it exerts control or significant 
influence over to identify which fall into the group boundary. If the value of transactions 
for the group as a whole is material, Group Accounts are produced. The aim is that the 
statements therefore give an overall picture of all of the Council’s financial activities 
and the resources employed in carrying out those activities.  

 
8.4 The Council has assessed its group boundary for 2020/21 and has identified two 

subsidiaries that are considered to be material and have therefore been consolidated 

Page 30



 

  17 

into its group accounts. They are the two wholly owned companies, the MioCare Group 
Community Interest Company (CIC) and the Unity Partnership Limited. 

 
8.5 As subsidiary entities, MioCare Group CIC and the Unity Partnership Limited have 

been consolidated on a line by line basis with all intra-group transactions and balances 
removed. The Group Accounts therefore consist of a CIES, MiRS, Balance Sheet and 
Cash Flow Statement and explanatory notes and are presented in Section 5 of the 
2020/21 Statement of Accounts.  

 
8.6 The Annual Governance Statement (AGS) is incorporated within the Statement of 

Accounts. There were no changes between the draft and final version of the AGS.  
 

9   The Performance of the Finance Service 
 
9.1 The preparation of the accounts represents just one outcome of the range of 

achievements of the Finance Team during 2020/21 as it continues to enhance and 
develop its performance. The work of the Finance Team underpins the work of the 
Council as well as ensuring compliance with statutory requirements, budget 
management and excellent financial practice. 
 

9.2 The early closure of accounts has been a significant driver of efficiency allowing work 
to be undertaken more effectively. This means members of the Finance Team are able 
to work on other tasks and projects once the accelerated accounts closedown process 
is complete. 
 

9.3 The continuing challenges and restrictions facing the Council and the Finance Team 
as a result of the ongoing pandemic has made the completion of the final accounts a 
more demanding exercise. However, the Council handed over its accounts to the 
External auditors on 6 June, well within the revised timelines and the audited set of 
accounts was completed within the statutory deadline.   

 
9.4 It is important to note that the delivery of the accounts to this timescale has been 

achieved by the hard work, commitment and dedication of the Finance Team who can 
all be proud of their contributions. This year-end was made more difficult due to the 
challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic. However, as in in previous years, this has been 
a real team effort. 

 
10 Options/Alternatives 
 
10.1 No alternatives are presented other than Cabinet notes the final accounts position for 

2020/21 and commends this report and Statement of Accounts to Council.  
 

11 Preferred Option 
 
11.1 The preferred option is that Cabinet notes the final accounts position for 2020/21 and 

commends this report and Statement of Accounts to Council.  
 

12 Consultation 
 

12.1 Consultation has taken place with the Council’s External Auditors, Mazars LLP and the 
Council’s Audit Committee at the meetings on 29 June, 29 July, 9 September and 2 
November 2021. In addition, members of the public had the opportunity to inspect the 
Council’s Statement of Accounts and supporting documents during the 30-day public 
inspection period which concluded on 28 July 2021. 
 
 

Page 31



 

  18 

13 Financial Implications  
 

13.1 Dealt with in the body of the report.  
 

14 Legal Services Comments 
 

14.1 There are no Legal implications.  
 

15 Co-operative Agenda 
 

15.1 Improving the quality and timeliness of the financial information available to citizens of 
Oldham supports the cooperative ethos of the Council. 

 
16 Human Resources Comments 

 
16.1 There are no Human Resource implications.   

 
17 Risk Assessments 

 
17.1 There are no risk implications as a result of this report.   

 
18 IT Implications 

 
18.1 There are no IT implications as a result of this report.  

 
19 Property Implications 

 
19.1 There are no Property implications.  

 
20 Procurement Implications 

 
20.1 There are no Procurement implications.  

 
21 Environmental and Health and Safety Implications 

 
21.1 There are no Environmental and Health & Safety implications as a result of this report.   

 
22 Equality, Community Cohesion and Crime implications 

 
22.1 There are no Equality, community cohesion and crime implications.   
 
23 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 

 
23.1 Not Applicable   

 
24 Key Decision 

 
24.1 No 

 
25 Key Decision Reference 

 
25.1 Not Applicable.  

 
26 Background Papers 

 
26.1 The following is a list of background papers on which this report is based in accordance 

with the requirements of Section 100(1) of the Local Government Act 1972. It does not 

Page 32



 

  19 

include documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information as defined 
by the Act: 

 
File Ref:  Background Papers are provided at Appendices 1 to 4.  
Officer Name: Lee Walsh 
Contact No:  0161 770 6608 

 
27 Appendices  

 
27.1 Appendix 1 – Statement of Accounts 2020/21 

 Appendix 2 – Changes to the draft Statement of Accounts  
 Appendix 3 -  Draft Annual Audit Completion Report  
Appendix 4 – Letter entitled ‘Conclusion of  Pending Matters – Audit Completion 
                      Report’ 
 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

  
 
 
 

 
Oldham 
Council. 
Statement of Accounts  
2020/21 
  

Page 35



2 

Contents 

1.0 Preface .......................................................................................................................... 3 

1.1 Introduction to the 2020/21 Statement of Accounts by Councillor Abdul Jabbar 
MBE, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Green ........................... 3 

1.2 Narrative Report ........................................................................................................... 5 

2.0 Statements to the Accounts ...................................................................................... 48 

2.1 Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts ................................ 48 

2.2 Auditors Report .......................................................................................................... 49 

3.0 Financial Statements and Explanatory Notes……..…………………………………….58 

3.1 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement ............................................... 59 

3.2 Movement in Reserves Statement ............................................................................. 60 

3.3 Balance Sheet ............................................................................................................. 62 

3.4 Cash Flow Statement ................................................................................................. 63 

3.5 Index of Explanatory Notes to the Accounts ............................................................ 64 

3.6 Explanatory Notes to the Financial Statements ....................................................... 65 

4.1 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) ........................................................................... 153 
4.2 Collection Fund……………………………………………………………………………...157 

5.0 Group Accounts ....................................................................................................... 160 

6.0 Annual Governance Statement 2020/21 .................................................................. 172 

7.0 Glossary of Terms .................................................................................................... 203 

Page 36



3 
 

1.0 Preface 

1.1 Introduction to the 2020/21 Statement of Accounts by Councillor Abdul Jabbar MBE, 
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Green  

 
 
Councillor Abdul Jabbar MBE 
 
As Cabinet Member for Finance and Green in 2020/21 I would like to welcome you to the Oldham 
Council 2020/21 Statement of Accounts. The preparation of the Statement of Accounts provides 
the opportunity to reflect on the past financial year and report on the current financial and non-
financial position of the Council.  
  
The year beginning 1 April 2020 was unlike any other. The challenges caused by the COVID-19 
pandemic are unprecedented, both in terms of magnitude and the sheer breadth of the disruption 
to everyday life in the Borough. Those challenges remain, although I am pleased to say, that 
many of the initial pressures are now easing.  
 
Just a year ago none of us could ever have imagined how different our lives would be today. 
Although restrictions have now eased, COVID-19 is still with us.  We may not have to be social 
distancing, but many of us are still working from home, and for over a year we could not  spend 
time with our loved ones, attend weddings or other family events as we usually would. We saw 
our businesses face ever changing restrictions or in some instances were unable to operate at 
all. Yet we have persevered. The entrepreneurial spirit that is very alive in Oldham has seen 
business owners completely change operating models, sometimes overnight. Parents and 
families  adapted to homeworking and home schooling. The Council has initiated change to 
support Oldhamers and ensure essential services continue to be provided.  
 
My political portfolio, with responsibility for green issues in Oldham means that I recognise that 
there have been some environmental benefits from the forced change which should be sustained 
in the future to support a cleaner and greener Oldham.  Flora and fauna have returned to towns, 
cities and waterways. The amount of traffic on our roads was reduced to near 1950’s levels at 
the start of lockdown, giving a very much needed boost to air quality. New initiatives will be taken 
forward during the COVID recovery phase and beyond so that we do not revert to many of the 
environmentally damaging practices. 
 
As ever the Council continues to be at the heart of the community, distributing emergency funding 
to businesses, performing over 135,000 COVID-19 tests at facilities across the Borough in 
2020/21 as well as providing food parcels and operating emergency helplines. As the vaccination 
roll out began, the Council again took a prominent stance coordinating the process with other 
public sector bodies, eventually supporting the delivery of over 78,000 vaccinations by the end of 
March 2021. I am personally very proud of the Council’s response and the subsequent reduction 
in the prevalence of COVID-19 across the Borough. 
 

Page 37



4 
 

Events of the last year have had a significant impact on the Council itself most of which could not 
have been anticipated at the start of the pandemic. What is certain is that the impact has not been 
limited to the 2020/21 financial year, but instead will continue to influence our lives for many years 
to come. The impact on the Council and its financial position will be discussed in detail through 
the Statement of Accounts, but it must be noted that managing significant sums of additional grant 
funding, including administering grants to support businesses provided challenges at times. 
 
It is important to appreciate that many of the Council’s underlying financial pressures have not 
reduced.  Many of the services with significant adverse variances in 2020/21 continue the trend 
from previous years including the People and Place and the Children’s Services portfolios, the 
latter reflecting increasing demand for Children’s Social Care, which has been a factor in previous 
years.  
 
Despite this, I am pleased that we have ended the year in a more robust financial position than 
was initially anticipated. However, as mentioned above, the short and long term effects of the 
pandemic are unknown. Therefore, we need to be prudent and ensure this financial position 
continues to be managed effectively. 
 
As always, I would like to conclude by recognising the hard work and dedication shown by the 
Finance and Internal Audit teams throughout the year. Along with colleagues across the Council 
they have adapted to home working and maintained continuity of service throughout the toughest 
of times. This includes the production of this set of accounts, the work undertaken to set the 
2021/22 budget along with the support provided in delivering key Council objectives. 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Councillor Abdul Jabbar MBE  
Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Green 
  

Page 38



5 
 

1.2 Narrative Report 

Message from the Director of Finance – Anne Ryans 
 

 
 
Anne Ryans 
 
My role as the Director of Finance and Section 151 Officer is to ensure that the Council’s financial 
affairs are properly administered, and its financial position remains stable and robust. This is 
essential to ensure that the Council is able to provide quality services to all the residents of 
Oldham and to continue to take forward the development and regeneration of the Borough. Given 
the events of 2020/21, this role is even more vital and exponentially more difficult.  
 
The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic have been felt to varying degrees by every household, 
every business, every school, every public sector and charitable organisation. Many people have 
suffered the devastating effects of illness, others have lost income or their livelihoods.  Charities 
have lost the opportunity to raise funds and are therefore unable to continue their work to support 
the most needy in our society.  
 
During 2020/21, Oldham Council rose to the challenge and took forward its leadership role and 
supported Oldham and Oldhamers as the Borough  spent the majority of the year either under 
national lockdown or Tier 3 restrictions. The Council had distributed almost £73m in grant funding 
to businesses throughout the Borough by 31 March 2021, administered over £25m in COVID 
related Business Rates relief and over £3m of hardship relief to Council Tax Reduction recipients, 
managed almost £19m of other COVID specific grants as well as over £28m of general 
unringfenced grants. 
 
The Council has worked successfully with the voluntary sector and provided help and support to 
those Oldhamers who had to shield.  It introduced a wide range of initiatives to keep citizens safe 
as well as coordinating the testing and vaccination programmes across the Borough.    
 
The Statement of Accounts gives an overview of the Council’s finances for 2020/21, a financial 
year that has been unprecedented. The business as usual activities that were provided as well 
as COVID specific actions are reflected in the accounts  However, despite all the disruption, I am 
pleased to report that we have improved upon our strong financial position, which demonstrates 
once again the excellent standard of financial management and stewardship of the Council’s 
resources and will help to safeguard against the continuing effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.  
 
The Oldham Council Finance Team aims to prepare the Statement of Accounts to the highest 
standards and in accordance with the guidance for Local Authorities in the UK. The Statement of 
Accounts provides information so that members of the public, including electors and residents of 
Oldham, Council Members, partners, stakeholders and other interested parties can have:  
 
• A full and understandable explanation of the overarching financial position of the Council 

and the outturn for 2020/21;  
• Confidence that the public money with which the Council has been entrusted has been 

used and accounted for in an appropriate manner;  

Page 39



6 
 

• Assurance that the financial position of the Council is sound and secure.  
 
The deadline for the preparation of the 2019/20 Accounts was extended due to the pandemic and 
it has again been revised for 2020/21.  Recognising the multi-year impact of COVID, the deadline 
for the 2021/22 financial year has also been changed. The Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government (MHCLG) introduced the Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021, 
which changed the statutory audit deadlines for all Local Authorities. Therefore, the draft accounts 
for Authorities like Oldham, had to  be issued by 31 July 2021 and the publication deadline for 
audited accounts  moved from 31 July to 30 September 2021. 
 
The requirement for the public inspection period to include the first 10 working days of June was 
also  removed. Instead, the Council had to  commence the public inspection period for its 
Statement of Accounts on or before the first working day of August 2021.   
 
The Accounts were submitted to the External Auditor on 6 June 2021 in accordance with internal 
timelines, and significantly ahead of the revised statutory deadline. 
  
The Council  continued to follow best practice principles and submitted the draft accounts to the 
Audit Committee to allow Members the opportunity to review them before they are asked to 
formally approve the Statement of Accounts. The review of the draft accounts took place at the 
Audit Committee meeting on 29 June 2021.  
 
I am proud to say that the Finance Team provides a high quality financial management service 
for the Council giving financial advice and support on all major projects and initiatives in which 
the Council is engaged. In addition to the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, a key task is 
financial planning.  Alongside budget preparation, performance management and reporting, the 
ability to look strategically beyond the current budget period is essential to supporting the 
Council’s financial resilience and long-term financial sustainability. Given the current uncertainty 
arising from the COVID-19 pandemic and the short term nature of Government funding, it is more 
important than ever that we have a thorough understanding of our financial outlook and are 
planning effectively for the future.  
 
The Finance Service produces on an annual basis, a Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
which helps to bring together all known factors affecting the Council’s financial position and its 
financial sustainability. The MTFS is as wide ranging as possible and includes estimates of future 
income and expenditure, anticipated pressures and new developments. It allows the Finance 
Team to balance the financial implications of the Council’s Corporate Plan, service objectives and 
policies with the constraints in resources. This in turn forms the basis for decision making and the 
production of the revenue budget.  
 
Work to revise the MTFS took place through most of 2020/21.  The updated MTFS, along with 
the balanced 2021/22 budget were presented for approval at the Full Council meeting on 4 March 
2021. The report advised Members of the key financial challenges and issues which will be faced 
by the Council over the forecast period and set out the Administration’s revenue budget proposals 
for 2021/22 together with updated budget gap estimates for the period 2022/23 to 2023/24.  This 
was a shorter timeframe than usual due to the challenges of estimating: 
 
• how COVID will influence spending and income patterns in the future; and  
• the impact of the anticipated Comprehensive Spending Review and the potentially 

significant changes to the Local Government funding regime, including Adult Social Care 
funding and the Business Rates system. 

 
The Oldham Finance Team has worked to accelerated final accounts deadlines for many years, 
consistently delivering the Council’s Statement of Accounts to a high standard, as acknowledged 
by our External Auditor in previous years.  This is only possible because of the hard work and 
dedication of the Finance staff. This year has been especially challenging as most Finance Team 

Page 40



7 
 

colleagues have worked from home for the majority of the year as a result of the continuing 
restrictions imposed by Central Government in response to the levels of COVID-19 experienced 
within Oldham and the Greater Manchester region. However, the team ethos has remained 
strong, and the excellent processes that are embedded within our working practices have 
provided a good basis to continue to produce the high quality accounts included here.   
 

The following Narrative Report is an important part of the accounts and provides information 
about Oldham, including the key issues affecting the Council and its accounts. It also provides a 
summary of the financial position at 31 March 2021. 

  

Page 41



8 
 

Introduction to the Narrative Statement  
 
As has been outlined in the Preface to the Accounts and the Message from the Director of 
Finance, the financial year 2020/21 has been like no other. Along with the rest of the country and 
indeed the world, Oldham Council has had to manage the unprecedented challenges that COVID-
19 has posed. From the start of the first national lockdown on 24 March 2020, and also in the 
weeks immediately leading up to the lockdown, COVID-19 has influenced every aspect of the 
work of the Council. Challenging though it has been, the Council has responded well, delivering 
a wider range of new initiatives as well as continuing to deliver business as usual services, 
adapting provision to align to the circumstances. 
 
The accounts for 2020/21 reflect the nature of the activity that has been undertaken to respond 
to the pandemic but also to continue to provide essential services. The financial pressures of the 
increased and new activity were supported by substantial extra Government grant funding and 
this has had an impact on the outturn for the year. The administration of the grants presented 
new challenges for the Finance Service and the extent of the resources received is highlighted 
later in this document. 
 
This Narrative Statement will cover the impact of COVID in more detail in the following sections 
but will firstly outline key information about the Council to provide background context. 
 
An Introduction to Oldham  
 
Oldham Council is one of ten Local Authorities in Greater Manchester. It lies in the North East of 
the region and covers an area of approximately 55 square miles (142.4km sq.). The Borough 
shares its borders with the City of Manchester, the Metropolitan Boroughs of Tameside and 
Rochdale and to the east, Kirklees and Calderdale. Oldham occupies a key position between 
Greater Manchester and the Leeds City Region and provides a gateway to the North West and 
to Yorkshire and Humberside. It is located within the foothills of the Pennines and stretches from 
the Northern edge of the Peak District National Park to the outskirts of the City of Manchester. 
No residential location in the Borough is more than two miles away from open countryside. 
 
The Borough of Oldham has a proud industrial heritage but, along with many towns and cities, 
the industries on which the wealth of the area was built have now declined. Regeneration, both 
in terms of employment opportunities and physical redevelopment, is recognised as being very 
important to the future prosperity of the Borough and is a key priority of the Administration.  
 
Oldham is a unique place with a mix of the challenges, changes and opportunities which 
exemplify the changing face of modern Britain. Some wards within the Council are amongst the 
most deprived in the country. By contrast, there are some areas of great affluence. The Council 
therefore provides services designed to meet the needs of its citizens, serving both an urban and 
rural environment influenced by the makeup of the population, education, economy, health and 
housing. 
 
Oldham is the seventh largest Local Authority in Greater Manchester (GM) with a population of 
circa 237,100 (Office for National Statistics (ONS) Mid-Year Estimates 2019). Its population is 
projected to reach 261,018 by 2041 (ONS 2018-based projection). The population is very diverse 
with around 100 languages spoken and many different cultures coming together in one Borough.  
Council service provision will need to anticipate and adapt to both the projected growth and the 
changing age profile of the population of the Borough and this will be reflected within the financial 
planning process. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



9 
 

Key Information about Oldham Council Governance  
 
Oldham Council is a multifunctional and complex organisation. Its policies are directed by the 
Political Leadership and implemented by the Executive Management Team (EMT) and officers of 
the Council. The political and management structures of the Council are described below together 
with the political ethos driving the policy agenda and the means by which these are implemented 
and managed.  
 
Political Structure in the 2020/21 Municipal Year 
 
The Council is made up of 60 Councillors from 20 wards across the Borough. A local election 
was planned for 7 May 2020 but due to the COVID-19 pandemic it was postponed. As a 
consequence the political make-up of the Council in 2020/21 remained as it had been since the 
previous election on 2 May 2019, albeit that 2 Labour Councillors subsequently resigned from 
office resulting in the following respresentation: 
 
Labour Party   44 Councillors  
Liberal Democrat Party   8 Councillors 
Conservative Party    4 Councillors 
Failsworth Independent Party   1 Councillor 
Independent     1 Councillor 
Vacant Seats      2 
 
The Labour Party had control of the Council during 2020/21, continuing with the driving ethos of 
a Co-operative Council. 
 
Following the Local Elections on 6 May 2021, the Labour Party retained control of the Council but 
with a reduced majority (now holding 40 seats). This was followed, on 19 May 2021 by a change 
of Leader with Councillor Arooj Shah assuming the role previously occupied by Councillor Sean 
Fielding. The change in Leader will result in some reprioritisation of the Administration’s aims and 
objectives with the emphasis being on cleanliness, regeneration of the Borough and of course 
COVID-19 recovery. 

The Council has adopted the ‘Strong’ Leader and Cabinet model as its political management 
structure arising from the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007. During 
2020/21, the then Leader of the Council (Councillor Sean Fielding) had responsibility for the 
appointment of Members of the Cabinet, the allocation of Portfolios and the delegation of 
executive functions.  
 
During 2020/21, the Cabinet was comprised of nine Councillors. It exercised its responsibility for 
strategic decision making, implementing agreed policies, providing political leadership and 
recommending proposals for approval by full Council on the budget, Council Tax levels and the 
Council’s policy framework.  
 
The Cabinet portfolio areas were broadly aligned to the Council’s key service directorates, 
enabling the joint sharing of priorities. There continues to be a good working relationship between 
officers and elected Members with Cabinet members regularly meeting with their respective 
senior officer leads to monitor the progress of business plans, consider key service developments 
and improvements, and address any areas of concern.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



10 
 

Cabinet members are held to account by a system of scrutiny which is set out in the Constitution. 
Scrutiny of executive decisions for 2020/21 was undertaken by either the: 

 
• Overview and Scrutiny Board;  
• Overview and Scrutiny Performance and Value for Money Select Committee; or the 
• Health Scrutiny Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 

 
The setting of a balanced budget was subject to detailed review by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Performance and Value for Money Select Committee. 
 
The Oldham Council 2020/21 Cabinet structure is shown on the following diagram:  

Page 44



11 
 

 

Economy and Skills
City region and devolution

External Relations
Policy and Performance

Communications and media
Regeneration and 

Infrastructure
Enterprise and Business 

Support
Corporate property and assets

Oldham Town Centre and 
Markets

Get Oldham Working
Employability

Work and Skills Strategy

HR and Corporate Reform
HR and Organisational 

Development
Council Workforce and Work 

Progression
First Response
District Working

Early Help
Public Service Reform

Community Safety and Policing
Youth Justice

Community Justice
Probation Services

Finance and Green
Finance

Capital Projects and 
Investment

ICT and Transactional Services
Internal Business Support Unit

Revenues and Benefits
Customer Services (Including 

Contact Oldham)
Energy 

Green New Deal
Unity Partnership

Education
Education and skills 

commission
Education Alliance

School place planning
Looked after children –

educational performance

Neighbourhoods and Culture
Transport
Highways

Trading Standards
Registrars and Cemeteries

Car Parking and Enforcement
Street Lighting

Environmental Services
Libraries, Heritage and Local 

Studies
Culture and Arts

Waste and Recycling
Licensing

Children and Young People
GM Childrens’ Partnership

GM Childrens’ Services Review
Adoption and Fostering

Children in care
Child safeguarding

Children’s Health and 
Wellbeing

Youth Service
Early Years

Health and Social Care
Adult Social Services
Adult Safeguarding
Provider Services

Disability Services and 
adaptations

Family Support
GM Adult Services Review

Health Devolution
Oldham Locality Plan
Health Improvement

Mental Health

Housing
Strategic Housing

Housing Quality Enforcement
Planning and Building Control

Homelessness

Covid-19 Response
Community Cohesion

Community and Wealth 
Building

Unemployment
Isolation

Community Engagement

Page 45



12 
 
 

 
Management Structure of the Council  

Supporting the work of Councillors is the organisational structure of the Council headed by the 
Executive Management Team (EMT) led by the Chief Executive Dr Carolyn Wilkins OBE, who is 
also Accountable Officer for NHS Oldham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG).  
 
The management structure of the Council was revised with effect from 22 May 2019 with Portfolio 
responsiblities realigned and reporting arrangements changed. There was no change in 2020/21.  
EMT was comprised of the Chief Executive and Accountable Officer, the Deputy Chief Executive, 
the Strategic Director Communities and Reform, the Strategic Director Commissioning/Chief 
Operating Officer Oldham CCG, the Managing Director Community Health and Adult Social Care 
(DASS)* and the Managing Director Children and Young People (DCS)**. The structure is shown 
in the table below.  
 
*  DASS is a statutory role, the Director of Adult Socal Services  
** DCS is a statutory role, the Director of Children’s Services  
 
 
The Chief Executive and other members of the EMT provide managerial leadership of the Council 
and support Elected Members of the Council in:  
 

• Developing strategies  
• Identifying and planning resources  
• Delivering plans  
• Reviewing the Authority’s effectiveness with the overall objective of delivering a Co-

operative future where everyone does their bit to create a confident and ambitious 
Borough  
 

This leadership team works together to deliver effective services for the Borough’s diverse 
communities. It also ensures that Oldham plays a full part in national, regional and sub-regional 
activities. 
 
From an operational perspective, EMT and the Senior Mangement Team (SMT), which is 
comprised of Service Directors, is integrated into a single management meeting and is chaired 
by the Chief Executive. The Director of Finance attends SMT meetings in her role as the Council’s 
Chief Finance Officer, the officer responsible under statute for the administration of the Council’s 
financial affairs. Similarly, other statutory officers, the Director of Public Health and the Director 
of Legal Services (Monitoring Officer) also attend SMT. 

As advised above, in addition to undertaking the role of Chief Executive for Oldham Council, Dr 
Carolyn Wilkins OBE is also the Accountable Officer for NHS Oldham CCG. For most of 2020/21, 
the Chief Executive was seconded on a part time basis to the Department of Health and Social 
Care in the newly created role of Contain Divisional Director for Test and Trace. 
 
Operating as Oldham Cares, the management and reporting structure of both the Council and 
the CCG have been integrated to create a Joint Leadership Team (JLT) which meets on a weekly 
basis. JLT is comprised of members of EMT plus the Director of Finance and senior officers and 
officials of the CCG. JLT reports through to the Commissioning Partnership Board (CPB). 
 
In addition to the Chief Executive, aligned to the Oldham Cares model, the senior team also has 
other joint appointments across health partners. The Chief Officers of both the Council’s wholly 
owned companies, the Unity Partnership Ltd. and MioCare Community Interest Company (CIC) 
are also part of SMT. 

 

Page 46



13 
 
 

 

 

Council Employees 
 
At the start of April 2020, the Council employed 2,636 people (excluding school-based 
employees). By March 2021 this had decreased by 3.22% to 2,551. The Council continues to 
deliver its recently refreshed Workforce Strategy and its quest to be the employer of choice and 
an anchor institution in Oldham; through a robust infrastructure, both within the Council and in 
collaboration with partners; through the development and redesign of the Council’s operating 
model to best meet the needs of Oldham residents and through building organisational capability 
through real co-operative partnerships with other employers and community members alike. 
 
Co-operative Council in a Co-operative Borough  
 
Oldham Council became a Co-operative Council in 2011. The Council is committed to developing 
a Co-operative future; one where citizens, partners and staff work together to improve the 
borough. The Council encourages all members of the community to play an active part in building 
a co-operative borough. This means everyone doing their bit. 
 
To help realise this ambition, the Council has developed co-operative values and behaviours. All 
staff, citizens and partners are encouraged to adopt these values. 
 

Page 47



14 
 
 

 
 
Oldham’s values driven approach underpins the way the Council does business. In practice, this 
means maximising the positive social, economic and environmental impact that can be achieved. 
From maximising social value achieved through procurement practices, to paying all staff the 
Foundation Living Wage, the Council is using its influence as a commissioner, service provider, 
facilitator and employer to embed co-operative values across Oldham. However, the Council is 
not doing this alone. Oldham has a strong Strategic Partnership structure and plan that has driven 
the reform, integration and shared economic agenda both in Oldham and within Greater 
Manchester. 
 
The ethos of the Co-operative Council and the principles of both the Oldham Plan and the 
Corporate Plan set the operating framework for the Council. 
 
The Oldham Plan  

The Oldham Plan 2017-2022 is a collective action statement explaining how the Council and 
partners can all best serve Oldham by helping its people, districts and businesses to thrive. This 
involves recognising shared challenges and agreeing mutual ambitions and all partners working 
together to identify what each can contribute to obtaining better results. In this way it means that 
everyone does their bit and everyone benefits. The Oldham delivery model is based around three 
fundamental shifts which work together to deliver the ambitions of the Oldham Plan. These are: 
 
Inclusive Economy – Ensuring a fairer economic system where people have the chance to 
succeed. 
 
Thriving Communities – Oldham is a place where social action and social and community 
infrastructure means something. 
 
Co-operative Services – Developing integrated public services that work in an asset-based way 
to meet the needs of people and communities. 
 

 

Page 48



15 
 
 

  
 

The Corporate Plan 

Oldham’s current Corporate Plan expired in December 2020. Work to refresh Oldham’s Corporate 
Plan was due to be completed by summer 2020, however, the impact of the COVID pandemic 
meant that this was no longer possible. Instead, the Council has developed a COVID Recovery 
Strategy which will act as an interim Corporate Plan until at least 2022. 
 
Oldham Council and the Impact of COVID-19  
 
The financial year 2020/21 has been unlike any other year. The Council had to adapt to evolving 
events as the country moved in and out of lockdown and various tiered restrictions.  It required 
flexibility and adaptability to respond to an ever changing national and local scene. 

For the first part of the year, following on from procedures initiated in March 2020, enhanced 
management arrangements were put in place with a structure based on Gold (strategic), Silver 
(tactical) and Bronze (operational) groups including key system partners, to facilitate rapid 
responses to the evolving position, support appropriate decision making (including the use of 
emergency powers as allowed for in the Councils Constitution), clear communication and inter-
agency cooperation. Although this structure remains in place, from December 2020, the 
frequency of meeting reduced and some of the individual groups were amalgamated as the 
intensity of the response lessened and practices had become well established. 

The response required from each of the Council’s service areas was different but nonetheless 
important. At the frontline initially was the Community Health and Adult Social Care team which 
right from the start of the COVID emergency had to implement new working arrangements. In 
April 2020, under the Councils emergency decision making powers, a range of short-term 
initiatives (initially for up to 12 weeks) were agreed for either immediate or phased 
implementation. These were aimed at assisting the system wide efforts to ensure as far as 
possible, there was sufficient capacity in the local hospital to provide hospital based care to those 
in greatest need and to ensure that care providers operating in neighbourhoods were able to 

Page 49



16 
 
 

continue to support often vulnerable people, facilitate discharge and prevent presentation to 
hospital.  

The intensity of this work reduced during the year as systems and processes became embedded.  
However, the scale of the challenge did not diminish.  The response to COVID was to the forefront 
of Adult Social Care services for the whole of the financial year and continues to be so in 2021/22. 

Utilising additional unringfenced funding made available to the Council by Government, new 
measures were introduced including the suspension of the Adult Social Care annual fee increase 
consultation process and replacing it with an immediate 5% uplift in fees for care providers.  There 
was also the central bulk purchasing and distribution of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), 
purchasing of surplus capacity in care homes to facilitate hospital discharge and paying providers 
based on commissioned rather than actual activity. This support for the care homes and those in 
receipt of care was paramount and continues to be so. 

In addition, Government announced specific grant funding to support the care sector in the form 
of two round of Infection Control Grant, most of which was paid via the Council, directly to care 
providers and then later the Workforce Capacity Grant and Rapid Testing Fund. 
 
All these measures were supported by the NHS via Oldham CCG accessing a national fund set 
up to support accelerated discharges from hospital including the full or enhanced cost of care 
packages agreed at the point of discharge and delivered in the community. Whilst during the year 
the NHS funding to support hospital discharges reduced, with the introduction of ‘Scheme 2’ 
support it remained in place all year and provided essential financing to offset the expenditure 
the Council was incurring. By the year end, £9.728m had been received from this source. 
 
The Council worked closely with Head Teachers to firstly manage school closures for all except 
the children of key workers and then to work through the practical issues of re-opening schools 
to the wider schools family. As there were several closures and re-opening events, the practical 
issues became clearer although no less challenging, but good working relationships were 
maintained. Of key importance was the balancing of the health and wellbeing of the children, 
school staff and the wider community.  
 
COVID has had a widespread impact on the workforce of the Council and the way in which the 
Council delivered services. The Council utilised technology to allow office based staff to work 
seamlessly from home to minimise disruption to services. For those officers who could not work 
from home, such as those engaged in refuse collection, working practices were adapted to ensure 
their safety, health and wellbeing. Some Council facilities closed and then reopened and closed 
again as various restrictions were eased and then re-introduced. Where appropriate, staff were 
redeployed to services such as the Community Support Hubs, community swabbing and 
vaccination support functions. As restrictions have now been lifted, the Council is now opening 
up services and phasing a return to more normal operating arrangements.  

However, it is clear that there will not be a return to a traditional office based service provision. 
The new opportunities provided by technology show how home working can be successful and a 
blended approach to home/office working is likely to be introduced post pandemic. This is likely 
to be a feature of the new Council office facilities that will be developed through the Council’s 
major regeneration programme encompassed within the Creating a Better Place strategy.  This 
programme has gained even greater significance as it will drive  the post COVID recovery in the 
Borough. 

Increased customer engagement using technology has also proved successful, and whilst there 
will continue to be some face to face or telephone contact, much more can be done online and 
this will be the way forward for Council service delivery, having regard to equality and fair access 
to services for all. 

Adopting the measures set out in the Government’s Procurement Policy Note 2 (PPN2), the 
Council introduced revised payment procedures to ensure suppliers at risk were able to resume 

Page 50



17 
 
 

normal contract delivery once the pandemic eased.  The impact on suppliers has varied and 
changed over time.   In April 2020, immediate payment terms were introduced for suppliers and 
where appropriate, the Council paid in advance of normal contractual terms, made interim 
payments and paid on order rather than on receipt of goods. During the year, this process was 
relaxed as the immediate impact on businesses lessened and more usual contractual 
arrangements were resumed. 

COVID led to pressures in relation to the collection of both Council Tax and Business Rates as 
residents livelihoods were affected and businesses struggled under lockdown arrangements. The 
Council relaxed compliance measures in relation to Council Tax and Business Rates collection 
and allowed Council Taxpayers and businesses to defer payments for the first three months of 
2020/21 with revised payment plans over July 2020 to March 2021. It is clear that Collection Fund 
(Council Tax and Business Rates) debt has increased and the limited opportunities to pursue 
recovery at the Magistrates Court proved problematic. The Council received £3.015m from the 
Government in the form of a Hardship Fund to provide £150 Council Tax relief for Council 
Taxpayers of working age in receipt of Council Tax Reduction.  The grant was applied in full and 
helped support both the individuals and the financial position of the Collection Fund as it 
guaranteed £3.015m of revenue in lieu of Council Tax income. 
 
Other income streams, such as car parking, school catering, registrars services, licencing, 
planning and building control were all disrupted. The support provided by the Governments Sales, 
Fees and Charges grant compensation scheme was essential. The on-going challenge will be for 
the Council to restore the lost or deferred income streams to avoid placing an additional burden 
on the people and businesses of Oldham whilst at the same time attempting to manage its 
finances effectively.  The success in restoring income streams will not become evident for some 
time. 

During 2020/21, the Council had to manage a significant amount of grant received from Central 
Government. This meant that the Council did not face any cash flow challenges but at times this 
stretched the treasury management function in managing all of the cash movements. 

In order to support local businesses, the Council administered business rate reliefs and the range 
of business grants that the Government announced. This required a speedy mobilisation right at 
the start of the pandemic in order to apply reliefs and pay eligible businesses their grants as 
quickly as possible.  More detail is provided on grants managed by the Council later in this 
Narrative Statement. 

Given the financial challenges facing the country and the Local Government sector, the Ministry 
of Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) requested Local Authorities provide 
monthly updates on their financial position via a single questionnaire which was later expanded 
with a separate return being submitted in relation to lost Sales, Fees and Charges income.  This 
gave the MHCLG an understanding of the overall financial pressures and the position of individual 
Local Authorities.  This information in turn was useful in supporting the Councils budget 
monitoring process. 

During 2019, the Council invited the Local Government Association (LGA) to Oldham to 
undertake a sector led approach to improvement, a Peer Review. This took place from 21 to 24 
January 2020 and focussed on five core components comprising vision and priorities, leadership 
of place, organisational leadership and governance, financial planning and resilience and 
capacity to deliver.  This review took place as the pandemic was emerging but before its 
significance was fully appreciated. 
 
By the time the review findings were formally received in March 2020 the pandemic had taken 
hold. The findings were generally positive, recognising the many strengths of the Council, the 
response to the (pre COVID) challenges being faced and the way that the Council was working 
to take forward the Borough. Although the Council welcomed the review and embraced the 
recommendations made as a means to strengthen many of the activities already in train, the 

Page 51



18 
 
 

pandemic and the Council’s COVID response took a higher priority and as such it has delayed 
the full adoption of the Action Plan that was prepared to drive forward the recommendations, 
although this will be resumed during 2021/22.  
 
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Financial Management Code 
was first issued in 2019/20 with full guidance following in 2020.  The objectives of this code are 
“to support good practice in financial management and to assist Local Authorities in 
demonstrating their financial sustainability”. The Code is based upon a series of principles which 
are supported by specific standards of practice which CIPFA considers necessary for a strong 
foundation and builds upon the success of the CIPFA Prudential Code. The initial implementation  
date of 1 April 2020 was revised to 1 April 2021. 
 
Work was initially undertaken to review the Council’s compliance with this Code and this exercise 
was revisited during 2020 and 2021. Compliance in most areas can be demonstrated, however 
given the impact of the pandemic on the priorities of the Finance Service and the Council as a 
whole, progress towards full compliance has been delayed.  An Action Plan has been prepared 
which will be progressed in 2021/22 to ensure that the identified improvements are introduced 
and that the wider organisation embraces the recommendations of the Code. 
 
Key Service Issues and Developments  
 
Whilst COVID has impacted on all areas of the Council’s activity, there are other important 
matters which also have a bearing when considering the operating environment and the financial 
position of the Council.  These are set out in the following sections and, as would be expected, 
also highlight a COVID impact. 
 
Health and Social Care Integration 
 
Since April 2016, Greater Manchester has been working to deliver its own sustainable Health and 
Social Care system. In order to take this forward, Oldham Council and Oldham Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG) jointly developed a Locality Plan for Health and Social Care 
Transformation covering the period 2016/17 to 2020/21. In successfully delivering this Locality 
Plan both organisations worked together to redesign the way that Health and Social Care services 
are delivered in the Borough to improve services and outcomes for residents and patients, all 
within a system that is built upon a sustainable financial model. 
 
Health and social care teams are now more closely integrated with five cluster teams across the 
borough where staff are co-located. The Locality Plan developed jointly between Oldham Council 
and Oldham CCG was refreshed during Autumn 2019 and now covers the period 2019 to 2024. 
The plan sets out: 

 
• A new model for health and care, which is focussed on what people can do; 
• Place-based integration; 
• A population health management approach, using data to pro-actively manage 

people’s health; 
• A focus on outcomes, rather than outputs; 
• The development of an Integrated Commissioning Function, which brings together 

and aligns various commissioning activities; and 
• The development of an Integrated Care Partnership, which will integrate provision. 

 
The Oldham Locality Plan forms part of the wider Health and Social Care Delivery Plan across 
Greater Manchester. 
 
Throughout 2020/21, as the Community Health and Adult Social Care Directorate worked to deal 
with COVID in the community and care homes, it drove ever closer working arrangements with 

Page 52



19 
 
 

the NHS and an acceleration of integrated working. In November 2020, the Government released 
new guidance in respect of the next steps in integrating care. This will work on the basis of Place, 
Provider Collaboratives, Integrated Care Systems (ICS) and national and regional bodies. It will 
also mean that Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCG’s) will no longer exist after April 2022. 
 
The Council’s relationship with the Oldham CCG will therefore change as the system evolves and 
localities come together under a Greater Manchester Integrated Care System which will have a 
focus on population health. At a locality level an Oldham Integrated Health and Care System is 
being established, building on progress already made to deliver efficiencies, more effective 
services and to contribute to budget savings through collaboration, networks and alliances. On 
11 February 2021, the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care presented to Parliament, 
Integration and Innovation: Working Together to Improve Health and Social Care for all, setting 
out legislative proposals for a Health and Care Bill likely to be enacted in 2022. The implications 
of this White Paper will also influence the future direction of working arrangements between the 
Council and NHS partners. However, the ambition remains to work closely in partnership, with 
the NHS and Local Government as equals in the Integrated Care system.  
 
An earlier section described the current management and reporting arrangements of Oldham 
Council and Oldham CCG comprised of the Joint Leadership Team (JLT) and Commissioning 
Partnership Board (CPB). The CPB has delegated authority from Cabinet to make decisions in 
respect of the Section 75 (S.75) pooled funds agreement. This S.75 agreement (made under the 
provisions of S.75 of the National Health Service Act 2006) allows a more flexible approach to 
service commissioning by the pooling of resources to enable the delegation of certain NHS and 
Local Authority functions to the other partner, thereby allowing joint decision making that will 
benefit the Oldham health economy as a whole. 
 
During 2020/21, as Oldham Council and Oldham CCG continued working together to deliver the 
response to COVID, the Council was able to seek support from the CCG under the S.75 
agreement, expanding the pool value to £176.632m. This was made up of £62.633m of Council 
resources and £113.999m of CCG resources. Within the overall pooled resource total there was 
£21.875m to support the timely discharge from hospital and the wider care market as a 
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic.  See Note 11 for more detail on S.75 expenditure. 
 
Education and Early Years 
 
In October 2019, Cabinet approved an Education Provision Strategy to ensure there are enough 
school places available to local children and young people. Despite the challenges caused by the 
pandemic, this was taken forward during 2020/21. The Council has the statutory duty to secure 
sufficient primary and secondary schools, although to provide this the Council collaborates with 
schools and other partners to deliver the places needed.  Although there were some delays to 
the planned programme, capital expenditure was incurred on several school expansion projects 
during the year and further activity is taking place across the Borough to both enhance current 
provision and provide new places for young people with good and outstanding providers. 
 
Oldham Learning was formed after extensive sector consultation during the 2019/20 academic 
year and is now the school improvement delivery function in Oldham, combining work that was 
previously performed by the Local Authority, Education Partnership and Opportunity Area. 
Oldham Learning was initiated  on 1 September 2020, with initial funding agreed through the 
Local Authority and Opportunity Area Grant. The intention is to develop a self-sustaining offer 
that schools and academies value. 
 
In September 2020, the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND) Partnership Board 
requested that the SEND Strategy and Development Plan was reviewed to consider the impact 
of the COVID pandemic on services, children, young people and families and the impact on the 
strategy. Following the review, the revised Development Plan and outcomes to be achieved by 
the end of year one were shared with the SEND Partnership Board on 26 November 2020. Further 

Page 53



20 
 
 

work on the Plan is being progressed in 2021 and an updated strategy and Development Plan 
will be presented to Cabinet for approval.  
 
A number of key initiatives have been introduced around ensuring sufficient provision is available 
across the mainstream and special schools estate in Oldham for children and young people with 
SEND. This also connects with the: 
 

• Approved 2021/22 budget reduction which aims to make savings by bringing back to 
Oldham schools, a number of children and young people currently educated outside of 
the borough, following statutory review processes; 

• Recovery Plan that the Council and Schools Forum are taking forward to move the 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) back to a surplus position.  

 
The DSG first fell into deficit 2016/17. It is an important element of the financial management of 
the Council that the DSG is not in a deficit position and there has been action to address this. 
However, this action has been more than offset by the increasing numbers of children with special 
needs entering the education system in previous years. 
 
Such deficits have come under increasing scrutiny from the Department for Education (DfE) and 
during 2019, the Council was required to submit a Recovery Plan to the DfE as its DSG deficit 
was more than 1% of the total value of the DSG as at March 2019. As a consequence, since 
then, the Councils DSG deficit has remained under review. 
 
On 25 June 2020, the Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) issued the DSG: Conditions of 
Grant 2020/21 which changed the Government’s approach to DSG balances. This was reinforced 
by the DSG: Conditions of Grant 2021/22 which stated that a Local Authority that has an overall 
deficit on its DSG account at the end of the 2020/21 financial year, or whose DSG surplus has 
substantially reduced during the year, must co-operate with the Department for Education to 
address the situation.  
 
The Council has been working hard to reduce the DSG deficit and as can be seen at Note 6, the 
deficit has reduced from £4.916m in 2019/20 to £3.560m at the end of 2020/21. There is a clear 
Recovery Plan in place, agreed with Schools Forum, to bring the DSG to a surplus in 2023/24 
and the Council is continuing to liaise with the DfE regarding progress in addressing the DSG 
financial position.  
 
Children’s Social Care  
 
From 13 to 15 October 2020, Ofsted conducted a focused visit in Oldham based on how 
England’s social care system has delivered child-centred practice and care within the context of 
the restrictions placed on society during the COVID pandemic. The majority of findings were 
overwhelmingly positive, and no immediate priority actions were identified. Inspectors recognised 
that a sharp focus was maintained on improvement priorities during the period from April to 
October 2020 and that this has increased the pace of improvement that was already planned and 
had a positive impact on workforce culture. Further work has been taken forward during the latter 
part of 2020/21 to transform service delivery and help support greater efficiency and budget 
reductions. As is evident from the outturn highlighted later, that in 2020/21 and also in previous 
years, despite investment in Children’s Services and Children’s Social Care in particular, 
expenditure has exceeded budget. In addition to the increased cost as a result of higher demand, 
reprioritisation as a result of COVID has slowed planned transformational work.  However, having 
stabilised the position with some additional resources for 2021/22, there is the opportunity to 
continue the transformation process. 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



21 
 
 

Employment and Skills 
 
Oldham is home to over 6,880 businesses (a 10% increase since 2019/20) employing roughly 
81,000 people. As is consistent with the North West economy, this is dominated by micro, small 
or medium-size enterprises (fewer than 10, 10 to 50 and fewer than 250 employees respectively) 
with Oldham having a slightly higher proportion of small companies (11% compared to the 9.2% 
North West average).  
 
The employment rate in Oldham has increased from 67.5% (2018) to 70.9% (December 2020) 
and whilst having fluctuated over time has shown an upwards trend since 2015 but remains lower 
than both the GM (72.5%) and national averages (75.4%). The Borough has high rates of 
residents with long term illness or disability and large numbers of residents not in work. Skills 
represent an additional challenge, particularly in adults. Despite improvements, there are a higher 
proportion of residents with no qualifications and fewer residents holding degree level 
qualifications compared to GM and national averages. In 2020, 7.1% of residents had no 
qualifications (GM: 5.1% UK: 4.9%) which is a significant improvement since 2010 when 16.5% 
of Oldham citizens had no qualifications (GM 12.8% and UK 11.3%).  
 
The Council is dedicated to improving skills and employment opportunities and key to sustaining 
progress is the Creating a Better Place strategy which will create over 1,000 jobs and 100 
apprenticeships. 
 
The Oldham Lifelong Learning Service (OLLS) was negatively impacted by COVID-19 but 
continued to enrol around 2,865 learners (a 31% reduction compared to the previous year). The 
Service has sustained high overall achievement (formerly success) rates for classroom learning 
over the past three years. The Service’s pass rate remained high at 98.5% but the retention rate 
dropped from 95.8% (2018/19) to 86.5% as a consequence of COVID-19 and subsequent 
national lockdowns. OLLS was graded as Outstanding in its last Ofsted report.  
 
The Get Oldham Working initiative has once again succeeded in winning new contracts (Job 
Entry Targeted Support) and National Careers Service extension. It has continued to help create 
work-related opportunities, more than 12,840 since its inception in May 2013. This includes over 
9,224 jobs, 1,696 apprenticeships, 363 traineeships and more than 1,556 work experience 
placements, of which over 10,067 opportunities have been filled by Oldham citizens. 
 
Housing  
 
The Housing Strategy was introduced in 2019 to help address increased demand for all types of 
housing, including supported accommodation, town centre living and larger affordable family 
housing, due to the ongoing growth trends in Oldham’s population. It is a strategic document to 
help promote future service models and seeks to place housing and place shaping at the heart 
of the Oldham Partnerships collective vision for the borough.  
 
The Housing Strategy amongst other things: 

 
• Enables the Council to determine priorities in each district or local housing market 

area as defined by the Local Housing Needs Assessment evidence base; 
• Informs bids for both public and private funding to support the development of new 

homes in Oldham; 
• Supports the Council and its partners to make more informed People and Place 

making decisions about the targeting and future integrated commissioning priorities 
and underpins external funding bids to support investment in existing housing 
services and stock in Oldham. 

  

Page 55



22 
 
 

The delivery of the Housing Strategy objectives has undoubtedly been disrupted by the COVID 
pandemic. However, in line with the refreshed Creating a Better Place Strategy, work is underway 
to develop and deliver a programme of town centre housing development currently focused on 
the identification and assembly of suitable residential development sites. Work is also underway 
to determine a suitable delivery model for such development. 
 
The Housing Service in Oldham has, in line with Government and Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority (GMCA) initiatives, provided support to the homeless during the pandemic.  The Council 
received £0.149m of specific housing grants in 2020/21 which it utilised during the year in line 
with Government guidance and a further £0.046m of grant for housing services will be used in 
2021/22. 
 
Creating a Better Place 
 
The Council’s Creating a Better Place Strategy was established in 2019/20 and is focused on 
building more homes for the borough’s residents, creating new jobs through town centre 
regeneration and ensuring Oldham is a great place to visit with lots of family friendly and 
accessible places to go. The strategy sets out the potential to deliver 2,400 new homes, and as 
advised above, 1,000 new jobs and 100 new opportunities for apprenticeships. 
 
In August 2020, a revised vision and strategic framework for ‘Creating a Better Place’ was 
approved which placed more emphasis on economic recovery, given the impact of the pandemic, 
and sought to accelerate the potential for generating revenue budget savings. The strategy 
complements the Oldham Green New Deal Strategy which aims to deliver carbon neutrality for 
the Borough by 2030 and is also aligned with current priorities that are set out in the Council’s 
COVID recovery plan.  
 
Following the introduction by Government of revised Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) lending 
criteria which were designed to strongly discourage Local Authority commercial investment 
activity, some £90m of schemes which were primarily associated with corporate property 
investment activities or which would not make a sufficient contribution to strategic objectives were 
removed from the Creating a Better Place strategy. 
 
In October 2020, the Council acquired the Spindles and Town Square Shopping Centre which is 
located in the heart of Oldham Town Centre. The asset includes 450,000 sq. ft. of space (primarily 
retail) which, with redevelopment and more effective use, will support the regeneration of Oldham 
Town Centre and the delivery of the wider Creating a Better Place Strategy. The acquisition 
allows the Council to relocate Tommyfield Market into the shopping centre to ensure it has a 
sustainable future. Repurposing space within the centre will also unlock other sites across the 
Borough to facilitate the provision of brand new housing; especially within the town centre.  
 
Shortly after the approval of the revised Creating a Better Place strategy, the Council commenced 
a fundamental review of property assets. The objective is to ensure the Council’s assets are cost-
effective and support modernised working arrangements and service delivery models. 
 
The Creating a Better Place Strategy encompasses almost £288m of capital investment  over a 
five year period.  Alongside the property asset review, the aim is to deliver revenue savings of 
£8.2m per annum which are reflected in the Council’s latest approved Revenue Budget and 
Medium Term Financial Strategy. These savings largely rely on asset disposals and the 
completion of capital schemes which can take time to deliver meaning their realisation will occur 
in 2022/23 and 2023/24. The key programmes which form part of the Creating a Better Place 
strategy are: 
 

• Schools - A range of new build and school expansion schemes to ensure there are 
sufficient school places for the Borough’s children. Schemes include the provision of a 
new secondary school at Saddleworth and the expansion of North Chadderton school.  

Page 56



23 
 
 

• New Homes – As highlighted above, the aim of the Housing Strategy is to provide a 
diverse housing offer that is attractive and meets the needs of different sections of the 
population at different points in their lives and focusses on the dynamics between 
people, homes and the wider economy.  
 

• Town Centre Regeneration - The Council continues to deliver considerable investment 
in the town centre as evidenced by the recent acquisition of the Spindles and Town 
Square Shopping Centre. The centre’s redevelopment will release other town centre 
sites for the provision of housing and additional green space  

 
• Borough-Wide Regeneration - The Council is investing in borough-wide regeneration 

initially via initiatives through housing and employment sites at Broadway Green and 
Hollinwood but will take advantage of suitable development opportunities throughout 
Oldham in order to advance its regeneration objectives. 

 
Leading the Oldham Recovery from COVID   
 
Having highlighted all the challenges that COVID has presented, it is important to have regard to 
the work that has taken place during 2020/21 and continues in 2021/22 to support the recovery 
from COVID. The Council has developed a COVID Recovery Strategy with all Directorates and 
service areas are being engaged to identify key priorities for the organisation in moving towards 
a post COVID environment, as well as how those priorities align to the wider Oldham model. 
 
Building on the learning so far and the anticipated events to come, the Strategy is pivotal in  
shaping the Council’s approach and vision for Oldham over the next eighteen months. This work 
is being taken forward whilst the Council continues to respond to the COVID pandemic. 
 
The objectives and approach to the Councils’ Recovery Strategy are rooted in the Oldham Model, 
ensuring as the Council adapts to a changing world that it builds Thriving Communities, an 
Inclusive Economy and works Co-operatively with partners and stakeholders.  
 
During 2020/21, the emphasis was on taking forward the principles linked to the immediate 
response to COVID whilst preparing for a post-COVID environment. As 2021/22 develops, the 
initiatives that the Council has put in place during 2020/21 should see Oldham moving forward 
and where possible being in a better place than it was pre-COVID. 
 
The Finances of the Council in 2020/21 
 
The 2020/21 Revenue Budget Process 
 
The 2020/21 revenue budget was approved on 26 February 2020, however the process behind 
setting the balanced budget effectively started at the 2019/20 Budget Council which considered 
the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2019/20 to 2023/24. This set out provisional 
spending plans taking account of anticipated Government funding, income from Council Tax and 
Business Rates payers as well as demographic, legislative and other pressures. This highlighted 
that the initial budget reduction requirement to deliver a balanced budget for 2020/21 was 
£22.871m. 
 
As would be expected, this target was subject to constant review with the budget reduction 
requirement eventually decreasing to £18.169m. Work took place throughout 2019/20 to address 
the budget reduction requirement. Using the well-established Member review forum, chaired by 
the Leader of the Council and comprising of the other members of the Cabinet and SMT, there 
was a review of the financial pressures facing the Council alongside available funding and 
resources, with a number of revenue budget reduction proposals considered to help address the 
budget reduction requirement. This allowed Members to undertake a detailed review and 

Page 57



24 
 
 

examination of proposals and to consider acceptability in the context of the ethos of the Council. 
Although no consultation was required with the public or staff, the budget reduction proposals 
were subject to Member scrutiny at the Overview and Scrutiny Performance and Value for Money 
(PVFM)  Select Committee on 23 January 2020. 
 
The 2020/21 budget was balanced by new budget reductions of £3.011m and £1.776m approved 
with the 2019/20 budget.  It also relied on the use of one-off measures; £3.750m from the flexible 
use of capital receipts to fund transformational projects, £1.400m Collection Fund surplus, and 
£10.008m of reserves. 
 
The initial net revenue budget of £233.524m was approved at the Budget Council meeting of 26 
February 2020, with the budget report also including the MTFS setting out anticipated budget 
reduction requirements for 2021/22 to 2024/25. Also approved at the same meeting were the 
budget for the Housing Revenue Account (HRA), Council Tax Reduction Scheme, Capital 
Programme and Strategy, Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21 and the Statement of the 
Chief Finance Officer on the Reserves, Robustness of Estimates and Affordability and Prudence 
of Capital Investments. 
 
Council Tax 
 
Council Tax is the largest single revenue stream that is used to support the Council’s revenue 
budget. The Government  allows Councils to raise an Adult Social Care Precept (ASCP) as well 
as charge Council Tax for general purposes. The revenue raised from the ASCP must be ring-
fenced to support the increased costs of Adult Social Care, in part caused by Government 
sanctioned increases in the National Living Wage and the consequent impact on the cost for 
provision of care.  
 
Within the Local Government Finance Settlement (LGFS) for 2020/21, the Government confirmed 
the referendum limit for general Council Tax at a maximum increase of 2% for 2020/21. This was 
1% lower than for 2019/20. However, mindful of the financial position of the Council but also the 
impact of a further increase in Council Tax on the citizens of Oldham, Members agreed to limit 
the increase of Council Tax for general purposes to 0.99%. The threshold for ASCP increases 
was a maximum of 2% for 2020/21 and Members agreed to the maximum increase. The Council 
used the funds generated from this precept to finance Adult Social Care expenditure in 
accordance with Government requirements. When combining the general Council Tax increase 
with the ASCP, this resulted in a total increase of 2.99%. As in previous years, Parish Councils 
were excluded from the referendum limits. 
 
The comparison of Council Tax Band D levels from 2019/20 to 2020/21 for Oldham Council is 
shown in the following table. This also shows the major precepts payable at Band D level for both 
years, which for 2020/21 were the Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner Precept and the 
Mayoral General Precept (including Fire Services). Precepts payable in relation to the two Parish 
Councils, payable only by residents who live in those Parish areas, are also shown. 
 
  2019/20 2020/21 Increase Change 
 Council Tax Raising Body £ £ £ % 
Oldham Council 
(Includes Adult Social Care Precept) 1,624.36 1,672.92 48.56 2.99% 

Mayoral Police & Crime Commissioner Precept 198.30 208.30 10.00 5.04% 
Mayoral General Precept (incl. Fire Services) 76.95 90.95 14.00 18.19% 
TOTAL BAND D COUNCIL TAX 1,899.61 1,972.17 72.56    3.82% 
Saddleworth Parish Council Precept 21.76 22.76 1.00 4.60% 
Shaw & Crompton Parish Council Precept 16.53 16.86 0.33 2.00% 

 

Page 58



25 
 
 

Greater Manchester (GM) 100% Business Rates Retention Pilot Scheme 
 
On 1 April 2017, the GMCA, Oldham Council and the nine other GM districts commenced a pilot 
scheme for the 100% local retention of Business Rates. The participants agreed to pilot full 
Business Rates retention on the basis that no district would be worse off than they would have 
been under the original ‘50/50’ arrangements whereby Business Rates revenues are shared 
between Central Government and the Local Authority sector. This has become known as the ‘no 
detriment’ principle. Under the pilot scheme, additional business rates income is offset by 
reductions in other funding streams such as the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) and Public Health 
Grant. The pilot scheme has enabled additional Business Rates revenues to be retained within 
the city region and Oldham’s share of these benefits has been used to support the budget over 
several financial years. Oldham’s share of these benefits supported the 2019/20 budget by 
£1.718m with funding made available during 2018/19 arising from the benefits of the GM 100% 
Business Rates Retention Pilot Scheme and £1.825m of GMCA  Business Rates Retention Pilot 
Scheme surplus resources. For the 2020/21 budget, the equivalent figures were £1.300m of 
additional resources made available during 2019/20 arising from benefits of the GM 100% 
Business Rates Retention Pilot Scheme and £1.413m of GMCA returned surplus resources.  
 
From the Government’s perspective, the primary purpose of the pilot scheme was to develop and 
trial approaches to manage risk and reward in a Local Government finance system that included 
the full devolution of Business Rates revenues. Government plans subsequently changed with a 
75% Business Rates Retention Scheme expected to be introduced.  
 
It was initially expected that the reform of Business Rates Retention (including the adoption of a 
national 75% rates retention scheme) would be implemented from 2020/21.  It was then delayed 
until 2021/22.  However, confirmation was received as part of the 2020 Spending Round on 25 
November 2020, that the Greater Manchester 100% Business Rates Retention pilot scheme 
would continue for a further year in 2021/22. 
 
Projected Level of Balances 
 
A significant issue, both in relation to the 2020/21 budget and the MTFS to 2024/25 was the 
assumption about the level of balances that the Council would require to address any unexpected 
spending pressures. Balances needed to reflect spending experience and risks to which the 
Council might be exposed. At the 26 February 2020 Council meeting the recommended balances 
(prepared using a risk-based analysis) were approved as £14.991m for 2020/21, £15.187m for 
2021/22 and £15.241m for each of the years 2021/22 to 2023/24. The 2019/20 accounts were 
closed with balances of £15.110m providing financial assurance for 2020/21. As discussed later, 
the balances at the end of 2020/21 increased to £17.263m. 
 
Revenue Budget Monitoring 
 
The Council has well established and robust financial management procedures in place to 
monitor both revenue and capital budgets and mitigate any forecast over spending. Historically 
this has been very successful in monitoring budget reductions and acting as an early warning that 
any approved savings are at risk of not being delivered. The process for the management and 
monitoring of budgets and savings continues to be refined to further ensure the sustainability of 
the Council’s financial position over the longer term.  
 
Clearly the single biggest challenge during 2020/21 has been accounting for and monitoring the 
financial impact of the pandemic. At month 9 (31 December 2021) Government specific COVID-
19 funding totalling £48.390m was forecast to be received (excluding compensation for the 
awarding of Business Rate reliefs) to provide both general support and to fund a diverse range 
of specific COVID related initiatives. In addition, the Council was able to reclaim social care costs, 
predominantly linked to hospital discharge from the NHS via Oldham CCG; £10.401m was 
forecast to be received in the final monitoring report. Periodic returns in relation to additional 

Page 59



26 
 
 

COVID expenditure and also claims for lost Sales Fees and Charges income had to be submitted 
to MHCLG and the monitoring process had to be adapted to be able to accurately capture, record 
and report the relevant costs. A further consequence of the pandemic was  the inability to fully 
deliver a number of the budget reductions that were included in the 2020/21 approved budget. 
 
Revenue and capital budget monitoring information is reported to Cabinet and then to the PVFM 
Select Committee. Given the impact of the pandemic, the frequency of reporting was increased 
to monthly from periods 3 through to 9. This was important to ensure that Members were sighted 
on the financial challenges and the ever changing level and nature of Government support for 
COVID. The process also facilitated a good level of challenge, including reviewing any potential 
impacts on service performance. In addition to the monitoring reports, during 2020/21, the PVFM 
Select Committee also considered, amongst other things, wider budget updates including 
revisions to the 2021/22 budget reduction target, reports on the financial position within Children’s 
Social Care,  the Regional Adoption Agency and performance and financial updates on both 
MioCare CIC and the Unity Partnership Ltd. 
 
For the first time in a number of years, the governance structure of the Council was unchanged; 
the arrangements introduced in early 2019/20 remained in place throughout the whole of 2020/21 
and the budget monitoring format therefore remained comparable to 2019/20.  
 
At the point of the first monitoring report for 2020/21 it was clear that the pandemic was going to 
have a significant and potentially lasting impact on the financial position of the Council. The month 
3 monitoring report for the period ending 30 June 2020 presented to Cabinet on 20 August 2020 
advised, that compared to a net revenue budget of £243.509m, there would be a £21.299m 
adverse outturn without corrective action being taken or mitigating funding being made available. 
Of this variance, £17.112m was attributable to COVID-19. This was after offsetting the gross 
expenditure with £16.638m of general COVID grant funding that had been received at that point 
(including £7.641m received in 2019/20 and carried forward as a reserve), leaving a residual 
‘business as usual’ variance of £4.187m. All the major ‘customer facing’ portfolios together with 
Capital, Treasury and Corporate Accounting were reporting significant adverse COVID related 
pressures.  This was before taking the Government’s general COVID grant support into 
consideration. The main business as usual pressures were in Children’s Services and Community 
Health and Adult Social Care. 
 
The reported monitoring position fluctuated throughout the year, the constantly changing 
restrictions: a series of national lockdowns interspersed with local restrictions and the drip feed 
of funding announcements had an on-going, fluctuating positive and adverse effect on the 
forecast outturn position. 
 
The Community Health and Adult Social Care Portfolio which had been consistently reporting a 
significant overspend (both ‘COVID’ and operational) throughout the year was forecast towards 
the end of the year, to benefit from a £5.900m contribution from Oldham CCG (via the S.75 
Agreement) to support the costs of adult social care. This had a significant favourable impact on 
the reported outturn. Subsequently, the S.75. Agreement was increased by a further £10.923m 
of resources from the CCG which was also used to support the costs of adult social care. 
 
Both Children’s Services and People and Place consistently reported high levels of overspending, 
the majority of which was COVID related. Within Children’s Services the main area of concern 
was Children’s Social Care; the overspend being generated through COVID related costs, an 
unachievable savings option and operational expenditure mainly in relation to out of borough 
placements and agency staffing costs.  
 
The final monitoring report was prepared to month 9 (December 2020) and was presented to 
Cabinet on 22 March 2020, at which point, against a net revenue budget of £296.762m there was 
an estimated underspend of £0.522m. The estimated COVID pressure was £5.188m after 
offsetting general COVID funding, including actual and estimated MHCLG reimbursements for 

Page 60



27 
 
 

lost Sales, Fees and Charges which, in total, had increased to an estimated £25.802m (including 
£7.641m of Government resource paid to the Council in 2019/20). The pressure was offset by a 
forecast ‘business as usual’ underspend of £5.710m, generated in part by the anticipated receipt 
of a total of an additional £3.133m  from the GMCA. 
 
Revenue Outturn 2020/21 
 
As part of Central Government’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Council received 
additional grants and payments in advance, over and above budgeted receipts, to aid with 
cashflow and to allow the Council to help the residents and businesses of Oldham. This  impacted 
on the outturn as some grants were not used in full in the 2020/21 financial year (thus held in 
reserves) and others were intended to be held in reserve for use in 2021/22. 
 
The outturn and indeed the monitoring reports all year were presented with the unringfenced 
grant received from Central Government offsetting overspending in Council Portfolio areas. This 
approach was chosen so the actual service impact could be seen compared to the original 
budget. In total three tranches of unringfenced grant totalling £15.055m was received  and three 
tranches of Sales, Fees and Charges compensation grant totalling £2.955m. In addition, £7.641m 
of grant was received in 2019/20 and this was transferred from earmarked reserves to support 
the overall financial position (a total of £25.561m).  There was also grant funding of £2.169m for 
the Local Tax Income Guarantee (LTIG). This funding, although received in 2020/21 as an 
unringfenced grant, is being carried forward in reserves to support the 2021/22 budget as the 
Councils 2021/22 budget had been prepared in the expectation of LTIG funding.  
 
The Council’s 2020/21 revenue outturn position, as shown in the following table, is presented in 
the Portfolio structure. Total budgeted expenditure was £323.295m whilst actual spending was 
£291.410m (due to a Collection Fund adjustment of £29.692m), leaving a surplus of £31.885m. 
After adjusting for the Collection Fund deficit of £29.691m and a financing variance of £0.043m, 
the Council reported a surplus of £2.153m for the financial year. This surplus has been credited 
to the General Fund balance contributing to the Council’s financial resilience in future years. 
 
It must be noted that most of the Collection Fund adjustment (£25.182m) is due to the introduction 
by the Government (after the 2020/21 budget had been set) of retail, leisure, hospitality and 
nursery business rate reliefs.  Instead of collecting Business Rates, the Council received 
compensating Government grant of £25.182m. The Collection Fund (which manages Council Tax 
and Business Rates income) is a technical account and as a consequence a series of 
adjustments are required to correctly manage the funding.  The £25.182m was moved to reserves 
in 2020/21. 
 
The table below sets out the outturn position for 2020/21.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



28 
 
 

  
Revenue Outturn 2020/21 

Budget  
£000 

Actual 
£000 

Variance 
£000 

Net revenue expenditure      
People and Place 87,923 92,379 4,456 
Community Health & Adult Social Care 69,232 67,575 (1,657) 
Children's Services 81,706 89,765 8,059 
Communities and Reform 42,259 42,626 367 
Commissioning 15,795 16,287 492 
Chief Executive 3,771 3,515 (256) 
Capital, Treasury and Technical Accounting (2,441) 12,803 15,244 
Corporate and Democratic Core 6,731 6,731 - 
Parish Precepts 310 310 - 
COVID-19 Funding 18,010 (7,641) (25,561) 
Resources Returned from GMCA 0 (3,248) (3,248) 
Net Service Expenditure 323,295 321,102 (2,193) 
 Collection Fund - (29,692) (29,692) 
Total Net Service Expenditure 323,295 291,410 (31,885) 
Financed by:       
Council Taxpayers (88,077) (88,077) - 
Adult Social Care Precept - Council Taxpayers (8,679) (8,679) - 
Retained Business Rates (50,424) (53,436) (3,012) 
Business Rates Top Up (41,654) (41,654) - 
Grants in Lieu of Business Rates (36,416) (36,373) 43 
Local Tax Income Guarantee (2,169) (2,169) - 
Private Finance Initiative Grant (8,488) (8,488) - 
Capital Grants (20,453) 20,453) - 
Other Non-Ringfenced Government Grants (1,861) (1,861) - 
Housing and Council Tax Benefit Administration Grant (1,195) (1,195) - 
New Homes Bonus Grant (598) (598) - 
Independent Living Fund Grant (2,580) (2,580) - 
Improved Better Care Fund (10,859) (10,859) - 
Social Care Support Grant (6,955) (6,955) - 
Opportunity Area Grant (1,565) (1,565) - 
School Improvement Monitoring & Brokerage Grant (259) (259) - 
COVID - Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation Grant (2,955) (2,955) - 
COVID - Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) (7,123) (7,123) - 
COVID - Local Restrictions Support Grant – Discretionary (4,522) (4,522) - 
COVID-19 - Unringfenced grant (15,055) (15,055) - 
Use of Earmarked Reserves (10,008) (10,008) - 
Transfer to Earmarked Reserve - 3,012 3,012 
Financing (321,895) (321,852) 43 
 Collection Fund (Surplus)/Deficit (1,400)  28,291 29,691 
Total Financing (323,295) (293,561) 29,734 
Current Net Underspend - (2,153) (2,153) 

 
A key element of the closure process is to determine the level of reserves and to align the 
reserves to reflect the requirements of the reserves policy. There was always an aspiration to 
replenish reserves at the year-end if possible. 
 
The funds available to allocate to reserves were higher than anticipated but it must be 
emphasised that the  pandemic made expenditure trends and income losses more volatile and 
some activities were much less affected by the third lockdown than projected at month 9 (as at 

Page 62



29 
 
 

31 December 2020). In addition, it is evident that some projects and initiatives that were expected 
to proceed in 2020/21 were delayed. Such expenditure has simply been deferred into 2021/22. 
 
In addition to the general uncertainty linked to disrupted service delivery patterns reflected in 
reduced expenditure trends and fluctuations in income streams for business as usual activities, 
there were a range of factors that had a favourable impact on the outturn position after the month 
9 report was prepared. This supported the increase in Earmarked Reserves to £113.512m (this 
is artificially inflated due to the impact of the £25.182m grant received to support the Collection 
Fund deficit as highlighted above). These changes include: 

 
• Additional capital receipts being generated which enabled the maximisation of the 

Flexible Use of Capital Receipts which had not been projected;  
• A year end exercise to maximise the use of time limited revenue grants received;  
• The use of £16.823m of Oldham CCG resources to underpin the provision of adult 

social care using the facility of the S75 Agreement (of which only £5.9m had been 
anticipated);  

• Income being received from partner organisations late in the financial year 
including investment income, funding in relation to after care services provided 
under Section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983 and other adults social care 
related payments from Oldham CCG and increased refunds from the GMCA to top 
up resources already anticipated; 

• Late notification from Central Government of grant allocations;  
• The review of provisions and the release of resources to the General Fund;  
• Displaced activity which will be completed in 2021/22 resulting in anticipated 

expenditure and reserve usage not taking place.  
 

A description of the Portfolios and the performance of each is summarised below (net of the 
creation of reserves).  

People and Place  
 
The People and Place Portfolio encompasses the Economic Development, Enterprise and Skills, 
Environmental Services and Commercial Services Divisions.  
 
The overall objective of the People and Place Portfolio is to grow the economy of Oldham and 
support the Council’s commitment to neighbourhood working. This is achieved by: 
 

• delivering services that maintain and improve the public realm;  
• creating the right environment for growth;  
• focusing on key place making regeneration projects which will act as a catalyst for 

wider economic activity and investment which will create jobs. 
 
The year-end position for the People and Place Portfolio was a deficit of £4.456m, against a 
revised budget of £87.923m. The adverse variance is mostly within the Economic Development 
service and primarily relates to the loss of income as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic in the 
following services: 
 

• the Catering and Cleaning Service as a result of limited opening of schools during 
lockdowns and the impacts of self-isolation when schools reopened; 

• the Corporate Landlord/Investment Estate and Markets Service relating to the 
recoverability of rental income from tenants impacted by lockdowns and the pandemic; 

• the Parking Service as a result of a drop in demand for Town Centre Parking.  
 

Page 63



30 
 
 

The final outturn of £4.456m was an improvement of £0.472m compared to the projected deficit 
of £4.928m at month 9 (31 December 2021). The reduced variance was due to the economic 
impact of the third lockdown being less severe than had been anticipated. 
 
Community Health and Adult Social Care 
 
The Community Health and Adult Social Care Portfolio operates around seven broad strands: 

• Community health and social care; 
• Clusters;  
• Safeguarding; 
• Learning disability; 
• Mental Health; 
• Community business services; and 
• Commissioning.  

 
The Adult Social Care Service (ASC) carries out statutory functions on behalf of the Council. The 
Portfolio therefore provides social care support to adults and carers across Oldham with the key 
aim of integrating and aligning work with health partners to achieve greater efficiency in service 
delivery and better outcomes for the resident or patient, in relation to both the commissioning and 
the provision of services. 

In 2020/21, this co-operation with health partners was used to provide integrated services in the 
response to the global pandemic. A discharge hub was established to expedite discharge from 
hospital into the community and a Supporting Treatment in Care Homes (STICH) service was 
created to provide clinical support to the care sector. Regular multi-disciplinary meetings were 
undertaken across a range of health partners to optimise the locality response. 

The favourable outturn of £1.657m represents an improvement of £3.245m compared to the 
forecast pressure of £1.588m reported at month 9 and includes income received from the CCG, 
both to support the COVID-19 related Hospital Discharge Scheme and to underpin the provision 
of adult social care (£16.823m in total and £10.923m more than had been envisaged when the 
month 9 report was prepared). Leaving aside the CCG income, the movement in the variance is 
attributable to; 
 

• the cost of care provision in the last quarter being below expectations, partly as more 
financial support was received via the NHS funded Hospital Discharge Scheme; 

• Additional contributions by the CCG to the cost of care, being mainly S.117 contributions 
for after-care services;  

• Delayed recruitment to vacant posts and grant income to support staffing costs.  
 
Children’s Services  
 
The Children’s Services Portfolio comprises the Education, Skills and Early Years Directorate, 
Children’s Social Care and Preventative Services.  
 
The Education, Skills and Early Years Directorate ensures that the Council meets its statutory 
duties in respect of education for those aged 0 to 19 years old and for High Needs pupils aged 0 
to 25 plus the Lifelong Learning Service and Get Oldham Working. These services enable 
Oldham residents to gain the necessary education and skills to be able to access employment 
opportunities both within the Borough but also across the wider Greater Manchester conurbation 
and beyond. 
 
Children's Social Care provides the Council’s statutory social work function for the care and 
protection of children in need and children and young people at risk of significant harm.  
 

Page 64



31 
 
 

Preventative Services has strategic responsibility for services including the Early Help service, 
the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) and Targeted Youth provision. 
 
The Portfolio as a whole recorded an overspend of £8.059m against a revised budget of 
£81.706m. This is £0.348m less than the forecast at month 9. The majority of the adverse 
variance (£7.784m) was within Children’s Social Care, primarily due to the cost of placements; 
out of borough in particular, and also additional staffing costs, mainly agency to address demand 
pressures arising from the pandemic. The adverse variance within Education, Skills and Early 
Years was (£0.345m); the main drivers being the cost of SEND provision (including out of borough 
placements) and staffing costs. Preventative services recorded an underspend of £0.070m.  
 
Communities and Reform 
 
The Communities and Reform Portfolio covers a range of services including Public Health, 
Heritage, Libraries and Arts, Community Safety and Community Development, Districts, Sport, 
Youth and Leisure as well as corporate functions such as Human Resources and Organisational 
Development, Policy, Strategy, Communications, Performance and Transformation including 
Public Service Reform. The Portfolio also leads on key programmes such as Thriving 
Communities and Northern Roots. 
 
The revenue outturn was an adverse variance of £0.367m, an improvement of £1.663m 
compared to the forecast adverse variance of £2.030m estimated at month 9 (31 December 
2020). The overall adverse variance for Communities and Reform Portfolio is due to a number of 
COVID-19 pressures; the reduction of income for the Music Service, Outdoor Education, Sports 
Development and pressures within the Leisure services contract. These pressures have been 
partially mitigated by the reduction in service provision by the Heritage, Libraries and Arts and 
Public Health teams for expenditure such as delivery of services in primary care and also by 
vacancies across the Portfolio. 
 
The main reason for improved performance at the year-end was in relation to the final COVID-19 
related compensation payments to the Leisure provider, further service underspends and the 
maximum utilisation of Government Grants to fund COVID-19 related expenditure. 
 
Commissioning  
 
The Commissioning Portfolio consists of the Finance and Procurement Services. The revenue 
outturn was an adverse variance of £0.492m, an improvement of £0.342m compared to the 
forecast adverse variance of £0.834m estimated at month 9 (31 December 2020).  
 
The adverse variance is a result of the use of external contractors by the Procurement Service, 
the reduction of income generated against the Councils early payment discount scheme which in 
part is due to Government guidance (PPN2) in response to COVID-19 which encouraged 
immediate payment terms for all contracted services thus removing any benefit from an early 
payment scheme. There was also a reduction in summons cost recovery compared to expected 
levels, again due to the Government guidance on limiting debt recovery activity during the first 
half of 2020/21. The pressures were partially offset by vacancies within the Finance Division and 
reductions in non-pay costs.  
 
Chief Executive  
 
This Portfolio includes the budgets for the Council’s Chief Executive, the Executive and Senior 
Management Team and Legal Services. It also encompasses payments to external providers of 
corporate services; the Coroners service and services provided by the GMCA on behalf of the 
ten Districts of Greater Manchester. 
 

Page 65



32 
 
 

The favourable outturn position of £0.256m represents a £0.030m reduction compared with the 
forecast favourable variance at month 9 of £0.286m. The Chief Executive directorate has been 
impacted by COVID-19 in respect of income generation for the Registrars Service, land charges 
and the recovery of court costs in 2020/21. However, these pressures were mitigated by a 
reduction in costs such as the postponement of the local election in May 2020, fewer civic 
functions, reduced costs for the Coroners Services and vacancies within Legal Services. 
 
Capital, Treasury and Technical Accounting  
 
The Portfolio includes the revenue budgets associated with the Council’s Treasury Management 
activities including interest payable on loans and interest receivable on investments.  

The Portfolio also includes revenue budgets relating to the technical accounting entries required 
by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and International Financial 
Reporting Standards such as the removal of depreciation and impairment charges from the 
Council’s service budgets to ensure there is no impact on Council Tax and the replacement of 
this with a Minimum Revenue Provision, ensuring resources are set aside to repay the Council’s 
debt.  

The outturn for Capital, Treasury and Technical Accounting was a deficit of £15.244m in the main 
due the impact of the pandemic on anticipated interest, dividend income and capital financing 
transactions. 

Corporate and Democratic Core  

This represents the revenue budgets concerned with the executive management of the Council 
and Elected Member related activities including policy making, representing local interests and 
democratic representation.  Total expenditure was £6.731m with no variance to budget. 

Parish Precepts 
 
This consists of the payments made to the two Parish Councils, Saddleworth Parish Council and 
Shaw and Crompton Parish Council. These payments relate to Council Tax income collected by 
the Council on behalf of the Parish Councils (£0.291m) plus additional grant payments made to 
each Parish Council to help mitigate revenue losses arising from the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (£0.019m in total). 

COVID-19 Grants 
 
The Council received a range of grants from Central Government in 2020/21 to support the overall 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. The financial impact of these grants is included within the 
outturn and Statement of Accounts.  The grants and Business Rates reliefs were administered 
by the Council in line within the guidance received from Central Government.  
 
Following the receipt of a grant the Council had to determine whether in administering the grant 
it was acting as an agent or principal. 
 
Where the Council was acting as agent the following conditions applied: 
 

• It was acting as an intermediary between the recipient and the Government Department;
  

• It did not have “control” of the grant conditions and there was no flexibility in determining 
the level of grant payable. 

 
Where the Council acted as principal, it was able to use its own discretion when allocating the 
amount of grant payable. 

Page 66



33 
 
 

The first major grant round announced was the Small Business Grant Fund (SBGF) and Retail, 
Leisure and Hospitality Grant Fund (RLHGF).  The grant details were issued in late March 2020 
and the Council received £54.738m to pay these grants on 1 April 2020. As the grants sums 
payable were £0.010m or £0.025m for each eligible business with  eligibility criteria specified by 
Government, the Council acted as an agent in administering these grants. 
 
A further grant regime, the Discretionary Grant Fund was then introduced, within a maximum sum 
of £2.501m.  The Council determined eligibility for these grants and therefore acted as a principal 
for this source of funding. 
 
By the time the final grants were paid in October 2020, in total £47.845m had been paid in SBGF 
and RLHGF to 4,321 businesses and the maximum of £2.501m in discretionary grants to 267 
businesses. The balance of £4.392m was returned to Central Government.  The table below sets 
out the summary grant information. 
 

 Final 
grant 

allocation 

The 
Council 

acting as 
Agent 

The 
Council 

acting as 
Principal  

Expenditure 
as at 31 

March 2021  

Grant 
Remaining 

as at 31 
March 
2021  

Grants £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Small Business Grants Fund /Retail, Leisure and 
Hospitality Grant Fund 47,845 47,845 -  47,845 - 

Local Authority Discretionary Fund Grant  2,501 - 2,501 2,501 - 
 50,346 47,845 2,501 50,346 - 

 

The Government then introduced a range of grants under the general heading of Local 
Restrictions Support Grant (LRSG), covering the period from August 2020 to 31 March 2021. In 
total the Council received £28.420m in grant across eleven separate allocations. Each separate 
tranche of LRSG had its own eligibility criteria.  All except one tranche of grant funding (the 
Christmas Support Payments for Wet Led Pubs) remained open for final payments beyond 31 
March 2021. 
 
Three rounds of the LRSG had a discretionary element and for these the Council determined 
eligibility and therefore acted as principal. Funding for these grants totalled £1.945m and at the 
year-end £0.037m remained and was held in a reserve to be used in 2021/22. 

Eight tranches of LRSG were received to support schemes without a discretionary element and 
for these the Council acted as the agent of Central Government. Funding for these grants totalled 
£26.475m and at the year-end £8.864m remained unspent.  Given the status of these grants, the 
funds remaining at 31 March are included in the Councils Balance Sheet (Short Term Creditors). 

Once all rounds of LRSG are finally closed there will be a reconciliation and remaining funds will 
be repaid to Central Government. 

The table below summarises the LRSG allocation and expenditure in 2020/21. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



34 
 
 

 
  

Total 
grant 

allocation 

The 
Council 

acting as 
Agent 

The 
Council 

acting as 
Principal 

Expendit
ure as at 
31 March 

2021 

Grant 
Remaining 

as at 31 
March 2021 

Grants £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
LRSG Closed Addendum 3,517 3,517 -  2,810 708 
LRSG Closed Addendum Open Pre 5 
November 2020 1,884 -  1,884 1,849 35 

LRSG Closed Addendum Closed Pre 5 
November 2020 191 191 -  128 62 

LRSG Closed 2 December:19 December 2020 289 289 -  289 - 
LRSG Open 2 December:19 December 2020 36 -  36 36 - 
Christmas Support Payments (Wet Led Pubs) 131 131 -  131 - 
Closed Business Lockdown One-Off Payment 10,548 10,548 -  6,918 3,630 
LRSG Closed Addendum 5 January – 15 
February 2021 5,276 5,276 -  3,588 1,688 

LRSG Closed 20 December – 4 January 2021 996 996 -  847 149 
LRSG Open 20 December – 4 January 2021 25 -  25 23 2 
LSRG Closed Addendum 16 February – 31 
March 2021 5,527 5,527 -  2,937 2,590 

  28,420 26,475 1,945 19,556 8,864 
 

In addition to the LRSG, the Government introduced a further discretionary grant scheme the 
Additional Restrictions Grant. The Council introduced specific eligibility criteria for grant support 
based on knowledge of the Oldham economy and the local business community. During 2020/21, 
two rounds of grant were received totalling £7.123m for which the Council acted as a principal. 
By the year end £3.076m had been spent with £4.047m being carried forward within the Council’s 
Revenue Grant reserves. 

  
The Council 

acting as 
Principal  

Expenditure 
as at 31 

March 2021  

Grant 
Remaining 

as at 31 
March 2021  

Grants £000 £000 £000 
Additional Restrictions Grant (ARG) 7,123 3,076 4,047 

Total 7,123 3,076 4,047 
 

From 1 April 2021, the Council began administering a new round of business support grants 
known as Restart Grants and it will continue to administer this grant regime until the closing date 
for final payments on 31 July 2021. 

As outlined in the table below, the COVID-19 pandemic led the Government to introduce a further 
18 specific grant regimes for the Council to administer. Each of these grants had its own terms, 
conditions and eligibility criteria and some had detailed reporting requirements.   

In total £21.838m of specific grants were received, with the Council acting as an agent for 
£4.539m and principal for £17.299m. As can be seen, there were three grants for which the 
Council acted as the agent for one element and the principal for the other element of the grant. 
At the year-end £7.951m had yet to be spent and this is available for use in 2021/22, with £7.431m 
being wholly carried forward within the Revenue Grant Reserves and £0.520m, where the Council 
acted as both an agent and principal being split between Revenue Grant Reserves (£0.451m) 
and the Balance Sheet (£0.069m).   

 

 

Page 68



35 
 
 

  
Total 
grant 

allocation 

The 
Council 

acting as 
Agent 

The 
Council 

acting as 
Principal  

Expenditure 
as at 31 

March 2021  

Grant 
Remaining 

as at 31 
March 2021  

Grants £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Test and Trace Support Payments 1,118 568 550 598 520 
Local Authority Test and Trace Service Support 
Grant  1,560  - 1,560 709 851 

Enhanced Response to COVID Grant 300  - 300 167 133 
Funding for Local Authorities for Support to 
Clinically Extremely Vulnerable Individuals  923  - 923 382 541 

Contain Outbreak Management Fund  6,402  - 6,402 1,061 5,341 
COVID Winter Grant Scheme  975  - 975 853 122 
Community Champions Fund 500  - 500 153 347 
Self-isolation Practical Support Payment Grant 64  - 64 - 64 
Local Authority Compliance and Enforcement 
Grant  155  - 155 124 31 

Reopening the High Street Safely Gant 26  - 26 26 - 
Hardship Fund Grant 3,015  - 3,015 3,015 - 
Next Steps Accommodation Programme Grant 147  - 147 147 - 
National Leisure Recovery Fund 568  - 568 568 - 
Local Authority Emergency Assistance Grant 
for Food and Essential Supplies  361  - 361 361 - 

Infection Control Grant 4,582 3,509 1,074 4,582 - 
Adult Social Care Workforce Capacity Fund 561  - 561 561 - 
Adult Social Care Rapid Testing Fund 577 462 115 577 - 
Coronavirus (COVID-19) Rough Sleepers 
Contingency  2  - 2 2 - 

  21,838 4,539 17,299 13,887 7,951 
 

In addition to the business grant funding and COVID specific grants, the Council also received 
unringfenced general grants to support its COVID response totalling £28.106m.  These were: 

- Three tranches of general grant totalling £15.055m; 
- One tranche of general grant funding received in 2019/20 but carried forward in reserves 

to support the 2020/21 financial position at £7.641m; 
- Three tranches of Sales, Fees and Charges grant compensation £2.955m; 
- Local Tax Income Guarantee grant of £2.169m which has been carried forward to support 

the 2021/22 budget; 
- New Burdens funding of £0.286m to support the introduction of business grants payment 

arrangements, and the management of Council Tax and Business rate reliefs.  

The Council also received compensation for Business Rate reliefs awarded at £25.182m 

Taking all the unringfenced funding and the information in the tables above, the Council received 
£161.015m of COVID related additional grant in 2020/21.  This shows the extent of Government 
financial support for the Council from a large range of initiatives.  The accounting treatment of the 
grants is varied.  Some are included within Notes 4, 5 and 15 and others are included in the 
Balance Sheet 
 
Schools and the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG)  
 
Schools may carry forward any surplus or deficit in net expenditure from one financial year to the 
next. At the end of 2020/21 there were 66 schools (3 secondary, 62 primary, and 1 special) for 
which the year-end balances were included within the Council’s Balance Sheet. Three of the 
Council’s schools finished the financial year with a deficit.  
 

Page 69



36 
 
 

The total school balances for 2020/21 were £9.306m which was an increase of £3.819m 
compared to the 2019/20 total of £5.487m.  
 
The Oldham scheme for financing schools allows ‘excess balances’ that represent more than a 
certain percentage of a school’s budget for the following year to be carried forward. The 
percentage for Secondary and Primary schools is 5% and 8% for Special Schools. Schools may 
only request excess balances to be carried forward when there is an appropriate plan in place to 
utilise the funds. At the end of 2020/21 there were 29 schools (primary and secondary) with 
excess balances. All had requested that these balances be carried forward and this was agreed 
at the Schools Forum meeting on 19 May 2021. 
 
As advised at Note 6, the DSG remains in deficit, a trend that first started in 2016/17. The Council 
has made efforts to reduce the DSG deficit and it has fallen from £4.916m in 2019/20 to £3.560m 
at the end of 2020/21. There is a clear Recovery Plan in place, agreed with Schools Forum, to 
bring the DSG to a surplus by the end of 2023/24. 
 
For the first time, the DSG deficit is presented on the Movement in Reserves Statement as an 
unusable reserve. This is the result of the introduction on 29 November 2020 of a new Statutory 
Instrument to amend the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) Regulations 2003 
by establishing new accounting practices in relation to the treatment of schools’ budget deficits. 
The aim is to ensure that DSG deficits are ringfenced and held separately from General Fund 
resources so that specific measures can be put in place to address the deficits without placing 
pressure on resources required for other essential services.  
 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 
The HRA is a ringfenced account specifically dealing with the provision of Local Authority housing. 
At the end of 2020/21, the Council’s housing stock comprised of 2,100 properties, most of which 
are managed and maintained under two Private Finance Initiative (PFI) schemes.  
    
By 31 March 2021, the HRA generated an in-year surplus of £2.263m, after the required technical 
accounting adjustments, this resulted in a decrease of £0.425m to the level of balances. This 
compared favourably with the original budgeted deficit of £3.520m which was approved at the 
Budget Council meeting of 26 February 2020. Overall balances have decreased from £21.795m 
to £21.370m but this still shows a healthy level of resources to support future spending initiatives. 
There are plans in place to utilise HRA resources to support the delivery of the Councils Housing 
Strategy up to 2024/25. Details of the HRA are provided in Section 4.1. 
 
Collection Fund  
 
The Collection Fund is a ringfenced account for the management of Council Tax and Business 
Rates income. The year-end Collection Fund position shown below includes a release of the 
Collection Fund Surplus totalling £1.470m.  Of that amount, £1.400m was allocated to Oldham 
Council to support the 2020/21 budget and the remaining amount was distributed to the 
preceptors.  

The year-end deficit balance of £27.213m is largely due to the additional reliefs which were 
awarded to ratepayers in 2020/21 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, primarily the extended Retail 
Discount and Nursery Relief, with compensating grant of £25.182m being received as previously 
explained.  
 
The table below summarises the movements in the Collection Fund during 2020/21:  
 
 
 
 

Page 70



37 
 
 

 Collection Fund  Council 
Tax 
£000 

Business 
Rates 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Balance brought forward (184) (3,111) (3,295) 
Prior year estimated surplus released in year 410 1,060 1,470 
Deficit for the year 3,220 25,818 29,038 
Balance carried forward 3,446 23,767 27,213 

 
Due to the impact on the Council’s ability to collect both Council Tax and Business Rates, an 
important change to Collection Fund accounting was introduced for 2020/21, which (with the 
exception of the £25.182m Government grant funded Business Rate reliefs) gives the ability to 
smooth the impact of COVID related deficits over three financial years, thus reducing the impact 
on the revenue budget. The Council’s 2021/21 budget and future years budget estimates have 
been prepared using this new facility. 
 
The technical accounting nature of Collection Fund entries require a range of adjustments to align 
them to the presentation of the Council’s revenue outturn statement.  
 
Further details in relation to the Collection Fund can be found in Section 4.2. 
 
Reserves and Balances – Financial Resilience  
 
The level of General Fund reserves included in the Balance Sheet at £142.964m underpin the  
financial resilience of the organisation. These reserves are held to manage future risks and 
expenditure priorities. These are split into Revenue Account Earmarked Reserves of £113.512m 
and Other Earmarked Reserves of £29.452m. The latter are comprised of Revenue Grant 
Reserves of £20.145m and Schools Reserves at a net sum of £9.306m. As previously explained, 
in 2019/20 Schools Reserves were netted down due to the deficit on the DSG, however, in 
2020/21 the accounting treatment for this deficit changed and the deficit is now held separately 
as an unusable reserve. The Revenue Grants reserve increased by £11.929m due to the impact 
of COVID grants being held in reserve at year end.  
  
The most significant movement in earmarked reserves was due to the receipt of compensation 
for lost Collection Fund income at a value of £25.182m. As outlined previously, these funds are 
to be used to offset the loss of Collection Fund revenue due to the Government introducing 
Business Rate reliefs after the 2020/21 budget had been set. 
 
As explained earlier, given how difficult it was to manage the financial position of the Council in 
2020/21, given all the unprecedented events, it was encouraging that there was the opportunity 
to replenish some existing earmarked reserves and also to create additional reserves to improve 
financial resilience. 
 
Information on the reserves is presented at Note 15 in the Statement of Accounts. 
 
The Statement of Accounts shows balances at the end of 2020/21 of £17.263m. This is an 
increase of £2.153m which is broadly in line with the originally calculated risk assessment for the 
following two financial years approved at the Council meeting of 4 March 2021. This movement 
has enhanced the Council’s financial resilience going into 2021/22 and over the period of the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy.  
 
The level of reserves and balances are a key element in the CIPFA Financial Resilience Index 
that was published for the first time in December 2019 with a new Index based on 2019/20 data 
released in February 2021. Reserves sustainability and change in reserves when compared to 

Page 71



38 
 
 

other Authorities was around the mid-point on the risk scale with a positive movement in the 
overall financial stress of the Council when compared with the previous year. The Index provided 
some useful information and confirmed the position that, leading into 2020/21, the Council was 
financially resilient. The Index will be issued again during 2021/22 to reflect the position at the 
end of 2020/21. 
 
Treasury Management  
 
The importance of Treasury Management cannot be understated. As a key component of the of 
the Council’s operations, its main functions are: 

 

 
 

Cash flows can come from a variety of sources and are split between revenue, those that can 
fund day to day service provision of the Council and capital which relates to non-current assets 
and liabilities such as buildings and vehicles. 

The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy contains a detailed examination of key treasury 
issues for the year ahead including the Investment and Borrowing strategies and Treasury 
indicators. For 2020/21 the Strategy was approved by Council on 26 February 2020. Treasury 
management performance is then reported to Cabinet and Council with further detailed reviews 
undertaken by the Audit Committee.  When preparing the 2020/21 Strategy, the impact on cash 
management of the COVID-19 related grants had not been envisaged.  However, the application 
of appropriate protocols and practices ensured treasury management was effectively performed. 

 

 
The Council’s investment strategy set out a Council target for the benchmark average rate of 
return on its investments. However, this pursuit of a target rate of return, is balanced with the 
need to maintain sufficient cash reserves for the Council to operate on a day to day basis and the 
requirement that funds are invested with secure institutions. The table below shows the Council’s 
excellent performance against the benchmark analysed by the duration of the investment. The 
benchmark is based on the London Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID) multiplied by 5%. As can be seen 
in some durations, the LIBID rate was actually negative, but the Council Treasury team have 
managed to keep a positive investment rate for all maturity durations. 
 

  
Benchmark 

LIBID Return 
% 

Actual Return  
% 

7 Day (0.07%) 0.13% 
1 Month (0.06%) 0.27% 
3 Month  0.02% 0.46% 
6 Month 0.08% 0.63% 
Average Return 0.30% 
Target Rate (0.01%) 

Cash flow Planning – Ensuring cash is available when needed and investing surplus 
balances in a low risk way. 

Funding Capital Plans – Capital plans often require longer term cash flow        
planning. This may involve arranging loans or using longer term cash flow 
surpluses. 
 

Borrowing – As at 31 March 2021 the Council had total borrowings (including 
interest) of £175.052m. 

Investing – At the end of the financial year the Council had £68.540m of cash 
investments.  

Page 72



39 
 
 

The Council’s investment in the Churches, Charities and Local Authorities (CCLA) Property Fund 
yielded dividends in year of £0.622m with an average return of 4.44%. This was higher than 
expected given the pandemic, but the higher return reflects the long term nature of the 
investment. The outlook for investment returns for 2021/22 is that they are likely to remain very 
low due to the current worldwide COVID-19 situation. This could also have an impact on the 
returns from the CCLA investment. 

The Treasury Management strategy contains the Council’s Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
Policy Statement for 2020/21. This policy requires the Council to set aside a prudent amount in 
order to finance the repayment of debt where the Council has borrowed to finance capital 
expenditure. The MRP policy is set in line with Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHCLG) guidance. 
 
Capital Strategy, Capital Programme, Capital Outturn and Developments in 2020/21 
 
The Capital Strategy and Capital Programme provide the framework within which the Council’s 
capital investment plans are to be delivered. The Capital Strategy is presented so that it provides: 
 

 

 

 
 
The Capital Strategy and Capital Programme 2020/21 to 2024/25 was approved at the Council 
meeting of 26 February 2020 and provided the framework within which the Council’s capital 
investments plans were to be delivered. The following table shows the approved capital spending 
plan for 2020/21 to 2024/25.  
 
Capital Spending  2020/21 

£000 
2021/22 

£000 
2022/23 

£000 
2023/24 

£000 
2024/25 

£000 
Corporate Services 6,010 - - - - 
Children's Services 15,590 12,305 5,000 - - 
Community Health and 
Adult Social Care 3,400 703 400 400 400 

People and Place 113,308 110,562 86,710 29,664 55,073 
Housing Revenue Account 5,538 3,922 6,200 7,735 - 
Reform 346 400 - - - 
Funding for Emerging 
Priorities 3,440 3,575 4,200 3,200 1,500 

Total Expenditure 147,632 131,467 102,510 40,999 56,973 
Total Funding (147,632) (131,467) (102,510) (40,999) (56,973) 

 
The planned spend for the Capital Programme in 2020/21 was £147.632m matched by  available 
capital financing. It was apparent even at the start of 2020/21 that spending plans were not going 
to be realised, the COVID-19 pandemic halted works on projects and delayed the start of others. 
Because of this, and taking accounts of re-profiled expenditure, new assumptions, approvals and 
scheme updates the expenditure budgets and funding plans were continually reassessed 
throughout in year. The final outturn position for 2020/21 of £73.227m was a significant reduction 
compared to the expenditure initially planned as outlined below. 
 
 

A high-level long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and 
treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services. 

An overview of how the associated risk is managed. 

The implications for future financial sustainability.  

Page 73



40 
 
 

Capital Outturn 
 
The capital programme is monitored on a monthly basis and is subject to an annual review to 
identify reprofiling, variances and new funding opportunities.  During 2020/21, capital monitoring 
reports were prepared for month 3 (to 30 June 2020) to month 9 (31 December 2020).  The capital 
expenditure incurred during the year compared to the final month 9 forecast is shown in the table 
below: 
 
Portfolio 

2020/21 
Forecast 

£000 

2020/21 
Actuals 

£000 
Variance 

£000 
Corporate Services 16,302  16,806  504 
Children's Services 9,099  11,176  2,077 
Communities and Reform 121  57  (64)  
Community Health & Adult Social Care 2,059  2,433  374 
Housing Revenue Account 4,767  4,397  (370)  
People and Place 38,664  38,358  (306)  
Total Expenditure 71,012  73,227  2,215 

 
As highlighted above, the Council spent £73.227m against its Capital Programme in 2020/21, 
resulting in a variance of £2.215m compared to month 9. The variance required funding that was 
originally allocated to 2021/22 and future years to be brought forward into 2020/21. 
 
The Capital expenditure for 2020/21 was financed by Government Grants and Contributions, 
Capital Receipts, Revenue Contributions (of which £2.532m was from the HRA and £0.146m 
from the General Fund) and Prudential Borrowing as detailed in the table below: 

Financing 2020/21 
Forecast 

£000 

2020/21 
Actuals 

£000 
Variance 

£000 

Government Grants & Contributions 20,388  20,820  432 

Capital Receipts 2,635  3,184  549 

Revenue Contributions 2,945 2,678 (266) 

Prudential Borrowing 45,044  46,545  1,500 

Total Financing 71,012  73,227  2,215 

 
During 2020/21, a number of major schemes were re-phased into future years requiring the 
programme to be extended by a further year to 2025/26. The major investment in the Creating a 
Better Place strategy (updated in August 2020), saw an extensive rephasing and realignment 
during the financial year.  
 
Capital Developments in 2020/21 
 
The major development during 2020/21 that will shape the future direction of regeneration in the 
Oldham was the purchase of the Spindles and Town Square Shopping Centres in October 2020, 
safeguarding an important town centre building and paving the way for a new  market, new homes 
and businesses as part of the ambitious vision for a thriving Oldham Town Centre. The aim of the 
acquisition is to be a catalyst for delivering Oldham’s Creating a Better Place strategy, which 

Page 74



41 
 
 

supports economic recovery and embeds regeneration at the heart of the plans. The purchase 
also led to a review of immediate capital spending plans. 
 
In addition to ‘Creating a Better Place’ described above, other major capital developments during 
2020/21 are set out below: 
 

• In December 2020, the Council was notified of an allocation of £10.750m from the 
Government’s Future High Street Fund (confirmed May 2021). This is supporting the 
delivery of key regeneration projects within the town centre as well as providing public 
realm and connectivity improvements. 

• The Council prepared and submitted a £41m bid for Towns Fund resources with the aim 
of providing additional resources to support town centre regeneration as well as the 
ground-breaking eco-friendly Northern Roots project focussing on the 160-acre Snipe 
Clough site.  In June 2021, the Government advised the Council of a grant award of 
£24.4m   

• In July 2020, work commenced on the new Saddleworth Secondary School located in 
Uppermill, Oldham. Completion and opening of the new school is scheduled for 1 March 
2022. 

• At Broadway Green, Oldham, a new road connecting the A663 Broadway to Foxdenton 
Lane, opened to traffic. Planning permission for 160 new homes as well as the 
construction of 366,000 sq. ft. of employment space has also been secured. In addition, 
a planning application for a new 20 acre linear park has also been prepared and 
submitted. 

• The completion of numerous highway investment schemes including the refurbishment of 
King Street footbridge, retaining wall reconstruction and repairs on the A62 Huddersfield 
Road, Scouthead and the A672 Oldham Road, Denshaw alongside over sixty separate 
surface dressing and resurfacing schemes as well as footway improvements. 

• The Council continued to facilitate housing development at Primrose Bank, North 
Werneth, Lancaster Gardens, Counthill School, Broadway Green and Hollinwood which 
will eventually lead to the provision of up to 1,000 new dwellings. 

 
Non-Financial Performance in 2020/21 
 
The Narrative Report has highlighted the financial issues impacting on 2020/21, however it is 
important to reflect on some achievements for both COVID related and business as usual  
activities as follows: 
 

• In April 2020, the Council set up a hub at Oldham Civic Centre to co-ordinate and distribute 
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), with many staff being redeployed there to help. 
The hub supplies essential PPE to front-line workers across the borough; 

• In May 2020, older people in Oldham were supported during the Coronavirus pandemic 
by an innovative partnership project. The Promoting Independent People (PIP Service), 
led by Age UK, saw nearly three times the number of older people and their families asking 
for help and support compared to pre-COVID times. Well over 2,000 people were helped 
by PIP, providing a range of services including help with daily life (medications, shopping, 
equipment) as well as tackling social isolation by being a friend; 

• During the pandemic, Oldham’s STICH teams (Supporting Treatment in Care Homes) are 
bringing together community nurses, allied health professionals and social workers to 
work directly with care homes that have residents and staff showing possible COVID 
symptoms. During each STICH visit, the clinical team carry out face to face assessments 
of each individual patient and remain on site, often for hours at a time, to work with care 
home staff to identify, manage and problem solve any health-related issues. The aim is to 
assist with recognising potential COVID patients at an early stage, to help with initial 
treatment and to avoid unnecessary hospital admissions by liaising with local primary care 
services; 

Page 75



42 
 
 

• In December 2020, the Thriving Communities Programme won a major international 
award for their work in local communities. After facing off against 158 other nominees 
from around the continent, the Oldham Social Prescribing Innovation Partnership won in 
the Community category at the 2020 European Innovation in Politics Awards. This 
fantastic win comes from the work the Thriving Communities Programme has been doing 
to build a partnership between public services, healthcare, and the voluntary sector; 

• In December 2020, Oldham’s dementia team was shortlisted for a major award as it 
continues to go above and beyond during the pandemic. The five members of Oldham 
Dementia Services have been recognised for making themselves available to the people 
they support 24/7; and 

• During Christmas 2020 and again during the February 2021 half term holiday, thousands 
of Oldham families received financial help for food and other emergency provisions with 
the £0.975m Winter Funding grant from Central Government being utilised to provided 
much needed support to ensure over 9,000 families on low incomes with children received 
£30 vouchers per child for food over the two-week Christmas break and £15 per child at 
the February half term holiday. These vouchers provided support for over 17,000 children 
and young people across the borough including those eligible for means tested Free 
School Meals and families on low incomes with pre-school children from 0-5 (using Free 
School Meal eligibility criteria).  

 
As the Council’s main strategy document, the Corporate Plan plays a key role in shaping the 
performance management framework for the Council. Performance against priorities within the 
Corporate Plan is monitored throughout the year by Cabinet. 
 
For each objective, the Council Performance Report provides a range of detailed measures with 
performance presented for the previous and current month together with the direction of travel 
and supporting explanatory notes.  Also presented is information which highlights the 
performance against Directorate Business Plan objectives. In order to provide effective scrutiny 
and challenge should there be any specific areas of under-performance, these can be called in 
for review by members of the PVFM Select Committee. 
 
It is of note that a number of corporate performance indicators were impacted throughout the 
financial year due to the ongoing pandemic. Following a review of achievability in September, it 
was agreed that some measures were suspended, with a small number being reported for 
monitoring only; demonstrating both the impact and challenges the pandemic has had locally on  
achievement against performance measures. 
 
At the time of finalising the draft Statement of Accounts, the 2020/21 full year Council 
Performance Report was being prepared but information has subsequently confirmed that:  
 

• 62.9% of the corporate performance measures were achieved  or were within an 
acceptable level of tolerance; 

• 79.4% of corporate actions were on track or completed. 
 
Further details on Quarter 4 performance results are available in the 21 June 2021 Council 
Performance report to Cabinet on the ‘Agenda and Minutes’ page of the Councils website. 
 
Financial Planning for 2021/22 and Future Years. 
 
Having considered the outturn for 2020/21, which shows a generally positive position with 
increased reserves and improved financial resilience, it is important to consider this in the context 
of 2021/22, for which all the financial planning work was undertaken during 2020/21 informed by 
the budget monitoring information and the changing Government funding position. 
 

Page 76



43 
 
 

The 2021/22 budget process began with an assessment of the Council’s future spending plans 
balanced against the expected funding from Government, Council Tax and Business Rates.  
 
The Finance Service forecast the future financial position having regard to: 
 

 

 

 

 
 
The budget reduction requirement for future years is presented to Council as part of the budget 
setting process. For 2021/22, an initial budget reduction requirement of £23.251m was presented 
at the 2020/21 Budget Council meeting on 26 February 2020. This was shortly before the COVID-
19 pandemic took hold and was clearly prepared and based on a pre-COVID scenario. 
 
A consequence of responding to the COVID-19 pandemic has been the inability of the Council to 
take forward its planned programme of transformational change in line with the plan. This 
transformational change was a key strand of the MTFS approved for the period 2020/21 to 
2024/25. 
 
This delay together with in-year developments meant that it was necessary to adjust the future 
years’ base budget estimates, and to revisit expenditure pressure calculations. Grant estimates 
were also revised based on updated notifications. Overall, this process produced a net increase 
in the budget reduction requirement of £6.589m to give a revised budget gap of £29.940m 
(rounded to £30.000m for ease of description).  
 
Following on from the Final Local Government Finance Settlement and the announcement of the 
February 2021: COVID-19 Funding for Local Government in 2021 to 2022 Policy Paper, the 
Council was able to revise its estimates further reducing the budget reduction requirement to 
£27.623m. However, due to the impact of Business Rates Reliefs on the Collection Fund Deficit 
at an estimated value of £25.456m (finalised at the year-end at £25.182m), the revised budget 
gap increased to £53.079m. This was based on an increase in Council Tax of 0.99% for general 
purposes and a 2% increase for the Adult Social Care precept. 
 
Throughout 2020/21, via the established budget review forum, the Council considered how 
services could be re-shaped to address the budget gap. A total of 43 budget reduction proposals 
with a recurrent value of £8.793m (plus a use of reserves of £0.127m) were approved by Council 
on 4 March 2021 alongside an additional measure of using the Flexible use of Capital Receipts 
(£2.000m). Following these movements, a gap of £42.286m remained which was matched 
through the use of Section 31 grant compensation for the Business Rates Relief impact on the 
Collection Fund and held as an Earmarked Reserve (£25.456m but revised at outturn to 
£25.182m) and other Earmarked Reserves at a value of £16.703m (plus the budget reduction 
use of reserves of £0.127m).  
 
The approach to balancing the budget was subsequently approved at both the Cabinet and 
Council meetings in February and March 2021 along with the cumulative budget reduction 
requirements for the MTFS period, which, due to the uncertainty caused by the pandemic was 
reduced to three financial years.  
 

Relevant international, national and regional influences on Oldham Council. 

Local factors which influence policy within the Council including the Administration’s 
priorities of regenerating the borough and creating jobs. 

 The impact of Government policy, finance legislation and associated 
announcements. 

 Key Council policy initiatives. 
 

Page 77



44 
 
 

The following table shows the balancing of the 2021/22 budget the potential budget reduction 
target remaining for the MTFS period 2022/23 and 2023/24. The targets reflect the one off 
measures used to balance 2021/22 and expected for 2022/23. 
 
Forecast Budget Reduction Target 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 
2021/22 to 2023/24 £000 £000 £000 
Budget Reduction Requirement 53,079 31,900 21,849 
Recurrent Savings 
One off Savings (use of reserves)  
Flexible Use of Capital Receipts  

(8,793) 
(127) 

(2,000) 

(6,050) 
- 
-  

(4,756) 
- 
-  

Use of £29.000m Reserves  
Collection Fund Deficit/Reserves (estimate) 

(16,703) 
(25,456) 

(12,297) 
- 

- 
- 

Forecast Budget Reduction Requirement - 13,553 17,093 
 
Whilst there has been a delay to the transformation programme, the MTFS is based on the 
development of a revised programme However, given the extent of the financial challenge, a 
balancing budget reserve of £29.000m was set aside for use in 2021/22 and 2022/23 to support 
the phasing of the delivery of: 
 

• Savings arising from the approved budget reduction proposals which have an impact in 
2022/23 and 2023/24; 

• The next phases of the agenda for transformational change.  
 

The programme of transformation is supported by a range of existing medium term strategies 
designed to make a positive contribution to the Council’s financial standing as well as supporting 
Council objectives. 
 
The programme comprises four workstreams, each of which is led by a member of the Executive 
Management Team and with the Chief Executive taking overall responsibility for the initiative. 
These workstreams are: 
 

• Place Based Integration / Communities; 
• Children’s Services; 
• Health and Care; and 
• Economy. 

 
Clearly this remains a challenging time for the Council and Local Government for a number of 
reasons and particularly with the uncertainty around the future funding for the sector and impact 
of long COVID on service provision.  
 
Prior to COVID, the Government had indicated that it was prepared to reverse some of the 
impacts of the years of austerity and begin to provide further investment in public services 
including Local Government. The long awaited review of Adult Social Care provision was 
expected and there was an increasing recognition of the vital role played by the Local 
Government sector.  
 
The Chancellor was expected to deliver a Budget that provided clarity over future investment. A 
multi-year Comprehensive Spending Review was expected, the Review of Relative Needs and 
Resources (Fair Funding Review) which sought to redistribute unringfenced grant on a new 
formula basis, was also to be introduced from 2021/22 together with significant reform of the 
Business Rates system. These were all delayed by the pandemic.  It is evident that the significant 
investment that the Government has had to make in responding to the COVID crisis will have an 
impact on funding available for public services in future years. 
 

Page 78



45 
 
 

The MTFS has been based on a range of assumptions, but given the uncertainty, about so many 
issues, the scope and size of the financial challenge is evolving. The Council is constantly revising 
estimates and working through plans to address the anticipated short, medium and long term 
funding shortfalls. 
 
A key part of the Councils COVID recovery strategy will be a reassessment of the financial 
position.  As has been advised, the accounts for 2020/21 were closed with increased reserves 
and balances and so the Council is in a stronger position to address the challenge. During 
2021/22 work to update the financial forecasts will be progressed and informed by the budget 
monitoring position as well as local and national issues. This  will not only deal with COVID 
recovery but address future financial sustainability. This work will be the focus of the Finance 
team during 2021/22. 

Corporate Risks 
 
The Council has an embedded process to manage risks and assist in the achievement of its 
objectives, alongside national and local performance targets. The Council refreshed its Risk 
Management Strategy and Framework at the 16 December 2019 Cabinet after scrutiny at the 
Audit Committee of 14 November 2019. This has been enhanced by Risk Management being 
incorporated into the Business Planning Process with all risks reviewed and monitored quarterly.   
 
The Corporate Risk Register plays an integral role by supporting production of the Corporate Plan 
and is subject to regular review by the Audit Committee. 
 
Key corporate risks are detailed in the Annual Governance Statement. They encompass: 

• The Internal Control Environment of Adult Social Care which continues to require 
improvement; 

• The long-term financial resilience of the Council which has potentially suffered due to the 
uncertainty arising from issues such as Brexit, the longer-term cost of COVID-19 
pandemic, uncertainty about the future level of Government support for areas of high 
deprivation and indirectly by the impacts of commitments made under devolution. An 
added pressure is that the Council’s previous plans to deliver savings by transformation 
may continue to be constrained by the pandemic; 

• The Council has a number of key regeneration projects planned for the future as detailed 
in the Creating A Better Place Programme. Should one of these high-profile projects not 
be delivered as planned it is likely to result in reputational damage to the Council or 
increase the financial pressure on the Council for the future made more challenging due 
to the COVID-19 pandemic; 

• Payroll administration which, whilst there have been improvements throughout 2020/21, 
still requires further development. Further improvements to both the internal control 
environment and efficiency of the service are required which in part are linked into the 
implementation of the new integrated HR and Payroll system; 

• Compliance with the Transparency Agenda continues to expose the Council to the risk of 
fraud from the information that it publishes. This risk has been enhanced by the recent 
pandemic where some individuals are opportunistically pursuing fraud; 

• Future reforms to integration with the NHS not delivering efficiencies plus the added 
pressure of the residual impact of the COVID-19 pandemic;  

• The deficit on the Dedicated Schools Grant; 
• Future resilience of key partners and ability of the Council to support them, in part due to 

the impact of the  COVID-19 pandemic;  
• The improvement required in some contracting arrangements with regard to formal 

documentation; 
• Outstanding legal matters linked into ongoing action against other local authorities which 

have the potential to impact on past custom and practice within the Council could have a 
significant future financial impact.  

Page 79



46 
 
 

 
The Council currently manages a number of significant projects covering a wide range of services, 
which can involve working in partnership with others, many of which require considerable levels 
of one-off and recurrent funding from the Council. Specific risks relating to projects have been 
incorporated into the Annual Governance statement where appropriate. 
 
Main Changes to the Statements and Significant Transactions in 2020/21 

The actuarial valuation of the Council’s pension scheme liabilities shown on the Balance Sheet 
has increased by £119.417m during the year. This is a result of the changes in the financial 
assumptions related to the change in discount rate used by the pension fund Actuary (Hymans-
Robertson). These assumptions are determined by the Actuary and represent the market 
conditions at the reporting date. The Council relies and places assurance on the professional 
judgement of the Actuary and the assumptions used to calculate this actuarial valuation.  

 
The Council has followed the guidance in the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting 2020/21 and the CIPFA Bulletin 09 Closure of the 2020/21 Financial Statements 
issued in April 2021 to produce its 2020/21 Statement of Accounts. However, the Council has 
continued its policy of diverging from the Code in relation to the accounting treatment for the 
depreciation charge against Housing Revenue Account (HRA) dwellings. Details are provided in 
Section 4.1 of the Accounts. The Council’s management believes that this alternative treatment 
is required in order to present a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council’s HRA. 

 
Basis of Preparation and Presentation of the Accounts  
 
The Council prepares its Statement of Accounts on a going concern basis, on the assumption 
that it will continue in existence into the foreseeable future. Disclosures are included within the 
Statement of Accounts based on an assessment of their materiality. A disclosure is considered 
material if through an omission or a misstatement, the decisions made by users of the accounts 
would be influenced. This could be due to the value or the nature of the disclosure.  
 
The Council considers disclosures against an internally calculated materiality threshold which is 
reviewed each year.  However individual items of income and expenditure over £6.000m which 
are not disclosed on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) 
are considered to be significant and are disclosed in Note 7.  Some disclosures are included due 
to their nature even if the value of transactions is not over the materiality threshold, an example 
of this is Note 9 Officers’ Remuneration. 
 
The assessment of materiality also influences the Council’s decision to produce Group Accounts. 
Each year the Council assesses the entities it exerts control or significant influence over to identify 
which fall within the group boundary. If the value of transactions for the group as a whole is 
material, Group Accounts are produced. The accounts for 2020/21 therefore consolidate MioCare 
Community Interest Company and the Unity Partnership Ltd., into the Councils’ Group Accounts. 
 
Explanation of the Statements to the Accounts 
 
The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require the Council to produce a Statement of 
Accounts for each financial year. These statements contain several different elements which are 
explained below: 
 
Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts sets out the respective 
responsibilities of the Authority and the Chief Finance Officer (Director of Finance). 

 
Auditor’s Report gives the auditor’s opinion of the financial statements and of the Authority’s 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources. 
 

Page 80



47 
 
 

Financial Statements 
 

• Movement in Reserves Statement is a summary of the changes to the Council’s 
reserves over the course of the year. Reserves are divided into “useable”, which can 
be invested in capital projects or service improvements, and “unusable” which must 
be set aside for specific purposes. 

 
• Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) shows the cost of 

providing services in the year in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards. The top part of the CIES provides an analysis by Portfolio and reflects the 
Councils local reporting format. The bottom half of the statement deals with corporate 
transactions and funding. 

 
• Balance Sheet shows the value of the Council’s assets, liabilities and reserves at a 

point in time.  
 
• Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in the Council’s cash and cash equivalents 

during the year and quantifies the movements in balances attributable to day to day 
running of the Council (operating activities), investing activities or financing activities. 

 
• Housing Revenue Account (HRA) shows the in-year economic cost of providing 

housing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices.  
 
• Collection Fund Statement shows the transactions of the billing authority in relation 

to the collection from taxpayers of Council Tax and Business Rates and its distribution 
to precepting bodies. For Oldham, the Council Tax precepts payable are for the 
Mayoral Police and Crime Commissioner precept and the Mayoral General precept 
(including Fire & Rescue Services). 

 
• Group Accounts show the group position of the Council and its material subsidiaries. 

The Council considers the Group Statements to be of equal prominence to the single 
entity statements. 

 
Receipt of Further Information 
 
If you would like to receive further information about these accounts, please do not hesitate to 
contact Anne Ryans at the Finance Department, Commissioning Portfolio, Oldham Council, West 
Street, Oldham, OL1 1UG. 
 
Acknowledgements 
 
The production of the Statement of Accounts would not have been possible without the 
exceptionally hard work and dedication of staff across the Council. I would like to express my 
gratitude to all colleagues, from the Finance team and other services, who have assisted in the 
preparation of this document. I would also like to thank them for all their support during the 
financial year. 
 

 
 
Anne Ryans BA (Hons) FCPFA 
Director of Finance, Section 151 Officer  

Page 81



48 

2.0 Statements to the Accounts  

2.1 Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 

2.1.1 The Council’s Responsibilities 

The Council is required to: 

i. Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure
that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.
In Oldham Council, that officer is the Director of Finance.

ii. Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and
safeguard its assets.

iii. Approve the Statement of Accounts.

2.1.2 The Director of Finance Responsibilities 

The Director of Finance is responsible for the preparation of Oldham Council’s Statement 
of Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy 2020/21 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom (the Code). 

In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Director of Finance has: 

i. Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently.
ii. Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent.
iii. Complied with the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting.
iv. Kept proper accounting records which were up to date.
v. Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other

irregularities.

2.1.3 Certification of Accounts 

I certify that the Statement of Accounts gives a true and fair view of the financial position 
of Oldham Council at 31 March 2021 and its income and expenditure for the year then 
ended.     

Anne Ryans, BA (Hons) FCPFA 
Director of Finance, Section 151 Officer. 
Dated: 30 September 2021  

Approval of Accounts 

In accordance with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, I certify that the Statement 
of Accounts was approved by the Audit Committee on 29 July 2021. 

Vice Chair of Audit Committee 
Dated: 30 September 2021 

Page 82



49 
 
 

2.2 Auditors Report  

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Oldham Metropolitan 
Borough Council 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion on the financial statements 

We have audited the financial statements of Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council (‘the Council’) and its subsidiaries 
(‘the Group’) for the year ended 31 March 2021, which comprise the Council and Group Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statements, the Council and Group Movement in Reserves Statements, the Council and Group Balance 
Sheets, the Council and Group Cash Flow Statements, the Housing Revenue Account Income and Expenditure 
Statement, the Statement of Movement in the Housing Revenue Account, the Collection Fund Statement and notes to 
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that 
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21. 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council and the Group as at 31st March 2021 and of 
the Council’s and the Group’s expenditure and income for the year then ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of our report.  
We are independent of the Council in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applicable to public interest entities, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Conclusions relating to going concern  

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Director of Finance’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Note 34 (1.1) of the financial statements explains how the Director of Finance formed their judgement that it is 
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of preparation for the Council and the Group. 

In accordance with Practice Note 10: Audit of financial statement and regularity of public sector bodies in the United 
Kingdom, our review of management’s assessment of going concern was focused on the extent to which there are any 
indications that the functions of the Council and Group will not continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future. 

Our audit procedures to evaluate the Director of Finance’s assessment of the Council’s and the Group’s ability to 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included but were not limited to: 

• undertaking an initial assessment at the planning stage of our audit to identify events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Council’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in the context 
of the guidance in Practice Note 10; 

Page 83



50 
 
 

• obtaining an understanding of the relevant controls relating to the Director of Finance’s going concern 
assessment; 

• making enquiries of the Director of Finance to understand the period of assessment considered by them, the 
assumptions they considered and the implication of those when assessing the Council’s and the Group’s 
continuation of service; 

• obtaining and reviewing the Director of Finance’s written going concern assessment; and 
• considering whether the Director of Finance’s assessment is proportionate to the risks associated with going 

concern for the local government sector. 
 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions 
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Council's ability to continue as a going concern for a 
period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Director of Finance with respect to going concern are described in 
the relevant sections of this report. 

 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement 
(whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, 
the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 

We summarise below the key audit matters in forming our audit opinion above, together with an overview of the 
principal audit procedures performed to address each matter and, where relevant, key observations arising from those 
procedures. These matters, together with our findings, were communicated to those charged with governance through 
our Audit Completion Report. 

 

Key audit matter How our scope addressed this matter 

Valuation of Council Property, Plant and Equipment 

Note 17 to the financial statements discloses information 
on the Council’s holding of property, plant and equipment 
(PP&E) which includes £77.1m of Council Dwellings and 
£500.4m of Other Land & Buildings held at current value 
at 31 March 2021. 

The CIPFA Code of Practice requires that where assets 
are subject to revaluation, their year-end carrying value 
should reflect the current value at that date. The Council 
has adopted a rolling revaluation model which sees all 
such property, plant & equipment revalued in a five-year 
cycle. The valuation of property, plant & equipment 
involves the use of a management expert (the valuer) 
and incorporates assumptions and estimates which 
impact materially on the reported value. There are risks 
relating to the valuation process. The Council employs a 
valuation expert to provide valuations, however there 

Our audit procedures included, but were not limited 
to: 

• Obtaining an understanding of the skills, 
experience and qualifications of the valuer, and 
considering the appropriateness of the 
instructions to the valuer from the Council.  

• Obtaining an understanding of the basis of 
valuation applied by the valuer in the year.  

• Obtaining an understanding of the Council’s 
approach to ensure that assets not subject to 
revaluation in 2020/21 are materially fairly 
stated. 

• Obtaining an understanding of the Council’s 
approach to ensure that assets revalued through 
2020/21 are materially fairly stated at the year 
end. 

• Sample testing the completeness and accuracy 
of underlying data provided by the Council and 
used by the valuer as part of their valuations. 

Page 84



51 
 
 

Key audit matter How our scope addressed this matter 

remains a high degree of estimation uncertainty 
associated with the valuations of property, plant and 
equipment due to the significant judgements and number 
of variables involved. As a result of the rolling programme 
of revaluations, there is a risk that individual assets which 
have not been revalued for up to four years are not 
valued at the current value at the balance sheet date. In 
addition, as the valuations are undertaken through the 
year there is a risk that the current value of the assets 
could be materially different at the year end.  

Council Dwelling valuations are based on Existing Use 
Value, discounted by a factor to reflect that the assets are 
used for Social Housing (EUV-SH). The Social Housing 
adjustment factor is prescribed in MHCLG guidance, but 
this guidance indicates that where a valuer has evidence 
that this factor is different in the Council’s area they can 
use their more accurate local factor. There is a risk that 
the Council's application of the valuer’s assumptions is 
not in line with the statutory requirements and that the 
valuation is not supported by detailed evidence. 

 

• Using relevant market and cost data to assess 
the reasonableness of the valuation as at 31 
March 2021. 

• Testing the accuracy of how valuation 
movements were presented and disclosed in the 
financial statements. 

Our observations 

We obtained sufficient appropriate evidence to 
conclude that the valuation of land & buildings 
included in the financial statements is reasonable. 

Valuation of Investment Property 

The Council’s Balance Sheet discloses their Investment 
Properties to be valued at £18.8m at 31 March 2021. 

The CIPFA Code requires that where Investment 
Property assets are subject to revaluation, their year-end 
carrying value should reflect the fair value at that date.  

The valuation of Investment Property involves the use of 
a management expert (the valuer) and incorporates 
assumptions and estimates which impact materially on 
the reported value. There are risks relating to the 
valuation process.  

The Council employs valuation experts to provide 
valuations, however there remains a high degree of 
estimation uncertainty associated with the valuations of 
property, plant and equipment due to the significant 
judgements and number of variables involved. 

Our audit procedures included, but were not limited 
to: 

• Obtaining an understanding of the skills, 
experience and qualifications of the valuer, and 
considering the appropriateness of the 
instructions to the valuer from the Council. 

• Obtaining an understanding of the basis of 
valuation applied by the valuer in the year.  

• Obtaining assurance on the appropriateness of 
the methodology and assumptions adopted by 
the Council’s valuer. 

• Comparing the valuation to our external 
valuation expert’s estimate of the valuation. 

• Sample testing the completeness and accuracy 
of underlying data used by the valuer as part of 
their valuations. 

 

Our observations 

We obtained sufficient appropriate evidence to 
conclude that the valuation of investment properties 
included in the financial statements is reasonable. 

Page 85



52 
 
 

Key audit matter How our scope addressed this matter 

Valuation of the Council’s and the Group’s Defined 
Benefit Net Pension Liability 

The Council’s balance sheet discloses the Council 
pension liability to be valued at £444.2m at 31 March 
2021 and comprises assets of £1,094.3m and liabilities 
of £1,538.5m. 

The Group Balance Sheet discloses the group pension 
liability to be valued at £467.9m at 31 March 2021 and 
comprises assets of £1,225.9m and liabilities of 
£1,654.0m. 

The net pension liability represents a material element of 
the Council and the Group balance sheet. The Council 
and its consolidated subsidiaries are admitted bodies of 
Greater Manchester Pension Fund, which had its last 
triennial valuation completed as at 31 March 2019. The 
valuation of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
relies on a number of assumptions, most notably around 
the actuarial assumptions, and actuarial methodology 
which results in the Council’s and the subsidiaries’ overall 
valuations. There are financial assumptions and 
demographic assumptions used in the calculation of the 
valuation, such as the discount rate, inflation rates and 
mortality rates. The assumptions should also reflect the 
profile of the Council’s and the subsidiaries’ employees, 
and should be based on appropriate data. The basis of 
the assumptions is derived on a consistent basis year to 
year, or updated to reflect any changes. 

There is a risk that the assumptions and methodology 
used in valuing the pension obligations are not 
reasonable or appropriate to the Council’s or the 
subsidiaries’ circumstances. This could have a material 
impact to the Council and Group net pension liability in 
2020/21. 

 

Our audit procedures included, but were not limited 
to: 

• Obtaining an understanding of the skills, 
experience and qualifications of the actuary, and 
considering the appropriateness of the 
instructions to the actuary from the Council. 

• Obtaining confirmation from the auditor of the 
Greater Manchester Pension Fund that the 
Pension Fund has designed and implemented 
controls to prevent and detect material 
misstatement. This included the controls in place 
to ensure data provided to the Actuary by the 
Pension Fund for the purposes of the IAS19 
valuation of the gross asset and liability is 
complete and accurate.  

• Reviewing a summary of the work performed by 
the Pension Fund auditor on the Pension Fund 
investment assets, and evaluating whether the 
outcome of their work would affect our 
consideration of the council’s share of Pension 
Fund assets. The Pension Fund auditor work 
included comparing the asset values used for the 
actuarial valuation to those subjected to audit by 
the Pension Fund auditor. 

• Reviewing the actuarial allocation of Pension 
Fund assets to the Council by the actuary, 
including comparing the Council’s share of the 
assets to other corroborative information. 

• Reviewing the appropriateness of the Pension 
Asset and Liability valuation methodology applied 
by the Pension Fund Actuary, and the key 
assumptions included within the valuation. This 
included comparing them to expected ranges, 
utilising information provided by PWC, consulting 
actuary engaged by the National Audit Office.  

• Agreeing the data in the IAS 19 valuation report 
provided by the Pension Fund Actuary for 
accounting purposes to the pension accounting 
entries and disclosures in the Council’s and 
Group’s financial statements.  

Key observations 

We obtained sufficient appropriate evidence to 
conclude that the valuation of the defined benefit 
pension liability included in the financial statements 
is reasonable. 

 

Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for 
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the 

Page 86



53 
 
 

nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures, and 
in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and on the financial statements as a whole. Based on our 
professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows: 

 

 Council Group 

Overall materiality £13.6m £13.61m 

Basis for determining materiality Materiality has been determined as approximately 2% of gross 
expenditure at the surplus/deficit on provision of services level 

Rationale for benchmark applied 
Gross expenditure at the surplus/deficit on provision of services level 
was chosen as the appropriate benchmark as this is a key measure of 
financial performance for the Council/Group and for users of the 
financial statements 

Performance materiality £10.88m £10.888m 

Reporting threshold £408,000 £408,000 

 

 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risk of material misstatement in the financial 
statements. In particular, we looked at where the Director of Finance made subjective judgements such as making 
assumptions on significant accounting estimates. 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed sufficient work to be able to give an opinion on the 
financial statements as a whole. We used the outputs of a risk assessment, our understanding of the Council and 
Group, its environment, controls and critical business processes, to consider qualitative factors in order to ensure that 
we obtained sufficient coverage across all financial statement line items. 

Our approach to auditing the Group was based on our understanding of the group structure and an assessment of the 
significance of individual components to the group financial statements.  In summary: 

• Full scope audit procedures were carried out on the Council which represents (99.2%) of the Group’s total 
assets, (97.0%) of the Group’s total liabilities, (99.8%) of the Group’s income and (93.9%) of the Group’s 
expenditure.  

• Specific audit procedures were carried on the Defined Benefit Pension Liability of The Unity Partnership 
Limited and Miocare Group Community Interest Company which represents 2.4% of the Group’s total 
liabilities. 

• Analytical procedures were performed on the remaining entries in The Unity Partnership Limited and Miocare 
Group Community Interest Company which were included in the Group financial statements.   

 

We also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical procedures to confirm our conclusion that there 
were no significant risks of material misstatement of the aggregated financial information. 

 

Other information  

The Director of Finance is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Statement of Accounts, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion 

Page 87



54 
 
 

on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated 
in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or 
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial 
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

 

Responsibilities of the Director of Finance for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Director of Finance’s Responsibilities, the Director of Finance is 
responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance 
with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2020/21, and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The Director of Finance is also responsible 
for such internal control as the Director of Finance determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

The Director of Finance is required to comply with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom 2020/21 and prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis on the assumption that 
the functions of the Council will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.. The Director of Finance 
is responsible for assessing each year whether or not it is appropriate for the Council and Group to prepare its accounts 
on the going concern basis and disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern.  

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in 
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including 
fraud. Based on our understanding of the Council we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and 
regulations related to the Local Government Act 2003 (and associated regulations made under section 21) the Local 
Government Finance Acts of 1988, 1992 and 2012, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Local Government 
and Housing Act 1989 and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the 
financial statements.  

We evaluated the Director of Finance’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial 
statements (including the risk of override of controls) and determined that the principal risks were related to posting 
manual journal entries to manipulate financial performance, management bias through judgements and assumptions 
in significant accounting estimates and significant one-off or unusual transactions.  

 

Page 88



55 
 
 

Our audit procedures were designed to respond to those identified risks, including non-compliance with laws and 
regulations (irregularities) and fraud that are material to the financial statements. Our audit procedures included but 
were not limited to: 

• discussing with management and the Audit Committee the policies and procedures regarding compliance 
with laws and regulations;  

• communicating identified laws and regulations throughout our engagement team and remaining alert to any 
indications of non-compliance throughout our audit; and  

• considering the risk of acts by the Council which were contrary to applicable laws and regulations, including 
fraud.  
 

Our audit procedures in relation to fraud included but were not limited to: 

• making enquiries of management and the Audit Committee on whether they had knowledge of any actual, 
suspected or alleged fraud; 

• gaining an understanding of the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud;  
• discussing amongst the engagement team the risks of fraud; and 
• addressing the risks of fraud through management override of controls by performing journal entry testing, 

reviewing management judgements and assumptions in significant accounting estimates, and reviewing any 
significant one-off or unusual transactions.  

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the primary responsibility for the prevention 
and detection of irregularities including fraud rests with management and the Audit Committee. As with any audit, there 
remained a risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations or the override of internal controls. 

As a result of our procedures, we did not identify any key audit matters relating to irregularities. The risks of material 
misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit, including fraud, are discussed under “Key audit matters” within 
this report.  

We are also required to conclude on whether the Director of Finance’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. We performed our work in accordance with Practice Note 
10: Audit of financial statement and regularity of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom, and Supplementary 
Guidance Note 01, issued by the National Audit Office in April 2021.   

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting 
Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

 

Report on the Council’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources 
Matter on which we are required to report by exception 

We are required to report to you if, in our view we are not satisfied that the Council has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2021. 

We have not completed our work on the Council’s arrangements.  On the basis of our work to date, having regard to 
the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021, we have not identified any significant 
weaknesses in arrangements for the year ended 31 March 2021. 

We will report the outcome of our work on the Council’s arrangements in our commentary on those arrangements 
within the Auditor’s Annual Report.  Our audit completion certificate will set out any matters which we are required to 
report by exception.  

Page 89

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


56 
 
 

 

Responsibilities of the Council 

The Council is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and 
effectiveness of these arrangements.  

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in the use of resources 

We are required under section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy ourselves that the 
Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. We 
are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Council’s arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 

We have undertaken our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance issued by 
the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021. 

 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception under the Code of Audit 
Practice 
We are required by the Code of Audit Practice to report to you if: 

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; 
• we make a recommendation under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or 
• we exercise any other special powers of the auditor under sections 28, 29 or 31 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014. 
We have nothing to report in these respects.  

 

Other matters which we are required to address  
We were appointed as the Council’s auditor by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd, in its role as appointing person 
under the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015, on 14 December 2017.  The period of total uninterrupted 
engagement, including previous renewals and reappointments of the firm, is three years covering the audit of the 
financial years ending 31 March 2019 to 31 March 2021. 

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the Council or Group and we 
remain independent of the Council and Group in conducting our audit. 

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee.  

 

Use of the audit report 
This report is made solely to the members of Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council, as a body, in accordance with 
part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 44 of the Statement of Responsibilities 
of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Council those matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 

Page 90



57 
 
 

responsibility to anyone other than the members of the Council, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 

 

Delay in certification of completion of the audit 
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate until we have completed: 

• the work necessary to issue our assurance statement in respect of the Council’s Whole of Government 
Accounts consolidation pack; and 

• the work necessary to satisfy ourselves that the Council has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  

 

 

 

 

Karen Murray, Key Audit Partner 
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP 

One St Peter’s Square 
Manchester 
M2 3DE 

30 September 2021 

Page 91



58 
 
 

Financial 
Statements 
and 
Explanatory 
Notes 

Page 92



59 
 
 

3.1 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

The Council restated the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for 2019/20. It has reclassified its disposals of academy schools from 
Financing and Investment Income & Expenditure to (Gains)/losses on the disposal of non-current assets in order to comply with the CIPFA code. 
There is no impact on any other statements and the Financing and Investment Income & Expenditure note has be restated to reflect the change. 
  

2019/20 – Restated    Note 2020/21 
Gross 

Expenditure 
£000 

Gross 
Income 

£000 

Net 
Expenditure 

£000     

Gross 
Expenditure 

£000 

Gross 
Income 

£000 

Net 
Expenditure 

£000 
5,800 (1,980) 3,820 Chief Executive    4,776 (1,423) 3,353 
7,099 (3,966) 3,133 Commissioning   21,123 (7,572) 13,551 

79,315 (25,640) 53,675 People and Place   77,688 (26,034) 51,654 
272,250 (184,777) 87,473 Children's Services   267,569 (192,255) 75,314 
104,877 (35,850) 69,027 Community Health & Adult Social Care   118,885 (63,627) 55,258 
45,714 (8,827) 36,887 Communities and Reform   52,714 (18,150) 34,564 
65,006 (57,790) 7,216 Capital, Treasury and Technical Accounting   46,149 (50,956) (4,807) 
6,960 - 6,960 Corporate and Democratic Core    6,731 - 6,731 

15,131 (28,869) (13,738) Housing Revenue Account   15,637 (28,636) (12,999) 
602,152 (347,699) 254,453 Cost of Services   611,272 (388,653) 222,619 

     Other Operating Expenditure        
   278    Parish Council precepts      291 
   33,988 Levies      33,591 
   17,309 (Gains)/losses on the disposal of non-current assets      (1,352) 
   51,575 Total Other Operating Expenditure      32,530 
   27,100 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 3    32,941 
   (260,186) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 4    (286,567) 
    72,942 (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services       1,522 
     Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure        
   (39,392) Revaluation (gains)/losses non-current assets 16a    (21,818) 
   64 Impairment losses on non-current assets 16a    190 

   22,287 
(Surplus) or deficit on Financial Assets measured at 
Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income       (1,893) 

   (127,995) Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability 30    134,528 

    (145,036) 
Total Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure       111,007 

              
    (72,094) Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure       112,530 

P
age 93



60 
 
 

3.2 Movement in Reserves Statement 

2020/21 

Note 

Usable Reserves  

 

G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 
B

al
an

ce
 

Ea
rm

ar
ke

d 
G

en
er

al
 

Fu
nd

 R
es

er
ve

s 

To
ta

l G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 
B

al
an

ce
 

H
ou

si
ng

 R
ev

en
ue

 
A

cc
ou

nt
 

U
sa

bl
e 

C
ap

ita
l 

R
ec

ei
pt

s 

M
aj

or
 R

ep
ai

rs
 

R
es

er
ve

 

C
ap

ita
l G

ra
nt

s 
U

na
pp

lie
d 

To
ta

l U
sa

bl
e 

R
es

er
ve

 

   U
nu

sa
bl

e 
R

es
er

ve
s 

  To
ta

l R
es

er
ve

s 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Balance at 1 April Brought 
Forward 

  (15,110) (87,865) (102,975) (21,796) - (726) (21,018) (146,515) (20,546) (167,061) 

Reporting of Schools Budget 
Deficit to new Adjustment 
Account at 1 April 2020 

   - (4,916) (4,916) - - - - (4,916) 4,916  - 

Restated Balance at 1 April 
2020 

  (15,110) (92,781) (107,891) (21,796) - (726) (21,018) (151,431) (15,630) (167,061) 

Movement in reserves during 
2020/21 

    
         

Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 

  3,785  - 3,785  (2,263) - - - 1,522  111,008  112,530  

Adjustments between 
accounting basis and funding 
basis under regulations 

14 (56,121) - (56,121) 2,688  -  (80) 367  (53,146) 53,146 - 

Net (increase)/decrease 
before transfers to Earmarked 
Reserves 

  (52,336) - (52,336) 425  -  (80) 367  (51,624) 164,154  112,530  

Transfers to/from Earmarked 
Reserves 

15 50,183  (50,183) - - - - - - - - 

(Increase)/Decrease in Year   (2,153) (50,183) (52,336) 425  - (80) 367  (51,624) 164,154  112,530  
Balance at 31 March carried 
forward 
  

  (17,263) (142,964) (160,227) (21,371) - (806) (20,651) (203,055) 148,524  (54,531) 
  

P
age 94



61 
 
 

2019/20 

Note 

Usable Reserves 

  

G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 
B

al
an

ce
 

Ea
rm

ar
ke

d 
G

en
er

al
 

Fu
nd

 R
es

er
ve

s 

To
ta

l G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 
B

al
an

ce
 

H
ou

si
ng

 R
ev

en
ue

 
A

cc
ou

nt
 

U
sa

bl
e 

C
ap

ita
l 

R
ec

ei
pt

s 

M
aj

or
 R

ep
ai

rs
 

R
es

er
ve

 

C
ap

ita
l G

ra
nt

s 
U

na
pp

lie
d 

To
ta

l U
sa

bl
e 

R
es

er
ve

 

To
ta

l U
nu

sa
bl

e 
R

es
er

ve
s 

To
ta

l R
es

er
ve

s 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Balance at 1 April 
Brought Forward 

  (14,840) (93,559) (108,399) (21,305) - (649) (42,989) (173,342) 78,375  (94,967) 

Movement in reserves 
during 2019/20 

    
 

- 
    

- 
 

- 

Total Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure 

  76,191  - 76,191  (3,249) - - - 72,942  (145,036) (72,094) 

Adjustments between 
accounting basis and 
funding basis under 
regulations 

14 (70,767) - (70,767) 2,758  - (77) 21,971  (46,115) 46,115  - 

Net (increase)/decrease 
before transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves 

  5,424  - 5,424  (491) - (77) 21,971  26,827  (98,921) (72,094) 

Transfers to/from 
Earmarked Reserves 

15 (5,694) 5,694  - - - - - - - - 

(Increase)/Decrease in 
Year 

  (270) 5,694  5,424  (491) - (77) 21,971  26,827  (98,921) (72,094) 

Balance at 31 March 
carried forward 

  (15,110) (87,865) (102,975) (21,796) - (726) (21,018) (146,515) (20,546) (167,061) 

 

 

 

 

P
age 95



62 
 
 

3.3 Balance Sheet 

31 March 
2020 
£000 

  Note 31 March 
2021 
£000 

734,215 Property Plant & Equipment 17 754,458 
19,770 Heritage Assets 18 19,770 
20,077 Investment Property 19 18,817 
4,060 Intangible Assets  4,271 

50,095 Long Term Investments 21 55,615 
22,508 Long Term Debtors 22 35,034 

850,725 Long Term Assets   887,965 
40,775 Short Term Investments 21 40,671 

621 Inventories  517 
43,225 Short Term Debtors 22 49,662 
59,898 Cash & Cash Equivalents 23 21,597 

310 Assets Held For Sale (less than 1 year)  568 
144,829 Current Assets   113,015 
(1,716) Short Term Borrowing 21 (6,697) 

(68,456) Short Term Creditors 24 (76,164) 
(12,567) Short Term Provisions 25 (9,761) 

  Short Term Liabilities    
(10,216)  - Private Finance Initiatives 21,28 (9,746) 

(314)  - Finance Leases  (302) 
(1,108)  - Transferred Debt  (1,180) 

(94,377) Current Liabilities   (103,850) 
(15,800) Long Term Provisions 25 (15,666) 

(168,364) Long Term Borrowing 21 (168,355) 
  Other Long Term Liabilities    

(324,871)  - Pension Liabilities 30 (444,288) 
(222,531)  - Private Finance Initiatives 21,28 (212,785) 

(474)  - Finance Leases  (349) 
(1,224)  - Transferred Debt  (44) 

(17)  - Deferred Credits  (17) 
(835) Capital Grants Receipts In Advance  (1,095) 

(734,116) Long Term Liabilities   (842,599) 
167,061 Net Assets   54,531 

(146,515) Usable Reserves MiRS (203,055) 
(20,546) Unusable Reserves MiRS,16 148,524 

(167,061) Total Reserves   (54,531) 
 

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Director of Finance on 29 July 
2021. 

 

  

Page 96



63 
 
 

3.4 Cash Flow Statement 

 

  Notes 2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Net deficit on the provision of services   (72,942) (1,522) 
Adjustment to surplus or deficit on the provision of services for 
non-cash movements 31 130,091 32,125 

Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the 
provision of services that are investing and financing activities 31 (29,948) (23,533) 

Net cash flows from operating activities  27,201 7,070 
Net Cash flows from Investing Activities 32 (9,835) (35,274) 
Net Cash flows from Financing Activities 33 9,303 (10,097) 
Net increase or (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   26,669 (38,301) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting 
period   33,229 59,898 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting 
period    59,898 21,597 

  

Page 97



64 
 
 

3.5 Index of Explanatory Notes to the Accounts 

Note 
No.  Note Page 

1 Expenditure and Funding Analysis 65 
2 Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature 71 
3 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 71 
4 Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income 72 
5 Grant Income Credited to Services 73 
6 Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 73 
7 Material Items of Income and Expenditure 75 
8 Members' Allowances 75 
9 Officers' Remuneration 76 

10 External Audit Costs  79 
11 Pooled Funds 79 
12 Related Parties 80 
13 Leases 83 

14 Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis Under 
Regulations 83 

15 Earmarked Reserves 86 
16 Unusable Reserves 88 
17 Property, Plant and Equipment 94 
18 Heritage Assets 97 
19 Investment Properties 98 
20 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing  100 
21 Financial Instruments 101 
22 Debtors 115 
23 Cash and Cash Equivalents 116 
24 Creditors 116 
25 Provisions 116 
26 Contingent Assets 117 
27 Contingent Liabilities 119 
28 PFI and Similar Contracts  119 
29 Pension Schemes Accounted for as Defined Contribution Schemes 126 
30 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 126 
31 Cash Flow Statement - Operating Activities 131 
32 Cash Flow Statement - Investing Activities 132 
33 Cash Flow Statement - Financing Activities 132 
34 Accounting Policies 133 
35 Accounting Standards Issued, Not Adopted 147 
36 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies 148 

37 Assumptions Made about the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation 
Uncertainty  150 

38 Events after the Reporting Period  151 
 

 

  

Page 98



65 
 
 

3.6 Explanatory Notes to the Financial Statements 

Introduction 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 (the Code) and the 
Accounting Policies set out in Note 34. The Notes that follow (1 to 38) set out explanatory 
information for readers of the accounts. 
 
1. Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis demonstrates how the funding available to the Council for 
the year 2020/21 (i.e. Government grants, rents, Council Tax and Business Rates) has been used 
to provide services in comparison with those resources consumed or earned under generally 
accepted accounting practice (GAAP). The Expenditure and Funding analysis also shows how 
this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the Council’s directorates. 
Income and expenditure accounted for under GAAP is presented more fully in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 
 

Page 99



66 
 
 

1a. Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
 

2020/21 

As reported for 
resource 

management 
(including HRA) 

£000 

Adjustment to 
arrive at the net 

amount 
chargeable to the 
General Fund and 

HRA balances  
£000 

Net Expenditure 
Chargeable to the 
General Fund and 

HRA Balances 
£000 

Adjustments 
between Funding 
and Accounting 

Basis 
£000 

Net Expenditure 
in the 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement 

£000 
Chief Executive 3,515 (930) 2,585 768 3,353 
Commissioning 16,597 (3,711) 12,886 665 13,551 
People and Place 92,379 (63,890) 28,489 23,165 51,654 
Children's Services 89,765 (35,525) 54,240 21,074 75,314 
Community Health and Adult Social Care 67,575 (16,293) 51,282 3,975 55,257 
Communities and Reform 42,626 (15,446) 27,180 7,384 34,564 
Capital Treasury and Technical Accounting (27,777) 52,979 25,202 (30,009) (4,807) 
Corporate and Democratic Core 6,731 - 6,731 - 6,731 
Central Services (6,996) 6,996 - - - 
Housing Revenue Account - (10,311) (10,311) (2,687) (12,998) 
Net cost of services 284,415 (86,131) 198,284 24,335 222,619 
Other income and expenditure (286,567) 36,373 (250,194) 29,098 (221,096) 
(Surplus) or Deficit (2,152) (49,758) (51,910) 53,433 1,522 

 
  

P
age 100



67 
 
 

The table below shows the comparative information for 2019/20 
 

2019/20 

As reported for 
resource 

management 
(including 

HRA) 

Adjustment to 
arrive at the net 

amount 
chargeable to 
the General 

Fund and HRA 
balances 

Net Expenditure 
Chargeable to 

the General 
Fund and HRA 

Balances 

Adjustments 
between 

Funding and 
Accounting 

Basis 

Net Expenditure 
in the 

Comprehensive 
Income and 
Expenditure 
Statement 

Service Area £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Chief Executive 3,368 (575) 2,793 1,026 3,819 
Commissioning 4,355 (2,766) 1,589 1,544 3,133 
People and Place 91,641 (62,578) 29,063 24,612 53,675 
Children's Services 91,116 (34,889) 56,227 31,247 87,474 
Community Health & Adult Social Care 68,663 (4,633) 64,030 4,998 69,028 
Communities and Reform 36,412 (5,069) 31,343 5,544 36,887 
Capital Treasury and Technical Accounting (46,617) 53,021 6,404 812 7,216 
Corporate and Democratic Core 6,960 - 6,960 - 6,960 
Central Services 4,019 (4,019) - - - 
Housing Revenue Account - (10,980) (10,980) (2,758) (13,738) 

Net cost of services 259,917 (72,488) 187,429 67,025 254,454 
Other income and expenditure (260,186) 77,691 (182,495) 984 (181,511) 

(Surplus) or Deficit (270) 5,203 4,933 68,009 72,942 
 
The table below reconciles between the opening and closing balances of the General Fund (including earmarked reserves) and Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA) balances.  
 
During the financial year 2020/21, the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) laid before Parliament a statutory 
instrument establishing new accounting practices in relation to the treatment of local authorities’ schools budget deficits such that where the 
Council has a deficit on its schools budget relating to its accounts for a financial year beginning on 1 April 2020, 1 April 2021 or 1 April 2022, it 
must not charge the amount of that deficit to a revenue account. The Council has therefore recorded any such deficit in a separate account 
established solely for the purpose of recording deficits relating to its school’s budget. The £4.916m is the movement of the closing schools deficit 
from 2019/20. Additional information on the movements in General Fund and HRA balances can be found on the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 

P
age 101



68 
 
 

Movement in General Fund and HRA Balance 2019/20 
£000 

2020/21  
£000 

Opening General Fund and HRA Balance as at 1 April (129,704) (124,771) 
Add new statutory accounting practices in relation to the 
treatment of local authorities’ schools budget deficits  - (4,916) 
Add (Surplus)/Deficit on General Fund and HRA Balance in 
Year 4,933 (51,911) 
Closing General Fund and HRA Balance as at 31 March (124,771) (181,598) 

 
1b.  Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

This note provides a reconciliation of the main adjustments to net expenditure chargeable to the General Fund and HRA balances to arrive at the 
amounts in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The relevant transfers between reserves are explained in the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. 

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

      Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis  
2020/21 

Movement 
in Reserves 

Other 
Adjustments 

Total to arrive at 
amount charged 

to the general 
fund & HRA 

Adjustment 
for capital 
purposes 

(i & ii) 

Net change 
for pension 
adjustment 

(iii) 

Other 
Differences 

(iv) 
Total 

Adjustments 
  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Chief Executive (230) (700) (930) 304 464 - 768 
Commissioning (2,574) (1,137) (3,711) 143 522 - 665 
People and Place (983) (62,907) (63,890) 22,495 2,649 (1,979) 23,165 
Children's Services (4,669) (30,856) (35,525) 21,836 2,733 (3,495) 21,074 
Community Health  & Adult Social Care (12,317) (3,976) (16,293) 3,021 954 - 3,975 
Communities and Reform (7,155) (8,291) (15,446) 6,858 1,196 (670) 7,384 
Capital Treasury and Technical Accounting (29,251) 82,230 52,979 (605) 7,523 (36,927) (30,009) 
Corporate and Democratic Core - - - - - - - 
Central Services 6,996 - 6,996 - - - - 
Housing Revenue Account 425 (10,736) (10,311) 5,225 - (7,912) (2,687) 
Net cost of services (49,758) (36,373) (86,131) 59,277 16,041 (50,983) 24,335 
Other income and expenditure from the Expenditure  
and Funding Analysis - 36,373 36,373 - - 29,098 29,098 
Difference between General Fund (surplus)/deficit  
and Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (surplus)/deficit (49,758) - (49,758) 59,277 16,041 (21,885) 53,433 

P
age 102



69 
 
 

 

Adjustments from General Fund to arrive at 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement 

      
Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding 

Basis 
2019/20 - Restated 

Movement 
in 

Reserves 

Other 
Adjustments 

£000 

Total to 
arrive at 
amount 

charged to 
the general 
fund & HRA 

£000 

Adjustment 
for capital 
purposes 

(i & ii) 
£000 

Net change 
for pension 
adjustment 

(iii) 
£000 

Other 
Differences 

(iv) 
£000 

Total 
Adjustments 

£000 
Chief Executive 370 (945) (575) 96 930 - 1,026 
Commissioning (573) (2,193) (2,766) 552 992 - 1,544 
People and Place 1,909 (64,487) (62,578) 21,141 5,581 (2,110) 24,612 
Children's Services 4,752 (39,641) (34,889) 28,995 5,465 (3,213) 31,247 
Community Health & Adult Social Care 364 (4,997) (4,633) 3,072 1,926 - 4,998 
Communities and Reform 1,012 (6,081) (5,069) 3,830 2,348 (634) 5,544 
Capital Treasury and Technical Accounting 1,879 51,142 53,021 17,522 14,857 (31,567) 812 
Corporate and Democratic Core - - - - - - - 
Central Services (4,019) - (4,019) - - - - 
Housing Revenue Account (491) (10,489) (10,980) 4,576 - (7,334) (2,758) 
Net cost of services 5,203 (77,691) (72,488) 79,784 32,099 (44,858) 67,025 
Other income and expenditure from the 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis - 77,691 77,691 - - 984 984 

Difference between General Fund 
(surplus)/deficit and Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement (surplus)/deficit 

5,203 - 5,203 79,784 32,099 (43,874) 68,009 

 

  

P
age 103



70 
 
 

(i) Adjustments for Depreciation/Rental Income 
 
For resource management purposes, the Council includes depreciation in its reporting at 
Directorate level. However, these charges are removed as they are not included in the net 
expenditure chargeable to the General Fund and HRA balances. Also, the Council includes rental 
income from investment properties in the People and Place Directorate. However, this is reported 
in the financial statements below the cost of services line and, therefore the table above shows 
the item being reallocated. 
 
(ii) Adjustments for Capital Purposes 
 
Depreciation, impairment charges and revaluation gains and losses are included within the net 
cost of services. In addition: 

 
• Other operating expenditure – adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of income 

on disposal of assets and the amounts written off for those assets. 
• Finance and investment income and expenditure – the statutory charges for 

capital financing, i.e. Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) and other revenue 
contributions, are deducted from other income and expenditure as these are not 
chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices (GAAP). 

• Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure – capital grants are 
adjusted for income not chargeable under GAAP. Revenue grants are adjusted from 
those receivable during the year to those receivable without conditions or for which 
conditions were satisfied throughout the year. The Taxation and Non-Specific Grant 
Income and Expenditure line is credited with capital grants receivable in the year 
without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied within the year. 

 
(iii) Net Change for Pension Adjustments  
 
The removal of pension contributions and the addition of the International Accounting Standard 
(IAS) 19 Employee Benefits pension related expenditure and income are reflected as follows: 

 
• For the net cost of services – the removal of the employer pension contributions 

made by the Council as determined by statute and their replacement with current 
service costs and past service costs.  

• For financing and investment income and expenditure – the net interest on the 
defined benefit liability is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (CIES). 

 
(iv) Other Differences 

Other differences between amounts debited/credited to the CIES and amounts 
payable/receivable to be recognised under statute are set out below: 

 
• For financing and investment income and expenditure - the other differences 

column recognises adjustments to the General Fund for the timing differences for 
premiums and discounts for Long Term Borrowing.  

• For taxation and non-specific grant income - the charge represents the difference 
between what is chargeable under statute for Council Tax and Business Rates to that 
which was forecast to be received at the start of the year, and the income recognised 
under GAAP. This is a timing difference as any difference is brought forward in the 
surpluses or deficits on the Collection Fund. 

 
 
 

Page 104



71 
 
 

 
2. Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature  
 

  
2019/20 

£000 
2020/21  

£000 
Expenditure      
Employee Benefit Expenses  215,888 207,494 
Other services expenses 358,708 363,444 
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 41,177 44,858 
Interest Payments 37,915 35,184 
Precepts and levies 34,266 33,881 
Payments to the housing capital receipts pool - - 
Gain on the disposal of assets  (936) (1,352) 
Loss on transfer to academy status 18,245 - 
Movement on Pooled Investments 743 102 
Total expenditure 706,006 683,611 
Income     
Fees, charges and other service income  (94,216) (72,931) 
Interest and investment income  (10,337) (4,116) 
Income from Council Tax and Business Rates (147,894) (121,901) 
Government grants and contributions  (359,069) (432,999) 
Other revenue receipts (21,548) (50,142) 
Total income  (633,064) (682,089) 
Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services  72,942 1,522 

 
3. Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 
 

  

2019/20 - 
Restated 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 
Interest payable and similar charges 27,755 27,430 
Net interest on the net defined benefit liability 10,160 7,754 
Interest receivable and similar income (3,005) (3,166) 
Income and expenditure in relation to investment properties 
and changes in their fair value 

(2,697) (1,843) 

Other investment income (7,332) (950) 
Expected Credit Loss  1,476 3,614 
Fair Value movement on Pool Investment Funds 743 102 
Total 27,100           32,941 

 
 
The Council restated the 2019/20 disclosure note. The Council has reclassified its disposals of 
academy schools from Financing and Investment Income & Expenditure to (Gains)/losses on 
the disposal of non-current assets in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement in 
order to comply with the CIPFA code.  
 

 
 
 

Page 105



72 
 
 

 
4. Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income  
 
The Council raises Council Tax, Business Rates and receives grants from Central Government 
each year to finance revenue expenditure. This income is not attributable to specific services. 
The grants, Council Tax and Business Rates received are set out below: 
 

  
2019/20 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 
Council Tax Income - General Purposes (85,606)         (85,345) 
Council Tax Income - Adult Social Care Precept (6,691) (8,679) 
Retained Business Rates (55,597) (27,877) 
Business Rates Top Up (40,653) (41,654) 
Grants in Lieu of Business Rates (12,816) (36,373) 
Covid-19 Support Grants - (30,531) 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Grant (9,026) (8,488) 
Other Capital Grants and Contributions (20,120) (20,453) 
Other Non-Ringfenced Government Grants (9,065) (1,044) 
Housing and Council Tax Benefit Administration Grants (1,121) (1,138) 
New Homes Bonus (961) (598) 
Independent Living Fund (2,580) (2,580) 
Improved Better Care Fund Grant (8,150) (10,859) 
Additional Better Care Fund Grant (1,586) - 
Opportunity Area Grant (2,588) (1,565) 
Winter Pressures Grant (1,122) - 
School Improvement Monitoring & Brokerage Grant (254) (259) 
Local Tax Income Guarantee - (2,169) 
Brexit Support Grant (210) - 
Social Care Support Grant (1,917) (6,955) 
GMCA Earnback Grant (122) - 
Total (260,185) (286,567) 

 
  

Page 106



73 
 
 

5. Grant Income Credited to Services  
 
The Council credited the following grants, contributions and donations to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 

  
2019/20 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 
Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) (144,368) (153,378) 
Housing Benefit Subsidy - Rent Allowances (46,374) (41,411) 
Housing Benefit Subsidy - Rent Rebates (5,309) (5,249) 
Covid-19 Support Grants -  (15,907) 
Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) - Adult and 
Community Learning Income (3,123) (2,740) 

Pupil Premium (9,483) (8,844) 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Credit (23,042) (23,581) 
Other Government Grants (12,172) (13,778) 
Other Grants  (1,117) (641) 
Community Safety Grants (584) (557) 
Reform Investment Funding (572) (906) 
Discretionary Housing Payments (633) (773) 
National Leisure Recovery Fund (Sports Council) -  (568) 

Total (246,777) (268,333) 
 
6. Dedicated School’s Grant (DSG) 
 
The Council’s expenditure on schools is financed primarily by Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 
provided by the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA). DSG is ring-fenced and can only 
be used to finance expenditure that is included in the Schools Budget, as defined in the School 
Finance and Early Years (England) Regulations 2020. The School’s Budget includes elements 
for a range of educational services provided on an authority-wide basis and for the Individual 
Schools Budget (ISB), which is divided into a budget share for each Council maintained school.  
 
  

Page 107



74 
 
 

Details of the deployment of the DSG receivable for 2020/21 are as follows: 
 

  
2020/21 

Central 
Expenditure 

Individual 
Schools 
Budget 

Total 

Note   £000 £000 £000 
 A  Final DSG before academy recoupment     263,473 
B Academy Recoupment      (110,095) 
C Total DSG after academy recoupment     153,378 
D Balance Brought Forward      (4,916) 

E 
Carry forward to 2021/22 agreed in 
advance     (1,563) 

        146,899 
F Agreed initial budget distribution 22,563 125,864 148,427 
G In year adjustments (637) (891) (1,528) 
H Final budget distribution  21,926 124,973 146,899 
I Less: Central expenditure (26,260)   (26,260) 
J Less: ISB deployed to schools   (125,762) (125,762) 

K 
Plus: Local authority contribution for 
2020/21       

L In year Carry-forward to 2021/22 (4,334) (789) (5,123) 
M Plus: Carry-forward to 2021/22 agreed in 

advance   1,563 1,563 

N Carry-forward to 2021/22 (4,334) 774 (3,560) 
 
A  Final DSG figure before any amount has been recouped from the authority as published 

March 2021, excluding the January 2021 early years block adjustment.  
B:  Figure recouped from the authority in 2020/21 by the DfE for the conversion of maintained 
 schools into academies and for high needs payments made by ESFA.  
C: Total DSG figure after academy and high needs recoupment for 2020/21, as published 

March 2021.  
D:  Deficit Balance of £4.916m brought forward from 2019/20.   
E:  The  amount which the authority decided after consultation with the School’s Forum to 

carry forward to 2021/22 rather than distribute in 2020/21 (£1.563m). 
F:  Budgeted distribution of DSG as agreed with the School’s Forum.  
G:  Changes to the initial distribution, for example, adjustments for exclusions, or final early 

years block adjustment.  
H:  Budgeted distribution of DSG as at the end of the financial year.  
I:  Actual amount of central expenditure items in 2020/21.  
J:  Amount of ISB distributed to schools in 2020/21. 
K:  Any contribution from the local authority in 2020/21.  
L: In year carry-forward to 2021/22.  
M:  Carry-forward to 2021/22 already agreed (£1.563m).  
N:  Year-end carry-forward to 2021/22. 
 
  

Page 108



75 
 
 

7. Material Items of Income and Expenditure 
 
This note identifies material items of income and expenditure that are not disclosed on the face 
of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. For the purposes of this note the 
Council considers material items to be those greater than £6.000m. For 2020/21 there were no 
material items of income and expenditure. 
 
8. Members’ Allowances 
 
The Council paid the following amounts to Members during the year:  
 

  2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Allowances 1,026 1,070  

Page 109



76 
 
 

9. Officers’ Remuneration 
 
The remuneration of senior employees is detailed below. 
 

  

2019/20 2020/21 

N
ot

e Sa
la

ry
, F

ee
s 

an
d 

A
llo

w
an

ce
s

 Ex
pe

ns
es

 A
llo

w
an

ce
s

 Pe
ns

io
n

  C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n
 To

ta
l

 Sa
la

ry
, F

ee
s 

an
d 

A
llo

w
an

ce
s

 Ex
pe

ns
es

 A
llo

w
an

ce
s

 C
om

pe
ns

at
io

n 
fo

r L
os

s 
of

 
O

ffi
ce

 Pe
ns

io
n

  C
on

tr
ib

ut
io

n
 To

ta
l

 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
C Wilkins OBE, Chief Executive Oldham Council and 
Accountable Officer, NHS Oldham CCG, Head of Paid Service  178 - 37 215 185 - - 38 223  A 
Deputy Chief Executive: Corporate and Commercial Services  22 -  5 27 - - - - -  B 
Deputy Chief Executive 132 - 27 159 135 - - 28 163  
Strategic Director: Communities and Reform 123 - - 123 130 - - - 130  
M Joseph, Interim Director of Children’s Services  180 - - 180 - - - - - C 
Managing Director Children and Young People (Director of 
Children’s Services) 41 2 9 52 128 6 - 26 160 D 
Managing Director Community Health and Adult Social Care 
Services (Director of Adult Social Services) 110 - 23 133 113 - - 23 136  E  
Director of Finance and Chief Financial Officer (Section 151 
Officer) 99 - 20 119 101 - - 21 122   
Director of Legal Services and Monitoring Officer 103 - 20 123 101 - - 21 122   
Director of Public Health 92 - 19 111 94 - - 19 113   
Director of Education, Skills and Early Years (Chief Education 
Officer) 90 1 19 110 11 - - 2 13  F 
Director of Education, Skills and Early Years (Chief Education 
Officer) - - - - 28 - - 6 34 G 
Interim Director of Education, Skills and Early Years (Chief 
Education Officer) - - - - 14 - - 1 15 H 

P
age 110



77 
 
 

Senior Officers served for the whole of 2019/20 and 2020/21 unless stated below: 
 

 Notes: 
  

 
A The Chief Executive holds a joint role, also covering the role of Accountable Officer 

for Oldham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The contribution to the salary 
and pension cost paid by the CCG was £123,827.  In 2020/21 the Chief Executive 
worked for the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) as the Contain 
Divisional Director for Test and Trace.  The contribution to the salary paid and 
other seconded staff by the DHSC was £131,920. 

  
B The Deputy Chief Executive: Corporate and Commercial Services: left the Council 

on 31 May 2019. 
 
C The Interim Director of Children’s Services: left the Council on 29 November 2019. 
 
D The Managing Director Children and Young People (Director of Children’s 

Services) was appointed on 2 December 2019. 
 
E The Managing Director Community Health and  Adult Social Care: the contribution 

to salary and pension costs paid by Pennine Care NHS Trust was £75,340. 
 
F The Director of Education, Skills and Early Years (Chief Education Officer): left the 

Council on 26 April 2020. 
 
G  The Director of Education, Skills and Early Years (Chief Education Officer): was 

appointed on 14 December 2020. 
 
H The Interim Director of Education, Skills and Early Years (Chief Education Officer): 

was appointed on 27 April 2020 until 13 December 2020. 
 

  

Page 111



78 
 
 

 

All of the Council’s employees (excluding the Chief Executive, other Executive Management 
Team members and statutory officers) receiving more than £50,000 remuneration for the year 
(excluding employer’s pension contributions) were paid the following amounts: 
 

  

2019/20 2020/21 
Number of 
Employees 
Including 

Severance or 
Other Related 

Payments 

Number of 
Employees 
Including 

Severance or 
Other Related 

Payments 
£50,000 - £55,000 95 129 
£55,001 - £60,000 42 51 
£60,001 - £65,000 46 33 
£65,001 - £70,000 19 34 
£70,001 - £75,000 15 14 
£75,001 - £80,000 8 11 
£80,001 - £85,000 5 13 
£85,001 - £90,000 5 5 
£90,001 - £95,000 4 2 
£95,001 - £100,000 2 4 

£100,001 - £105,000 - 3 
£105,001 - £110,000 1 1 
£110,001 - £115,000 - 1 
£115,001 - £120,000 - - 
£120,001 - £125,000 - - 
£125,001 - £130,000 - 1 

Total 
 

242 302 
 

 
 
The number of exit packages with total cost per band and total cost of the compulsory and other 
redundancies are set out in the table below. 
 

Exit Package Cost 
band (including 

special payments) 

2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 2019/20 2020/21 

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies 

Number of other 
departures 

agreed 

Total number of 
exit packages by 

cost band 

Total cost of exit 
packages in each 

band   
£ £ 

£0 - £20,000 1 2 27 49 28 51 269,266 462,934 
£20,001 - £40,000 1 - 5 20 6 20 149,704 595,713 
£40,001 - £60,000 - - 1 12 1 12 52,378 588,409 
£60,001 - £80,000 - - 1 1 1 1 76,345 70,978 
£80,001 - £100,000 - - - 3 - 3 - 247,756 

£100,001 - £150,000 - - - 4 - 4 - 515.322 

Total 2 2 34 89 36 91 547,693 2,481,112 
 
 

Page 112



79 
 
 

10. External Audit Costs  
 
The Council has incurred the following costs in relation to the audit of the Statement of Accounts 
by the Council’s External Auditors, which for 2020/21 is Mazars LLP. 
 
  
  

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Fees payable to Mazars LLP with regard to external audit services 
carried out by the appointed auditor for the year.  

134 104 

 
 
The Council has incurred an additional fee in relation to the external audit of the Statement of 
Accounts by the Council’s External Auditors Mazars LLP for 2019/20. The additional fee of 
£29,740 agreed takes the total cost for 2019/20 to £134,148 and has been approved by Public 
Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA).  
 
 
11. Pooled Funds  
 
Section 75 Agreement  
 
In April 2016 Greater Manchester took control and responsibility for the £6bn Health & Social 
Care Budget and is working to deliver its own sustainable health and social care system by 2021. 
In taking forward this initiative locally, Oldham Council and NHS Oldham CCG have jointly 
developed a Locality Plan for Health and Social Care Transformation covering the period 2020/21 
to 2023/24.  
 
In successfully delivering this Locality Plan both organisations are working together to redesign 
the way that Health and Social Care services are delivered in the Borough to improve services 
and outcomes for residents and patients, all within a system that is built upon a sustainable 
financial model. Joint arrangements of this type are permitted under Section 75 of the National 
Health Service Act 2006.  
 
The aims and benefits of the Partners in entering into the Section 75 Agreement are to:  
 

• improve the quality and efficiency of service provision;  
• meet the National Conditions and Local Objectives;  
• make more effective use of resources through the establishment and maintenance of an 

aligned fund for revenue expenditure on services;  
• ensure that people in Oldham will be independent, resilient and self-caring so fewer 

people reach crisis point, and;  
• develop an integrated health and care system, for those that need it that enables people 

to proactively manage their own care with the support of their family, community and the 
right professionals at the right time in a properly joined up system.  

 
The main purpose is to facilitate a whole system approach to deliver care where and how it needs 
to be delivered to the citizens of Oldham.  
 
The Section 75 agreement for 2020/21 incorporates the following:  
 

• Better Care Fund (including the Disabled Facilities Grant)  
• Improved Better Care Fund  
• GM Health and Social Care Transformation Funds  

Page 113



80 
 
 

• Funding in relation to services commissioned by Oldham Council and services 
commissioned by Oldham CCG  

• Funding commissioned by Oldham Council and Oldham CCG to facilitate hospital 
discharge and support the care provider market in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 
The Section 75 agreement relates to pooled funds. The pooled funds are split into two elements:  
 

• a pooled budget that relates solely to the Integrated Community Equipment Service 
which is hosted by the Council but for which partners equally share the risk associated 
with any variance to budget. 

• a pooled aligned budget covering the majority of funding and expenditure where funds 
are held in the host organisation’s budget. 

 
As shown in the table below the Council spent pooled funds of £100.785m and the CCG spent 
£75.847m of pooled funds. Each of the partner organisations accounts for their own contributions 
& details of the spend from the pool are reported to the Oldham Commissioning Partnership 
Board. Details of the CCG's contributions are contained within their annual accounts. The table 
below includes an increased contribution of £16.823m to the pool by Oldham CCG. This 
contribution has been used by the Council to underpin the provision of adult social care. 
 
Section 75 incorporating Better Care Fund & Improved Better 
Care Fund 

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Funding provided to the pooled budget:     
Council (83,487) (62,633) 
Oldham CCG (80,483) (113,999) 

  (163,970) (176,632) 
Expenditure met from the pooled budget:     

Council 83,487 100,785 
Oldham CCG 80,483 75,847 

  163,970 176,632 

Net surplus arising on the pooled budget during the year  - - 
 
 
12. Related Parties 
 
The Council is required to disclose material transactions with related parties, bodies or individuals 
that have the potential to control or influence the Council or to be controlled or influenced by the 
Council. Disclosure of these transactions show the extent to which the Council might have been 
constrained in its ability to operate independently or might have secured the ability to limit another 
party’s ability to bargain freely with the Council.  
 
Central Government  
 
Central Government has significant influence over the general operations of the Council. It is 
responsible for providing the statutory framework within which the Council operates, provides the 
majority of its funding in the form of grants and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions 
that the Council has with other parties (e.g. Council Tax billing, housing benefit administration). 
Grants received from Government Departments are disclosed in Notes 4 and 5.  
 
 
 

Page 114



81 
 
 

Elected Members of the Council  
 
Members of the Council have direct control over the Council’s financial and operating policies. 
The total of Members’ Allowances paid in 2020/21 is disclosed in Note 8.  
The Register of Members’ Interests is open to public inspection at the Civic Centre during office 
hours, on application, and is also available on the Council’s website. The Council is compliant in 
this regard with the requirements of the Localism Act 2012.  
 
Any material transactions with entities disclosed by Members have been incorporated into the 
Related Party Transactions table below.  
 
Officers  
 
There are no material related party transactions identified between the Council and Chief Officers’ 
related parties.  
 
Other Public Bodies (subject to common control by Central Government)  
 
The Council has a pooled fund arrangement with Oldham CCG which encompasses Council Adult 
Social Care budgets and CCG commissioned expenditure, together with expenditure funded by 
the Better Care Fund, Improved Better Care Fund and the GM Health and Social Care 
Transformation Fund. For further detail see Note 11 Pooled Funds.  
 
The Council also pays levies towards the services provided by the Greater Manchester Combined 
Authority (GMCA) for Waste Disposal and for Transport and also to the Environment Agency 
(EA). The Levies payable are shown in the following table. 
 
Levying Body 31 March 

2020 
£000 

31 March 
2021 
£000 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority - Waste Disposal        18,102         17,358  
Greater Manchester Combined Authority - Transport        15,780         16,124  
Environment Agency             106              108  
 Total         33,988         33,590  

 
GMCA approved its Waste Disposal levy for 2020/21 on 14 February 2020 at a value of 
£17.448m. During 2020/21 usage was less than expected and the Council received a refund of 
£0.090m resulting in a final annual levy of £17.358m. 
 
The GMCA also approved its 2020/21 Transport Levy payable by the Greater Manchester 
Districts on 14 February 2020. Oldham was notified that its Transport Levy for 2020/21 was at a 
value of £8.861m. Following the GMCA (Functions and Amendment) order being laid in April 
2019, for 2020/21 the GM Mayor was given further powers for transport functions. The order gave 
the GM Mayor the ability to make a statutory charge to District Councils in relation to transport 
functions (this statutory charge replaced functions previously included within the Transport Levy). 
This statutory charge for 2020/21 was approved on 14 February 2020 at a value of £7.263m. The 
resulting 2020/21 Greater Manchester Combined Authority - Transport charge for Oldham, 
consisting of the Transport Levy and statutory charge was therefore set at a value of £16.124m. 
 
On 17 February 2020 the Environment Agency provided the Council with a confirmed levy amount 
for the 2020/21 financial year at a value of £0.108m.  
 
The following table shows the receipts, payments and balances attributable to the Council’s 
subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and non-group entities where appropriate

Page 115



82 
 
 

. 
 

 

Receipts Payments Outstanding 
Balances / 

Commitments

Receipts Payments Outstanding 
Balances / 

Commitments
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

 Subsidiaries 
 MioCare Group Community Interest 
Company (formerly Oldham Care 
Services Limited) 

MioCare Group CIC is a care and support provider and is wholly owned by the 
Council. It delivers services through two subsidiaries: Oldham Care and 
Support Ltd (OCS); and MioCare Services Ltd (formerly Oldham Care and 
Support at Home (OCSH)). 

(1,025) 14,617 (133) (1,038) 15,603 (83)

 Unity Partnership Limited (Unity) On 2 July 2018 the ownership of Unity Partnership transferred to Oldham 
Council and Unity Partnership became a 100% wholly owned Council 
subsidiary company providing a variety of services within the Council and to 
residents.

(1,626) 18,659 (55) (1,658) 19,864 (346)

 Oldham Economic Development 
Association Limited (OEDA) 

OEDA is a company without share capital which is wholly owned by the 
Council and was set up to aid economic development and regeneration across 
the Borough. The company has remained inactive in the past year because of 
the restrictions which apply to companies wholly owned by a Local Authority.

 Southlink Developments Limited The principal activity of the company is that of a property developer. However, 
the development land now owned by the company is reduced to a few acres 
located on Southlink Business Park. The continued inactivity of the company 
is the result of the restrictions which apply to companies wholly owned by a 
Local Authority.

 Associates 
 Meridian Development Company Ltd 
(MDCL) 

MDCL was created to enable the purchase and development of key sites in 
Oldham. The Council holds 27.2% of the voting shares and 59.1% of the non 
voting shares. 

 Joint Ventures 
 Oldham Property LLP (OP LLP) OP LLP is a joint venture between the Council and Brookhouse Group Ltd and 

was incorporated on 13 February 2013 for the acquisition of strategic 
development sites.

 FO Development LLP This joint venture was formed to deliver the development of the Foxdenton 
employment area in order to create a premium business location, new jobs 
and housing.

(14) - (6) -

 Non-Group Entities 
 Positive Steps Oldham The Council has a number of contracts with Positive Steps which is a 

charitable trust that delivers a range of targeted and integrated services for 
young people, adults and families. It is a not for profit company for which 
Council Members occupy 4 of the 12 Trustee positions.

(20) 4,142 (13) 3,890

 Total (2,685) 37,418 (188) (2,715) 39,357 (429)

Related Party Transactions

Details of Arrangement

2019/20 2020/21

P
age 116



83 
 
 

13. Leases 
 
The Council as Lessor 
 
Operating Leases 
 
The Council leases out property under operating leases, to include but not limited to, the following 
purposes: 
 

• for the provision of community services, such as tourism services and community 
centres; and  

• for economic development purposes to provide suitable affordable accommodation 
for local businesses. 
 

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in future years are: 
 

  2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

No later than 1 year 306 4,463 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 2,139 10,493 

Later than 5 years 28,423 34,889 

Total 30,868 49,845 

 

14. Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis Under Regulations  
 
This note details the adjustments that are made to the total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure recognised by the Council in the year, in accordance with proper accounting practice 
to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Council to 
meet future capital and revenue expenditure.

Page 117



84 
 
 

 
 
 

 

G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 
B

al
an

ce

H
ou

si
ng

 
R

ev
en

ue
 

A
cc

ou
nt

 
(H

R
A

)

C
ap

ita
l 

R
ec

ei
pt

s 
R

es
er

ve

M
aj

or
 R

ep
ai

rs
 

R
es

er
ve

C
ap

ita
l G

ra
nt

s 
U

na
pp

lie
d

M
ov

em
en

ts
 in

 
U

nu
sa

bl
e 

R
es

er
ve

s

G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 
B

al
an

ce

H
ou

si
ng

 
R

ev
en

ue
 

A
cc

ou
nt

 
(H

R
A

)

C
ap

ita
l 

R
ec

ei
pt

s 
R

es
er

ve

M
aj

or
 R

ep
ai

rs
 

R
es

er
ve

C
ap

ita
l G

ra
nt

s 
U

na
pp

lie
d

M
ov

em
en

ts
 in

 
U

nu
sa

bl
e 

R
es

er
ve

s

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Adjustment Account:
Reversal of items debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement:
Charges for depreciation of non-current assets (31,190) (4,808) - - - 35,998 (30,952) (5,316) - - - 36,268
Charges for impairment of non-current assets (792) (74) - - - 866 (1,479) (95) - - - 1,573
Revaluation losses on Property, Plant and Equipment (2,853) 96 - - - 2,756 (5,696) 135 - - - 5,560
Movements in the fair value of Investment Properties 51 - - - - (51) (278) - - - - 278
Amortisation of intangible assets (1,557) - - - - 1,557 (1,456) - - - - 1,456
Capital grants and contributions applied 15,464 - (15,464) 10,716 - - - - (10,716)
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute (21,582) - - - - 21,582 (15,534) - - - 15,534
Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as part of the 
gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

(7,906) (12) - - - 7,917 (1,583) (3) - - - 1,586

Amounts written off on disposal of Academy Schools to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement

(18,245) - - - - 18,245 - - - - - -

Insertion of items not debited or credited to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement:
Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment 2,742 - - - - (2,742) 2,742 - - - - (2,742)
Voluntary provision for the financing of capital investment 14,163 5,123 - - - (19,286) 19,435 5,301 - - - (24,736)
Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund and HRA balances 245 2,134 - - - (2,379) 147 2,532 - - - (2,679)
Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Grants Unapplied Account:

Capital grants and contributions unapplied credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement

4,655 - - - (4,655) - 9,737 - - - (9,737) -

Application of grants to capital financing transferred to the Capital Adjustment 
Account

- - - - 26,626 (26,626) - - - 10,104 (10,104)

Adjustments primarily involving the Capital Receipts Reserve:
Transfer of cash sales proceeds credited as part of the gain/loss on disposal to 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

9,607 221 (9,828) - 3,027 53 (3,080) - - -

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance new capital expenditure - - 9,914 - - (9,914) - - 3,184 - - (3,184)
Contributions to the Capital Receipts Pool - 0 - - - - - - - - - -
Repayment of Long Term Loans - - (86) - - 86 - - (104) - - 104
Transfer from Deferred Capital Receipts reserve upon receipt of cash - - - - - - - - - - - -

2019/20 2020/21
Usable Reserves Usable Reserves

P
age 118



85 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 
B

al
an

ce

H
ou

si
ng

 
R

ev
en

ue
 

A
cc

ou
nt

 (H
R

A
)

C
ap

ita
l 

R
ec

ei
pt

s 
R

es
er

ve

M
aj

or
 R

ep
ai

rs
 

R
es

er
ve

C
ap

ita
l G

ra
nt

s 
U

na
pp

lie
d

M
ov

em
en

ts
 in

 
U

nu
sa

bl
e 

R
es

er
ve

s

G
en

er
al

 F
un

d 
B

al
an

ce

H
ou

si
ng

 
R

ev
en

ue
 

A
cc

ou
nt

 (H
R

A
)

C
ap

ita
l 

R
ec

ei
pt

s 
R

es
er

ve

M
aj

or
 R

ep
ai

rs
 

R
es

er
ve

C
ap

ita
l G

ra
nt

s 
U

na
pp

lie
d

M
ov

em
en

ts
 in

 
U

nu
sa

bl
e 

R
es

er
ve

s

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Adjustments primarily involving the Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve:

Transfer of deferred sale proceeds credited as part of the gain/loss on disposal 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

- - - - - - - - - - - -

Adjustments primarily involving the Major Repairs Reserve:
Transfer of Excess of Depreciation over Notional MRA to MRR - 77 - (77) - - - 80 - (80) - -
Credit MRR with a sum equal to HRA Depreciation - - - - - - - - - - - -
Adjustments primarily involving the Financial Instruments Adjustment 
Account:
Amount by which finance costs charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement are different from finance costs chargeable in the year 
in accordance with statutory requirements

255 - - - - (255) 291 - - - - (291)

Adjustments primarily involving the Financial Instruments Revaluation 
Reserve:
Amount by which Financial Instruments held under Fair Value through Profit & 
Loss are subject to MHCLG statutory over-ride.

(743) - - - - 743 (102) - - - - 102

Adjustments primarily involving the Pensions Reserve:
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (see Note 27)

(50,804) - - - - 50,804 (35,619) - - - - 35,619

Employer's pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners payable in 
the year

18,705 - - - - (18,705) 19,579 - - - - (19,579)

Adjustments primarily involving the Collection Fund Adjustment 
Account:
Amount by which Council Tax and Business Rates income credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is different from council tax 
income calculated for the year in accordance with statutory requirements

(450) - - - - 450 (29,692) - - - - 29,692

Adjustments primarily involving the Accumulated Absences Account:
Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis is different from the 
remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory requirements

(534) - - - - 534 (761) - - - - 761

Adjustments primarily involving the Dedicated Schools Grant 
Adjustment Account
Transfer of Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) over/(underspend) to the DSG 
Adjustment Account

- - - - - - 1,356 - - - - (1,356)

Total Adjustments (70,767) 2,758 - (77) 21,971 46,115 (56,121) 2,688 (0) (80) 367 53,147 

2019/20 2020/21
Usable Reserves Usable Reserves

P
age 119



86 
 
 

15. Earmarked Reserves  
 
This note discloses the amounts set aside from the General Fund as earmarked reserves to provide financing for future expenditure plans. The note also 
discloses the value of transfers to or from General Fund earmarked reserves during 2019/20 and 2020/21. All Earmarked Reserves are managed in 
accordance with the Council’s reserves policy. 

 
  

B
al

an
ce

 a
s 

at
 

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 

20
19

 

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
O

ut
 2

01
9/

20
 

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
In

 
20

19
/2

0 

B
al

an
ce

 a
s 

at
 

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 

20
20

 

Tr
an

sf
er

 to
 

D
SG

 
A

dj
us

tm
en

t 
A

cc
ou

nt
 

R
es

ta
te

d 
ba

la
nc

e 
as

 
at

 1
 A

pr
il 

20
20

 

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
O

ut
 2

02
0/

21
 

Tr
an

sf
er

s 
In

 
20

20
/2

1 

B
al

an
ce

 a
s 

at
 

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 

20
21

 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Integrated Working Reserve  (3,662) 376 (700) (3,986) - (3,986) 529 (13,922) (17,380) 
Transformation Reserve (10,281) 2,849 (377) (7,809) - (7,809) 1,822 - (5,986) 
Adverse Weather Reserve (1,500) 500 - (1,000) - (1,000) - - (1,000) 
Regeneration Reserve (6,456) 1,795 - (4,661) - (4,661) 1,347 (250) (3,564) 
Demand Changes Reserve (2,000) 1,660 (1,660) (2,000) - (2,000) 2,000 - - 
Emergency and External Events Reserve (2,751) 564 (64) (2,251) - (2,251) 2,251 (2,000) (2,000) 
Levy Reserve (402) - - (402) - (402) 153 (90) (340) 
Council Initiatives Reserve (4,514) 1,591 (609) (3,532) - (3,532) 1,206 (565) (2,891) 
Fiscal Mitigation Reserve (14,975) 13,718 (25,720) (26,977) - (26,977) 26,407 (11,013) (11,582) 
Life Cycle Costs Reserve (6,611) 5,031 - (1,580) - (1,580) 500 (571) (1,651) 
Insurance Reserve (14,529) 2,364 - (12,165) - (12,165) 4,092 (1,912) (9,985) 
Directorate Reserve (2,767) 1,335 (428) (1,860) - (1,860) 695 (1,027) (2,192) 
Balancing Budget Reserve (8,818) 8,818 (10,008) (10,008) - (10,008) 10,008 (54,309) (54,309) 
Taxation / Treasury Reserve (625) 125 - (500) - (500) 1,955 (1,455) - 
District Partnership Reserve  (732) 224 (121) (629) - (629) 127 (92) (594) 
Local Restrictions Support Grant Reserve - - - - - - - (37) (37) 
Total Revenue Account Earmarked 
Reserves 

(80,623) 40,950 (39,687) (79,360) - (79,360) 53,090 (87,243) (113,512) 

Other Earmarked Reserves                 
Revenue Grants Reserve (8,733) 1,440 (641) (7,933) - (7,933) 1,327 (13,538) (20,145) 
Schools Reserve (4,202) 4,207 (576) (571) (4,916) (5,487) 5,495 (9,314) (9,306) 
Total Other Earmarked Reserves (12,935) 5,647 (1,217) (8,504) (4,916) (13,420) 6,822 (22,852) (29,452) 
Total Earmarked Reserves (93,558) 46,597 (40,904) (87,865) (4,916) (92,781) 59,912 (110,095) (142,964) 

P
age 120



87 
 
 

Revenue Account Earmarked Reserves  
 
Integrated Working Reserve - this represents funding that has been set aside to support 
initiatives arising from the Greater Manchester devolution agenda and Greater Manchester 
Spatial Framework including joint working with the Oldham Clinical Commissioning Group around 
Health and Adult Social Care, other Greater Manchester Councils and the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority.  
 
Transformation Reserve – this represents funding that has been set aside to provide for any 
exceptional costs arising from implementing the budget reductions required by the Council’s 
revenue budget for 2021/22 and also the programme of change as the Council moves to address 
funding reductions in future years by the continued transformation of its services.  
 
Adverse Weather Reserve – this represents funds set aside to cover the cost of winter 
maintenance of Oldham’s roads due to adverse weather conditions.  
 
Regeneration Reserve – the Council has an extensive and ambitious regeneration agenda and 
resources have been set aside to support a number of regeneration projects which span more 
than one financial year.  
 
Emergency and External Events Reserve – this reserve has been established to ensure that 
the Council has sufficient resources to address costs arising from events such as flooding 
including the requirement to undertake emergency repairs.  
 
Levy Reserve – this represents funds set aside to cover any increased levy costs in future years 
as notified by the Greater Manchester Combined Authority.  
 
Council Initiatives Reserve – there are a number of projects and programmes of work which 
the Council considers to be priority initiatives and has therefore set reserve funds aside to ensure 
that these can be undertaken.  
 
Fiscal Mitigation Reserve – this reserve has been established to fund future costs expected to 
arise from reforms to Central Government Funding, pressures resulting from legislative change 
and the potential requirement to support performance improvement in selected services including 
the financial implications of COVID-19. This also includes funds set aside to strengthen the 
Council’s financial resilience over the Medium Term. 
 
Life Cycle Costs Reserve – the Council has a number of service areas including PFI schemes 
which require reserves to ensure that there is funding to provide for future costs including unitary 
charge inflationary increases.  
 
Insurance Reserve – this has been established in order to finance costs (e.g. claims and 
premium payment) associated with insurable risk. The Council also has an Insurance Fund and 
the Insurance Reserve will also meet expenditure relating to various types of future claims which 
are not covered by the Insurance Fund.  
 
Directorate Reserve – there are a wide range of Directorate initiatives which span more than 
one financial year or for which funds have been budgeted but not yet started. The Directorate 
Reserve will ensure that such initiatives can be completed.  
 
Balancing Budget Reserve – this holds the sum of reserves required to balance the 2021/22 
budget approved by Council on 4 March 2021 and the indicative 2022/23 budget.  
 
District Partnership Reserve – this represents sums set aside to fund projects already agreed 
by the District Executives which are programmed for a future financial year or span more than 
one financial year.  

Page 121



88 
 
 

Local Restrictions Support Grant Reserve - this has been established in order to assist 
businesses during the COVID-19 pandemic. The application closure date for the scheme was 
phased with the final tranche closing on 31 May 2021. Final payments are also phased with the 
last round of payments being made up to 30 June 2021, therefore these funds are held to finance 
the final payments.  
 
Other Earmarked Reserves  
In addition to the reserves detailed above there are two earmarked reserves held in the Council’s 
General Fund which have to be itemised separately given the nature of the funds held. These 
are:  
 

• Revenue Grants Reserve – this represents income from grants received which have no  
conditions attached or where the conditions have been met but no expenditure has yet 
been incurred. At the end of 2020/21 this included a range of COVID-19 grants to the 
value of £11.929m. 

 
• Schools Reserve – this includes the balances held by Schools under the scheme of 

delegation. 
 
16. Unusable Reserves  
 
Summary 

Note 

31 March 
2020 
£000 

31 March 
2021 
£000 

Revaluation Reserve 16a (301,491) (307,724) 
Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve 16b (19,240) (21,031) 
Capital Adjustment Account 16c (34,374) (41,571) 
Financial Instruments Adjustment Account 16d 8,517 8,227 
Deferred Capital Receipts 16e (523) (523) 
Pensions Reserve 16f 324,871 475,439 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account 16g (3,240) 26,452 
DSG Adjustment Account 16h - 3,560 
Accumulated Absences Reserve 16i 4,933 5,695 
Total Unusable Reserves  (20,546) 148,524 

 
All unusable reserves are described below, the movements in year for all reserves with a material 
balance are also disclosed. 
 
(16a) Revaluation Reserve  
 
The Revaluation Reserve includes the gains made by the Council arising from increases in the 
value of its Property, Plant and Equipment. The balance is reduced when assets with 
accumulated gains are:  
 

• revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost;  
• used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through depreciation; 

and  
• disposed of and gains are realised.  

 
The reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the 
Reserve was created. Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the 
balance on the Capital Adjustment Account. 
 

Page 122



89 
 
 

 
Revaluation Reserve 2019/20 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 
Balance at 1 April (291,667) (301,491) 
Upward revaluation of assets (44,354) (30,186) 
Downward revaluation of assets and impairment losses not 
charged to the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services 5,026 8,558 
Difference between fair value depreciation and historic cost 
depreciation 13,998 15,074 
Accumulated gains on non-current assets sold or 
decommissioned (excluding Academies) 3,979 322 

Accumulated gains on Academy assets sold or decommissioned 11,528 - 
Balance at 31 March (301,491) (307,724) 

 
(16b) Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve  
 
The Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve contains the gains made by the Council arising 
from increases in the value of its investments that are measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income. The balance is reduced when investments with accumulated gains are:  

 
• revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost; and  
• disposed of and the gains are realised.  

 
Financial Instrument Revaluation Reserve 2019/20 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 
Balance at 1 April (42,271) (19,240) 
      
Revaluation of Shareholding in Manchester Airport 22,500  (1,890) 

Reversal of Pooled Investment Funds for Fair Value movement  (215) (746)  
(Surplus)/Deficit on revaluation of Financial Instrument 
Revaluation Reserve 22,285 (2,636) 
 
 
Other Movement for Fair Value movement 3 - 

Financial Instruments held under Fair Value through Profit & Loss 
subject to MHCLG Statutory Over-Ride * 743  845 
Balance at 31 March (19,240) (21,031) 

 
*The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) introduced a statutory 
over-ride to protect the General Fund balance from any fluctuations in fair value movements in 
quoted investment funds. In the Council's case this relates to its investments in the Churches, 
Charities and Local Authorities (CCLA) Property Fund. This over-ride expires on 31 March 2023 
and unless extended, all fair value movements will then impact on the General Fund Balance. 
 
(16c) Capital Adjustment Account  
 
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the 

Page 123



90 
 
 

acquisition, construction or enhancement element of those assets under statutory provisions. The 
account is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or enhancement as depreciation, 
impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to convert fair value figures 
to a historical cost basis). The Account is credited with the amounts set aside by the Council as 
finance for the costs of acquisition, construction and subsequent costs.  
 
The Account contains accumulated gains and losses on Investment Properties and gains 
recognised on donated assets that have yet to be consumed by the Council. The Account also 
contains revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before April 2007, the 
date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. Note 14 provides details of 
the source of all the transactions posted to the Account, apart from those involving the 
Revaluation Reserve. 
 
Capital Adjustment Account 2019/20 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 
Balance at 1 April (17,413) (34,374) 

Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement    
Charges for depreciation of non-current assets 35,998 36,268 
Charges for impairment of non-current assets 866 1,573 
Revaluation (gains)/losses on Property, Plant and Equipment 2,756 5,560 
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,557 1,456 
Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 21,582 15,534 

Amounts of non-current assets written off on disposal or sale as part 
of the gain/loss on disposal to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (excluding Academies) 7,917 1,586 
Amounts written off on disposal or sale as part of the gain/loss on 
disposal of Academies to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement  18,245 0 
Adjusting amounts written out of the Revaluation Reserve (29,505) (15,395) 
Repayment of Long Term Debtors  86 104 
Capital financing applied in the year:    
Use of the Capital Receipts reserve to finance new capital 
expenditure (9,914) (3,184) 
Capital grants and contributions credited to the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement that have been applied to capital 
financing (15,464) (10,716) 
Application of grants to capital financing from the Capital Grants 
Unapplied Account (26,626) (10,104) 
Statutory provision for the financing of capital investment charged 
against the General Fund and HRA balances (2,742) (2,742) 
Voluntary MRP (19,286) (24,736) 
Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund and HRA 
balances (2,379) (2,679) 
Movements in the market value of Investment Properties debited or 
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (51) 278 
Balance at 31 March (34,374) (41,571) 

Page 124



91 
 
 

 
(16d) Financial Instrument Adjustment Account  
 
The Financial Instrument Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the 
different arrangements for accounting for income and expenditure relating to certain financial 
instruments and for bearing losses or benefitting from gains per statutory provisions. The Council 
uses the Account to manage premiums paid and discounts received on the early redemption of 
loans. Premiums are debited and discounts are credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement when they are incurred but reversed out of the General Fund Balance to 
the Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Over time, the net expense is posted back 
to the General Fund balance in accordance with statutory arrangements for spreading the burden 
on Council Taxpayers. In the Council’s case this period is the unexpired term that was outstanding 
on loans when they were redeemed. 
 
Financial Instrument Adjustment Account 2019/20 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 
Balance at 1 April 8,772 8,517 
Proportion of premiums incurred in previous financial years to be 
charged against the General Fund Balance in accordance with 
statutory requirements (329) (329)  

Proportion of discounts received in previous financial years to be 
transferred to the General Fund Balance in accordance with 
statutory requirements 74 38  
Balance at 31 March 8,517 8,227 

 
(16e) Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve  
 
The Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve holds the gains recognised on the disposal of non-
current assets for which cash settlement has yet to take place. Under statutory arrangements 
the Council does not treat these gains as usable for financing new capital expenditure until they 
are backed by cash receipts. When the deferred cash settlement eventually takes place, 
amounts are transferred to the Capital Receipts Reserve.  
 
(16f) Pensions Reserve 
  
The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory 
provisions. The Council accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, 
updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment 
returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements require 
benefits earned to be financed as the Council makes employer’s contributions to pension funds 
or eventually pays any pension for which it is directly responsible. The debit balance on the 
Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and 
current employees and the resources the Council has set aside to meet them. The statutory 
arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits are due 
for payment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 125



92 
 
 

Pension Reserve 2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Balance at 1 April 420,767 324,871 
Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability (127,995) 134,528  
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited 
to the surplus or deficit on the Provision of Services in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 50,804 35,619  
Employer's pension contributions and direct payments to pensioners 
payable in the year (18,705) (19,579)  
Balance at 31 March 324,871 475,439 

 
(16g) Collection Fund Adjustment Account  
 
The Collection Fund Adjustment Account is used to manage the differences arising from the 
recognition of Council Tax and Business Rates income in the CIES as it falls due from Council 
Tax and Business Rate payers compared with the statutory arrangements for paying across 
amounts to the General Fund from the Collection Fund.  
 
Collection Fund Adjustment Account 2019/20 2020/21 

  £000 £000 
Balance as 1 April (3,690) (3,240) 

Amount by which Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates income 
credited to the CIES is different from Council Tax and Non-Domestic 
Rates for the year in accordance with statutory requirements 450 29,692 
Balance at 31 March (3,240) 26,452 

 
(16h) Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) Adjustment Account  
 
On the 6 November 2020, the Secretary of State for the  Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government laid before Parliament a statutory instrument (the instrument) to amend The 
Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) Regulations (the 2003 Regulations). The 
provisions came into effect from 29 November 2020.  

The instrument amends the 2003 Regulations by establishing new accounting practices in relation 
to the treatment of local authorities’ schools budget deficits such that where the Council has a 
deficit on its schools budget relating to its accounts for a financial year beginning on 1 April 2020, 
1 April 2021 or 1 April 2022, it must not charge the amount of that deficit to a revenue account. 
The Council must record any such deficit in a separate account established solely for the purpose 
of recording deficits relating to its school’s budget. The new accounting practice has the effect of 
separating schools budget deficits from the Councils’ general fund for a period of three financial 
years.  
 
This issue can only be fully resolved by closing the deficits. Therefore, the accounting treatment 
introduced by this regulation is limited to the financial reporting periods 2020/21, 2021/22 and 
2022/23 to provide time for Government and the Council to look at budgetary and financial 
management strategies to reduce the deficit. 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 126



93 
 
 

Dedicated Schools Grant Adjustment Account  2019/20 2020/21 
  £000 £000 

Balance as 1 April - - 
DSG Opening balance  - 4,916 
Restated Opening Balance - 4,916 
In year DSG over/(under) spend  - (1,356) 
Balance at 31 March - 3,560 

 
(16i) Accumulated Absences Reserve  
 
The Short Term Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise 
arise on the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not 
taken in the year; e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March. Statutory 
arrangements require that the impact on the General Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers to 
or from the Account.  
 
 
  

Page 127



94 
 
 

17. Property, Plant and Equipment  
 
Movements on Balances 

         
2020/21 Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) 

 

C
ou

nc
il 

D
w

el
lin

gs
 

O
th

er
 L

an
d 

an
d 

B
ui

ld
in

gs
 

Ve
hi

cl
es

, 
Pl

an
t a

nd
 

Eq
ui

pm
en

t 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

A
ss

et
s 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

A
ss

et
s 

Su
rp

lu
s 

A
ss

et
s 

PP
E 

U
nd

er
 

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 

To
ta

l  
   

   
   

   
   

 
PP

E 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or Valuation               
At 1 April 2020 76,755 496,414 38,601 268,208 3,241 5,632 3,969 892,820 
Additions 4,403 22,414 1,958 12,287 - 17 1,751 42,830 
Revaluation 
Increases/(decreases) to 
Revaluation Reserve 

1,293 (7,444) - - (1) 42 - (6,110) 

Revaluation 
Increases/(decreases) to 
Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

135 (6,202) - - (15) (75) - (6,157) 

Derecognition-Disposals (36) (1,242) (759) - - - - (2,037) 
Reclassified to/from Held 
for Sale 

- - - - - (544) - (544) 

Other Reclassifications 57 408 - - - 564 - 1,029 

At 31 March 2021 82,607 504,348 39,800 280,495 3,225 5,636 5,720 921,831 
Accumulated 
Depreciation and 
Impairment               
At 1 April 2020 4,803 6,724 26,379 113,868 3,225 - 3,608 158,606 
Depreciation Charge 5,242 19,820 2,889 8,311 1 4 - 36,267 
Depreciation written out on 
revaluation 

(4,727) (18,867) - - (1) - - (23,595) 

Depreciation written out to 
Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

- (597) - - - - - (597) 

Impairment losses/reversals 
to Revaluation Reserve - 

(4,149) - - - - - (4,149) 

Impairment losses/reversals 
to Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

95 1,020 - 458 - - - 1,573 

Derecognition-Disposals (3) (43) (683) - - - - (729) 
Eliminated on 
reclassification to Held for 
Sale 

- - - - - (4) - (4) 

 Other Reclassifications - - - - - - - - 

At 31 March 2021 5,410 3,908 28,585 122,637 3,225 - 3,608 167,372  
Net Book Value   

 
      

 
    

At 31 March 2021 77,197 500,440 11,215 157,858 - 5,637 2,112 754,458 

At 31 March 2020 71,952 489,690 12,222 154,340 16 5,633 361 734,214 
 
 
 
 

Page 128



95 
 
 

Comparative Movements in 2019/20 
 

2019/20 – Restated  Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) 

  

C
ou

nc
il 

D
w

el
lin

gs
 

O
th

er
 L

an
d 

an
d 

B
ui

ld
in

gs
 

Ve
hi

cl
es

, P
la

nt
 

an
d 

Eq
ui

pm
en

t 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

A
ss

et
s 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

A
ss

et
s 

Su
rp

lu
s 

A
ss

et
s 

PP
E 

U
nd

er
 

C
on

st
ru

ct
io

n 

To
ta

l  
   

   
   

   
   

 
PP

E 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Cost or Valuation                
At 1 April 2019 73,313 503,613 33,310 257,446 3,447 5,571 3,767 880,467 

Additions 2,077 9,660 6,752 10,762 36 111 202 29,600 
Revaluation 
Increases/(decreases) to 
Revaluation Reserve 

1,237 11,156 - - (242) (23) - 12,128 

Revaluation 
Increases/(decreases) to 
Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

49 (4,562) - - - 18 - (4,495) 

Derecognition-Disposals (149) (21,182) (1,461) - - (45) - (22,837) 
Reclassified to/from Held 
for Sale 

- 18 - - - - - 18 

Other Reclassifications 228 (2,289) - - - - - (2,061) 

At 31 March 2020 76,755 496,414 38,601 268,208 3,241 5,632 3,969 892,820 
Accumulated 
Depreciation and 
Impairment                
At 1 April 2019 4,187 10,279 25,417 105,826 3,447 56 3,593 152,805 

Depreciation Charge 4,731 20,833 2,392 8,042 - - - 35,998 

Depreciation written out on 
revaluation 

(4,153) (21,445) - - - - - (25,598) 

Depreciation written out to 
Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

(47) (1,625) - - - - - (1,672) 

Impairment losses/reversals 
to Revaluation Reserve 

- (1,322) - - (242) 2 - (1,562) 

Impairment losses/reversals 
to Surplus/Deficit on the 
Provision of Services 

73 817 - - 20 (59) 15 866 

Derecognition-Disposals (8) (790) (1,430) - - - - (2,228) 
Eliminated on 
reclassification to Held for 
Sale 

- 4 - - - - - 4 

 Other Reclassifications 20 (27) - - - - - (7) 

At 31 March 2020 4,803 6,724 26,379 113,868 3,225 - 3,608 158,606 
Net Book Value   

 
  

 
  

 
    

At 31 March 2020 71,952 489,691 12,222 154,341 16 5,632 361 734,214 

At 31 March 2019 69,126 493,334 7,893 151,620 - 5,515 174 727,662 
 
 
The 2019/20 opening balances have been restated to reflect the removal of asset transfers in 
previous years.   

Page 129



96 
 
 

Depreciation 
 
The following asset lives have been used in the calculation of depreciation:  
 
Council Dwellings      Up to 50 years  
Other Land and Buildings     Up to 50 years  
Vehicles, Plant, Furniture and Equipment  Between 3 and 20 years  
Infrastructure       Up to 40 years  
 
Capital Commitments  
 
At 31 March 2021, the Council had no outstanding contracts for the construction or enhancement 
of Property, Plant and Equipment for which there are material outstanding contractual 
commitments. Similarly, there were no outstanding commitments as at 31 March 2020.  
 
Effects of Changes in Estimates  
 
In 2020/21 the Council made no material changes to its accounting estimates for Property, Plant 
and Equipment.  
 
Revaluations  
 
The Council undertakes a rolling programme of valuation that ensures that all Property, Plant and 
Equipment required to be measured at current value is revalued at least every five years. All 
valuations of land and buildings were carried out in accordance with the methodologies and basis 
for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors. The revaluations are carried out by The Unity Partnership, an external company which 
is 100% owned by the Council, by a team of suitably qualified professionals.    
 
The revaluation programme is carried out throughout the year and the effective date of each 
revaluation is the date that the valuation was carried out.  
 
The significant assumptions applied in estimating current values (fair value for Surplus Assets) 
are that:  
 

•  good title can be shown, and all valid planning permissions and statutory approvals are 
in place;  

•  the property is connected and has a right to use mains services and that sewers, main 
services and roads giving access to it have been adopted;  

•  an inspection of those parts not inspected would not reveal defects that would affect the 
valuation;  

•  the testing of electrical or other services would not reveal defects that would cause the 
valuation to alter; and  

• there are no deleterious or hazardous materials or existing or potential environmental 
factors that would affect the valuation.  

 
In addition, the Council instructed its valuers to undertake a review of all assets held at cost in 
the other land and buildings category to ensure that the carrying value of assets is not materially 
different from their current value.  
 
The review concluded that the current value for assets valued at Depreciated Replacement Cost 
(DRC) experienced a significant change in values due to increases in building costs. As a result 
of this review, desktop valuations were conducted for all assets that are valued on a DRC basis. 
 

Page 130



97 
 
 

Gross Valuations by 
Valuation Date 

 
 

C
ou

nc
il 

D
w

el
lin

gs
 

O
th

er
 L

an
d 

an
d 

B
ui

ld
in

gs
 

Ve
hi

cl
es

, P
la

nt
, 

Fu
rn

itu
re

 a
nd

 
Eq

ui
pm

en
t 

In
fr

as
tr

uc
tu

re
 

A
ss

et
s 

C
om

m
un

ity
 

A
ss

et
s 

Su
rp

lu
s 

A
ss

et
s 

A
ss

et
s 

un
de

r 
C

on
st

ru
ct

io
n 

To
ta

l 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Carried at historical cost                

-  
      -      

39,800  
      

280,495  
      

3,225  
              

-  
      

5,720  
     

329,240  
Valued at current value as 
at:   

                

 
31 March 2021 

   
82,374  

      
69,944  

              
-  

                  
-  

              
-  

      
5,636  

              
-  

     
157,954  

 
31 March 2020 

          
233  

    
194,586  

              
-  

                  
-  

              
-  

              
-  

              
-  

     
194,819  

 
31 March 2019 

               
-  

      
52,516  

              
-  

                  
-  

              
-  

              
-  

              
-  

       
52,516  

 
31 March 2018 

               
-  

    
106,425  

              
-  

                  
-  

              
-  

              
-  

              
-  

     
106,425  

 
31 March 2017 

               
-  

      
80,877  

              
-  

                  
-  

              
-  

              
-  

              
-  

       
80,877  

Total Cost or Valuation      
82,607  

    
504,348  

    
39,800  

      
280,495  

      
3,225  

      
5,636  

      
5,720  

     
921,831  

 
 
18. Heritage Assets  
 
Tangible and Intangible Heritage Assets  
 
The three principal collections of heritage assets held in Gallery Oldham include:  
 

• Natural History - Gallery Oldham holds an extensive natural history collection, made 
up of over 110,000 items of invertebrate, vertebrate and geological specimens.  

 
• Social History - This collection consists of around 22,000 items and is of significant 

value as material evidence of the social history of Oldham and its people. The 
collections relate to the area’s industrial history, archaeology, textiles and ephemera 
representing the everyday life of the Borough.  

 
• Fine and Decorative Art - this collection consists of over 450 oil paintings, 500 

watercolours and around 1,400 prints. Of particular interest are the Charles Lees 
collection of oil paintings, watercolours, drawings and engravings and 55 
watercolours and drawings from the S. C. Turner Collection. The 2020 valuation 
identified three paintings in the collection each with a market value in excess of £1 
million. These are works by JW Waterhouse. Alfred Munnings and William Orpen.  
There are also a small number of assorted photographic prints, drawings and mixed 
media works, sculptures and decorative arts.  
 
Following the flood in 2018 the Council has had the Gallery Oldham collections valued 
by external valuer, James Glennie (Arts & Antiques Appraisals). The valuation was 
on a market value basis assessed at £18.292m undertaken by James Glennie as at 
March 2020.  It is the view of the Council that the recent valuation is still relevant and 
will not materially affect the financial statements. 

 

Page 131



98 
 
 

In addition to the above three collections, the Council also has Civic Regalia which is either stored 
or displayed at the Civic Centre, an art collection and statues as discussed overleaf. 
 

• Civic Regalia - The Council’s Civic Regalia is reported in the Balance Sheet at 
insurance valuation and the insured sum for 2020/21 is £1.442m.  
 

• Statues - An additional statue was commissioned in 2018/19 and recorded at cost 
price of £0.036m. The assets within this category are deemed to have indeterminate 
lives, hence the Council does not consider it as appropriate to charge depreciation. 
Other Council owned statues are held on the balance sheet at their nominal value.  

 
 
During the year, the Council’s Gallery Team used their expert knowledge and understanding to 
determine if a change in insurance valuation was needed. This is based on the valuations given 
to items when agreeing loans to other museums and galleries as required. The 2020 valuation 
was based on wide research into sale prices at auctions around the world. This valuation was 
commissioned to Arts & Antiques Appraisals for the Gallery Oldham Collection and this has been 
included and updated accordingly.  It is the view of the Council that the recent valuation is still 
relevant and there are no events which would materially change the financial statements 
 
The following table summarises balances relating to Heritage Assets and the movements during 
the year: 
 

  
Art 

Collection 
£000 

Civic 
Regalia 

£000 
Statues 

£000 
Total 

Assets 
£000 

Cost or Valuation         
1 April 2019 18,711 1,192 36 19,939 
Revaluation Gains/(Losses) Recognised in 
the Revaluation Reserve (419) 250 - (169) 

Additions - - - - 
31 March 2020 18,292 1,442 36 19,770 
Cost or Valuation         
1 April 2020 18,292 1,442 36 19,770 
Additions     1 1 
Impairment to CIES -  -  (1) (1) 
31 March 2021 18,292 1,442 36 19,770 

 
 
 
19. Investment Properties  
 
The following items of income and expenditure have been accounted for in the Financing and 
Investment Income and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 132



99 
 
 

 

  
2019/20 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 
Rental Income from Investment Properties  (2,232) (2,610) 
Direct Operating Expenses (including repairs and 
maintenance)  562 631 
Net Gain (1,670) (1,978) 
Fair value movements on investment properties  (51) 278 
(Profit)/Loss on disposal (976) (143) 
Total Income and Expenditure on relation to investment 
properties and changes in their fair value (2,697) (1,843) 

 
 
The movement in the value of investment properties is disclosed below: 
 

  
2019/20 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 
Balance at 1 April 17,945 20,077 
Additions: Subsequent Expenditure 20 47 
Disposals (242) (5) 
Net Gain/(Loss) from Fair Value Adjustments 293 (273) 
Transfers (to)/from Other Land and Buildings 2,061 (1,029) 
Balance at 31 March 20,077 18,817 

 
Fair Value Hierarchy  
 
All of the Council’s investment properties have been valued as Level 2 on the fair value hierarchy 
for valuation purposes (see Note 34 Accounting Policy section 1.23 for an explanation of the fair 
value levels).  
 
Valuation Techniques Used to Determine Level 2 Fair Values for Investment Properties  
 
The fair value of investment properties has been measured using a market approach, which takes 
into account quoted prices for similar assets in active markets, existing lease terms and rentals, 
research into market evidence including market rentals and yields, the covenant strength for 
existing tenants, and data and market knowledge gained in managing the Council’s Investment 
Asset portfolio. Market conditions are such that similar properties are actively purchased and sold 
and the level of observable inputs are significant, leading to the properties being categorised as 
level 2 on the fair value hierarchy. There has been no change in the valuation techniques used 
during the year for investment properties.  
 
Highest and Best Use  
 
In estimating the fair value of the Council’s investment properties, the highest and best use is 
their current use. 
 
Valuation Process for Investment Properties  
 
The Council’s investment property has been valued as at 31 March 2021 by officers of the Unity 
Partnership Ltd on behalf of the Council in accordance with the methodologies and basis for 
estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. 
  

Page 133



100 
 
 

20. Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 
 
The total value of capital expenditure incurred during the year is disclosed in the table below 
(including the value of assets acquired under finance leases), together with the resources that 
have been used to finance it. Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future years by 
charges to revenue as assets are used by the Council, the expenditure results in a decrease in 
the Capital Financing requirement (CFR), a measure of the capital expenditure incurred 
historically by the Council that has yet to be financed. 
 

  2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Opening capital financing requirement 493,880 472,377 
Capital Investment     
Property Plant and Equipment 29,600 42,829 
Investment Assets 20 47 
Heritage Assets - 1 

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute 21,582 15,534 
Long Term Investment 1,870 3,740 
Intangible Assets 1,833 1,669 
Long Term Debtors - 9,677 
Assets Held for Sale 4 - 
      
Sources of Finance     
Capital Receipts (9,914) (3,184) 
Government Grants and Other Contributions (42,091) (20,820) 
Sums Set aside from Revenue (24,407) (30,157) 
Closing Capital Financing Requirement 472,377 491,713 
Explanation of movements in year     
Decrease in Need to Borrow Supported by Government 
Financial Assistance (2,742) (2,742) 
(Decrease)/Increase in Need to Borrow Unsupported by 
Government Financial Assistance (19,286) 21,808 
Assets Acquired Under Finance Leases 525 270 
   

Increase/(Decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement (21,503) 19,336 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 134



101 
 
 

 

21. Financial Instruments 
 
A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instruments of another entity. Non exchange transactions, such as those relating 
to taxes and government grants, do not give rise to financial instruments.  

 
The following categories of financial instrument are carried in the Balance Sheet: 

Financial Assets 

 Non-Current Current 

  
Investments Debtors Investments Debtors 

31-Mar-
20 

£000 

31-Mar-
21 

£000 

31-Mar-
20 

£000 

31-Mar-
21 

£000 

31-Mar-20 
 

£000 

31-Mar-21 
 

£000 

31-Mar-
20 

£000 

31-Mar-
21 

£000 
Amortised Cost                 
Principal 3,669 3,760 22,508 35,034 40,500 40,500 13,859 10,988 
Investment 
Accrued Interest  - -  - -  125 21  - -  
Cash & Cash 
Equivalents 
(CCE) - -  - -  59,862 21,596  - -  
CCE Accrued 
Interest  - -  - -  36 1  - -  
Amortised Cost 
Total 3,669 3,760 22,508 35,034 100,523 62,117 13,859 10,988 
Fair Value 
through other 
comprehensive 
income - 
designated 
equity 
instruments 32,170 37,700  - - - - - -  
Fair Value 
through other 
comprehensive 
income - other 14,256 14,155  - - 150  150   - -  
Total Financial 
Assets 50,095 55,615 22,508 35,034 100,673 62,268 13,859 10,988 
Non-Financial 
Assets - -  -  -  -  -  29,366 38,674 
Total  50,095 55,615 22,508 35,034 100,673 62,268 43,225 49,662 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 135



102 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Financial Liabilities 
 

 Non-Current Current 

  

Borrowings Creditors Borrowings Creditors 

31-Mar-20 
 

£000 

31-Mar-21 
 

£000 

31-
Mar-20 

£000 

31-
Mar-21 

£000 

31-Mar-
20 

£000 

31-Mar-
21 

£000 

31-Mar-
20 

£000 

31-Mar-
21 

£000 

Amortised Cost                 
Principal 167,583 167,583 -  -  259 5,260 39,210 45,882 
Loans Accrued 
Interest -   - -  -  1,457 1,438 - -  
Market Loans 
Effective Interest 
Rate Adjustment  781 772 -  -   - -   - -  
PFI, Finance lease 
and transferred 
debt 224,229 213,178 -  - 11,638 11,228  - -  
Total Financial 
Liabilities 392,593 381,533 - - 13,354 17,925 39,210 45,882 
Non-Financial 
Liabilities -  -  -  -  -  -  29,246 30,283 
Total  392,593 381,533 - - 13,354 17,925 68,456 76,164 

 
 
 
Borrowings Long Term Current Long Term Current 

31 
March 

2020 
£000 

31 
March 

2020 
£000 

31 
March 

2021 
£000 

31 
March 

2021 
£000 

PWLB 35,482 137 35,482 133 
LOBO's 86,281 911 86,272 898 
Other market debt 46,601 668 46,601 5,666 
Total Borrowings 168,364 1,716 168,355 6,697 
 

Investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 

 
With the introduction of IFRS 9 the authority has designated the following equity at 31 March 
2021 as fair value through other comprehensive income: 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 136



103 
 
 

 

Description  
 
  

Nominal 
£000 

Fair Value 
£000 

Change in fair 
value during 

2020/21  
£000 

Manchester Airport Shares 10,214 32,000 1,800 
Manchester Airport Car Park (1) Limited 5,610 5,700 90 

 
The Council holds 3.22% shares in Manchester Airport Holdings Ltd, the shareholding is a 
strategic investment and not held for trading and therefore the Council has opted to designate it 
as fair value through Other Comprehensive Income. This means that there is no impact on the 
revenue budget and the decision to designate to fair value through other comprehensive income 
is irrevocable. Any gains or losses on the valuation of the shareholding will therefore be 
transferred to a Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve. 
 
During 2020/21 the Council increased the equity investment in Manchester Airport Car Park (1) 
Limited by a further £3.740m (along with the other nine Greater Manchester District 
Councils).  The Council’s total investment of £5.610m was to assist in funding the capital build of 
a car park in return for the issue of 3 C Shares in Manchester Airport Car Park (1) Limited. The 
value has increased slightly in year as can be seen in the above table. As in 2019/20, the 
shareholding is classed as a financial instrument and held at fair value on the Council’s Balance 
Sheet. Under IFRS 9 the shareholding (investment) is designated as a strategic investment and 
not held for trading therefore the Council has opted to designate it as fair value through Other 
Comprehensive Income. This means that there is no impact on the revenue budget and the 
Council’s decision to designate to fair value through other comprehensive income is irrevocable.  
  

Page 137



104 
 
 

Items of income, expense, gains or losses 
 

The gains and losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in 
relation to financial instruments are made up as follows: 

 

  

2019/20 2020/21 

Su
rp

lu
s 

or
 D

ef
ic

it 
on

 
th

e 
pr

ov
is

io
n 

of
 

Se
rv

ic
es

 

O
th

er
 C

om
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 
In

co
m

e 
&

 E
xp

en
di

tu
re

 

To
ta

l 

Su
rp

lu
s 

or
 D

ef
ic

it 
on

 
th

e 
pr

ov
is

io
n 

of
 

Se
rv

ic
es

 

O
th

er
 C

om
pr

eh
en

si
ve

 
In

co
m

e 
&

 E
xp

en
di

tu
re

 

To
ta

l 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Net gains/losses on:             

* Expected Credit Loss (1,476)  (1,476) (3,614)  (3,614) 

  * Financial Assets 
measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 

 (531) - (531)  (102) - (102) 

  * Investments in equity 
instruments designated at 
fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

  (22,500) (22,500)   1,890 1,890 

          

Total net gains /losses (2,007) (22,500) (23,031) (3,716) 1,890    1,788 
Interest Revenue:             
  * Financial Assets 
measured at amortised cost 3,005   3,005 3,166   3,166 

  * Other Financial Assets 
measured at fair value 
through other 
comprehensive income 

6,801   6,801 848   848 

Total interest revenue 9,806 - 9,806 4,014 - 4,014 
              
Interest Expense (27,755)   (27,755) (27,430)   (27,430) 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 138



105 
 
 

 

         

Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

Some of the Council’s financial assets are measured in the Balance Sheet at fair value on a 
recurring basis and are described in the following table, including the valuation techniques used 
to measure them. 

Recurring Fair Value 
Measurements 

Input level 
in Fair 
Value 

Hierarchy* 

Valuation technique 
used to measure 

Fair Value 

31 March 
2020 

31 March 
2021 

Fair value 
£000 

Fair value 
£000 

Fair Value through Profit 
and Loss 

  
 

    

CCLA Property Fund Level 1 Unadjusted quoted 
prices in active 
markets for identical 
shares 

14,256 14,154 

Fair Value through Other 
Comprehensive Income    

    

Manchester Airport Level 2 Earnings Based 30,200 32,000 
Manchester Airport Car 
Park (1) Limited 
 

Level 2 Earnings Based - 5,700 

Total Fair Value through 
Other Comprehensive 
Income 

  30,200 37,700 

Total Fair Value  of 
Financial Instruments  

    44,456 51,855 

 
* See Note 34 Accounting Policy 1.23 for an explanation of the Fair Value levels.  
 
The Council holds a 3.22% share in Manchester Airports Holdings Limited (MAHL) and 10% of 
the issued C Shares in Manchester Airport Car Park (1) Limited which represents a minority 
holding and does not confer any voting rights. The shares in both these companies are not traded 
in an active market; however, the fair value in MAHL shown above is based on a high degree of 
comparability to listed company data including any movement in share prices. The earnings 
based method has been employed which takes as its basis the profitability of the company, 
assessing its historic earnings and arriving at a view of “maintainable” or “prospective” earnings.  
 
The method involves the application of a price earnings ratio to maintainable or prospective 
earnings or post tax profits and draws on data from comparable quoted companies. The data is 
then adjusted by discount factors to allow for the fact that the shares are not publicly traded and 
that the Council holds a minority interest with no voting rights. These unobservable inputs have 
been developed using the best information about the assumptions that the market participants 
would use when pricing the asset.  
 
The valuation has been made using the audited accounts of MAHL for the annual periods 
between 2018/19 and 2019/20 along with an interim 6 month report for the period ending 30 
September 2020. These shares are subject to an annual valuation. In 2020/21 this has seen an 
increase in value of £1.800m.   

Page 139



106 
 
 

 
The 10% holding in Manchester Airport Car Park (1) Limited is valued on the financial forecast in 
the original business case and adjusted for the impact of COVID-19 and the reduced passenger 
numbers at Manchester Airport as evidenced in the Council valuation of its shareholding in MAHL. 
The data is then adjusted by discount factors to allow for the fact that the shares are not publicly 
traded and that the Council holds a minority interest with no voting rights. 

 
The Council also holds units within the CCLA Property Fund. The fair value has been calculated 
using quoted share prices.  All other long-term investments are carried at historic cost, as these 
are the Council’s investments in subsidiaries and associates. . The total value of the other long-
term investments at 31 March 2021 is £3.760m. 
 
Except for the financial assets carried at fair value (described in the table above), all other 
financial liabilities and financial assets represented by amortised cost and long-term debtors and 
creditors are carried on the Balance Sheet at amortised cost. Their fair value can be assessed 
by calculating the present value of the cash flows that take place over the remaining life of the 
instruments (Level 2), using the following assumptions: 

 
• For loans from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) payable, new loan rates from 

the PWLB have been applied to provide the fair value under PWLB debt redemption 
procedures. An additional note to the tables sets out the alternative fair value 
measurement applying the premature repayment rate, highlighting the impact of the 
alternative valuation; 

• For non-PWLB loans payable, prevailing market rates have been applied to provide 
the fair value under PWLB debt redemption procedures; 

• For loans receivable prevailing benchmark market rates have been used to provide 
the fair value; 

• No early repayment or impairment is recognised; 
• Where an instrument has a maturity of less than 12 months or is a trade or other 

receivable the fair value is taken to be the carrying amount or the billed amount; 
• The fair value of trade and other receivables is taken to be the invoiced or billed 

amount. 
 

  31 March 2020 31 March 2021 
Carrying 
Amount 

Fair  
Value 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair  
Value 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
PWLB 35,620 33,975 35,615 36,358 
Market Loans 134,460 201,675 139,437 221,935 
Short-term creditors 39,210 39,210 45,882 45,882 
Total 209,290 274,860 220,934 304,175 

 
 

The fair value of the liabilities is greater than the carrying amount because the Council’s portfolio 
of loans includes a number of fixed rate loans where the interest rate payable is higher than the 
rates available for similar loans in the market at the Balance Sheet date. This shows a notional 
future loss (based on economic conditions at 31 March 2021) arising from a commitment to pay 
interest to lenders above current market rates.  
 

Page 140



107 
 
 

The fair value of PWLB loans based on the premature repayment rate of £42.716m (as part  of 
the external valuation) measures the economic effect of the terms agreed with the PWLB 
compared with estimates of the terms that would be offered for market transactions undertaken 
at the Balance Sheet date. The difference between the carrying amount and the fair value 
measures the additional interest that the Council will pay over the remaining terms of the loans 
under the agreements with the PWLB, against what would be paid if the loans were at prevailing 
market rates. 

 
The Council has used a transfer value for the fair value of financial liabilities. The Council has 
also calculated an exit price fair value of £42.716m, which is calculated using an early repayment 
discount rate. The Council has no contractual obligation to pay these costs and will not incur any 
additional cost if the loans run to their planned maturity date. 

 

  

31 March 2020 31 March 2021 
Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

Carrying 
Amount 

Fair 
Value 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Fixed Term Investments 40,625 40,625 40,521 40,528 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 59,898 59,898 21,597 21,597 
Long-term debtors 22,508 59,920 35,034 95,384 
Short-term debtors 13,859 13,859 10,988 10,988 
 Total  136,891 174,302 108,142 168,497 

 
The fair value of the assets is greater than the carrying amount because the Council’s portfolio of 
loans includes a number of fixed rate loans where the interest rate payable is higher than the 
rates available for similar loans in the market at the Balance Sheet date. This shows a notional 
future gain (based on economic conditions at 31 March 2021) arising from a commitment to pay 
interest to lenders below current market rates. 
 
Short-term debtors and creditors are carried at cost as this is a fair approximation of their value. 
  

Page 141



108 
 
 

Fair value hierarchy for financial assets and financial liabilities that are not measured at 
fair value 

31 March 2021 
Recurring fair value measurements using: 

Other significant observable 
inputs (Level 2)  

£000 
Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost:  

PWLB 35,482 
Non-PWLB 132,873 
Short term debt 5,260 
PFI and finance lease liability 224,405 

Total 398,020  
Financial assets held at amortised cost: 62,117 
Other financial assets - Long Term 3,759 
Total 65,876 

 

31 March 2020 
Recurring fair value measurements using: 

Other significant observable 
inputs (Level 2)  

£000 
Financial liabilities  
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost:  
PWLB 35,482 
Non-PWLB 132,882 
Short term debt 259 
PFI and finance lease liability 235,867 
Total 404,490 
Financial assets held at amortised cost: 100,523 
Other financial assets - Long Term 3,669 
Total 104,192 

 
 

The fair value for financial liabilities and financial assets that are not measured at fair value 
included in Levels 2 and 3 in the table above have been arrived at using a discounted cash flow 
analysis with the most significant inputs being the discount rate detailed. 
 
The fair value for financial liabilities and financial assets that are not measured at fair value can 
be assessed by calculating the present value of the cash flows that will take place over the 
remaining term of the instruments, using the assumptions detailed above.  Primarily for financial 
liabilities the fair value is arrived at by applying the discounted cash flow calculations based on 
the PWLB premium/discount calculations. 

 
Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments  

 
The Council’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks. The key risks are: 

 
• Credit risk - the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due to the 

Council; 

Page 142



109 
 
 

• Liquidity risk - the possibility that the Council might not have funds available to meet 
its commitments to make payments; 

• Re-financing risk - the possibility that the Council might be required to renew a 
financial instrument on maturity at disadvantageous interest rates or terms 

• Market risk - the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Council as a result of 
changes in such measures as interest rates or stock market movements. 

 
The Council’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the resources available to fund 
services and is based on the framework set out in the Local Government Act 2003 and associated 
regulations. 
 
As directed by the Act, the Council has formally adopted the CIPFA Treasury Management Code 
of Practice and complies with the CIPFA Prudential Code. As part of the adoption of the Treasury 
Management Code, the Council approves a Treasury Management Strategy before the 
commencement of the year to which it relates, this strategy sets out the parameters for the 
management of risks associated with financial instruments. 
 
Full details of the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2020/21 can be found on the 
Council’s website. 
 
The strategy also includes an Annual Investment Strategy for the forthcoming year, setting out 
it’s criteria for both investing and selecting investment counterparties in compliance with 
Government guidance.  
 
Risk management is carried out by a central treasury team, under policies approved by the 
Council in the annual Treasury Management Strategy.  The Council provides written principles 
for overall risk management, as well as written policies (covering specific areas, such as interest 
rate risk, credit risk, and the investment of surplus cash).   

 
Credit Risk 

 
Credit risk arises from deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures 
to the Council’s customers. This risk is minimised through the Annual Investment Strategy, which 
requires that deposits are not made with financial institutions unless they meet identified minimum 
credit criteria, in accordance with the Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poors Credit Ratings 
Services. The Annual Investment Strategy also considers maximum amounts and time limits in 
respect of each financial institution. Deposits are not made unless they meet the minimum 
requirements of the investment criteria outlined above and detailed below.   
 
Oldham Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Link Asset Services. This service 
uses a sophisticated modelling approach with credit ratings from all three rating agencies forming 
the core element. However, it does not rely solely on the current credit ratings of counterparties 
but also uses the following as overlays:  

 
• Credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies; 
• Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit 

ratings; and 
• Sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries 
 

Institutions are split into colour bandings to determine the maximum level and duration of the 
investment. 

 
The full Investment Strategy for 2020/21 was approved by Council on 26 February 2020 and is 
available on the Council’s website. 

Page 143



110 
 
 

 
Customers for goods and services are assessed, taking into account their financial position, past 
experience and other factors, with individual credit limits being set in accordance with internal 
ratings in accordance with parameters set by the Council. 
 
The Council had a total of £68.540m deposited with a number of financial institutions at 31 March 
2021. The Council’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to this amount cannot be 
assessed generally as the risk of any institution failing to make interest payments or repay the 
principal sum will be specific to each institution. Recent experience has shown that it is rare for 
such entities to be unable to meet their commitments. A risk of irrecoverability applies to all of the 
Council’s deposits, but there was no evidence at the 31 March 2021 that this was likely to 
crystallise. 
 
The Council holds a number of long term debtors totalling £35.034m as at 31 March 2021. When 
undertaking any long term loans the Council follows a fully due diligence process. Having 
assessed the Council’s exposure to credit risk on the long term debtors as at 31 March 2021, 
there was no evidence that the entities were unable to meet their commitments on their existing 
loan structures. 
 

 
Amounts Arising from Expected Credit Losses 
 
We have assessed the Councils short and long term investments and concluded that the 
expected credit loss is not material therefore no allowances have been made. 
 
A summary of the credit quality of the Council’s investments at 31 March 2021 is shown below, 
along with the potential maximum exposure to credit risk, based on experience of default and 
uncollectability. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 144



111 
 
 

  

Li
nk

 A
ss

et
 S

er
vi

ce
s 

- 
C

ol
ou

r b
an

di
ng

 

Fi
tc

h 
- R

at
in

g 

M
oo

dy
's

 - 
R

at
in

g 

St
an

da
rd

 a
nd

 P
oo

rs
 - 

R
at

in
g 

Amount at 
31 March 

2021 

Historical 
Experience 

of Default 

Estimated 
maximum 

exposure to 
default and 

uncollectability 
at 31 March 

2021 

        £000 % £000 
Deposits with Banks and 
Financial Institutions 

      

      

 
 
Wokingham Borough Council 
Blackpool Council 
Goldman Sachs 
Aberdeen City Council 
Warrington Borough Council 
Blaenau Gwent County Council 
Canterbury City Council 
Santander UK Plc 35 Notice  
Bank of Scotland 95 Day Notice 
Santander UK Plc 180 Notice  
Santander UK Plc 180 Notice  
Invesco MMF* 
Federated MMF* 
Aberdeen Standard MMF* 

Yellow 
Yellow 
Red 

Yellow 
Yellow 
Yellow 
Yellow 
Red 
Red 
Red 
Red 

Purple 
Purple 
Purple 

AA- 
AA- 
F1 
AA- 
AA- 
AA- 
AA- 
F1 
F1 
F1 
F1 

AAA 
AAA 
AAA 

Aa2 
Aa2 
P-1 
Aa2 
Aa2 
Aa2 
Aa2 
P-1 
P-1 
P-1 
P-1 
Aaa 
Aaa 
Aaa 

A+ 
A+ 
A-1 
A+ 
A+ 
A+ 
A+ 
A-1 
A-1 
A-1 
A-1 
AAA 
AAA 
AAA 

 
 

5,000 
3,000 
5,000 
5,000 
5,000 
5,000 
5,000 
2,500 
5,000 
2,500 
5,000 
2,000 
8,540 

10,000 

 
 

0.002% 
0.005% 
0.015% 
0.008% 
0.008% 
0.009% 
0.010% 
0.005% 
0.012% 
0.023% 
0.023% 
0.000% 
0.000% 
0.000% 

 
 

- 
- 
1 
- 
- 
- 
- 
0 
1 
1 
1 
- 
- 
- 

        
        

          68,540   4 
*MMF – Money Market Fund 

No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting period and the Council does not expect any 
losses from non-performance by any of its counterparties in relation to deposits and bonds.  
 
The Council does not generally allow extended credit for customers, but some of the current 
balance is past its due date for payment. The past due but not impaired amount can be analysed 
by age as follows: 

 

  
31 March 

2020 
31 March 

2021 
£000 £000 

Less than 3 months 3,723 3,269 
3 - 6 months 290 503 
6 - 12 months 2,967 3,071 
More than 12 months 4,924 6,457 
Total   11,904 13,299 

 
During the reporting period, the Council held no collateral as security. 
 
 
 
 

Page 145



112 
 
 

Liquidity Risk 
 
The Council manages its liquidity position through the risk management procedures set out above 
(the setting and approval of prudential indicators and the approval of the treasury and investment 
strategy reports), as well as through a comprehensive cash flow management system, as 
required by the CIPFA Treasury Management Code of Practice. This seeks to ensure that cash 
is available when needed. 
 
The Council has ready access to borrowing from the money markets to cover any day to day cash 
flow need, and the PWLB and money markets for access to longer term funds. The Council is 
also required to provide a balanced budget through the Local Government Finance Act 1992, 
which ensures sufficient monies are raised to cover annual expenditure. There is no significant 
risk that the Council will be unable to raise finance to meet its commitments under financial 
instruments. 
 
The maturity analysis of financial assets, excluding sums due from customers is as follows: 

 

  
31 March 2020 31 March 

2021 
£000 £000 

Less than 1 Year 103,122 68,540 
Between 1 and 2 years 628 628 
Between 2 and 3 years - - 
More than 3 years 71,975 90,022 
Total   175,725 159,189 

 
Refinancing and Maturity Risk 
 
The Council maintains a significant debt and investment portfolio. Whilst the cash flow procedures 
above are considered against the refinancing risk procedures, longer-term risk to the Council 
relates to managing the exposure to replacing financial instruments as they mature. This risk 
relates to both the maturing of longer-term financial liabilities and longer term financial assets. 

 
The approved treasury indicator limits for the maturity structure of debt and the limits placed on 
investments placed for greater than one year in duration are the key parameters used to address 
this risk. The Council approved treasury and investment strategies address the main risks and 
the central treasury team address the operational risks within approved parameters. This 
includes: 

 
• monitoring the maturity profile of financial liabilities and amending the profile through 

either new borrowing or the rescheduling of the existing debt; and 
• monitoring the maturity profile of investments to ensure sufficient liquidity is available 

for the Council’s day to day cash flow needs, and the spread of longer-term 
investments provide stability of maturities and returns in relation to the longer term 
cash flow needs. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 146



113 
 
 

The maturity profile of financial liabilities is as follows: 

 

  
31 March 

2020 
31 March 

2021 

£000 £000 
Less than 1 year 40,925 52,820 
1 - 2 years 241 6,600 
2 - 5 years 6,600 - 
5 - 10 years 7,500 7,500 
More than 10 years 153,242 153,242 
Total   208,508 220,162 

 
The above analysis is based on the term of the borrowing and expected maturity date, within the 
more than ten years category includes principal of £54m of Lender Option Borrower Option loans 
(LOBO’s) that could potentially be called by the lender during the next financial year.  
 
The average maturity of LOBOs held within the more than ten years category is 46 years, these 
loans all have option dates within the next five years, however it is not anticipated that any of 
these will be called and require repayment based on the current low interest rate environment. 
 
All trade and other payables are due to be paid in less than one year. 
 
Market Risk 
 
The Council is exposed to market risk in terms of its exposure that the value of an instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in: 

 
• Interest rate risk; 
• Price risk; and 
• Foreign exchange rate risk. 
 

Interest Rate Risk 
 
The Council is exposed to risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate movements on its 
borrowings and investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council, 
depending on how variable and fixed interest rates move across differing financial instrument 
periods. For instance, a rise in interest rates would have the following effects: 

 
• borrowings at variable rates – the interest expense charged to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement will rise; 
• borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the liabilities will fall (no impact on revenue 

balances); 
• investments at variable rates – the interest income credited to the Comprehensive 

Income and Expenditure Statement will rise; and 
• investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall (no impact on revenue 

balances). 
 

Page 147



114 
 
 

Borrowings are not carried at fair value on the Balance Sheet, so nominal gains and losses on 
fixed rate borrowings would not impact on the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services or 
Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. However, changes in interest payable and 
receivable on variable rate borrowings and investments will be posted to the Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services and affect the General Fund Balance. Movements in the fair value of 
fixed rate investments that have a quoted market price will be reflected in Other Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure. 
 
The Council has a number of strategies for managing interest rate risk.  The Annual Treasury 
Management Strategy draws together Council’s prudential and treasury indicators and its 
expected treasury operations, including an expectation of interest rate movements.  From this 
Strategy a treasury indicator is set which provides maximum limits for fixed and variable interest 
rate exposure. 
 
The central treasury team monitor market and forecast interest rates within the year to adjust 
exposures appropriately. For instance, during periods of falling interest rates, and where 
economic circumstances make it favourable, fixed rate investments may be taken for longer 
periods to secure better long-term returns, similarly the drawing of longer term fixed rates 
borrowing would be postponed. 
 
According to this assessment strategy, at 31 March 2021, if all interest rates had been 1% higher 
(with all other variables held constant) the financial effect would have been: 
 

  
2020/21 

£000 
Decrease in fair value of fixed rate investment assets 685 
Impact on Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 685 
Decrease in fair value of fixed rate borrowings liabilities (no impact on the Surplus 
or Deficit on the Provision of Services or Other Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure) 

2,202 

 
The approximate impact of a 1% fall in interest rates would be as above but with the movements 
being reversed. These assumptions are based on the same methodology as used in the Note – 
Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities carried at Amortised Cost. 
 
Price Risk 
 
The Council does not generally invest in equity shares or marketable bonds but does have 
shareholdings to the value of £55.615m in a number of joint ventures and in local companies. 
Whilst these holdings are generally illiquid, the Council is consequently exposed to losses arising 
from movements in the prices of the shares. 
 
As the shareholdings have arisen in the acquisition of specific interests, the Council is not in a 
position to limit its exposure to price movements by diversifying its portfolio. Instead it only 
acquires shareholdings in return for ‘open book’ arrangements with the company concerned so 
that the Council can monitor factors that might cause a fall in the value of specific shareholdings. 

 

Page 148



115 
 
 

Of the shares mentioned above £41.460m have been elected as Fair Value through Other 
Comprehensive Income, meaning that all movements in price will impact on gains and losses 
recognised in the Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve. A general shift of 5% in the general 
price of shares (positive or negative) may occur, which would have resulted in a £2.073m gain or 
loss being recognised in the Financial Instrument Revaluation Reserve for 2020/21. The Council 
holds investment units within the CCLA Property Fund that have been classified as Fair Value 
through Profit and Loss, however the Council has chosen to use the 5 year override as allowed 
by CIPFA to allocate to Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income, therefore any gains or 
losses on prices will also be taken to the Financial Instrument Revelation Reserve. A loss of 
£0.102m was also recognised in 2020/21 in relation to the Council’s holding in the CCLA property 
fund. 
 
In 2020/21 the Council’s holding in Manchester Airport, was re-valued resulting in a gain of £1.8m 
along with a gain of £0.090m in relation to the new shareholding in Manchester Airport Car Park 
(1) Limited both of which were recognised in the Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve.  
 
Foreign Exchange Risk 
 
The Council has no financial assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, and thus had 
no exposure to loss arising from movements in exchange rates. 
 
22. Debtors  
 
The Council’s short-term debtors (net of the expected credit loss ) are as follows: 
 

  
31 March 

2020 
31 March 

2021 
£000 £000 

Central Government Bodies 6,229 11,140 
Other Local Authorities 1,971 2,202 
NHS Bodies 2,588 3,345 
Capital Debtors 2,704 3,148 
Other entities and individuals 25,471 23,640 
Payments in Advance 4,262 6,187 
Total 43,225 49,662 

 
 
The Council’s long-term debtors (net of the provisions for bad and doubtful debts) are as 
follows: 
 

  
31 March 

2020 
£000 

31 March 
2021 
£000 

Mortgages 6 6  
Loans to Trusts, Community Interest Groups & Third Sector 
Organisations 602 498  

Other Capital Loans & Advances 21,900 34,530  
Total 22,508 35,034 

 
 
 
 

Page 149



116 
 
 

23. Cash and Cash Equivalents  
 

  
31 March 

2020 
£000 

31 March 
2021 
£000 

Cash held by the Authority 116 119  
Bank Current Accounts 65,745 32,836  
Bank Overdraft (5,963) (11,358) 

  
Total 59,898 21,597 

 
24. Creditors 
 
The Council’s creditors are as follows: 
 

  
31 March 

2020 
£000 

31 March 
2021 
£000 

Central Government Bodies (4,600) (6,096) 
Other Local Authorities (1,287) (998) 
NHS Bodies (889) (2,206) 
Capital Creditors (3,454) (2,410) 
Other entities and individuals (37,650) (44,381) 
Accumulated Absences (4,933) (5,695) 
Receipts in Advance (15,643) (14,378) 

Total (68,456) (76,164) 
 
 
25. Provisions  
 
  Short Term 
  

Insurance 
Provision 

 
£000 

Other 
Provisions 

 
£000 

Total 
 
 

£000 

Balance at 31 March 2020 (3,191) (9,376) (12,566) 
Provisions released in 2020/21 1,008  1,330  2,338  
Amounts used in 2020/21 - 467  467  
Balance at 31 March 2021 (2,183) (7,579) (9,761) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 150



117 
 
 

  Long Term 
  Insurance 

Provision 
 

£000 

Pay and 
Reward 

Provision 
£000 

Other 
Provisions 

 
£000 

Total 
 
 

£000 
Balance at 1 April 2020 (8,350) (2,001) (5,449) (15,800) 
Provisions released in 2020/21 -  - 134 133 
Balance at 31 March 2021 (8,350) (2,001) (5,315) (15,667) 

 
 
The Insurance Provision covers all historic legal liability claims including personal accident risks 
to employees whilst carrying out their duties, public and all other liability claims, the losses arising 
from the inability of contractors to fulfil obligations, the fire fund (historic property claims under 
£0.100m) and all other past claims under the policy excess, which is £0.150m and not yet settled. 
  
The Other Provisions represent amounts set aside to meet potential future liabilities; this includes 
a provision for Business Rates Appeals and changes in legislation. 
 
26. Contingent Assets 
 
A contingent asset is an asset that may be received but only if a future event occurs that is not 
under the control of the Council. The Council has identified the following contingent assets as at 
31 March 2021. 
 

 
1) Housing Stock Transfer 

 
The Housing Stock Transfer has resulted in a number of contingent assets to the Council. 

 
a) Right to Buy Sharing Agreement  
 
As with other agreed housing stock transfers, the Council has entered into an agreement 
with First Choice Homes Oldham (FCHO) and the Council’s Housing PFI partners relating 
to the future sales under the Prescribed Right to Buy (PRTB) regulations. This relates to 
any future sales of the transferred stock to existing tenants. 
 
The Council will receive capital receipts at the end of each financial year for any properties 
sold within the year. The value of the receipt is calculated using a formula that takes the net 
income forgone by FCHO/Housing PFI from the total proceeds from the sale of dwellings 
for that year.  

 
b) VAT Shelter Arrangements 
 
In normal circumstances, FCHO is not able to reclaim VAT on improvement works to 
dwellings. The VAT Shelter is an arrangement, used in every housing stock transfer since 
2002, with HMRC’s agreement, whereby FCHO can reclaim VAT on future improvement 
works to the transferred housing stock. Of the £229.792m of improvement works to be 
undertaken, an estimated £45.958m of VAT would be recoverable by FCHO over the 15 
years post transfer. 
 

Page 151



118 
 
 

The Council agreed a 50/50 share of the VAT Shelter with FCHO, after FCHO has retained 
its first tranche of recoverable VAT; this is a sum of £14.900m. This first tranche of VAT 
was utilised by FCHO during the first 4 years post transfer. FCHO also retained a second 
tranche of VAT shelter savings, totalling £6.000m. This second tranche was used solely for 
asbestos works that exceeded the amount estimated within the Stock Condition Survey of 
£7.200m, (net of inflation, fees and VAT). This arrangement was agreed to mitigate the 
Council’s overall risk of a contingent liability through the asbestos warranty. If the total 
amount of the second tranche is not needed, the remaining balance will be shared under 
the 50/50 sharing agreement. 
 
The estimated value of VAT shelter savings for the Council is circa £15.000m. The amount 
received in any given year by the Council will be dependent on the value of works 
undertaken by FCHO on which VAT can be reclaimed. The Council received VAT savings 
totalling £4.243m up to 31 March 2021 and will continue to receive payments up to the 
values given above. The savings that are received by the Council will be treated as a capital 
receipt to support the Council’s capital programme. 

 
  

Page 152



119 
 
 

27. Contingent Liabilities 
 
A contingent liability is a potential liability which depends on the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
one or more uncertain future events. The Council has identified the following contingent liabilities 
as at 31 March 2021.  
 
1) Stock Transfer Warranties  
 
The Council agreed to a number of warranties under the stock transfer agreements with First 
Choice Homes (FCHO). This arrangement gives rise to a possible obligation of the Council, which 
will be confirmed upon the occurrence or non-occurrence of the invocation of the warranties. The 
only remaining significant warranty is the Asbestos indemnity.  
 
2) Saddleworth School Site Indemnity  
 
As part of the formal agreements for the development of a new Saddleworth School, the Council 
may be required to enter into an indemnity agreement with the Secretary of State (SoS) for 
Education. The indemnity relates to the Council compensating the SoS for any increases in the 
costs of the construction resulting from access issues for the contractor as a result of Highways 
works within the Council’s control during the construction of the new school. It is currently 
uncertain whether any such issues will arise as part of the project or the extent of any additional 
costs should issues arise. As at the 31 March 2021 the Council still has a number of agreements 
to enter into including the purchase of the site and the agreement with the SoS. As a result, there 
is a possible obligation on the Council which will be confirmed on invocation of the indemnity.   
 
28. PFI and Similar Contracts  
 
Oldham Library and Lifelong Learning Centre 
 
The financial year 2020/21 was the sixteenth of a 25-year PFI contract for the construction, 
maintenance and operation of Information Technology (IT) and Financial Management (FM) 
services of the Library and Lifelong Learning Centre in the town centre. The Council has rights 
under the contract to specify the opening times of the facility. The contract specifies minimum 
standards for the services to be provided by the contractor, with deductions from the fee payable 
being made if the facilities are unavailable or performance is below the minimum standards. The 
contractor was obliged to construct the centres and to maintain them to a minimum acceptable 
condition, and to procure and maintain the plant and equipment needed to operate the facility. 
The building, and any plant and equipment installed, will transfer to the Council at the end of the 
contract for nil consideration. The Council only has rights to terminate the contract if it 
compensates the contractor in full for costs incurred including the repayment of any of the 
contactor's outstanding debt attributable to the contract. There have been no changes to the 
arrangement during the financial year. 
 
Housing PFI Schemes 

 
Sheltered Housing 
 
The financial year 2020/21 was the fifteenth of a 30-year PFI contract for the demolition and new 
build (or refurbishment of), and the provision of management and maintenance services to, 
sheltered and warden supported properties in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA).  
 
The dwellings will transfer to the Council at the end of the contract for nil consideration. 

 
 
 
 

Page 153



120 
 
 

 
Gateways to Oldham Housing 
 
The financial year 2020/21 was the tenth of a 25 year PFI contract for the management of 626 
HRA dwellings with Inspiral Oldham Limited (Inspiral). Inspiral is responsible for demolition, new 
build and refurbishment of the dwellings together with their management and maintenance. The 
contract also includes minor works to the external fabric of 153 leaseholder/owner occupied 
properties, for which the majority of associated costs will be met by the leaseholders/owner 
occupiers. The management of the dwellings within the HRA will transfer back to the Council at 
the end of the contract for nil consideration unless a separate contract is entered into either with 
Inspiral or an alternative contractor. 
 
The Council has rights under both PFI housing contracts to specify arrangements around the 
demolition, new build and refurbishment of the dwelling together with the tenancy management 
services to be supplied. The contracts specify minimum standards for the services to be provided 
by the contractor, with deductions from the fee payable being made if facilities are unavailable or 
performance is below the minimum standards. The contractors are obliged to demolish and 
rebuild/refurbish the dwellings and to maintain them to a minimum acceptable condition over the 
life of the contract. 

 
The Council has rights to terminate the contracts in the event of non-performance but will be 
required to compensate the contractors, potentially including the repayment of any of the 
contactors’ outstanding debt attributable to the contracts. There have been no changes to the 
arrangements during the financial year. 
 
Chadderton Wellbeing Centre 
 
The financial year 2020/21 was the twelfth of a 30-year LIFT Lease Plus Agreement to build and 
maintain the Chadderton Wellbeing Centre. The Centre incorporates a library, sports centre, café 
and community rooms. The Council has rights under the contract to specify the opening times of 
the facility. The contract specifies minimum standards for the services to be provided by the 
contractor, with deductions from the fee payable being made if the facilities are unavailable or 
performance is below the minimum standards. The contractor was obliged to construct the centre 
and to maintain it to a minimum acceptable condition and to procure and maintain the plant and 
equipment needed to operate the facility. The Council has the option to purchase the Wellbeing 
Centre for less than the asset's market value. The Council has judged itself reasonably certain to 
exercise the option, and the cost of the eventual purchase has been factored into the Minimum 
Lease Payments. The Council only has rights to terminate the contract if it compensates the 
contractor in full for costs incurred including the repayment of any of the contractor's outstanding 
debt attributable to the contract. There have been no changes to the arrangement during the 
financial year.  

  
Street Lighting PFI Scheme 

 
The financial year 2020/21 was the tenth of a 25-year PFI joint contract, with Rochdale Council, 
for the replacement of approximately 23,000 streetlights in Oldham in the first five years and the 
ongoing management and maintenance of the streetlights over the life of the contract. The 
Council has rights under the contract to detail the specification of the streetlights. The contract 
specifies minimum standards for the services to be supplied by the contractor, with deductions 
from the fee payable being made if performance is below the minimum standards. The contractor 
is obliged to replace and maintain the streetlights over the life of the contract. The streetlights will 
transfer to the Council at the end of the contract for nil consideration. The Council only has rights 
to terminate the contract if it compensates the contractor in full for costs incurred, including the 
repayment of any of the contractor's outstanding debt attributable to the contract. 

 
 

Page 154



121 
 
 

Education Services PFI Schemes 
 

Schools (Radclyffe and Failsworth) 
 

The financial year 2020/21 was the fourteenth of a 25-year PFI contract for the construction and 
maintenance of two secondary schools, Radclyffe and Failsworth, along with the provision of 
Facilities Management and IT services over the life of the contract. The schools and any plant 
and equipment installed in them will transfer to the Council at the end of the contract for nil 
consideration. 

 
Building Schools for the Future 

 
The financial year 2020/21 was the ninth of a 25 year PFI contract for the construction and 
maintenance of a secondary school, The Blessed John Henry Newman RC Secondary School; 
along with provision of Facilities Management services, over the life of the contract. 

 
The Council has rights, under both education services PFI contracts, to specify the opening times 
of the schools. The contracts specify minimum standards for the services to be provided by the 
contractors, with deductions from the fee payable being made if the facilities are unavailable or 
performance is below the minimum standards. The contractors were obliged to construct the 
schools and to maintain them to a minimum acceptable condition and to procure and maintain 
the plant and equipment needed to operate the facility. The Council only has rights to terminate 
the contract, if it compensates the contractors in full for costs incurred including the repayment of 
any of the contractors’ outstanding debt attributable to the contract. There have been no changes 
to the arrangements during the financial year. 
 
Analysis of Payments due to be made under PFI and similar Contracts 
 
The following table shows payments due to be made under PFI and similar Contracts. All the 
payments under PFI and similar Contracts are linked in full or in part to Retail Price Index inflation 
and can be reduced if the contractor fails to meet availability and performance standards in any 
given financial year but are otherwise fixed. Lifecycle replacement costs have been included in 
the Service Charges element detailed in the table below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 155



122 
 
 

 
  Library and 

Lifelong 
Learning 
Centre 
£000 

Sheltered 
Housing 

£000 

Gateways to 
Oldham 
Housing  

£000 

Chadderton 
Wellbeing 

Centre 
£000 

Street 
Lighting 

£000 
Schools 

£000 

Building 
Schools for 
the Future 

£000 
Total 
£000 

2021/22                  

Repayment of Liability  604  2,947  
 

           1,859 
 

129 
 

       866 
 

2,307 
 

1,035 9,746 
Interest  920  6,663  3,696  859  1,693  2,795  2,641 19,267 
Service Charges  1,340  5,994 3,346  289 ,1,912  3,466  1,664 18,011 
Total 2,864 15,604 8,901 1,277 4,470 8,568 5,340 47,024 
2022/23 to 2025/26                 
Repayment of Liability  3,214  14,732 7,750 247  2,311  10,223  4,718 43,195 
Interest  3,024 25,020 13,309 3,409  5,363  9,364  9,624 69,113 
Service Charges  5,532 24,648  15,556 1,775  10,773  15,608  7,552 81,444 
Total 11,770 64,400 36,615 5,431 18,447 35,195 21,894 193,752 
2026/27 to 2030/31                 
Repayment of Liability  6,115 16,830 14,327  535  3,658  15,654  8,425 65,544 
Interest  2,246 26,972 14,176  4,796  5,245  6,837  9,230 69,502 
Service Charges  6,582 41,356 19,737  2,258  15,483  23,769  11,014 120,199 
Total 14,943 85,158 48,240 7,589 24,386 42,260 28,669 255,245 
2031/32 to 2035/36                 
Repayment of Liability   - 32,386  23,364  1,231  10,221  6,522 10,942 84,666 
Interest   - 20,406  10,685  5,702  4,902  712  4,778 47,185 
Service Charges   - 37,852  17,272  1,653  10,826  10,409  14,572 92,584 
Total - 90,644 51,321 8,586 25,949 17,643 30,292 224,435 
2036/37 to 2040/41                 
Repayment of Liability  -  4,741 4,016  5,835  649  -  4,138 19,379 
Interest  -  1,581 1,049 4,141  165  -  469 7,405 
Service Charges  -  3,087 2,048  1,749  570  -  4,314 11,768 
Total - 9,409 7,113 11,725 1,384 - 8,921 38,552 
Repayments total 9,933 71,636 51,316 7,977 17,705 34,706 29,258 222,531 
Interest total 6,190 80,642 42,915 18,907 17,368 19,708 26,742 212,472 
Service Charges total 13,454 112,937 57,959 7,724 39,564 53,252 39,116 324,006 
Grand total 29,577 265,215 152,190 34,608 74,636 107,666 95,116 759,009 

P
age 156



123 
 
 

Analysis of Liabilities as a result of PFI and Similar Contracts  
 
The payments to the contractor are described as Unitary payments. They have been calculated to compensate the contractor for the fair value of the 
services the contractor provides, the capital expenditure incurred and the interest payable whilst the capital expenditure remains to be reimbursed. 
The liability to pay the contractors for capital expenditure incurred is as follows: 
 
Scheme 

Li
ab

ili
ty

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

01
9 

R
ep

ay
m

en
ts

 

Li
ab

ili
ty

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

02
0 

R
ep

ay
m

en
ts

 

Li
ab

ili
ty

 3
1 

M
ar

ch
 2

02
1 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Library and Lifelong Learning Centre 10,912  (481) 10,431  (498) 9,933 
Sheltered Housing 77,331  (2,714)    74,617  (2,981)    71,636 
Gateways to Oldham  56,044  (2,409) 53,635  (2,320) 51,316 
Chadderton Wellbeing Centre 8,248  (141) 8,107  (130) 7,977 
Street Lighting 19,290  (792) 18,498  (793) 17,705 
Schools 39,398  (2,240) 37,158  (2,453) 34,706 
Building Schools for the Future 31,273  (974) 30,299  (1,041) 29,258 
Total 242,496 (9,751) 232,745 (10,216) 222,531 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 157



124 
 
 

Assets as a result of PFI and Similar Contracts 

  

Library and 
Lifelong 
Learning 
Centre 
£000 

Sheltered 
Housing 

£000 

Gateways 
to 

Oldham 
Housing 

£000 

Chadderton 
Wellbeing 

Centre 
£000 

Street 
Lighting   

£000 
Schools 

£000 

Building 
Schools 
for the 
Future 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Cost or Valuation                 
As at 1 April 2020 15,670 41,432 21,620 11,010 24,457 74,520 34,938 223,647 
Additions  -  6  -  -  -  -  - 6 
Revaluations recognised in 
Revaluation Reserve 

  
(260) 

 
 747 

  
624 

  
410 

 
 - 

  
583 

 
833 

 
2,937 

Revaluations recognised in 
(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 

  
 

- 

 
 

 2 

 
 

- 

 
 

 - 

 
 

 - 

 
 

 - 

 
 

 - 

 
 

2 
Derecognition-disposals  -  - (34)  -  -  -  -  (34) 
As at 31 March 2020 15,410 42,181 22,216 11,420 24,457 75,103 35,771    226,558 
Accumulated Depreciation & 
Impairment 

                

As at 1 April 2020 - 3,178 1,552 - 3,585 - - 8,315 
Depreciation Charge  693  3,641  1,595  451  616  3,806  1,674 12,476 
Depreciation Written out to 
Revaluation Reserve 

 (693)  (3,178)  (1,549)  (451)  -  (3,806)  (1,674) (11,351) 

Depreciation written out to the 
(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - - 

Impairment Losses/(reversals) 
recognised in the Revaluation 
Reserve 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - - 

Impairment Losses/(reversals) 
recognised in the (Surplus)/Deficit on 
the Provision of Services 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - - 

Derecognition -disposals  -  -  (3)  -  -  -  - (3) 
As at 31 March 2021 - 3,641 1,595 - 4,201 - - 9,437 
                  
Net Book Value at 31 March 2020 15,670 38,254 20,068 11,010 20,872 74,520 34,938 215,332 
Net Book Value at 31 March 2021 15,410 38,540 20,621 11,420 20,256 75,103 35,771 217,121 

P
age 158



125 
 
 

  

Library and 
Lifelong 
Learning 
Centre 
£000 

Sheltered 
Housing 

£000 

Gateways 
to 

Oldham 
Housing 

£000 

Chadderton 
Wellbeing 

Centre 
£000 

Street 
Lighting   

£000 
Schools 

£000 

Building 
Schools 
for the 
Future 
£000 

Total 
£000 

Cost or Valuation                 
As at 1 April 2019 15,085 40,602 21,391 10,685 24,457 72,304 33,794 218,318 
Additions  -  33  -  -  -  -  - 33 
Revaluations recognised in 
Revaluation Reserve 

  
585 

 
 823 

  
334 

  
325 

 
 - 

  
2,216 

 
1,144 

 
5,427 

Revaluations recognised in 
(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 

  
 

- 

 
 

 7 

 
 

- 

 
 

 - 

 
 

 - 

 
 

 - 

 
 

 - 

 
 

7 
Derecognition-disposals  -  (33) (105)  -  -  -  -  (138) 
As at 31 March 2020 15,670 41,432 21,620 11,010 24,457 74,520 34,938    223,647 
Accumulated Depreciation & 
Impairment 

                

As at 1 April 2019 - 2,818 1,368 - 2,969 - - 7,155 
Depreciation Charge  809  3,179  1,552  616  616  4,916  1,428 13,116 
Depreciation Written out to 
Revaluation Reserve 

 (809)  (2,791)  (1,361)  (616)  -  (4,916)  (1,428) (11,921) 

Depreciation written out to the 
(Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of 
Services 

 -  (27)  -  -  -  -  - (27) 

Impairment Losses/(reversals) 
recognised in the Revaluation 
Reserve 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - - 

Impairment Losses/(reversals) 
recognised in the (Surplus)/Deficit on 
the Provision of Services 

 -  -  -  -  -  -  - - 

Derecognition -disposals  -  (1)  (7)  -  -  -  - (8) 
As at 31 March 2020 - 3,178 1,552 - 3,585 - - 8,315 
                  
Net Book Value at 31 March 2019 15,085 37,784 20,023 10,685 21,488 72,304 33,794 211,163 
Net Book Value at 31 March 2020 15,670 38,254 20,068 11,010 20,872 74,520 34,938 215,332 

 

P
age 159



126 
 
 

29. Pension Schemes Accounted for as Defined Contribution Schemes  
 
Teachers’ Pension Scheme  
 
Teachers employed by the Council are members of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme administered 
by the Department for Education. The Scheme provides teachers with specified benefits upon 
their retirement and the Council contributes towards the cost by making contributions based on a 
percentage of scheme members’ pensionable salaries.  
 
The Scheme is technically a defined benefit scheme; however, the scheme is unfunded. The 
Department for Education uses a notional fund as the basis for calculating the employer’s 
contribution rate paid by Local Authorities. The Council is not able to identify its share of the 
underlying financial position and performance of the Scheme with sufficient reliability for 
accounting purposes. For the purposes of this Statement of Accounts, it is therefore accounted 
for on the same basis as a defined contribution scheme.  
 
In 2020/21, the Council paid £10.238m (£8.754m in 2019/20) to the Teachers Pensions Agency 
in respect of teachers’ retirement benefits, representing 22.50% (19.72% in 2019/20) of 
pensionable pay.  
 
The Council is responsible for the costs of any additional benefits awarded upon early retirement 
outside the terms of the Teachers’ Scheme. These costs are accounted for on a defined benefits 
basis and are detailed in Note 30. 
 
30. Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 

 
Participation in Pension Schemes  

 
As part of the terms and conditions of the employment of its Officers, the Council makes 
contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits.  Although these benefits will not 
actually be payable until the employees retire, the Council has a commitment to make the 
payments that need to be disclosed at the time the employees earn their future entitlement. 

 
The Council participates in the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) which is administered 
locally by Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council. This is a funded defined benefit final salary 
pension scheme, meaning that the Council and employees pay contributions into a fund 
calculated at a level intended to balance the pension liabilities with investment assets. 
 
Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits 

 
The cost of retirement benefits is recognised in the reported cost of services when they are earned 
by the employees rather than when they are eventually paid as pensions. However, the charge 
made against Council Tax is based on the cash payable in the year, so the real cost of post-
employment/retirement benefits is reversed out of the General Fund through the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. The following transactions have been made in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement and the General Fund Balance through the Movement in Reserves 
Statement during the year: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 160



127 
 
 

  2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Service Cost     
Current service cost (35,946)  (27,474) 
Past service cost (including curtailments) (4,698)  (391) 
Total service cost (40,644) (27,865) 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure    
Interest income on scheme assets 23,374  19,913 
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation (33,534)  (27,667) 
Total net interest (10,160) (7,754) 
Total Post-Employment Benefits Charged to the Deficit on the 
Provision of Services (50,804) (35,619) 
Remeasurements of the Net Defined Liability Comprising:    
Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in net interest  (100,079) 174,843 
Change in demographic assumptions 39,513 (7,846) 
Actuarial gains/ (losses) arising from changes in financial 
assumptions 96,928  (313,185) 
Other experience and actuarial adjustments 91,633  11,660 
Total remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive 
income  127,995 (134,528) 
Total Post-Employment Benefits Charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 77,191 (170,147) 
Movement in Reserves Statement    
Reversal of net charges made to the deficit on the provision of 
services  50,804 35,619 
Employers' Contributions Payable to the Scheme (18,705) (19,579) 

 

Pensions Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet 

The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Council’s obligation in respect of its 
defined benefit scheme is as follows: 

 

  2019/20 2020/21 
 £000   £000  

Fair value of plan assets  881,050 1,094,303 
Present value of funded liabilities  (1,167,827) (1,498,809) 
Present value of unfunded liabilities  (38,094) (39,782) 
Net Liability Arising from Defined Benefit Obligation (324,871) (444,288) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 161



128 
 
 

 

 Reconciliation of the Movements in Fair Value of Scheme Assets 
 

  
2019/20 2020/21 
 £000   £000  

Opening fair value of scheme assets 985,878 881,050 
Interest income  23,374 19,913 
Remeasurement Gain    
Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in net interest  (100,079) 174,843 
Contributions from employer into the scheme  4,857 50,730 
Contributions from employees into the scheme  5,340 5,585 
Benefits paid  (38,320) (37,818) 
Closing Fair Value of Scheme Assets 881,050 1,094,303 

 
The Council’s share of pension fund assets is rolled forward, by the actuary, from the latest formal 
valuation date. The roll forward amount is then adjusted for investment returns, the effective 
contributions paid into and estimated benefits paid from the fund by the Council and its 
employees. As such this estimate may differ from the actual assets held by the Pension Fund at 
31 March.  

 
Reconciliation of Present Value of Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligation) 

 

  2019/20 2020/21 
 £000   £000  

Opening fair value of scheme liabilities 1,392,797 1,205,921 
Current service cost  35,946 27,474 
Interest cost  33,534 27,667 
Contributions from scheme participants  5,340 5,585 
Remeasurement Loss    
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from changes in financial assumptions  (96,928) 313,185 
Change to demographic assumptions (39,513) 7,846 
Other experience and actuarial adjustments  (91,633) (11,660) 
Past service cost  4,698 391 
Benefits paid  (38,320) (37,818) 
Closing Fair Value of Scheme Liabilities  1,205,921 1,538,591 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 162



129 
 
 

Pension Scheme Assets 

 
 

Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method, an estimate 
of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, 
salary levels etc. Both the Local Government Pension Scheme and Discretionary Benefits liabilities 
have been assessed by Hymans Robertson LLP, an independent firm of actuaries, estimates being 
based on the latest valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2021. 
 

  

Quoted 
prices 

in 
active 

markets 
£000

Quoted 
prices 
not in 
active 

markets 
£000

Total         
£000

Percentage 
Total of 
Asset

Quoted 
prices 

in 
active 

markets 
£000

Quoted 
prices 
not in 
active 

markets 
£000

Total         
£000

Percentage 
Total of 
Asset

Equity Securities
Consumer 78,409 78,409 9% 96,025 96,025 9%
Manufacturing 66,337 66,337 8% 85,520 85,520 8%
Energy and Utilities 49,662 49,662 6% 53,066 53,066 5%
Financial Institutions 95,989 95,989 11% 114,953 114,953 11%
Health and Care 38,943 38,943 5% 54,694 54,694 5%
Information Technology 34,642 34,642 4% 57,801 57,801 5%
Other 18,018 18,018 2% 17,680 17,680 2%

Debt Securities -
Corporate Bonds (investment grade) 32,660 32,660 4% 52,894 52,894 5%
UK Government - 0% - 0%
Other 27,855 27,855 3% 14,215 14,215 1%

Private Equity -
All 44,590 44,590 5% 65,132 65,132 6%
Real Estate -
UK Property 36,391 36,391 4% 40,888 40,888 4%
Investment Funds and Unit Trusts -
Equities 86,661 86,661 10% 98,323 98,323 9%
Bonds 99,723 99,723 12% 138,680 138,680 13%
Infrastructure 41,901 41,901 5% 55,784 55,784 5%
Other 21,658 76,531 98,189 11% 23,719 104,057 127,776 12%
Derivatives -
Other - 0% (879) (879) 0%
Cash and Cash Equivalents -
All 13,700 13,700 2% 21,748 21,748 2%
Totals 664,258 199,413 863,671 100% 828,441 265,862 1,094,303 100%

Period Ended 31 March 2020 Period Ended 31 March 2021

Page 163



130 
 
 

The significant assumptions used by the actuary have been: 
 

  2019/20 2020/21 
Mortality assumptions:     
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners:     
men 20.5  20.5 
women 23.1  23.3 
Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:    
men 22.0  21.9 
women 25.0  25.3 
Rate of inflation 2.80%  2.80% 
Rate of increase in salaries 2.70%  3.60% 
Rate of increase in pensions 1.90%  2.85% 
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.30%  2.00% 

 
The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out 
in the table above. The sensitivity analysis below is based on possible changes to the 
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period. For each assumption change all other 
assumptions remain constant.  

 
The estimations in the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies for the scheme, 
i.e. on an actuarial basis using the projected unit cost method. The methods and types of 
assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis below did not change from those used in 
2019/20. 

 
Change in Assumptions at 31 March 2021 Approximate 

% Increase to 
Employee 
Liability 

Approximate 
Monetary 
Amount 

£000 

0.5% decrease in real discount rate 10%  152,275  
0.5% increase in the salary increase rate 1% 13,384  
0.5% increase in the pension increase rate 9%  135,768  

 

Impact on the Council’s Cash Flows 
 

The objectives of the scheme are to keep employers’ contributions at as constant a rate as 
possible.  Funding levels are monitored on an annual basis. The current triennial valuation took 
effect from this financial year starting 1 April 2020. 
 
The scheme has taken account of the national changes to the scheme under the Public Pensions 
Services Act 2013. Under the Act, the Local Government Pension Scheme in England and Wales 
and other main existing public service schemes may not provide benefits in relation to service 
after 31 March 2014 (or service after 31 March 2015 for other main existing public service pension 
schemes in England and Wales). The Act provides for scheme regulations to be made within a 
common framework, to establish new career average revalued earnings schemes to pay 
pensions and other benefits. 
 
In April 2020 the Council made an upfront payment of £46.726m to the Greater Manchester 
Pension Fund (GMPF) for the Council’s employer contributions relating to the full triennial period 
2020/21 to 2022/23.  
 

Page 164



131 
 
 

The upfront payment allowed the Council to generate corporate savings as result of a lower 
employer contribution rate than would have otherwise been calculated. This reduced employer 
contribution rate was achievable based on the fact that upfront funds received by the GMPF were 
immediately being used to generate investment returns. Based on the calculations supporting the 
upfront payment the Council anticipates “notional” contributions to the scheme in 2020/21 of 
£15.575m (£46.726m split equally across 3 years).  

 
 31. Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
  

The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been 
adjusted for the following non-cash movements: 

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Depreciation 35,998 36,268 
Impairment and downward valuations 3,622 7,133 
Amortisation 1,557 1,456 
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 15,480 8,958 
(Increase)/decrease in debtors 1,473 (5,699) 
(Increase)/decrease in inventories 53 104 
Movement in pension liability 45,947 (15,111) 
Carrying amount of non-current assets and non-current assets held for 
sale, sold or derecognised 

26,162 1,586 

Other non-cash items charged to the net surplus or deficit on the 
provision of services 

(201) (2,570) 

  130,091 32,125 
The surplus or deficit on the provision of services has been 
adjusted for the following items that are investing and financing 
activities: 

    

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, investment 
property and intangible assets 

(9,829) (3,080) 

Any other items for which the cash effects are investing or financing 
cash flows 

(20,119) (20,453) 

  (29,948) (23,533) 
The cash flows for operating activities include the following items: 

    
Interest received 1,878 320 
Interest paid (27,710) (27,418) 
Dividends received 7,332 950 
  (18,500) (26,148) 

 
  

Page 165



132 
 
 

 32. Cash Flows from Investing Activities 
 
  

  2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property 
and intangible assets 

(30,686) (45,319) 

Purchase of short-term and long-term investments (66,870) (62,231) 
Other payments for investing activities - (9,677) 
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, 
investment property and intangible assets 

9,829 3,080 

Proceeds from short-term and long-term investments 56,500 58,500 
Other receipts from investing activities 21,392 20,373 
Net cash flows from investing activities (9,835) (35,274) 

 
 33. Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
  

  2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Cash receipts of short and long-term borrowing 20,000 25,000 
Cash payments for the reduction of outstanding liabilities relating 
to finance leases and on-Balance Sheet PFI contracts 

(10,108) (10,624) 

Repayments of short and long-term borrowing (1,058) (21,148) 
Other payments for financing activities 469 (3,325) 
Net cash flows from financing activities 9,303 (10,097) 

 
33a. Reconciliation of Liabilities Arising from Financing Activities  

 

  

1 April 
2020 
£000 

Financing 
cash flows 

£000 
Acquisition  

£000 

Other non-
cash 

changes 
£000 

31 March 
2021 
£000 

Long-term borrowings 168,364  - - (9) 168,355 
Short-term borrowings  1,716 4,960 - 21 6,697 
Lease Liabilities  788 (408) 271 - 651 
Transferred Debt 2,332 (1,108) - - 1,224 
On balance sheet PFI 
Liabilities  232,747 (10,216) - - 222,531 
Amounts included as part of 
(debtor)/creditor balances:         
Amounts owed to/from 
Collection Fund preceptors (371) (3,325) - - (3,696) 
Total Liabilities from 
financing activities 405,576 (10,097) 271 12 395,762 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 166



133 
 
 

  
1 April 2019 

£000 

Financing 
cash 
flows 
£000 

Additions  
£000 

Other 
non-cash 
changes 

£000 

31 March 
2020 
£000 

Long-term borrowings 148,373 20,000 - (9) 168,364 
Short-term borrowings  1,666 (4) - 54 1,716 
Lease Liabilities  726 (357) 419 - 788 
Transferred Debt 3,386 (1,054) - - 2,332 
On balance sheet PFI Liabilities  242,498 (9,751) - - 232,747 
Amounts included as part of 
(debtor)/creditor balances:         
Amounts owed to/from Collection 
Fund preceptors (840) 469 - - (371) 
Total  395,809 9,303 419 45 405,576 

 
 
34. Accounting Policies  
 
1.1  General Principles  
 
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Council’s transactions for the 2020/21 financial year 
and its position at the year end of 31 March 2021. The Council is required to prepare an annual 
Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which require the accounts 
to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. These practices primarily 
comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 (the 
Code) supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  
 
The accounting convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost, 
modified by the revaluation of certain categories of non-current assets and financial instruments. 
  
The accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the assumption that the 
Council will continue in existence for the foreseeable future.  
 
Unless otherwise stated the convention used in this document is to round to amounts  the nearest 
thousand pounds. All totals are the rounded totals of unrounded figures and, therefore, may not 
be the strict sums of the figures presented in the text or tables. Throughout the Statements all 
credit balances are shown with parentheses e.g. (£1,234).  
 
1.2 Property, Plant and Equipment  
 
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or 
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used 
during more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment.  
 
Recognition  
 
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is 
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the item will flow to the Council and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver 
future economic benefits or service potential (i.e. repairs and maintenance) is charged as an 
expense when it is incurred. The Council has a £10,000 de minimis limit for the recognition of 
Capital Expenditure.  
 

Page 167



134 
 
 

The Council does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under construction.  
 
Measurement  
 
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:  
 

•  the purchase price;  
•  any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for 

it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management:  
•  the initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the 

site on which it is located.  
 
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, unless the 
acquisition does not have commercial substance (i.e. it will not lead to a variation in the cash 
flows of the Council). In the latter case, where an asset is acquired via an exchange, the cost of 
the acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the Council.  
 
Assets are then carried in the Balance Sheet using the following measurement bases:  

•  community assets, infrastructure assets and assets under construction – depreciated 
historical cost.  

•  dwellings – current value, determined using the basis of existing use value for social 
housing (EUV-SH). 

•  surplus assets – fair value, determined by the measurement of the highest and best 
use value of the asset.  

• all other operational assets – current value, determined as the amount that would be 
paid for the asset in its existing use (existing use value – EUV).  

 
Where there is no market-based evidence of current value because of the specialist nature of an 
asset, depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of current value. For non-
property assets that have short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical cost 
basis is used as a proxy for current value. 
  
Assets included on the Balance Sheet at current value are revalued sufficiently regularly to ensure 
that their carrying amount is not materially different from their current value at the year end, but 
as a minimum every five years. Increases in valuations are matched by credits to the Revaluation 
Reserve to recognise unrealised gains. Exceptionally, gains might be credited to the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services where they arise from the reversal of a loss previously charged 
to a service.  
 
Where decreases in value are identified, they are accounted for as follows:  
 

• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, 
the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount 
of the accumulated gains);  

• where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the 
carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant Portfolio line(s) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

 
The Revaluation Reserve contains revaluation gains recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date 
of its formal implementation. Gains arising before that date have been consolidated into the 
Capital Adjustment Account.  
 
Impairment  
 
Assets are assessed at each year-end as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. Where indications exist, and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the 

Page 168



135 
 
 

recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of 
the asset, an impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.  
 
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for as follows:  
 

• where there is a balance of revaluation gains for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve, 
the carrying amount of the asset is written down against that balance (up to the amount 
of the accumulated gains);  

• where there is no balance in the Revaluation Reserve or an insufficient balance, the 
carrying amount of the asset is written down against the relevant Portfolio line(s) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 

Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant 
Portfolio line(s) in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of 
the original loss, adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been 
recognised.  
 
Depreciation  
 
Depreciation is provided for Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation 
of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a 
determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold land and certain Community Assets) and assets that 
are not yet available for use (i.e. assets under construction).  
 
Deprecation is calculated on the following bases:  
 

• dwellings and other buildings – straight-line allocation over the useful life of the property 
as estimated by the valuer; 

• vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment – straight-line allocation over the useful life of 
the asset as estimated by a suitably qualified officer;  

• infrastructure – straight-line allocation up to 40 years.  
 
Revaluation gains are depreciated, with an amount equal to the difference between current value 
depreciation charged on assets and the depreciation that would have been chargeable based on 
their historical cost being transferred each year from the Revaluation Reserve to the Capital 
Adjustment Account.  
 
Component Accounting  
 
Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment has major components whose cost is 
significant in relation to the total cost of the item and/or whose life is significantly different to the 
life of the host (main) asset, the components are depreciated separately.  
 
Components are recognised in the financial year where:  
 

• there has been a revaluation of assets;  
• there has been an acquisition of assets within the financial year; and  
• enhancement expenditure has been incurred within the financial year.  

 
Disposals  
 
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance 
Sheet is written off to the Other Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals are 
credited to the same line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part 

Page 169



136 
 
 

of the gain or loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time 
of disposal). Any revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are 
transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account. 
  
The written-off asset value of disposals is not a charge against the General Fund, as the cost of 
non-current assets is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. 
Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 
Amounts received for a disposal in excess of £10,000 are categorised as capital receipts. If the 
disposal relates to housing assets a proportion of the capital receipt is payable to the Government 
(75% for dwellings, 50% for land and other assets, net of statutory deductions and allowances). 
The balance of receipts is required to be credited to the Useable Capital Receipts Reserve and 
can then only be used for new capital investment or set aside to reduce the Council’s underlying 
need to borrow (the capital financing requirement). Receipts are transferred to the Useable 
Capital Receipts Reserve from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement. 
 
1.3 Heritage Assets  
 
The Council’s Heritage Assets are held by the Council principally for their contribution to 
knowledge and/or culture. They are recognised and measured, including treatment of revaluation 
gains and losses, in accordance with the Council’s accounting policies on Property Plant and 
Equipment. However, some of the measurement rules are relaxed allowing the Council’s Heritage 
Assets to be included on the Balance Sheet at their insured value where available. Where 
insurance valuations are not available there is a narrative disclosure.  
 
Heritage assets are deemed to have an indefinite life, therefore are not depreciated as the charge 
made would be minimal and immaterial. Nevertheless, where there is evidence of physical 
deterioration to a Heritage Asset, or doubts arise to its authenticity, the value of the asset has to 
be reviewed.  
 
1.4 Investment Property  
 
Investment properties are those assets that are used solely to earn rentals and/or for capital 
appreciation. The definition is not met if the property is used in any way to facilitate the delivery 
of services or production of goods or is held for sale.  
 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost and subsequently at fair value, based on the 
highest and best use value of the asset. Investment properties are not depreciated, and an annual 
valuation programme ensures that they are held at highest and best use value at the Balance 
Sheet date. Gains and losses on revaluation are charged to the Financing and Investment Income 
and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The same 
treatment is applied to gains and losses on disposal.  
 
Rentals received in relation to investment properties are credited to the Financing and Investment 
Income line and result in a gain for the General Fund Balance. However, revaluation and disposal 
gains and losses are not permitted by statutory arrangements to have an impact on the General 
Fund Balance. The gains and losses are therefore reversed out of the General Fund Balance in 
the Movement in Reserves Statement and charged to the Capital Adjustment Account and (for 
any sale proceeds greater than £10,000) the Useable Capital Receipts Reserve.  
 
1.5 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and Similar Contracts  
 
PFI and similar contracts are agreements to receive services, where the responsibility for making 
available the Property, Plant and Equipment needed to provide the services passes to the PFI 

Page 170



137 
 
 

contractor. As the Council is deemed to control the services that are provided under its PFI 
schemes, and as ownership of the Property, Plant and Equipment assets will pass to the Council 
at the end of the contracts for no additional charge, the Council carries the assets used under the 
contracts on its Balance Sheet as part of Property, Plant and Equipment.  
 
The original recognition of these assets at fair value (based on the cost to purchase the Property, 
Plant and Equipment) was balanced by the recognition of a liability for amounts due to the scheme 
operator to pay for the capital investment. Non-current assets recognised on the Balance Sheet 
are revalued and depreciated in the same way as Property, Plant and Equipment owned by the 
Council.  
 
The amounts payable to the PFI operators each year are analysed into five elements:  
 

• The value of the services received during the year – debited to the relevant service in 
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

• Finance cost – an interest charge is raised on the outstanding Balance Sheet liability 
and debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The interest rate is calculated for 
each scheme so that the Balance Sheet liability is zero at the end of each contract.  

• Contingent rent – increases in the amount to be paid for the property arising during the 
contract, debited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  

• Payment towards liability – applied to write down the Balance Sheet liability.  
• Lifecycle replacement costs – are split between revenue and capital costs. Revenue 

lifecycle costs are debited to the relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. Capital lifecycle costs are debited to Property Plant and 
Equipment to reflect the enhancement of the PFI Asset. 

 
1.6 Accounting for Schools  
 
In line with accounting standards and the Code on group accounts and consolidation, all 
maintained schools are considered to be entities controlled by the Council. Rather than produce 
group accounts the income, expenditure, assets, liabilities, reserves and cash flows of each 
school are recognised in the Council’s single entity accounts. The Council has the following types 
of maintained schools under its control:  
 

• Community  
• Voluntary Aided  
• Voluntary Controlled  
• Foundation Trust  
• Foundation  

 
Schools’ non-current assets (school buildings and playing fields) are recognised on the Balance 
Sheet where the Council directly owns the assets, where the Council holds the balance of control 
of the assets or where the school or the school governing body own the assets or have had rights 
to use the assets transferred to them through a licence arrangement. 
  
When a maintained school converts to an Academy, the school’s non-current assets held on the 
Council’s Balance Sheet are treated as a disposal. The carrying value of the asset is written off 
to Other Operating Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Any 
revaluation gains accumulated for the asset in the Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the 
Capital Adjustment Account.  
 
The written-off asset value is not a charge against the General Fund, as the cost of non-current 
asset disposals resulting from schools transferring to an Academy is fully provided for under 

Page 171



138 
 
 

separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to the Capital Adjustment 
Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement.  
 
1.7 Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute (REFCUS)  
 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but that 
does not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as expenditure to the 
relevant service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year. Where 
the Council has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources 
or by borrowing, a transfer in the Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund 
Balance to the Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there 
is no impact on the level of Council Tax. 
 
 
1.8 Capital Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets  
 
Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the following amounts to record 
the cost of holding non-current assets during the year:  

• depreciation attributable to the assets used by the relevant service.  
• revaluation and impairment losses on assets used by the service where there are no 

accumulated gains in the Revaluation Reserve against which the losses can be written 
off.  

• amortisation of intangible non-current assets attributable to the service.  
 
The Council is not required to raise Council Tax to fund depreciation, revaluation and impairment 
losses or amortisation. However, it is required to make an annual contribution from revenue 
towards the reduction in its overall borrowing requirement equal to an amount calculated on a 
prudent basis determined by the Council in the approved Minimum Revenue Provision policy. 
Depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses, and amortisation are replaced by Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP). This adjusting transaction is included in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement with the Capital Adjustment Account charged with the difference between the two 
amounts.  
 
1.9 Financial Instruments  
 
Financial Liabilities  
 
Financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially measured at fair value and are 
carried at their amortised cost. Annual charges to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest 
payable are based on the carrying amount of the liability, multiplied by the effective rate of interest 
for the instrument. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments over the life of the instrument to the amount at which it was originally recognised.  
 
For most of the borrowings held by the Council, this means that the amount presented in the 
Balance Sheet is the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest); and interest charged 
to the CIES is the amount payable for the year according to the loan agreement.  
 
Gains and losses on the repurchase or early settlement of borrowing are credited and debited to 
the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement in the year of repurchase/settlement. However, where repurchase has 
taken place as part of a restructuring of the loan portfolio that involves the modification or 
exchange of existing instruments, the premium or discount is respectively deducted from or added 
to the amortised cost of the new or modified loan and the write-down to the Comprehensive 

Page 172



139 
 
 

Income and Expenditure Statement is spread over the life of the loan by an adjustment to the 
effective interest rate.  
 
Where premiums and discounts have been charged to the CIES, regulations allow the impact on 
the General Fund Balance to be spread over future years. The Council has a policy of spreading 
the gain or loss over the term that was remaining on the loan against which the premium was 
payable or discount receivable when it was repaid. When a premium or discount has been 
incurred and paid in full by a grant from an external body it is accounted for in full in the year that 
the grant is received. The reconciliation of amounts charged to the CIES to the net charge 
required against the General Fund Balance is managed by a transfer to or from the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Financial Assets  
 
Financial assets are classified based on a classification and measurement approach that reflects 
the business model for holding the financial assets and their cash flow characteristics. There are 
three main classes of financial assets measured at:  

 
• amortised cost;  
• fair value through profit or loss (FVPL); and  
• fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)  

 
The Council’s business model is to hold investments to collect contractual cash flows i.e. 
payments of interest and principal. Most of the Council’s financial assets are therefore classified 
as amortised cost, except for those whose contractual payments are not solely payment of 
principal and interest (i.e. where the cash flows do not take the form of a basic debt instrument).  
 
Financial Assets Measured at Amortised Cost  
 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the 
Council becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially 
measured at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their amortised cost. Annual credits 
to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement (CIES) for interest receivable are based on the carrying amount of the 
asset multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the instrument. For most of the financial assets 
held by the Council, this means that the amount presented in the Balance Sheet is the outstanding 
principal receivable (plus accrued interest) and interest credited to the CIES is the amount 
receivable for the year in the loan agreement.  
 
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of an asset are credited or debited to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES.  
 
Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value through Profit or Loss  
 
Financial assets that are measured at FVPL are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the 
Council becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial instrument and are initially 
measured and carried at fair value. Fair value gains and losses are recognised as they arrive in 
the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services.  
 
The fair value measurements of the financial assets are based on the following techniques:  
 

• instruments with quoted market prices – the market price;  
• other instruments with fixed and determinable payments – discounted cash flow 

analysis.  
 

Page 173



140 
 
 

The inputs to the measurement techniques are categorised in accordance with the accounting 
policy set out in section 1.23 Fair Value Measurement.  
 
Any gains and losses that arise on the derecognition of the asset are credited or debited to the 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the CIES.  
 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments sets out that investments in equity should be classified as fair value 
through profit and loss unless there is an irrevocable election to recognise changes in fair value 
through other comprehensive income. The Council will assess each investment on an individual 
basis and assign an IFRS 9 category. The assessment will be based on the underlying purpose 
for holding the financial instrument.  
 
Any changes in the fair value of instruments held at fair value through profit or loss will be 
recognised in the net cost of service in the CIES and will have a General Fund impact.  
 
Financial Assets measured at Fair Value through other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)  
 
The Council has equity instruments designated at fair value through other Comprehensive 
Income (FVOCI). This was previously classified as an Available for Sale asset at 31 March 2018. 
 
The Council has made an irrevocable election to designate one of its equity instruments as FVOCI 
on the basis that it is held for non-contractual benefits, it is not held for trading but for strategic 
purposes. The asset was transferred to the new asset category on 1 April 2018. The asset is 
initially measured and carried at fair value.  The value is based on the principal that the equity 
shares have no quoted market prices and is based on an independent appraisal of the company 
valuation.  
 
Dividend income is credited to Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement when it becomes receivable by the Council.  
 
Changes in fair value are posted to Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure and are 
balanced by an entry in the Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve.  
 
When the asset is de-recognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure is transferred from the Financial Instruments 
Revaluation Reserve and recognised in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services.  
 
The same accounting treatment was adopted in the prior year when the asset was classified as 
Available for Sale, except that accumulated gains and losses on the available for sale asset were 
previously held in an Available-for-Sale Financial Instruments Reserve at 31 March 2018. The 
balance on this reserve was transferred to the new Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve 
as at 1 April 2018.  
 
Expected Credit Loss Model  
 
The Council recognises expected credit losses on all of its financial assets held at amortised cost 
(or where relevant FVOCI), either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The expected credit loss model 
also applies to lease receivables and contract assets. Only lifetime losses are recognised for 
trade receivables (debtors) held by the Council.  
 
Impairment losses are calculated to reflect the expectation that the future cash flows might not 
take place because the borrower could default on their obligations. Credit risk plays a crucial part 
in assessing losses. Where risk has increased significantly since an instrument was initially 
recognised, losses are assessed on a lifetime basis. Where risk has not increased significantly 
or remains low, losses are assessed on the basis of 12-month expected losses.  
 

Page 174



141 
 
 

Instruments Entered into Before 1 April 2006  
 
The Council entered into a number of financial guarantees that are not required to be accounted 
for as financial instruments. These guarantees are reflected in the Statement of Accounts to the 
extent that provisions might be required, or a contingent liability note is needed under the policies 
set out in the section on Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.  
 
1.10 Employee Benefits  
 
Benefits Payable During Employment  
 
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year-end. They 
include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave, paid sick leave, flexi and time off 
in lieu (TOIL) as well as bonuses and non-monetary benefits (e.g. mobile phones) for current 
employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which employees render 
service to the Council.  
 
Employee Accumulated Absence Accrual  
 
An accrual is made for the cost of holiday entitlements (or any form of leave, e.g. time off in lieu) 
earned by employees but not taken before the year-end which employees can carry forward into 
the next financial year. The accrual is made at the wage and salary rates applicable in the current 
accounting year. The accrual is charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services, but 
then reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are 
charged to revenue in the financial year in which the holiday entitlement occurs.  
 
Termination Benefits  
 
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Council to terminate 
an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept 
voluntary redundancy and are charged on an accruals basis to the relevant services lines in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement at the earlier of when the Council can no 
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the Council recognises costs for a 
restructuring.  
 
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the 
General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Council to the pension fund 
or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting 
standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the 
Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination 
benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and 
any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end.  
 
Post-Employment Benefits  
 
Employees of the Council are members of three separate pension schemes:  
 

• The Greater Manchester Local Government Pension Scheme - administered by 
Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council.  

• The Teachers’ Pension Scheme - administered by Capita Teachers’ Pensions on behalf 
of the Department for Education (DfE).  

• The NHS Pension Scheme - administered by EA Finance NHS Pensions.  
 
These schemes provide defined benefits to members (retirement lump sums and pensions), 
earned as employees working for the Council. 
 

Page 175



142 
 
 

However, the arrangements for the teachers’ and NHS schemes mean that liabilities for these 
benefits cannot be identified specifically to the Council. These schemes are therefore accounted 
for as if they are a defined contribution scheme and no liability for future payments of benefits is 
recognised in the Balance Sheet. The Children’s Services line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement is charged with the employer’s contributions payable to Teachers’ 
Pension Scheme in the year. The Community Health & Adult Social Care Portfolio line in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is charged with the employer’s contributions 
payable to the NHS Pension Scheme in the year.  
 
The Greater Manchester Local Government Pension Scheme  
 
The Greater Manchester Local Government Pension Scheme is accounted for as a defined 
benefits scheme.  
 
The liabilities of the Greater Manchester Pension Fund attributable to the Council are included in 
the Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method; an assessment of the 
future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees, 
based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates and projections of future 
earnings for current employees. Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a 
discount rate (based on the indicative rate of return on a basket of high quality corporate bonds, 
Government gilts and other factors).  
 
The assets of the Greater Manchester Pension Fund attributable to the Council are included in 
the Balance Sheet at their fair value:  
 

• quoted securities – current bid price;  
• unquoted securities – professional estimate;  
• unitised securities – current bid price;  
• property – market value.  

 
The change in the net pension liability is analysed into following components:  
 

• current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned in 
the current year – allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
to the services for which the employees worked;  

• past service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of a scheme amendment or 
curtailment whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier years will be 
debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement as part of Non-Distributed Costs;  

• net interest on the net defined benefit liability - the change during the period in the net 
defined benefit liability that arises from the passage of time is charged to the Financing 
and Investment Income and Expenditure line of the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. This is calculated by applying the discount rate used to 
measure the defined benefit obligation at the beginning of the period to the net defined 
benefit liability at the beginning of the period, taking into account any changes in the net 
defined benefit liability during the period as a result of contribution and benefit 
payments.  

 
Remeasurement comprising:  
 

• the return on plan assets – excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined 
benefit liability – charged to the Pensions Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure; 

• actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because 
events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or 

Page 176



143 
 
 

because the actuaries have updated their assumptions – charged to the Pensions 
Reserve as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure;  

• contributions paid to the Greater Manchester Pension Fund - cash paid as employer 
contributions to the pension scheme in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an 
expense. 

 
Statutory provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the amount payable 
by the Council to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the year, not the amount calculated 
according to the accounting standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, this means that 
there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve, to remove the notional debits and 
credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund 
and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year-end. The negative balance 
that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial impact to the General Fund 
of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows rather than as 
benefits are earned by employees. 
  
1.11 Accruals of Income and Expenditure  
 
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made 
or received.  
 
Where income and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or paid, a 
debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where debts may not 
be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to revenue for the income 
that may not be collected.  
 
1.12 Cash and Cash Equivalents  
 
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments that 
mature in three months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of a change in value.  
 
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that 
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Council’s cash management.  
 
1.13 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets  
 
Provisions  
 
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Council a legal or constructive 
obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service potential 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. For instance, the Council 
may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the making of a settlement or the 
payment of compensation.  
 
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement in the year that the Council becomes aware of the obligation 
and are measured at the best estimate at the Balance Sheet date of the expenditure required to 
settle the obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties.  
 
When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance 
Sheet. Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes 
less than probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement 
than anticipated is made) the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service.  
 

Page 177



144 
 
 

Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from 
another party (e.g. from an insurance claim) it is only recognised as income for the relevant 
service if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the Council settles the 
obligation.  
 
Contingent Liabilities  
 
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible 
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the Council. Contingent liabilities also arise in 
circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that an 
outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured reliably.  
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the 
accounts.  
 
Contingent Assets  
 
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Council a possible asset 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future events 
not wholly within the control of the Council.  
 
Contingent assets are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts 
where it is probable that there will be an inflow of economic benefits or service potential.  
 
1.14 Government Grants and Contributions  
 
Whether paid on account, by instalments or in arrears, government grants and third-party 
contributions and donations are recognised as due to the Council when there is reasonable 
assurance that:  
 

• the Council will comply with the conditions attached to the payments; and  
• the grants or contributions will be received.  

 
Amounts recognised as due to the Council are not credited to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement until conditions attached to the grant or contribution have been satisfied. 
Conditions are stipulations that specify that the future economic benefits or service potential 
embodied in the asset acquired using the grant or contribution are required to be consumed by 
the recipient as specified, or future economic benefits or service potential must be returned to the 
transferor.  
 
Monies advanced as grants and contributions for which conditions have not been satisfied are 
carried in the Balance Sheet as creditors. When conditions are satisfied, the grant or contribution 
is credited to the relevant service line (attributable revenue grants and contributions) or Taxation 
and Non-Specific Grant Income (non-ringfenced revenue grants and all capital grants) in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.  
 
Where capital grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, 
they are reversed out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 
 
Where the grant has yet to be used to finance capital expenditure, it is posted to the Capital 
Grants Unapplied Reserve. Where it has been applied, it is posted to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. Amounts in the Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve are transferred to the Capital 
Adjustment Account once they have been applied to fund capital expenditure.  
 

Page 178



145 
 
 

Where revenue grants are credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
but have yet to be used to fund revenue expenditure, it is posted to the Revenue Grant Reserve. 
When eligible expenditure is incurred in future years the grant is transferred back into the General 
Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge against 
Council Tax for the expenditure.  
 
1.15 Reserves  
 
The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes or to cover 
contingencies. Reserves are created by transferring amounts out of the General Fund Balance 
in the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is 
incurred, it is charged to the appropriate service in that year to score against the Surplus or Deficit 
on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The 
reserve is then appropriated back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement so that there is no net charge against Council Tax for the expenditure.  
 
Certain reserves are held to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, financial 
instruments, local taxation, retirement and employee benefits and do not represent usable 
resources for the Council. These reserves are further explained in the relevant policies.  
 
1.16 Revenue Recognition  
 
Revenue is defined as income arising as a result of the Council’s normal operating activities and 
where income arises from contracts with service recipients it is recognised when or as the Council 
has satisfied a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or service to the service 
recipient.  
 
Revenue is measured as the amount of the transaction price which is allocated to that 
performance obligation. Where the Council is acting as an agent of another organisation the 
amounts collected for that organisation are excluded from revenue.  
 
1.17 Tax Income  
 
Council Tax, Retained Business Rates and Business Rates Top-up Grant income included in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement for the year will be treated as accrued 
income.  
 
Business Rates, Business Rates Top-up Grant and Council Tax income will be recognised in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement within the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant 
Income line. As a billing Authority, the difference between the Business Rates and Council Tax 
included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the amount required by 
regulation credited to the General Fund is taken to the Collection Fund Adjustment Account and 
reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement. Each major preceptor’s share of the accrued 
Business Rates and Council Tax income is available from the information that is required to be 
produced in order to prepare the Collection Fund Statement.  
 
Business Rates and Council Tax income is recognised when it is probable that the economic 
benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Council, and the 
amount of revenue can be measured reliably. 
 
Revenue relating to Council Tax and Business Rates is measured at the full amount receivable 
(net of any impairment losses) as they are non-contractual, non-exchange transactions and there 
can be no difference between the delivery and payment dates.  
 
 
 

Page 179



146 
 
 

1.18 Overheads and Support Services  
 
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to the relevant services in accordance 
with the Authority’s arrangements for accountability and financial performance, with the exception 
of:  

• Corporate and Democratic Core – costs relating to the Council’s status as a multi-
functional, democratic organisation;  

• Non Distributed Costs – changes in past service costs and impairment losses 
chargeable on Assets Held for Sale.  

 
Corporate and Democratic Core is identified as a separate heading in the Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure Statement. Non Distributed Costs form part of the Capital, Treasury and 
Technical Accounting Portfolio line with the Council’s local reporting format.  
 
1.19 Value Added Tax (VAT)  
 
Value Added Tax payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable 
from Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income.  
 
1.20 Interests in Companies and Other Entities  
 
The Council has material interests in external entities that are classified as subsidiaries and 
therefore group accounts have been prepared. In the Council’s single-entity accounts the 
Council’s interest in companies and other entities are recorded as financial assets at cost less 
any impairment. Any gains or losses are recognised in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement.  
 
 
1.21 Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and 
Errors  
 
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a 
material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the 
current and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment.  
 
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or 
the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other 
events and conditions on the Council’s financial position or financial performance. Where a 
change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been 
applied.  
 
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending 
opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 
 
1.22 Events after the Balance Sheet Date  
 
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that 
occur between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is 
authorised for issue. Two types of events can be identified:  
 

• Adjusting Events -Those events that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the 
end of the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such 
events.  

• Non-Adjusting Events - Those events that are indicative of conditions that arose after 
the reporting period – the Statement of Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, 

Page 180



147 
 
 

but, where a category of events would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the 
notes of the nature of the events and either their estimated financial effect or a statement 
that such an estimate cannot be made reliably.  

 
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of 
Accounts.  
 
1.23 Fair Value Measurement  
 
The Council measures some of its assets and liabilities at fair value at the end of the reporting 
period. Fair value is the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability 
at the measurement date. The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the 
asset or transfer the liability takes place either:  
 
a) in the principal market for the asset or liability; or  
b) in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.  
 
The Council uses external valuers to provide a valuation of its non-financial assets and liabilities, 
for recognition or disclosure as appropriate, in line with the highest and best use definition within 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. The highest and best use of the asset or liability being valued 
is considered from the perspective of a market participant. Inputs to the valuation techniques in 
respect of the Council’s fair value measurement of its assets and liabilities are categorised within 
the fair value hierarchy as follows:  
 
Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Council can access at the measurement date.  
 
Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.  
 
Level 3 – unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 

35. Accounting Standards Issued, Not Adopted 
 
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code) requires 
the disclosure of information relating to the expected impact of an accounting change that will be 
required by a new standard which has been issued but is yet to be adopted by the 2020/21 Code.  

 
The Code also requires that changes in accounting policy are to be applied retrospectively unless 
transitional arrangements are specified, this would result in an impact on disclosures spanning 
two financial years.  

 
Accounting changes that are introduced by the 2021/22 code are: 
 

• Definition of a Business: Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations 
• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 
• Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2: Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, 

IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 
 

These changes are not expected to have a material impact on the Council’s single entity 
statements or group statements. 

 
 
 

Page 181



148 
 
 

36. Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies  
 
The following disclosure sets out critical judgements applied to the accounting policies of the 
Council that have a significant impact on the presentation of the financial statements. Critical 
estimation uncertainties are described in Note 37. 
 
Upfront pension payment 
 
The Council is liable to make contributions towards the cost of post-employment benefits. For the 
3-year period 2020/21 – 2022/23, the Council agreed with the Greater Manchester Pension Fund 
(GMPF) that the employer contributions payable to the Local Government Pension Scheme 
(LGPS) could be paid as a single up-front payment. Subsequently, in April 2021 the Council paid 
£46.726m based on an estimated pensionable payroll of £79.874m per annum in order to make 
a budget saving. In line with the Council’s accounting policies, in 2020/21 the amounts relating to 
2021/22 and 2022/23 have been offset against the pension liability on the balance sheet. These 
amounts will be reflected in the pension reserve in the years to which they related.  
 
At the close of the triennial period the pension reserve and the pension liability will be brought 
into line with each other. For further details see Note 30 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes. 
 
 
Accounting for Schools – Balance Sheet Recognition of Schools 
 
The Council recognises the land and buildings used by schools in line with the provisions of the 
Code of Practice. It states that property used by Local Authority maintained schools should be 
recognised in accordance with the asset recognition tests relevant to the arrangements that 
prevail for the property. The Council recognises school land and buildings on its Balance Sheet 
where it directly owns the assets or where the school or school Governing Body own the assets 
or where rights to use the assets have been transferred from another entity.  
 
Where the land and building assets used by the school are owned by an entity other than the 
Council, school or school Governing Body then it is not included on the Council’s Balance Sheet. 
The exception is where the entity has transferred the rights of use of the asset to the Council, 
school or school Governing Body. 
 
The Council has completed a school by school assessment across the different types of schools 
it controls within the Borough. Judgements have been made to determine the arrangements in 
place and the accounting treatment of the land and building assets. The types of schools that 
have been assessed are shown below: 
 
Type of School No. of 

Primary 
Schools 

No. of 
Secondary 

Schools 

No. of 
Special 
Schools Total 

Community 25 1 1 27 
Voluntary Controlled (VC) 5 - - 5 
Voluntary Aided (VA) 28 1 - 29 
Foundation/Foundation Trust 4 1 - 5 
Maintained Schools 62 3 1 66 
Academies 24 10 5 39 
Total 86 13 6 105 

 
All Community schools are owned by the Council and the land and buildings used by the schools 
are included on the Council’s Balance Sheet. 

Page 182



149 
 
 

 
The Council has entered into Private Finance Initiative (PFI) agreements to build and operate 
three schools in the Borough. One is a VA school; one is a Foundation Trust school and the 
remaining school is an Academy. Whilst the land which the buildings are sited on has been 
transferred to the respective Diocese, Trust and Academy, the ownership of the buildings is 
determined by who holds the balance of control in line with accounting standards. The Council 
considers the buildings associated with these schools should be included on its Balance Sheet 
because: 

 
• The reversion clause within the PFI agreement results in the Council having a residual 

interest in the buildings at the end of the agreement  
• The services provided and the use of the building is controlled by the Council through 

the PFI agreement 
• The PFI agreement is between the PFI contractor and the Council 
 

Legal ownership of VC school land and buildings usually rests with a charity, normally a religious 
body. Four VC schools are owned by the Diocese which have granted a licence to the school to 
use the land and buildings. Under this licence arrangement, the rights of use of the land and 
buildings have not transferred to the school and thus are not included on the Council’s Balance 
Sheet. The remaining VC school land and buildings are owned by the Council and included on 
the Balance Sheet.  
 
Legal ownership of the VA school land and buildings rests with the relevant Diocese. The Diocese 
has granted a licence to the school to use the land and buildings. Under this licence arrangement, 
the rights of use of the land and buildings have not transferred to the school and thus are not 
included on the Council’s Balance Sheet.  

 
Foundation and Foundation Trust schools were created to give greater freedom to the Governing 
Body responsible for school staff appointments and who also set the admission criteria. There 
are five Foundation schools in the Borough. For one school, the Governing Body has legal 
ownership of the land and buildings and thus these are included on the Council’s Balance Sheet. 
For the remaining Foundation Trust school, a separate Trust owns the land and buildings so these 
assets are not included on the Council’s Balance Sheet.  
 
Academies are not considered to be maintained schools in the Council’s control. The land and 
building assets are not owned by the Council and are therefore not included on the Council’s 
Balance Sheet. 
 
Group Boundaries 
 
The Council carries out a complex range of activities, often in conjunction with external 
organisations. Where those organisations are in partnership with or under the ultimate control of 
the Council a judgement is made by management as to whether they are within the Council’s 
group boundary. This judgement is made in line with the provisions set out in the Code and 
relevant accounting standards.  
 
Those entities which fall within the boundary, and are considered to be material, are included in 
the Council’s group accounts. Profit and loss, net worth, and the value of assets and liabilities are 
considered individually for each organisation against a materiality limit set by the Council. An 
entity could be material but still not consolidated if all of its business is with the Council and 
eliminated on consolidation – i.e. the consolidation would mean that the group accounts are not 
materially different to the single entity accounts. The assessment of materiality also considers 
qualitative factors such as whether the Council depends significantly on these entities for the 
continued provision of its statutory services or where there is concern about the level to which 
the Council is exposed to commercial risk. 
 

Page 183



150 
 
 

The Council has assessed its group boundary for 2020/21 and has identified two subsidiaries 
who are considered to be material and will be consolidated into its group accounts. They are 
MioCare Group Community Interest Company (CIC) and the Unity Partnership Limited. Further 
details can be found in the group accounts in Section 5.  
 
Investment Properties 

 
Investment properties have been assessed using the identifiable criteria under the International 
Accounting Standards and are being held for rental income or for capital appreciation. Properties 
have been assessed using these criteria, which is subject to interpretation, to determine if there 
is an operational reason for holding the property, such as regeneration. 
 
Airport Investment  
 
The Council has a 3.22% shareholding in Manchester Airport Holdings Limited (MAHL). Following 
the adoption of accounting standard IFRS 9 Financial Instruments which came into effect on 1 
April 2018, the default valuation method of the Council’s equity holdings would be Fair Value 
through Profit and Loss. However, the shareholding is a strategic investment and not held for 
trading and therefore the Council has designated the investment as fair value through other 
comprehensive income. It is the Council’s view that this is a reasonable and reliable accounting 
policy for the investment. 

 
The Council has made an equity investment in Manchester Airport Car Park (1) Limited, (along 
with the other nine Greater Manchester District Councils). The Council’s investment is to provide 
car parking facilities at Manchester Airport. The Council holds 3 Class C ordinary shares. The 
shareholding is classed as a financial instrument and held at fair value on the Council’s Balance 
Sheet. Under IFRS 9 the shareholding (investment) is designated as a strategic investment and 
not held for trading therefore the Council has opted to designate it as fair value through Other 
Comprehensive Income. The decision to designate to fair value through Other Comprehensive 
Income is irrevocable and it is the Council view that this is a reasonable and reliable accounting 
policy for this investment.  

 
37. Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 
 
Debt Impairment  

 
At 31 March 2021, the Council had a balance of short-term debtors of £96.928m. A review of 
significant balances suggested that an expected credit loss of £47.266m was appropriate. 
However, in the current climate it is not certain that such an allowance would be sufficient. If 
collection rates were to deteriorate an increase in the amount of the impairment of the doubtful 
debts would be required. 

 
Long Term Assets – Manchester Airport Holdings Limited (MAHL) 

 
The Council’s shareholding in the Manchester Airport Group is 3.22% as at 31 March 2021. The 
asset is valued using the earnings based method resulting in the asset being valued at fair value 
rather than historic cost, therefore requiring an annual valuation. A firm of financial experts and 
valuers have been engaged by the Council to provide an independent valuation which includes 
reviewing the financial performance, stability and business assumptions of the MAHL. The 
valuation provided is based on estimations and assumptions and therefore should the Council 
sell its shareholding the value held in these statements may not be realised.  

 
As at 31 March 2021 the Council’s valuers advised an increase of £1.800m in the fair value of 
the shares held by Oldham Council from £30.200m to £32.000m which has been reflected in the 
financial statements. 

Page 184



151 
 
 

 
Pension Liability 

 
The estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements 
relating to the discounts used, the rate at which salaries are projected to increase, changes in 
retirement ages, mortality rates and expected returns on pension fund assets. A firm of consulting 
actuaries is engaged to provide the Council with expert advice about the assumptions to be 
applied. 
 
During 2020/21 the Council’s actuaries advised that the net pension liability had increased by 
£119.417m to £444.288m. 
 
The effect of changes in the individual assumptions can be measured. For instance, a 0.5% 
decrease in the discount rate assumption would result in an increase in the pension liability of 
£152.275m. A 0.5% increase in the assumed salary increase rate would result in a £13.384m 
increase in the pension liability and an increase of 0.5% in the assumed pension increase rate 
would increase the pension liability by £135.768m.  

 
 

PFI and Similar Arrangements 
 

PFI and similar arrangements have been considered to have an implied finance lease within the 
agreement. In reassessing the leases, the Council has estimated the implied interest rate within 
the leases to calculate interest and principal payments. In addition, the future RPI increase within 
the contracts has been estimated as remaining constant throughout the remaining period of the 
contract. 
 
Business Rates 

Following the introduction of the Business Rates Retention Scheme in April 2013, Local 
Authorities are liable for a share of the cost of successful appeals by businesses against their 
rateable value in 2020/21 and earlier financial years. A provision has therefore been recognised 
in the statement of accounts. The estimated provision has been calculated using the latest 
Valuation Office Agency (VOA) ratings list of ratings appeals and the analysis of successful 
appeals to date. The Council’s share of the balance of business rate appeals provisions at 31 
March 2021 was £6.753m. 

 
Provisions 

 
The Council has estimated its short-term insurance provisions based on the value of claims 
settled in previous years. 
 
During 2020/21 there was a reduction of £1.008m from £3.191m in 2019/20 to £2.183 as at 31 
March 2021. Long Term Insurance Provisions have remained the same as in2019/20. There has 
been a release of £0.133m of Other Long Term Provision resulting in a balance of £15.667m as 
at 31 March 2021. For future years, where it is difficult to provide a reliable estimate, contingent 
liabilities have been disclosed in addition to long term provisions. 
 
Whilst there is always a requirement to make assumptions and always an element of 
uncertainty, COVID has added an extra challenge which has heighted risk in considering future 
estimates.   
 
38. Events after the Reporting Period  

The Statement of Accounts was authorised for issue by the Director of Finance on 6 June 2021. 
Events taking place after this date are not reflected in the financial statements or notes. Where 

Page 185



152 
 
 

events taking place before this date provided information about conditions existing at 31 March 
2021, the figures in the financial statements and notes have been adjusted in all material respects 
to reflect the impact of this information. There are no non-adjusting events after the Balance Sheet 
date. 

  

Page 186



153 
 
 

4.1 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
 
Housing Revenue Account Income and Expenditure Statement 
 
HRA Income and Expenditure Statement 2019/20 

£000 
2020/21 

£000 
Expenditure     
Repairs and Maintenance 3,152 3,310 
Supervision and Management 4,013 4,214 
Rent, rates, taxes and other charges 3,035 2,693 
Depreciation, impairment and revaluation losses of non-current 
assets 4,785 5,275 

Debt management costs 145 145 
Movement for the allowance of bad debts                4  - 
Total Expenditure 15,134 15,637 
Income     
Dwellings rents (8,506) (8,728) 
Non-dwelling rents (112) (34) 
Charges for services and facilities (1,039) (1,031) 
Contributions towards expenditure (413) (44) 
PFI Credits receivable (18,799) (18,799) 
Total Income (28,869) (28,635) 
      
Net Surplus relating to HRA Services as included in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (13,734) (12,999) 

HRA share of the operating income and expenditure included 
in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:     

Gain on sale of HRA non-current assets (209) (50) 
Movement for the allowance of bad debts  - 
Interest payable and similar charges 11,114 10,856 
 HRA Interest and investment income (419) (69) 
Surplus for the year on HRA Services (3,249) (2,263) 

 

Statement of Movement in the Housing Revenue Account 
 

Movement on the HRA Statement Prior 
Year  
£000 

Current 
Year 
£000 

Opening Balance (21,304) (21,795) 
Surplus for the year on the HRA Income and Expenditure Statement (3,249) (2,263) 
Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under statute 2,758  2,688  
(Increase)/Decrease in the HRA Balance (491) 425  
Closing Balance (21,795) (21,370) 

 

 

Page 187



154 
 
 

Note to Movement on the HRA Statement Prior 
Year  
£000 

Current 
Year 
£000 

Analysis of adjustments between accounting basis and funding 
basis under statute     
Depreciation, impairment and revaluation losses of non-current 
assets  (4,797) (5,278) 
Minimum Revenue Provision  5,123 5,301 
Gain or loss on sale of HRA fixed assets 221 53 
Capital Expenditure funded by the HRA 2,134 2,532 
Transfer to Major Repairs Reserve 77 80 
Net Adjustment 2,758 2,688 

 

The HRA Income and Expenditure Statement shows the economic cost in the year of providing 
housing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the 
amount to be funded from rents and Government grants. Authorities charge rents to cover 
expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost. The 
increase or decrease in the year, on the basis of which rents are raised, is shown in the Movement 
on the HRA Statement. 

Note on the Preparation of the Housing Revenue Account 

The Council has followed the guidance in the CIPFA Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting 2020/21 for the production of its 2020/21 Statement of Accounts. However, there is 
one area where, in order to achieve a true and fair view, the Council has departed from the 
guidance which is explained below. 

From 2017/18 the transitional arrangements which allowed for the reversal of the depreciation 
charge from the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) came to an end. The new Item 8 Determination 
issued by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (formerly the Department 
for Communities and Local Government) on 24 January 2017 confirmed that depreciation should 
be charged to the HRA in accordance with proper accounting practices. Therefore from 2017/18 
a charge equal to depreciation should be made to the HRA and passed to the Major Repairs 
Reserve (MRR) for the purpose of future repairs and maintenance.  

However, as the majority of the Council HRA dwellings are covered by Private Finance Initiative 
(PFI) contracts (until 2036), any future repairs and maintenance costs are already included within 
the unitary charge the Council pays on PFI schemes. The Council will therefore have no need to 
build up the MRR and the HRA would, in effect, be charged twice for repairs and maintenance of 
dwellings. If the Council began to charge the HRA with deprecation (without reversal) the HRA 
would quickly fall into deficit and build up a significant MRR that would not be required.  

Previously, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) has 
confirmed that depreciation need not be charged to the HRA in respect of Oldham’s PFI housing 
stock. Therefore, the Council will continue with the accounting treatment previously permitted 
under the transitional arrangements and has reversed the depreciation charge from the HRA to 
the Capital Adjustment Account. 

The financial impact of the accounting treatment prescribed by CIPFA is shown in the table 
below. 

 

 

Page 188



155 
 
 

  

Current 2020/21 
Balance 

£000 

Adjustment for 
the Item 8 

Determination  
£000 

Adjusted 
2020/21 
Balance  

£000 
Housing Revenue Account (21,371) 5,236 (16,135) 
Major Repairs Reserve  (806) (5,236) (6,042) 

 

The HRA financial statements present a true and fair view of the Council’s HRA financial position, 
financial performance and cash flows, the Council have complied with the CIPFA Code of Practice 
in all areas except that which is described above. 

4.1.1 Explanatory Notes to the Housing Revenue Account 
 
H1. Housing Stock – Numbers  
 
At 31 March 2021, the Council had a total housing stock of 2,100 dwellings including the 19 new 
dwellings acquired during the financial year following a purchase at Primrose Bank. This was 
comprised of 1,246 Houses and Bungalows, and 854 Flats and Maisonettes. 

 
The balance sheet value of HRA assets was as follows: 

 
  31 March 

2020 
31 March 

2021 

  £000 £000 
Dwellings 73,591 75,252 
Other Operational Property 1,538 1,404 
Plant and Machinery 862 862 
Total 75,991 77,518 

  
The Vacant Possession Dwellings valuation is £189.993m as at 31 March 2021. The difference 
between the vacant possession value and the Balance Sheet value of dwellings within the HRA 
shows the cost of providing Council housing at less than open market rents. 
 
H2. Depreciation and Impairment of Assets 
 
Depreciation and impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment is shown below. 

 
Depreciation Operational Assets 
  £000 
Balance at 1 April 2020 4,922 
Depreciation written off during the year (4,751) 
Depreciation during the year 5,316 
Balance at 31 March 2021 5,487 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 189



156 
 
 

Impairment Operational Assets 
  £000 
Balance at 1 April 2020 (1,595) 
Impairment written off during the year 1 
Impairment Reclassified as Revaluation Loss 1 
Balance at 31 March 2021 (1,593) 

 
The HRA assets are subject to an annual revaluation programme, as a result any impairments 
are written off against the revised revaluation and reflected in the gross value. 

Page 190



157 
 
 

4.2 Collection Fund 

Collection Fund Statement 

2019/20 
Total 

 
£000 

  2020/21 
Council 

Tax 
£000 

2020/21 
Business 

Rates 
£000 

2020/21 
Total 

 
£000 

Note 

  Income         
(111,196) Council Taxpayers (114,438)  - (114,438) C2 
(57,460) Income from Business Ratepayers  - (31,383) (31,383) C3 

(168,656)   (114,438) (31,383) (145,821)   
  Expenditure         
  Precepts:       

92,367 -  Oldham Council 96,756   96,756 

11,242 
- GMCA Mayoral Police and Crime 
Commissioner 12,011   12,011 

  

4,363 
- GMCA Mayoral General Precept 
(including fire services) 5,244   5,244 

  

  Release of Council Tax Surplus:         
2,209 -  Oldham Council 351   351   

246 
- GMCA Mayoral Police and Crime 
Commissioner 43   43 

  

96 
- GMCA Mayoral General Precept 
(including fire services) 17   17 

  

- Business Rates:     -   
53,708 -  Payments to Oldham Council   53,436 53,436   

543 
- GMCA Mayoral General Precept 
(including fire services)   540 540 

  

  
Distribution of Estimated Business 
Rates Surplus:       

  

60 -  Payments from Oldham Council   1,050 1,050   

1 
- GMCA Mayoral General Precept 
(including fire services)   11 11 

  

300 Cost of Collection - 295 295   

958 
Transitional Protection Payments Due 
for the Year - 889 889 

  

3,837 Change in Allowance for Impairment 3,475 587 4,062   
428 Write-offs charged to Collection Fund 171 1,152 1,323   

(850) 
Change in provision for alteration of 
lists and appeals - 301 301 

  

169,508   118,068 58,261 176,329   
852 Deficit/(Surplus) for the year  3,630 26,878 30,508   

  Collection Fund Balance          
(4,147) Balance brought forward at 1 April (184) (3,111) (3,295) 

852 Deficit/(Surplus) for the year 3,630 26,878 30,508   
(3,295) Balance carried forward at 31 March 3,446 23,767 27,213   

  Allocated to:          
(3,239) - Oldham Council 2,924 23,529 26,453   

(19) 
- GMCA Mayoral Police and Crime 
Commissioner 365 - 365 

  

(37) 
- GMCA Mayoral General Precept 
(including fire services) 157 238 395 

  

(3,295)   3,446 23,767 27,213   
  

Page 191



158 
 
 

Explanatory Notes to the Collection Fund 
 
C1. General 
 
The Council is required to maintain a separate agency Collection Fund account. The Collection 
Fund account includes all transactions relating to collection of Business Rates and Council Tax 
income from taxpayers and their distribution to Local Government bodies. The Collection Fund is 
accounted for separately from the General Fund. 

 
Any Collection Fund surpluses or deficits declared by the billing authority in relation to Council 
Tax are apportioned to the relevant precepting bodies in the subsequent financial year. For 
Oldham, the Council Tax precepting body is the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) 
for both the Police and Crime Commissioner Precept and the Mayoral General Precept (including 
Fire Services). 
 
Business rates surpluses or deficits are distributed in accordance with the relevant proportions 
set out in the localised Business Rate regulations. From 1 April 2017/18 onward, the Council has 
taken part in the Greater Manchester 100% business rates retention pilot, therefore for 2020/21 
the Oldham Council share is 99% with the remainder paid to the GMCA for the Mayoral General 
Precept (including Fire Service). 
 
The Collection Fund deficit for 2020/21 is much larger than in previous years, particularly in 
relation to Business Rates. This is primarily as a result of businesses being awarded expanded 
retail and nursery reliefs in 2020/21 totalling £25.182m, as part of the Governments response to 
the COVID-19 pandemic. These reliefs were not anticipated on the 2020/21 NNDR1 Government 
return submitted to Central Government in January 2020. This Government return informed the 
Council’s Budget setting for 2020/21.  
 
The reliefs effectively reduce the net amount the Council can collect from businesses, and as the 
precept amounts cannot be changed the result is a considerable deficit. However, these reliefs 
are funded by MHCLG through Section 31 Grants. These grants have been received in 2020/21 
and have been transferred to the Council’s earmarked reserve. This reserve will be used to offset 
the Collection Fund deficit when it is charged to the Council’s General Fund in 2021/22. 
 
Another Collection Fund accounting changes which has taken place in 2020/21 relates to the 
phasing of Collection Fund deficits. The intention to implement the three year local tax collection 
fund deficit phasing was announced by the Secretary of State on 2 July 2020. The Local 
Authorities (Collection Fund: Surplus and Deficit) (Coronavirus) (England) Regulations 2020 were 
laid before Parliament on 5 November 2020, and came into force on 1 December 2020. The 
regulations amend the rules governing the apportionment of Collection Fund surpluses and 
deficits for Council Tax and Business Rates set out in the Local Authorities (Funds) (England) 
Regulations 1992 and the Non-Domestic Rating (Rates Retention) Regulations 2013. The 
phasing of deficits relates only to the ‘exceptional amount’ (i.e. relating to COVID-19), therefore 
does not include any amount brought forward into the Collection Fund, relating to previous years 
surpluses or deficits. 
 
C2. Council Tax  
 
Council Tax derives from charges raised according to the value of residential properties, which 
have been classified into nine valuation bands (A to H) for this specific purpose. Individual 
charges are calculated by estimating the amount of income required to be taken from the 
Collection Fund by the Council for the forthcoming year and dividing this by the Council Tax base 
(i.e. the equivalent numbers of Band D dwellings). 
 

Page 192

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fquestions-statements.parliament.uk%2Fwritten-statements%2Fdetail%2F2020-07-02%2Fhcws333&data=04%7C01%7CYun.Jung%40communities.gov.uk%7C4a6381497632413f041b08d880d03aee%7Cbf3468109c7d43dea87224a2ef3995a8%7C0%7C0%7C637400979108867464%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=1tN7kK865b8PvumSP%2BfOZrgQkjqP7SFIjpUiz3EWBXA%3D&reserved=0
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1202/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1202/contents/made
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fuksi%2F1992%2F2428%2Fcontents%2Fmade&data=04%7C01%7CYun.Jung%40communities.gov.uk%7C4a6381497632413f041b08d880d03aee%7Cbf3468109c7d43dea87224a2ef3995a8%7C0%7C0%7C637400979108877425%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=keKfO04eSMMHYUGrN7V9ZJy8sefMIBls%2FWjUEVpiFh8%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fuksi%2F1992%2F2428%2Fcontents%2Fmade&data=04%7C01%7CYun.Jung%40communities.gov.uk%7C4a6381497632413f041b08d880d03aee%7Cbf3468109c7d43dea87224a2ef3995a8%7C0%7C0%7C637400979108877425%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=keKfO04eSMMHYUGrN7V9ZJy8sefMIBls%2FWjUEVpiFh8%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukdsi%2F2013%2F9780111532959%2Fcontents&data=04%7C01%7CYun.Jung%40communities.gov.uk%7C4a6381497632413f041b08d880d03aee%7Cbf3468109c7d43dea87224a2ef3995a8%7C0%7C0%7C637400979108882398%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=s9R%2Bt45NLSfpeDC8xuoF9F5Akbfi5L%2Bseisk23GSArg%3D&reserved=0


159 
 
 

The Council Tax base for 2020/21, equivalent Band D properties, was 57,663 (56,693 in 
2019/20). The increase between financial years evidences the success of the local policy to 
regenerate the borough by the continued growth of new builds within the local tax base. 
 
The tax base for 2020/21 was approved at the Cabinet meeting on 16 December 2019 and was 
calculated as follows: 

 
Band Chargeable  

Dwellings 
Proportion of Band 

D Tax 
Equivalent Band 

D Dwellings 
A Reduced 128 5/9 71  

A 43,841 6/9 29,227  
B 15,589 7/9 12,125  
C 14,843 8/9 13,194  
D 6,452 9/9 6,452  
E 3,096 11/9 3,783  
F 1,445 13/9 2,088  
G 842 15/9 1,404  
H 55 18/9 111  

Net effect of premiums and discounts (9,007) 
Tax Base before adjustment for collection rate 59,446  
Estimated collection rate 97.00% 
Tax Base for the Calculation of Council Tax 57,663  

 
Dwellings for residents entitled to ‘disabled relief reduction’ are reduced to the next lowest band 
for the calculation of Council Tax. As band ‘A’ is the lowest band, ‘A reduced’ has been introduced 
to give effect to this reduction for those who reside in Band A properties. Income received from 
Council Taxpayers in 2020/21 was £114.438m (111.196m 2019/20). 
 
C3. Business Rates  
 
The Council collects Business Rates for its area based on local rateable values provided by the 
Valuation Office Agency (VOA) multiplied by a uniform business rate set nationally by Central 
Government.  
 
For 2020/21, the total non-domestic rateable value at 31 March 2021 is £156.088m (£156.765m 
in 2019/20). The national multipliers for 2020/21 were 49.9p for qualifying Small Businesses, and 
the standard multiplier being 51.2p for all other businesses (49.1p and 50.4p respectively in 
2019/20). 
 

 

 

 

  

Page 193



160 
 
 

5.0 Group Accounts 

Introduction 
 
The Council is a complex organisation and undertakes a broad range of activities, often in 
conjunction with external organisations. In some cases, the Council has an interest in these 
organisations demonstrated through ownership or control/significant influence. 

 
The CIPFA Code of Practice requires that where an Authority has material financial interests and 
a significant level of control over one or more entities, it should prepare group accounts. The aim 
of these statements is to give an overall picture of the Council’s financial activities and the  
resources employed in carrying out those activities.  
 
As subsidiary entities, MioCare Group CIC (MioCare) and the Unity Partnership Limited (Unity) 
have been consolidated on a line by line basis with all intra-group transactions and balances 
removed.  
 

Page 194



161 
 
 

5.1 Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

2019/20   2020/21 
Gross 

Expenditure 
£000 

Gross 
Income 

£000 

Net 
Expenditure 

£000   

Gross 
Expenditure 

£000 

Gross 
Income 

£000 

Net 
Expenditure 

£000 
5,800 (1,892) 3,908 Chief Executive 4,776 (1,335) 3,441 

27,762 (5,976) 21,786 Commissioning  28,733 (8,943) 19,790 
65,852 (24,321) 41,531 People and Place 72,746 (24,777) 47,969 

271,233 (184,765) 86,468 Children's Services 266,476 (192,254) 74,222 
105,667 (35,135) 70,532 Community Health  and Adult Social  Care 118,559 (63,043) 55,516 
44,819 (8,589) 36,230 Communities and Reform 51,951 (17,704) 34,247 
63,131 (57,791) 5,340 Capital Treasury and Technical Accounting 46,140 (50,956) (4,816) 
6,960 - 6,960 Corporate and Democratic Core 6,731 - 6,731 

15,038 (28,869) (13,831) Housing Revenue Account 15,596 (28,635) (13,039) 
606,262 (347,338) 258,924 Cost of Services 611,708 (387,647) 224,061 

     Other Operating Expenditure      
   278 Parish Council precepts    291 
   33,988 Levies    33,591 
   (936) (Gains)/losses on the disposal of non-current assets    (1,352) 
   33,330 Total Other Operating Expenditure    32,530 
   44,307 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure    33,383 
   (260,186) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income    (286,567) 
    76,375 (Surplus) or Deficit on Provision of Services     3,407 
   - Tax expense of Subsidiaries    - 
    76,375 Group (Surplus)/Deficit     3,407 
     Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure      
   (39,392) Revaluation (gains)/losses non-current assets    (21,818) 
   64 Impairment losses on non-current assets    190 

   22,287 
(Surplus) or deficit on Financial Assets measured at Fair Value 
through Other Comprehensive Income     (1,893) 

   (139,381) Remeasurement of net defined benefit liability    148,878 
    (156,422) Total Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure     125,537 
    (80,047) Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure     128,764 

 

 

P
age 195



162 
 
 

5.2 Group Movement in Reserves Statement 

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Group, analysed into usable reserves (i.e. those that can be applied 
to fund expenditure) and other reserves. The ‘Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services’ line shows the true economic cost of providing the Group’s 
services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. These are different from the statutory amounts 
required to be charged to the General Fund and Housing Revenue Account for Council Tax setting and dwelling rent setting purposes. The opening 
balance of the Council’s share of Group Reserves has been restated to reflect the change in the MioCare Group’s accounting period. 

Movement in reserves during 
2020/21 

G
en

er
al

 fu
nd

 
B

al
an

ce
 

Ea
rm

ar
ke

d 
G

en
er

al
 F

un
d 

R
es

er
ve

s 

To
ta

l G
en

er
al

 
Fu

nd
 B

al
an

ce
  

H
R

A
 

C
ap

ita
l R

ec
ei

pt
s 

R
es

er
ve

 

M
aj

or
 R

ep
ai

rs
 

R
es

er
ve

 

C
ap

ita
l G

ra
nt

s 
U

na
pp

lie
d 

A
cc

ou
nt

 

To
ta

l U
sa

bl
e 

R
es

er
ve

s 

U
nu

sa
bl

e 
R

es
er

ve
s 

To
ta

l C
ou

nc
il 

R
es

er
ve

s 

C
ou

nc
il'

s 
Sh

ar
e 

of
 

G
ro

up
 re

se
rv

es
 

To
ta

l R
es

er
ve

s 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Restated Balance at 1 April (15,110) (87,865) (102,975) (21,796) - (726) (21,018) (146,515) (20,546) (167,061) 5,638 (161,423) 
Reporting of Schools Budget 
Deficit to new Adjustment 
Account at 1 April 2020 - (4,916) (4,916) -  - - (4,916) 4,916 - - - 
Restated Balance at 1 April (15,110) (92,781) (107,891) (21,796) - (726) (21,018) (151,431) (15,630) (167,061) 5,638 (161,423) 
Total Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 

(28,737) 
- (28,737) (2,263) - - - (31,000) 111,008 80,008 48,756 128,764 

Adjustments Between 
Accounting Basis and Funding 
Basis under regulations (56,121) - (56,121) 2,688 - (80) 367 (53,146) 53,146 - - - 
Adjustments Between Group 
Accounts and Authority 
Accounts 32,522  - 32,522 - - - - 32,522 - 32,522 (32,522) - 
Net (Increase)/Decrease 
before transfers to 
Earmarked Reserves (52,336) - (52,336) 425 - (80) 367 (51,624) 164,154 112,530 16,234 128,764 
Transfers To/(From) 
Earmarked Reserves 50,183 (50,183) - - - - - - - - - - 
(Increase)/Decrease in year (2,153) (50,183) (52,336) 425 - (80) 367 (51,624) 164,154 112,530 16,234 128,764 
Balance at 31 March (17,263) (142,964) (160,227) (21,371) - (806) (20,651) (203,055) 148,524 (54,531) 21,872 (32,659) 

 

P
age 196



163 
 
 

 

Movement in reserves during 2019/20 

G
en

er
al

 fu
nd

 
B

al
an

ce
 

Ea
rm

ar
ke

d 
G

en
er

al
 F

un
d 

R
es

er
ve

s 

To
ta

l G
en

er
al

 
Fu

nd
 B

al
an

ce
  

H
R

A
 

C
ap

ita
l R

ec
ei

pt
s 

R
es

er
ve

 

M
aj

or
 R

ep
ai

rs
 

R
es

er
ve

 

C
ap

ita
l G

ra
nt

s 
U

na
pp

lie
d 

A
cc

ou
nt

 

To
ta

l U
sa

bl
e 

R
es

er
ve

s 

U
nu

sa
bl

e 
R

es
er

ve
s 

To
ta

l C
ou

nc
il 

R
es

er
ve

s 

C
ou

nc
il'

s 
Sh

ar
e 

of
 G

ro
up

 
re

se
rv

es
 

To
ta

l R
es

er
ve

s 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Balance at 1 April 2019 (14,840) (93,559) (108,399) (21,305) - (649) (42,989) (173,342) 78,375 (94,967) 14,092 (80,875) 
Total Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure 45,566 - 45,566 (3,249) - - - 42,317 (145,036) (102,719) 22,672 (80,047) 
Adjustments Between Group Accounts 
and Authority Accounts (70,767) - (70,767) 2,758 - (77) 21,971 (46,115) 46,115 - - - 
Adjustments Between Accounting Basis 
and Funding Basis under regulations 30,625 - 30,625 - - - - 30,625 - 30,625 (30,625) - 
Net (Increase)/Decrease before 
transfers to Earmarked Reserves 5,424 - 5,424 (491) - (77) 21,971 26,827 (98,921) (72,094) (7,953) (80,047) 
Transfers To/(From) Earmarked 
Reserves (5,694) 5,694 - - - - - - - - - - 
(Increase)/Decrease in year (270) 5,694 5,424 (491) - (77) 21,971 26,827 (98,921) (72,094) (7,953) (80,047) 
Balance at 31 March 2020 (15,110) (87,865) (102,975) (21,796) - (726) (21,018) (146,515) (20,546) (167,061) 6,139 (160,922) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 197



164 
 
 

 

5.3  Group Balance Sheet 
 
The Group Balance Sheet summarises the financial position of the Council and its two subsidiaries 
as a whole. It shows the value of group assets and liabilities at the end of the financial year.  
 

 
31 March 2020 

£000 

  
31 March 2021 

£000 
734,489 Property Plant and Equipment 754,641 
19,770 Heritage Assets 19,770 
20,078 Investment Property 18,817 
4,059 Intangible Assets 4,271 

48,595 Long Term Investments 54,115 
22,508 Long Term Debtors 35,034 

849,499 Long Term Assets 886,648 
40,775 Short Term Investments 40,671 

621 Inventories 517 
46,955 Short Term Debtors 51,337 
61,709 Cash and Cash Equivalents 26,708 

- Current Tax Asset 821 
310 Assets Held For Sale (Less than one year) 568 

151,370 Current Assets 120,622 
(1,716) Short Term Borrowing (6,697) 

(71,236) Short Term Creditors (80,637) 
(12,567) Short Term Provisions (9,761) 

  Short Term Liabilities   
(10,216)  - Private Finance Initiatives (9,746) 

(314)  - Finance Leases (302) 
(1,108)  - Transferred Debt (1,180) 

(97,157) Current Liabilities (108,323) 
(15,800) Long Term Provisions (15,666) 

(168,364) Long Term Borrowing (168,355) 
  Other Long Term Liabilities   

(332,545)  - Pension Liabilities (467,977) 
(222,531)  - Private Finance Initiatives (212,785) 

(474)  - Finance Leases (349) 
(1,224)  - Transferred Debt (44) 

(17)  - Deferred Credits (17) 
(835) Capital Grants Receipts In Advance (1,095) 

(741,790) Long Term Liabilities (866,288) 
160,922 Net Assets 32,659 

(140,376) Usable Reserves (181,183) 
(20,546) Unusable Reserves 148,524 

(160,922) Total Reserves (32,659) 
 
 
 
 

Page 198



165 
 
 

5.4 Group Cash Flow Statement 

  2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Net surplus or (deficit) on the provision of services (76,045) (3,407) 
Adjustment to surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash 
movements 

132,943 37,106 

Adjust for items included in the net surplus or deficit on the provision of 
services that are investing and financing activities 

(29,948) (23,532) 

Net cash flows from operating activities  26,950 10,167 
Net Cash flows from Investing Activities (9,835) (35,274) 
Net Cash flows from Financing Activities 9,303 (10,097) 
Net increase or (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 26,418 (35,204) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the reporting period* 35,291 61,812 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period 61,709 26,608 

 

* Opening cash balances for 2020/21 have been restated to reflect the change in the MioCare Group 
accounting period. 
 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year comprise: 
 

  
2020/21 

£000 
Cash balances 26,708 
Overdraft (included within creditors) (100) 
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 26,608 

 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 199



166 
 
 

5.5 Explanatory Notes to the Group Accounts 
 

Where figures in the group accounts differ materially from the Council’s single entity accounts, the 
relevant explanatory notes have been prepared on a consolidated basis. The notes below give 
information on the areas that have materially changed on consolidation of the group entities into the 
Council’s accounts. 

 
G1. Group Accounting Policies  

 
The Accounting Policies of the Council’s subsidiary companies have been aligned with the Council’s 
Accounting Policies contained in Note 34. Any statutory adjustments between accounting basis and 
funding basis included in the Council’s Accounting Policies do not apply to the subsidiary companies. 

 
Inclusion within the Group Accounts  
 
The Council has business relationships with a number of entities over which it has varying degrees 
of control or influence. These are classified into the categories of subsidiaries, associates and joint 
ventures. The meaning of these terms is outlined below: 
 
Subsidiary - “A subsidiary is an entity including an unincorporated entity such as a partnership that 
is controlled by another entity (the Council), known as the parent.” MioCare Group CIC and the Unity 
Partnership Ltd are classified as subsidiaries of Oldham Council and have therefore been 
consolidated. More detail regarding each of these organisations can be found in note G3. 
 
Associate - “An associate is an entity over which an investor (the Council) has significant influence.”  
 
Joint Venture - “A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of 
the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement”  
 
The Council does not currently have any material associate or joint venture arrangements with any 
other entities. 
 
A number of entities have not been included in the group accounts on the grounds of materiality, 
details of the Council’s relationship with each of them can be found in note G2. 

Consolidation of Subsidiaries  
 
As subsidiary entities, MioCare Group CIC (MioCare) and the Unity Partnership Limited (Unity) have 
been consolidated on a line by line basis with all intra-group transactions and balances removed.  
 
G2. Bodies Not Consolidated 
 
The following the assessment of the Council’s group boundaries the following have not been 
consolidated into Group Accounts on the grounds that they are individually and collectively 
immaterial.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 200



167 
 
 

Entity  Reason 
Oldham Economic Development Association 
Limited Subsidiary although not material. 
Southlink Developments Limited  Subsidiary although not material. 
Meridian Development Company Limited Minority interest and group share not material. 
Foxdenton LLP  Joint venture although not material. 
Oldham Property LLP Joint venture although not material. 

 
Further details can be found in Note 12. Related Parties. 
 

G3. Bodies Consolidated 
 
The Council has consolidated two of its Subsidiaries into its Group Accounts, these are MioCare 
Group Community Interest Company (MioCare) and The Unity Partnership Ltd (Unity). 
 
MioCare is a care and support provider and is fully owned by Oldham Council. It delivers services 
through two subsidiaries: Oldham Care and Support Ltd (OCS) and MioCare Services Ltd.  
 
The Unity Partnership Ltd delivers property, highways, transactional services, information and 
communication technology, and business services. It is an ambitious and socially aware organisation 
which aims to support physical regeneration, create sustainable jobs, introduce effective technology, 
and provide exemplary services to all clients. The results below are from the subsidiary’s single entity 
accounts and do not contain accounting transactions related to the pension liability. The Council has 
consolidated the company’s liability in its group accounts in order to present users of the accounts 
with a complete picture of the group position.  
 
The Unity Partnership Ltd As at 31 March 

2020 
£000 

As at 31 March 
2021 
£000 

Net Assets 2,528 1,910 
Surplus/(Deficit) - before tax 258 6 
Surplus (Deficit) - after tax 204 6 

 
G4. Group Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 

 
Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits 

 
The following transactions have been made in the Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement and the General Fund Balance through the Group Movement in Reserves Statement 
during the year: Further details relating to the Council’s pension schemes can be found in Note 29 
and Note 30 of the single entity accounts.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 201



168 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  2019/20 2020/21 
 £000   £000  

Service Cost     
Current service cost (40,582) (30,963) 
Past service cost (including curtailments) (5,227) (474) 

Total service cost (45,809) (31,437) 
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure     

Interest income on scheme assets 26,660 22,397 
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation (37,258) (30,343) 

Total net interest (10,598) (7,946) 
Total Post-Employment Benefits Charged to the Deficit on 
the Provision of Services (56,407) (39,383) 
Remeasurements of the Net Defined Liability Comprising:     

Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in net 
interest (112,861) 195,447 

Change in demographic assumptions 43,277 (8,580) 
Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from changes in financial 

assumptions 102,651 (348,419) 
Other 106,314 12,674 

Total remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive 
income 139,381 (148,878) 
Total Post-Employment Benefits Charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 82,974 (188,261) 
Movement in Reserves Statement     

Reversal of net charges made to the deficit on the provision of 
services 

           
56,407  39,383 

Employers' Contributions Payable to the Scheme (21,097) (21,678) 
   

Page 202



169 
 
 

Pensions Assets and Liabilities Recognised in the Balance Sheet 
 

The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Group’s obligation in respect of its defined 
benefit scheme is as follows: 

 

  2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Fair value of plan assets 988,648 1,225,885 
Present value of funded liabilities (1,283,099) (1,654,080) 
Present value of unfunded liabilities (38,094) (39,782) 
Net Liability Arising From Defined Benefit Obligation (332,545) (467,977) 

 
Reconciliation of the Movements in Fair Value of Scheme Assets 

 

  
2019/20 2020/21 
 £000   £000  

Opening fair value of scheme assets 1,101,651 988,648 
Interest income 26,660 22,397 
Remeasurement Gain     
Return on plan assets excluding amounts included in net 
interest (112,861) 195,447 
Contributions from employer 7,249 52,829 
Contributions from employees into the scheme 6,074 6,237 
Benefits paid (40,125) (39,673) 
Closing Fair Value of Scheme Assets 988,648 1,225,885 

 
Reconciliation of Present Value of Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligation) 

 

  2019/20 2020/21 
 £000   £000  

Opening fair value of scheme liabilities 1,524,419 1,321,193 
Current service cost 40,582 30,963 
Interest cost 37,258 30,343 
Contributions from scheme participants 6,074 6,237 
Remeasurement Loss     
Actuarial (Gains)/ Losses arising from changes in financial 
assumptions (102,651) 348,419 
Change to demographic assumptions (43,277) 8,580 
Other (106,314) (12,674) 
Past service cost 5,227 474 
Benefits paid (40,125) (39,673) 
Closing Fair Value of Scheme Liabilities 1,321,193 1,693,862 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 203



170 
 
 

 
Pension Scheme Assets 
 
  31 March 

2020 
£000 

31 March 
2021 
£000 

Equities 597,823 737,933 
Debt Instruments 179,149 221,580 
Property  188,641 233,660 
Cash 23,036 33,591 
Derivatives - (879) 
Total 988,648 1,225,885 

 
Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method; an 
estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on assumptions about 
mortality rates, salary levels etc. Both the Council and MioCare have engaged Hymans Robertson 
LLP, an independent firm of actuaries to assess their respective pension schemes, estimates being 
based on the latest valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2021 for MioCare and  for The Unity 
Partnership Ltd and Oldham Council. 

 
The significant assumptions used by the actuary have been: 
 
MioCare Services CIC 2019/20 2020/21 
Mortality assumptions:     

Longevity at 65 for current pensioners:     
Men 20.5 20.5 
Women 23.1 23.3 

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:     
Men 22.0 21.9 
Women 25.0 25.3 
      

Rate of increase in salaries 2.60% 3.55% 
Rate of increase in pensions (CPI) 1.80% 2.80% 
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.30% 2.05% 

 
 
The Unity Partnership Ltd 2019/20 2020/21 
Mortality assumptions:     

Longevity at 65 for current pensioners:     
Men 20.5 20.5 
Women 23.1 23.3 

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:     
Men 22.0 21.9 
Women 25.0 25.3 
      

Rate of increase in salaries 2.70% 3.60% 
Rate of increase in pensions (CPI) 1.90% 2.85% 
Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.30% 2.00% 

Page 204



171 
 
 

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in 
the table above. The sensitivity analysis below is based on possible changes to the assumptions 
occurring at the end of the reporting period and assumes for each assumption change all other 
assumptions remain constant. 

 
The estimations in the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies for the scheme, i.e., 
on an actuarial basis using the projected unit cost method. The methods and types of assumptions 
used in preparing the sensitivity analysis below did not change from those used in 2019/20. 

 
MioCare Group CIC Change in Assumptions at 
31 March 2021 Approximate % 

Increase to 
Employee 
Liability 

Approximate 
Monetary 
Amount 

£000 
0.5% decrease in real discount rate 12% 7,342  
0.5% increase in the salary increase rate 2% 976  
0.5% increase in the pension increase rate 10% 6,197  

 
The Unity Partnership Change in Assumptions at 
31 March 2021 Approximate % 

Increase to 
Employee 
Liability 

Approximate 
Monetary 
Amount 

£000 
0.5% decrease in real discount rate 11% 9,851  
0.5% increase in the salary increase rate 1% 1,202  
0.5% increase in the pension increase rate 9% 8,420  

 

The significant assumptions used to assess the Council’s Pension scheme assets and liabilities can 
be found in Note 30, along with an associated sensitivity analysis. 

 
G5. Fees Payable to the Group External Auditor 
 
The Group has incurred the following costs in relation to the Group audit fees for the external audit 
of the Council’s Statement of Accounts and the audit of the accounts of The Unity Partnership by 
Mazars LLP. 
 
 
  
  

2019/20 
£000 

2020/21 
£000 

Fees payable to Mazars LLP with regard to external audit services 
carried out by the appointed auditor for the year for Oldham Council 
 
Fees payable to Mazars LLP with regard to external audit services 
carried out by the appointed auditor for the year for The Unity 
Partnership Ltd. 
 
Total  

134 
 
 
 

24 
 
 

158 

104 
 
 
 

25 
 
 

129 
 
 
The Council has incurred an additional fee in relation to the external audit of the Statement of 
Accounts by the Council’s External Auditors Mazars LLP for 2019/20. The additional fee of £29,740 
agreed takes the total cost for 2019/20 to £134,148 and has been approved by  Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Limited (PSAA).  

Page 205



172 
 
 

6.0 Annual Governance Statement 2020/21 

 

Scope of Responsibility 
 

The Council (the Authority) is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in 
accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money is safeguarded, 
properly accounted for, and provides value for money. The Authority also has a duty under 
the Local Government Act 1999 to plan to secure continuous improvement in the way in 
which its functions are exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness. That duty has grown in importance with the reduction in resources being 
made available for Local Authorities as part of the Government’s austerity programme and 
the uncertainty arising from the COVID-19 pandemic. 

In discharging this overall responsibility, the Authority must put in place proper 
arrangements for the governance of its affairs, which include arrangements for the 
management of risk, whilst facilitating the effective exercise of its functions. 

The Authority has established governance arrangements which are consistent with the 
seven principles of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and 
Society of Local Authority Chief Executives (SOLACE) Framework - Delivering Good 
Governance in Local Government. It has adopted a Local Code of Corporate Governance 
(LCCG), an updated version of which was issued to Audit Committee for its meeting on 10 
June 2021. The LCCG is publicised on the Council’s website. 

The Annual Governance Statement sets out how the Authority has complied with the Code 
and meets with regulation 4(2) of the Accounts and Audit (Coronavirus) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2021 which have amended the Accounts and Audit Regulations (England and 
Wales) 2015. 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, there was a requirement for certain decisions to be taken 
under emergency protocols. The Authority adopted enhanced management arrangements 
with a structure based on Gold (strategic), Silver (tactical) and Bronze (operational) groups. 
The approach to the management of the Authority’s response to the pandemic was reported 
and agreed by full Council throughout the financial year. The arrangements enabled the 
Council to make its decisions as promptly and as transparently as possible. Regular update 
reports on the response to the pandemic were submitted to each Council meeting. Although 
the enhanced management structure remains in place, from December 2020 the frequency 
of the meetings reduced and some of the individual groups were amalgamated as the 
intensity of the response lessened and practices had become well established. 

The Authority meets the requirements of Regulation 6 (1) b of the Accounts and Audit 
(Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2021 in relation to the publication of a statement on 
internal control. It is subject to detailed review by the Audit Committee when it considers 
firstly the draft set of accounts and subsequently the final Statement of Accounts before 
they are formally approved. The accounts are reported to Cabinet and full Council after this 
Scrutiny for information. 

Page 206



173 
 
 

Pre pandemic, the Authority planned to undertake significant work to address any issues 
required to support full implementation of the CIPFA Financial Management Code which 
outlines the principles of good financial management. This work was not as 
comprehensively progressed as originally planned in the financial year 2020/21 due to extra 
pressure on the Finance Service as it supported the corporate response to the pandemic. 
This was recognised nationally as an issue and the expected implementation date was 
deferred by a year. Compliance has been reviewed in 2020 and 2021. This will support the 
implementation during 2021/22 of any action required. 

The Authority’s financial management arrangements are consistent with a number of the 
governance requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer 
in Local Government (2016). The key principles for which there is compliance are that the 
Chief Financial Officer (Director of Finance): 

• is actively involved and is able to bring influence on the Authority’s financial 
strategy; 

• leads the whole Authority in the delivery of good financial management; 

• directs a fit for purpose finance function; and 

• is professionally qualified and suitably experienced. 

In addition, the Statement requires that the Chief Finance Officer should report directly to 
the Chief Executive and be a member of the leadership team, with a status at least 
equivalent to others. 

The Director of Finance (the Chief Finance Officer and designated Section 151 officer) is 
not a member of the Council’s Executive Management Team (EMT). However, whilst not a 
standing member, during the pandemic, the Director of Finance has attended meetings of 
the EMT / Joint Leadership Team (which includes senior officers of Oldham Clinical 
Commissioning Group). The Director of Finance is a member of and attends the meetings of 
the Senior Management Team which integrates EMT and all Directors via a single 
management meeting. All Statutory Officers have access to the Chief Executive. 

The Council considers that its management arrangements are appropriate in the context of 
compliance with the CIPFA Statement and requirements of the CIPFA Financial 
Management Code. 

The issues identified as significant governance issues and the progress made by 
management throughout the financial year 2020/21 to address these issues, have been 
reported regularly to the Audit Committee together with an assessment made in reducing 
the risk as part of its Governance role within the Council. 
 
The Purpose of the Governance Framework 

 

The governance framework comprises the systems and processes, culture, values and 
behaviours, by which the Authority’s activities are directed and controlled, which it accounts 
to, engages with, and leads the community, citizens and service users. It enables the 
Authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider whether 
those objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective 

Page 207



174 
 
 

services. It also enables the Authority to demonstrate to the public that it has effective 
stewardship of the public funds it is entrusted to spend. 

The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to 
manage risk to a reasonable level consistent with the risk appetite of the Council. It cannot 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives and can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal 
control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the 
achievement of the Authority’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically (i.e. so they deliver value for money – efficiently, 
effectively and economically). 

The financial year 2020/21 required changes to the standard decision-making processes 
adopted by the Authority so it could take decisions quickly informed by the command 
structure put into place to respond to the pandemic and support partners. This approach 
was ratified by full Council and certain key groups of officers and Members provided 
independent scrutiny in key areas such as grant administration and one-off support to 
suppliers. 

The governance framework which has been in place at the Authority for the year ended 
31 March 2021 has seen regular reports submitted to the Audit Committee on the progress 
made on issues identified in the previous Annual Governance Statement and identified any 
issues for consideration in this Statement. This has included issues arising from the 
response to the pandemic which have highlighted where future practice could be improved. 
 
The Governance Framework 

 

The Authority is a Metropolitan District which was created in 1974 combining 7 Urban 
Districts, which provided services. Its strategic vision and Co-operative objectives including 
self-sustainability are set out in the Corporate Plan. The control environment encompasses 
the strategies, policies, plans, procedures, processes, structures, attitudes and behaviours 
required to deliver good governance to all. 

The key message and values are set out in the sections below entitled “Communicating the 
Authority’s Vision” and “Co-operative Council in a Co-operative Borough.” 
 
Communicating the Authority’s Vision 

 

The Vision is set out in both the Oldham Plan and the Corporate Plan supplemented by the 
development of a COVID Recovery Strategy. These are aligned to establish a clear link 
between; Local, Central Government and Greater Manchester regional priorities, including 
the devolution of health services. It establishes the Council’s priorities developed in 
partnership with key stakeholders and the local community around the delivery of the core 
business of the Council. 

Page 208



175 
 
 

The Council initially endorsed the vision July 2017. It is a collective action statement 
covering the period 2017/2022 setting out the areas that will add the most value as a 
partnership to achieve the ambition for Oldham to be a productive and co-operative place 
with healthy, aspirational and sustainable communities. 

The Oldham Plan is based around the Oldham Model – three change platforms are enabled 
and complemented by public service reform and empowering communities. These are: 

Inclusive Economy 

The vision is for Oldham to become Greater Manchester’s Inclusive Economy capital by 
making significant progress in living standards, wages and skills for everyone. 

Thriving Communities 

The vision is for people and communities to have the power to be healthy, happy and able 
to make positive choices and both offer and access insightful and responsive support when 
required. 

Co-operative Services 

The vision is to collaborate, integrate and innovate to improve outcomes for residents and 
create the most effective and seamless services in Greater Manchester. 

Clearly, the delivery of the vision as initially planned for 2020/21 was interrupted by COVID, 
although the response to the pandemic has been framed around the guiding principles. 
Updates on the action taken to support the response to the pandemic, following the 
established principles have been reported to each regular business meeting of the Council. 
 
Co-operative Council in a Co-operative Borough 

 

Oldham has been a Co-operative Council since 2011 and the Council continues its 
commitment to delivering a co-operative future where everybody does their bit, and 
everyone benefits. This is being achieved by a real commitment to change and working 
closely with residents, partners and the wider communities to create a confident and 
ambitious borough. 

The Corporate Plan sets out how everyone can do their bit to support service delivery of 
the ambitions and outcomes: 

#our bit is what Oldham Council is doing or contributing to improve something. 

#your bit is how local people, businesses and partners are helping to make change 
happen. 

The #result is how we are all benefiting from working together. 

The ethos of the Co-operative Council sets the framework for key Council strategies. 

Page 209



176 
 
 

Like many other Local Authorities, Oldham Council has had to make significant budget 
reductions since the start of the Government’s austerity programme. Arising from 
Government announcements and the Emergency Budget, introduced after the May 2010 
General Election, up to and including the 2020/21 budget, circa £200m of budget reductions 
have been introduced. Further recurrent savings £8.793m were agreed at the 2021/22 
Budget Council meeting and there is a significant savings target over the remainder of the 
period covered by the current Medium-Term Financial Strategy (MTFS), (2022/23 and 
2023/24). 

It is clear that the Council cannot continue to deliver services as we have always delivered 
them and a response to the financial challenge was required. The response followed the 
ethos of the Co-operative Council, because it is believed that: 

1. a co-operative approach offers the best opportunity to do things radically differently; 
2. it offers a sustainable solution to the unprecedented challenges we face; and 
3. it offers the best opportunity to make the most of the assets/strengths that lie in its 

communities. 
 
This means that, whilst the Council continues to provide its statutory services and duties, it 
will continue to work more closely with all partners and stakeholders in Oldham to ensure 
that the services delivered continue to; provide value for money, meet the specific needs of 
Oldham’s communities, remove duplication and ensure the combined skills, resources and 
influence are used to improve the circumstances of every member of the Oldham 
community. 
 
The ways in which the Council is doing this include: 
 
• Developing and implementing an Ethical Framework and a Social Value Procurement 

Framework. 
• Procuring the Social Value Portal to implement the Themes, Outcomes and Measures 

framework on future capital developments. 
• Paying the living wage to ensure that all staff are paid appropriately. 
• Giving employees up to three days paid time away from their duties to volunteer 

locally. 
 
COVID 19 Pandemic 

 

During March 2020 before the production of the previous Annual Governance Statement for 
the financial year 2019/20, it became apparent that the United Kingdom was facing a public 
health challenge due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Due to its role both as a provider of key 
public services and as a partner to the NHS, Oldham Council had before the start of the 
financial year 2020/21 instigated its service continuity measures to ensure the continued 
provision of its essential services. This included the enactment of emergency decision-
making powers which continued throughout the financial year 2020/21 (as appropriate) 
when it became clear the pandemic was a serious public health issue that required longer 
term management. 

Page 210



177 
 
 

In order to support the wider Government response to the pandemic the Council both 
directly and acting as an Agent for Government departments, delivered services in 
response to the pandemic and provided Financial Support to third parties including 
businesses within the area. This support has been significant and where appropriate has 
required the reallocation of staffing resources from business as usual to ensure the 
administration process used was sound and effectively undertaken. 

 
In part, this unforeseen reallocation of resources required several staff within the Internal 
Audit Service to be deployed on the administration of grants to businesses throughout the 
first four months of 2020/21. As such reports of the Head of Internal Audit to the Audit 
Committee reflect this matter. As a consequence, only a more limited assurance on the 
control environment can be given to the Audit Committee for the financial year 2020/21. 

 
The impact of the pandemic on the Council has the potential to be long term, particularly 
financially, through increasing demand for services and a potential permanent reduction in 
future income. The impact upon the long-term financial position is very difficult to accurately 
assess with key elements of the Statutory Accounts such as the Collection Fund (which 
manages Council Tax and Business Rate collection) severely impacted. The Government is 
allowing Councils to manage Collection Fund losses over a three-year period (2021/22 to 
2023/24) to phase the impact of income lost in 2020/21 and allow time for collection to 
recover. If this recovery does not happen then there is a risk of the legacy of COVID having 
a more longer lasting financial impact on the Council. 
 
Key elements of the Governance Framework 

 

The key elements of the Authority’s governance framework are detailed against each 
principle in the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework - Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government as follows: 

 
Principle A – Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to 
ethical values, and respecting the rule of law 
 
In order to ensure both its Members and Officers behave with integrity to lead its culture of 
acting in the public interest, there is appropriate training provided to safeguard all parties 
against conflicts of interest. Both Members and Officers record any gifts and hospitality 
received in accordance with the Authority’s agreed procedure. In order to enable third party 
challenges to Authority operations there is a publicised complaints procedure. There is also 
a Whistleblowing Policy, updated at full Council during 2020/21, which enables concerns to 
be raised in a confidential manner and dealt with in a proportionate manner. 

The Scrutiny process as detailed in the Constitution enables those who are not Cabinet 
Members to call in key decisions. The Scrutiny process was subject to review during 

Page 211



178 
 
 

2020/21 and issues of governance/ scrutiny which highlighted where improvements could be 
made in processes at certain other local authorities as set out in the public domain, were 
reported to appropriate Committees to enable them to better discharge their roles. This 
included a review of partnership governance within the Council which was reported to the 
Audit Committee. 

Members take the lead in establishing this culture by completing an annual register of their 
interests which is published on the Council’s website. There is also a Standards Committee 
in place to consider allegations of inappropriate behaviour, which meets when required to 
discuss appropriate matters. Any matters for investigation are assigned to an independent 
investigator and supported by reports, which are considered by the Committee. Staff 
behaviour is covered by the Officers’ Code of Conduct, which places duties on Officers to 
declare their standing interests or interests relating to matters as they arise to their Head of 
Service. These declarations are maintained in an E-Register by the Director of Legal 
Services to the Council in his role as Monitoring Officer. 

The Council is managed by a Cabinet system as set out in the agreed Council Constitution. 
This sets out the scheme of delegation between elected Members and Officers. This 
operated until 24 March 2020 when in accordance with Government Instruction the country 
went into a national lockdown, thus instigating home working (where practical) and 
preventing the holding of public meetings. At this point the emergency powers in the 
Constitution delegating decision making to the Council Leader and the Chief Executive were 
introduced until legislation was enacted to enable meetings to be held live using video 
conferencing technology such as Microsoft Teams, beginning in late April 2020. Given the 
sensitivity of planning matters no emergency decisions were made that would have normally 
been under the remit of the Planning Committee. All decisions taken at Committee level 
have been via meetings conducted remotely via video conferencing. 

In order to encourage the community to engage in more co-operative activities, Members in 
their role as Community Champions often, either individually or in partnership with the 
District Elected Lead Member, network with key community groups and individuals to 
deliver local priorities. In order to demonstrate their achievements, each Councillor is 
encouraged to produce an annual report which is then published on the Council’s website 
and subject to a report to full Council. 

The Council has a clear set of values and behaviours which are shared borough-wide with 
residents, partners and the business community. Internally these values and behaviours 
have been converted into five co-operative behaviours which outline the priority focus for 
staff at all levels. Living these values and behaviours has enabled real change to be 
delivered so that the Council can meet its vision of building a co-operative borough. The 
pandemic has given staff the opportunity to demonstrate these values. 

Staff would normally be assisted in this aspect by the Corporate Personal Performance 
Framework (suspended due to the pandemic) which requires employees to demonstrate 
how performance supports the delivery of the corporate values of the Authority. The 
employer supported volunteering (ESV) programme helps Council employees to volunteer 
with organisations in Oldham. From using existing skills to taking on a new 

Page 212



179 
 
 

challenge, the scheme gives staff the time and support to volunteer to do their bit. The 
pandemic has involved the Council working extensively with its partners with some Council 
staff redeployed to support partner service provision. 

The agreed Procurement Policy focuses on procurement activity, which has the aim of 
ensuring the optimum balance between cost, quality and local service value, whilst also 
ensuring that any significant commercial risks are identified and mitigated at the 
commissioning stage. During the pandemic the Council, in providing support to suppliers 
followed Government advice to preserve the supply chain where appropriate, to guarantee 
future service delivery. 

The Procurement Policy ensures value for money and social value outputs are measured in 
an integrated way, in order to support the Council’s co-operative agenda. In this way, the 
Council ensures it secures the greatest social, economic and environmental benefit from 
the Council’s purchasing power. 

Member and Officer relationships are mutually supportive and based on openness, 
honesty, trust and appropriate challenge. The latter is essential in ensuring the Authority 
maintains its leading position as a Cooperative Council and will be vital in making a reality of 
both service changes and more self-sufficiency from citizens. 

The Corporate Peer Review findings formally received in March 2020, indicated this 
relationship works well in taking forward improvements within the Borough. Whilst the 
Authority hoped to take forward the recommendations in 2020/21, it has not been possible 
due to the pandemic. 

In July 2018 the “Big Green Survey” – Oldham’s biggest ever environmental survey of 
residents – gave people a say on key green issues such as wildlife, parks, food growing, 
clean energy and air quality. Cabinet also approved a strategy to work towards becoming a 
single-use plastic free borough promoting the use of non-plastic recyclable alternatives. This 
was supplemented in 2020/21 by the Council, at its meeting on 9 September 2020, 
supporting the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals. 

The Authority has also demonstrated its support of sustainability by appropriate self- 
financing of capital investment in renewable energy. In previous financial years it has 
supported the creation of an independent Community Interest Company which is now 
operating in a sustained and independent manner, administered the warm homes project to 
alleviate fuel poverty and installed solar panels on the Tommyfield Market. In 2018/19 
approval was given to develop a new eco-centre at Alexandra Park with construction now 
planned in 2021/22 following detailed design and remodelling exercise in 2020/21.This has 
been supported by a successful bid to the Government’s Decarbonisation Fund to support 
the planned eco-friendly/ carbon efficient heating system. 

The Council, at its meeting on 11 September 2019 agreed to declare a Carbon Emergency 
and set itself the challenging target of being Carbon Neutral by 2025 with an aspiration for 
the Borough by 2030. In addition, the Council supported specific green projects with 
continued work to develop the concept of Northern Roots which is a future eco-friendly 
sustainable development consistent with the green aspirations of the Council. This project 
was on-going throughout 2020/21 with the Council looking to create a 

Page 213



180 
 
 

charitable company to develop the concept and utilise Towns Fund grant from Government 
to support future development works. The feasibility of a Solar Farm at the Wrigley Head 
site was also further developed to reflect the affordability and the Council’s desire to facilitate 
the construction. The Green Agenda is a key element of both the Creating a Better Place 
Initiative and Community Wealth Building Initiatives. 

The Chief Executive of Oldham Council is the Head of Paid Service and is supported by 
the Executive Management Team (EMT) and Senior Management Team (SMT). During the 
financial year 2020/21, the Council’s Chief Executive continued to undertake the role of 
Accountable Officer for the Clinical Commissioning Group in the Locality better integrating 
both organisations with a Joint Leadership Team management structure. The Executive 
Management structure will continue to be subject to regular review as integration with the 
NHS develops in Oldham. 

During 2020/21 the Chief Executive Officer/Accountable Officer was seconded to assist the 
national effort on developing Track and Trace in response to the pandemic. Appropriate 
management arrangements were put in place to provide cover as required. 

Cabinet portfolios are assigned on a functional basis rather than by directorate and subject 
to appropriate officer support. Shadow Cabinet Members also meet with support officers 
(virtually throughout 2020/21) on a regular basis to ensure appropriate political scrutiny. As 
part of the budget process, Opposition parties have the facility to prepare alternative 
proposals. For both 2020/21 and the subsequent 2021/22 budget, alternative proposals 
were presented and subject to Scrutiny before consideration at full Council. 

The Director of Finance is the nominated Chief Financial Officer in accordance with Section 
151 of the Local Government Act 1972. Internal Audit Services are provided in- house, 
supported by a partnership with Salford Council for Computer Audit. The Internal Audit team 
achieved compliance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards as evidenced by the 
Independent External Review of the service, undertaken in 2017/18. The Head of Internal 
Audit (The Head of Corporate Governance at Oldham Council during 2020/21) has direct 
access to all members of EMT, SMT as well as all Members and has utilised this discretion 
when appropriate. CIPFA’s guidance on the Role of the Head of Internal Audit was issued 
in early April 2019 and a compliance review identifying the Council followed best practice 
was reported to the Audit Committee on 25 June 2019. 

The system of internal financial control is based upon a framework of comprehensive 
financial regulations and procedures, within the Constitution, which comply with Good 
Practice. A substantial update of The Finance Procedure Rules was agreed by full Council at 
its meeting on 8 January 2020. Control is based on regular management information, 
management supervision, and a structure of delegation and accountability. If there are 
fundamental failures in internal control these are subject to investigation. A fundamental 
review of the Contract Procedure Rules (CPR) was undertaken during 2020/21 and these 
revisions were ratified at the first meeting of the Council during the first Council meeting of 
the Municipal Year 2021/22. 

The Director of Legal Services is the Monitoring Officer and is responsible for ensuring the 
Authority acts in accordance with the Constitution. Senior Officers have the primary 

Page 214



181 
 
 

responsibility for ensuring decisions are properly made within a scheme of delegation at 
appropriate levels of responsibility. The Constitution contains codes of conduct and 
protocols for Members and Officers. 

In order to have appropriate scrutiny of the Authority the Audit Committee has the capacity to 
appoint three Independent Members. The Council has struggled to recruit to these roles. 
The recruitment of an Independent Chair was not successful despite three separate adverts. 
A further exercise was deferred in 2020/21 due to the pandemic. This recruitment will now be 
undertaken in 2021/22. 

The Audit Committee members receive appropriate briefings supported by training from key 
officers and third parties to enhance the Governance Framework. In the financial year 
2020/21 the membership of the Audit Committee did not change so no specific training was 
required as it was provided in 2019/20. 

The Standards Committee utilise independent investigators from outside the organisation to 
supplement in-house resources where appropriate to investigate any serious allegations 
into Member misconduct. 
 
 
 

Principle B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement 

The Authority, at the Council meeting in July 2017 agreed its long-term Corporate Plan 
which sets out the Authority’s Co-operative vision and values, assimilating them into its 
strategic objectives. This links the objectives through to outcomes, identifying the service 
areas responsible and performance indicators. The Authority works closely with other local 
public bodies, community and voluntary groups via a partnership approach to ensure 
effective delivery of its services. The operation of the Oldham Leadership Board recognises 
that the Council is a body that champions Oldham. 

A long-term specific initiative to demonstrate co-operative working with the community to 
improve their sustainability has been Get Oldham Growing – an initiative which aims to 
encourage communities in Oldham to be more active and engaged in food growing, to 
improve health and develop opportunities for new social businesses in the local food 
economy. 

The Council Leader, on an annual basis presents to full Council, the forthcoming priorities of 
the administration. This is used to influence and shape the policies and strategies produced 
by the Authority. The Council meeting is streamed live giving every citizen of the borough 
the chance to review and challenge these priorities. 

In addition to the above, the Council is a constituent District of the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority (GMCA) which exercises a number of new powers devolved from 
Central Government. The GMCA meetings are also held in the public domain and streamed 
live. The Leader of the Council is a constituent member of the GMCA. During 2020/21, the 
Leader of the Council was the GMCA lead for Education, Skills and Digital across the 
region. 

Page 215



182 
 
 

Progress on delivering the Corporate Plan is communicated through a performance 
management framework. The Overview and Scrutiny Performance and Value for Money 
Select Committee (PVFM) traditionally receives quarterly reports on both performance 
against the Corporate Plan and budget monitoring in addition to matters referred to it by 
Cabinet. These quarterly reports focus by exception and set out corrective measures where 
key performance indicators or the agreed budget have not been met. It is important to note 
in 2020/21 financial monitoring information was produced monthly in order to ensure 
transparency in the COVID response. 

The Overview and Scrutiny Board receives reports on specific matters and policy initiatives 
to be considered by Cabinet at future meetings, whilst overall scrutiny is provided by both 
the Audit & Standards Committees. 

During the financial year 2019/20 the Council strengthened its Scrutiny arrangements by 
creating a Health Scrutiny Committee prior to its detailed review undertaken in 2020/21. 

In order to demonstrate its openness, the Authority also publishes its: 
• Pay Policy Statement to support the Annual Budget; 
• Constitution; 
• Council, Cabinet and Committee Reports; 
• Scheme of delegation reports; 
• Information on payments over £500; and 
• Health and Safety Action Plan. 

The Council operates a system of a District Lead Elected Member supported by a system 
whereby individual ward members have a specific budget (£0.006m in 2020/21) to spend on 
local priorities. Working through their local contacts, these local representatives utilising 
their budgets were able to support a number of community groups during the pandemic. 

All reports taken as “closed reports” benefit from Monitoring/ Deputy Monitoring Officer and 
Director of Finance sign off and appropriate advice before the matter receives due 
consideration including training where appropriate. 

Those Members of the Authority undertaking the role as a District Lead Member receive 
regular training to support them discharge the role and bring challenge to Officers. This 
training programme is overseen by the Organisational Development Team. 

There is regular contact with the other nine constituent Districts through the meetings of the 
GMCA. Lead Members and Officers feedback issues to the constituent Districts on pertinent 
matters. Separately the Statutory Regulatory Officers for Finance and Legal Services meet 
regularly to consider matters of common concern and agree a common approach on shared 
issues. 

In order to ensure its message is effectively communicated to its citizens, the Council’s 
Communications function proactively prepares appropriate press releases to support the 
Co-operative vision of the Council. A user friendly and well-designed Oldham Council 
website ensures all citizens are aware of the co-operative vision, strategies, policies and 
initiatives available. This website was redesigned in the 2019/20 financial year and ensures 
the communication medium with the Council and its residents remains up to- 

Page 216



183 
 
 

date. This was an important means of communication with citizens and source of 
information throughout the pandemic during 2020/21. 

To enable the public to highlight concerns in an appropriate manner the Authority and 
selected key contractors of high-profile services have complaints procedures which enables 
issues to be linked into future contract performance. 

The Authority has spent its resources within the overall agreed budget for the financial year 
2020/21 with a small underspend of £2.153m. The pandemic linked into COVID-19 has 
resulted in additional expenditure for the financial year 2020/21 which has been financed 
by enhanced Central Government support. It proved challenging monitoring the financial 
position during the year with ever increasing levels of Government grant being provided for 
general purposes and specific initiatives. Overall, the modest favourable variance will assist 
future financial resilience. 

Central Government provided wide ranging funding throughout the financial year to support 
increased expenditure in response to the pandemic, to compensate for loss of income and 
relieve hardship for residents. 

Further financial support for adult social care was received from the NHS via Oldham CCG 
to support hospital discharges but also more specific adult social care functions. This was 
facilitated via the Section 75 pooled budget agreement. 

Further additional grant funding was received to administer support to businesses, starting 
with £54.738m paid right at the beginning of 2020/21. This was initially paid to enable the 
Council to act as an agent on behalf of Government to administer a mandatory grants under 
the Small Business Grant Fund (SBGF) and the Retail, Leisure and Hospitality Grant Fund 
(RLHGF). This was then extended to include a discretionary grant scheme. In total 
£47.845m was paid under the SBGF and the RLHGF and £2.501m under the discretionary 
scheme. As per the guidance, unspent grant was repaid to Central Government in 2020/21. 

As it became apparent further restrictions to businesses would be required in the financial 
year, the Council acted as both the agent and principal (dependent upon the type of grant) to 
further Government support to businesses (Local Restrictions Support Grant and Additional 
Restrictions Grant). It also received funding to support vulnerable residents, to contain the 
spread of the virus and a grant to support enforcement. Overall a further 
£110.669m of specific and unringfenced grants were received by the Council from Central 
Government to aid the response to the pandemic. 

Consideration and approval by the Authority of its future budget for 2021/22 took place at its 
4 March 2021 full Council meeting. Due to increasing cost pressures on Adult Social Care, 
the Council Tax recommendation resulted in a specific 2% increase to be implemented to 
finance expenditure in this area (with a further 1% increase deferred to 2022/23) and a 
0.99% Council Tax increase for general services. 

The budget was set having regard to the anticipated financial implications of COVID-19 and 
the impact on future financial resilience together with expected levels of extra Central 
Government support. There is a risk the financial legacy of COVID impacts on the longer- 

Page 217



184 
 
 

term resilience of the Council. This will become clearer as further information becomes 
available. 

The Council’s Four-Year Efficiency Plan was initially prepared to give certainty over the 
level of Central Government funding from 2016/17 to 2019/20, and effectively planned for 
year on year reductions to budgets. This was initially agreed by Cabinet on 5 September 
2016 and the period the plan covered is now complete. This underpinned the Medium- Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) of the Council at the time to support the budget process until the 
end of the Financial Year 2019/20. It supported the financial resilience of the Authority 
enabling it to withstand unforeseen events and pressures by maintaining an appropriate 
level of reserves and balances to support on-going resilience and future development of 
efficiencies. Since then there has only been two single year financial settlements from 
Government which has resulted in the preparation of the MTFS with the inclusion of a range 
of key assumptions about further Government grant support. 

The reserves are managed by reference to the approved Reserves Policy which is regularly 
reviewed by the Audit Committee. The level of balances is informed by the budget process. 

The availability of reserves during the 2021/22 budget process facilitated planned one-off 
financial support (over 2 financial years) to enable the efficient transformation of both the 
Council and the Locality with a planned implementation in a managed manner. It supported 
the continued improved planned pooling of resources with health service partners to deliver 
future efficiencies. 

With the pandemic occurring during March 2020, it impacted in the short term on the plans 
for transformation during 2020/21 and future years. It is the availability of the reserves which 
provide short term financial resilience so the Council can continue service provision and the 
response required to the COVID-19 pandemic and allow time for the transformational 
activity to be embedded. It is possible that Central Government support for the Council will 
be much more limited as the country emerges from the pandemic and the financial strategy 
will be shaped by this as the information emerges. 

The overall financial strategy following the COVID-19 pandemic enabled Council Tax rises 
to be set at a level, which balanced the needs of the Council around ongoing financial 
resilience with affordability to residents. It has also enabled the Council to manage 
successfully, continued pressures of demand around Children’s Social Care within its 
2020/21 budget. 

Appropriate consultation was considered in the production and design of the detailed 
Authority Strategies which aim to deliver appropriate co-operative solutions to benefit both 
present and future generations. The Get Oldham Working Initiative embedded in the Council 
has helped to create year on year work-related opportunities for our citizens. This led to the 
development of the Oldham Work and Skills Strategy which has 4 strategic goals to support 
the Council’s co-operative vision. Already it is clear that this type support will have to 
continue to adapt because of the pandemic due to a significant number of Oldham residents 
losing their jobs due to the restrictions applied nationally. 

Page 218



185 
 
 

 
Principle C – Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and 
environmental benefits 

The Corporate Plan, supported by individual Service Business Plans, the work of the GMCA 
and the Oldham Locality Plan set out the immediate and long-term vision of the Council. 
The 2020/21 budget delivered within the agreed resource allocation, supported this vision. 

The 2020/21 budget was set pre pandemic. The resources available to the Council reflected 
a different operating environment and were planned to be deployed to continue to improve 
performance and reflect the agreed vision of a Co-operative Council in a Co- operative 
Borough. These principles and aspirations of the Council have not changed but are likely to 
require review as the full impact (the legacy of COVID) to both service provision and on 
financial resilience of responding to this emergency becomes clear linked into future long-
term Government financial support. 

Risk management is integral to the governance arrangements in the Authority and the key 
risks are considered by the Audit Committee and EMT. During the financial year 2019/20 
an opportunity was taken to update and refresh the Risk Management Framework. This 
revised approach was becoming embedded in the Council pre pandemic and was 
incorporated into the production of Service Plans for 2020/21. 

Regular updates on Corporate Governance are reported to the Audit Committee. In 
advance of each meeting of the Audit Committee there is the opportunity for the External 
Auditor to hold an informal meeting with the Head of Paid Service and the key Statutory 
Finance Officer to determine if any matters need highlighting to the Audit Committee. The 
risks are managed by the risk holders that are predominantly members of EMT. 

The Authority’s risk management framework consists of: 

• a risk management policy statement; 

• an Authority Risk Register and specific Risk Registers on key initiatives; 

• ensuring that risk management is integral to the planning process and linked to 
key Authority and Contract objectives within business plans; 

• regular updates of the Annual Governance Statement produced for the Audit 
Committee; 

• allocated responsibilities; 

• systems for mitigating and controlling risks; and 

• systems for monitoring and reviewing risks and controls assurance. 

Controls Assurance is an important part of the process to assure the Authority that the 
identified risks are being properly managed. This is carried out during the financial year by: 

• the Audit Committee; 

• the Standards Committee; 

Page 219



186 
 
 

• Chief Executive/ Accountable Officer; 

• Deputy Chief Executive, the Strategic Directors, Managing Directors and 
Directors; 

• Directors of Finance and Legal Services; 

• Statutory Officers for Children’s Services, Education, Adults Social Services and 
Public Health Services; 

• Internal/External Audit; and 

• Appropriate Scrutiny arrangements which hold the Cabinet to account. 
 

In 2020/21 the reports produced by the Authority to support key decisions included 
appropriate risk comments. 

The Constitution defines and documents the roles and responsibilities of Officers and 
Members with clear delegation arrangements, protocols for decision making and codes of 
conduct for Members and staff. It is supported by an extended Members’ training package 
which has received positive feedback from Members. Towards the end of March 2020 due 
to the pandemic it was necessary to instigate emergency delegation as per the Councils 
Constitution to support decisions required in response to the pandemic. Virtual meetings 
were instigated from late April 2020 to ensure decision-making was in accordance with the 
Constitution. 

Member and Officer Relationships are mutually supportive and based on openness, 
honesty, trust and appropriate challenge. The latter is essential in ensuring the Authority 
maintains its leading position as a Co-operative Borough and are vital in making service 
changes to turn its ‘Co-operative’ vision into a reality, with its citizens more able to self- 
serve. 

All changes to Service are supported by an Equality Impact Assessment. This results in 
alternative access arrangements being made where necessary, with information provided in 
multiple formats including on the website. This reflects the diverse nature of the wards that 
make-up the Authority. This is demonstrated in the Council budget meeting with high risk 
budget proposals being supported by an Equality Impact Assessment. It is also 
demonstrated in standard reports produced to support key decisions. 
 
 
Principle D – Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the 
achievement of the intended outcome 

The management structure continued to be realigned during 2020/21 to take account of 
both the Co-operative Vision, continual challenging financial targets of the Authority, the 
continuing integration of health and social care services, the part time secondment of the 
Chief Executive/ Oldham CCG Accountable Officer the requirement to respond to the 
pandemic and specific service challenges. Appropriate management arrangements were 
put in place to provide cover as required. 

Page 220



187 
 
 

Decision making before the pandemic was based on rigorous and transparent scrutiny and 
an excellent relationship between Officers and Members based on mutual trust. That trust is 
maintained by openness and appropriate arrangements which ensure the involvement of 
all relevant Parties at the right level of responsibility ensuring all strategic decisions are led 
by Members. This has continued in 2020/21 with remote working practices instigated. 

The implementation of the agreed policies at officer level is overseen by EMT. This is 
supported by the Senior Management Team, Joint Leadership Team (which has senior 
Council and NHS officer membership) and Directorate Management Teams. 

In order to achieve the long-term financial targets, the Authority at its 4 March 2021 meeting 
set a budget for the financial year 2021/22 supported by an appropriate assessment of risk 
by the Director of Finance. All the expected risks post the pandemic as at 4 March 2021 
were considered in the budget report. The future savings required by the Council with the 
planned achievement from future transformational activity were also presented. 

Financial resilience was supported by an agreed Reserves Policy which pre pandemic was 
subject to regular review underpinning the long-term financial resilience of the Council and 
supporting the vision of a Co-operative Council in a Co-operative Borough. 

The Authority agreed an efficiency plan during 2016/17 with Central Government. The 
2016/17 to 2019/20 budgets, with associated savings, were based upon this. The efficiency 
plan gave certainty of the main Government grant funding streams for the period now 
ended. 

With 2019/20 being the last year of this agreement with Government and the Government 
announcing a one-year settlement for 2020/21 (also for 2021/22), a key issue for the 
Council is the uncertainty about Government funding for 2022/23, and beyond. Whilst the 
Government has yet to give any clear indication of the quantum of funding or the allocation 
methodology, budget projections may therefore be subject to considerable variation. It is 
not certain given the national pandemic (and whether the restrictions linked into the opening 
of the economy ease) and the split from the European Union whether this certainty will be 
provided during the financial year 2021/22. The reserves and balances available to the 
Council supporting its immediate financial resilience are therefore important in the context 
of managing a period of potential financial turbulence. 

Building on the Income Strategy, Corporate Property Investment Strategy and Corporate 
Property Strategy which were approved prior to 31 March 2019, the Income Strategy and 
the Commercial Property Investment Strategy was refreshed on 16 December 2019. These 
are key to ensure that the Council makes the most efficient and effective use of resources 
and its property assets and can deliver approved budget reductions. Recent Government 
and CIPFA guidance have curtailed some of the planned commercial investment 
anticipated within the Creating a Better Place programme meaning the Corporate Property 
Investment Strategy is no longer being pursued (the Creating a Better Place programme was 
subsequently reviewed and realigned in August 2020). The 

Page 221



188 
 
 

pandemic will impact on these strategies even more and a further review will be required in 
2021/22. 

A Transformation Programme was already in progress pre pandemic under the joint 
working arrangements with the CCG, which sought to generate more effective service 
delivery and future efficiencies. The future workload of this programme has been influenced 
by the impact of the pandemic during 2020/21 and will be influenced by the forthcoming 
national changes to the delivery of NHS functions. 

All meetings of the Cabinet and key Committees are publicised and are open to public 
scrutiny which has been enhanced by the virtual meetings taking place in the financial year 
2020/21 only. All decisions are formally recorded. In addition, decisions taken under 
delegated powers are also recorded electronically and are reported via the Council’s 
Electronic Decision Recording System. Several urgent decisions for the financial year 
2020/21 were required under emergency procedures due to the nature of the pandemic. 

The Audit Committee is an essential part of good governance. It reviewed the control 
environment for all the Council during 2020/21 and considered the progress made on issues 
highlighted in the Annual Governance Statement, including specific reports on certain 
issues such as the implementation of the payroll system. 

Internal and External Audit both have direct access to and support the Committee including 
the ability of the External Auditor to have direct contact, without Officers of the Authority 
being present. To support the Committee specific training was provided in the financial year 
2019/20 and as the Committee membership did not change in 2020/21, members were 
considered to be appropriately skilled to continue their function in 2020/21. All meetings in 
2020/21 were held virtually. 

The detailed matters reviewed by the Audit Committee during 2020/21 were: 

• Treasury Management matters including Council borrowing including investment 
and loans; 

• Earmarked Reserves; 

• future Internal and External Audit Work; 

• the findings of both External and Internal Audit on control matters, including 
payroll; 

• key developments impacting on financial resilience of other local authorities due 
to poor governance such as partnership governance; 

• the 2019/20 Statement and Accounts and associated external audit findings; 

• issues linked into data protection and cyber security; and 

• the Internal Audit Charter 

The Council, in order to discharge its statutory functions in relation to overviewing all health 
matters in the Borough, operates a dedicated Scrutiny Committee which met throughout 
the year. Partnership working in the Borough with the Council, Health Services and key 
partners is supported by the Health and Wellbeing Board which met on a number of 

Page 222



189 
 
 

occasions virtually during 2020/21. This Committee has an objective to improve the 

Page 223



190 
 
 

public health in the area and to oversee integration of health and local authority service 
provision under the Locality Plan which is produced under the Greater Manchester 
devolution remit. In order to improve Scrutiny a specific committee to review health matters 
was created during 2019/20. 

The Standards Committee reviews Members’ conduct following the receipt of any 
complaints about official conduct on Council business by commissioning independent 
investigations. Where appropriate matters are reported and considered by full Council. The 
Standards Committee operated as expected throughout 2020/21. 

All Directors prepare Divisional Plans that contain key actions and performance targets 
necessary to deliver the co-operative objectives of the Council. 

Independent service reviews are carried out under the performance management 
frameworks which results in formal quarterly reports to both the Cabinet and the PVFM 
Select Committee. Where performance is perceived to be below corporate standards, 
specific reports are presented to the PVFM Select Committee or in the case of Educational 
attainment at schools, a special session is arranged to discuss issues including Academies. 
In addition, in 2020/21 the PVFM Select Committee reviewed the impact of budget 
monitoring reports with increased frequency given the pressure on both income, expenditure 
and the impact of receipt of government financial support which was notified at different 
points in the financial year. 

Educational attainment in the Borough is acknowledged as a particular priority and the 
Oldham Education and Skills Commission has been set up with a vision to create a “Self- 
improving education system where schools, colleges and all interested parties work 
together in a new collaborative partnership”. The aim is to improve results in this area for 
the longer term, so children and young people will be School Ready, Work Ready and Life 
Ready. 

Additional resources were agreed within the 2020/21 budget as funded growth to implement 
associated improvements identified by the January 2019 Ofsted inspection of Children’s 
Social Care Services and the September 2019 Ofsted and Care Quality Commission 
inspection (revisit) of the Special Educational Needs and Disabilities service provision. 
These reports found services had improved from the previous inspections, but further work 
was required. 

The Council was subject to an Ofsted focused visit during 2020/21 to review the 
performance of the children’s social care system within the context of the restrictions during 
the COVID-19 pandemic. The majority of findings were positive. Also, during the year, the 
Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Strategy and Development Plan was reviewed to 
consider the impact of the pandemic on services. All of these reviews are influencing current 
and future service delivery. 

Scrutiny of budget matters including those of the administration and opposition were, again, 
during 2020/21, carried out by the PVFM Select Committee. This ensures openness and 
transparency in the way in which Officers/Members engage and have ownership in the 
budget challenge process. The MTFS approved for 2020/21 to 2024/25 reflected the view 
of the resources available to the Authority in the context of the best 

Page 224



191 
 
 

estimate of Government grants supported by the revenue it can generate itself. In order to 
improve its long-term financial sustainability, the Authority agreed once again for 2020/21 
to continue to be part of the Greater Manchester Business Rates Retention pilot scheme. 
Taking part in this pilot scheme has enabled the ten Greater Manchester Authorities to test 
and shape the new financing regime for Local Government which is expected to be based 
on the retention of business rates, whilst at the same time benefitting from funding gains 
offered to pilot scheme Authorities. This is in addition to the benefits arising from business 
rates pooling which has been in operation for several financial years. It had been anticipated 
that a new national business rates funding regime would be implemented in 2021/22. This 
has not proved possible and for the financial year 2021/22 the existing scheme has 
remained unchanged before its expected replacement in 2022/23. 

The Contract Procedure Rules (CPR) within the Constitution alongside the Co-operative 
Values and Behaviours set out in the Corporate Plan, clearly establish the Authority’s 
requirements on social value. These have been subject to revision in 2020/21 with Council 
agreeing the revised CPR’s at its first meeting during the municipal year 2021/22. 
 
 
Principle E – Developing the entity’s capacity including the capability of its 
leadership and the individuals within it. 

To support the achievement of its strategic priorities, the Authority reviews the 
organisational framework annually to ensure it has the right people with the right skills. The 
Authority has an agreed Workforce Strategy, working in partnership with NHS partners. 
This was refreshed in 2020 recognising that staff are the Council’s greatest asset. This is 
supported within a performance framework covering all officers including an appraisal 
system with targeted, relevant training. 

The Human Resources Policy and Procedures applicable to the appointments process. 
This is transparent, and available to staff via the Council’s intranet site. 

There are targeted programmes often utilising E-Learning with the Organisational 
Development team supporting these policies ensuring appropriate consideration is given to 
the future capacity of the organisation. These training courses are aligned to the co- 
operative ambition and underpinned by the Council’s co-operative values and behaviours. 
There are regular team meetings and one to ones (1:1s). 

The Authority implements the national agreement on pay and conditions of service. The 
Authority has achieved its commitment to pay the Foundation Living Wage for its entire staff 
and is seeking to also achieve that through its contractual arrangements. It has a further 
ambition over a two-year period to implement the principles of the Living Wage Foundation 
in line with its Co-Operative Values. 

A full training programme for both established and recently elected Members (the Local 
Leaders’ Programme) continued to be delivered in 2020/21 to support the vision of a Co- 
operative Council. The content of the programme changes annually but the emphasis 
remains on all Members demonstrating community leadership. The planned programme is 
supported by ad hoc training for Members who have specific Committee 

Page 225



192 
 
 

responsibilities. Individual Members produce information published on the website which 
outlines their role in the Authority and achievements. 

The Authority, to ensure an independent review of its systems, operates an Internal Audit 
Service complying with best practice as set out by Public Sector Internal Audit Standards. 
The findings of Internal Audit are reported to the Audit Committee which includes an annual 
opinion on the internal control environment. The overall opinion, based on more limited 
assurance for 2020/21 is adequate, indicating the continuation of a well-managed Council. 

Delegated decisions for all matters are publicly available on the internet. Certain key 
partners who provide essential Council Services are subject to independent oversight by 
the Overview and Scrutiny Performance and Value for Money Select Committee. 

To support decision making the Authority works with its Partners to maintain accurate and 
timely data to ensure decisions are based on a comprehensive understanding of financial 
costs and performance. Monthly data reported though the agreed partnership monitoring 
process is used to assess performance against the Cooperative objectives. 

The Constitution is reviewed on an annual basis and key updates were undertaken in 
2020/21 including a comprehensive review of the Contract Procedure Rules and the 
protocols for holding meetings remotely. 

Arrangements and processes are in place to safeguard Members and employees against 
conflicts of interest. An annual reminder to complete declarations of interest is sent to all 
Members and followed up as needed. A gift/hospitality register and complaints procedures 
are also in place and are actively used. Appropriate matters identified are investigated with 
regard to due Council Process. 
 

Principle F – Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and 
strong public management 
 
The Council’s Risk Management Framework which was refreshed during 2019/20 has been 
set out under Principle C. This ensures there is continuous monitoring and reporting of risk. 

Each year in the electoral cycle, new Members of the Council are inducted prior to the 
Authority’s Annual General Meeting (AGM). This is of vital importance, given the technical 
complexity of the Council’s core operations, the decision-making structure and the financial 
value of the transactions controlled by the Authority. There were no elections in 2020/21 
resulting in no new members requiring specific training. 

All Statutory Officers are appropriately skilled and experienced, undertake training and 
support to carry out their duties effectively and, as appropriate, participate in continuous 
professional development. 

The Cabinet meets on a monthly basis at set times to consider key matters including those 
on performance and risk. Items for decision are published in the Key Decision 

Page 226



193 
 
 

Document to enable the public to be aware of future decisions. All reports include reference 
to the corporate objectives of the Council. In the event of an urgent item requiring a decision 
not published in the Key Decision Document, the agreement of the Chair of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Board must be obtained to exempt the decision from agreed scrutiny 
protocols. 

In addition to the quarterly performance reports, Cabinet receives financial monitoring 
reports. During 2020/21, the frequency of financial monitoring reports was increased to a 
monthly basis (months 3-9) to highlight the changing financial position and present the 
estimated outturn against the approved budget. The 2020/21 month 9 budget monitoring 
report highlighted that the Council outturn would be in line with the agreed budget. The final 
outturn overall increased the surplus compared to the projection although the outturn on 
Adult Social Care was lower than projected due to the increased financial support from 
Oldham CCG. 

During 2020/21, management of the use of reserves was in accordance with the agreed 
Reserves Policy and careful financial stewardship has ensured that in year an overall 
underspend against the budget was achieved which will be used to increase balances and 
support the short to medium-term financial resilience of the Council. Overall, there has been 
an increase in Earmarked Reserves and the level remains appropriate to support the 
present budget strategy as set out at the meeting on 4 March 2021. 

The annual budget is supported by the Director of Finance commenting upon its 
deliverability and is availability of an appropriate reserves policy. The final accounts, of 
which this Statement is an integral part, outline the outturn of the Authority and are prepared 
in accordance with professional standards and are subject to external audit review. 

In order to demonstrate robust internal control, the Authority has: 

• a Risk Management Framework linked into the Authority Structure; 

• an appropriate suite of Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policies; 

• a balanced budget supported by appropriate reserves to underpin financial 
resilience; and 

• Audit and Standards Committees, which are supported by independent Members. 

The Council undertook a survey of all its staff in 2016/17 to assess their views on the 
management of the organisation. The findings have been considered in the production of 
service plans and priorities from 2017/18 onwards. A further survey was planned for the 
first quarter of 2020/21 but had to be deferred due to the longevity of the pandemic. 
 
 
Principle G – Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to 
deliver effective accountability 
 
The Authority is proactive in engaging with citizens and other key stakeholders, and the 
pandemic which has dominated the Council’s working practices since mid-February 2020 

Page 227



194 
 
 

drove ever closer working relationships with the National Health Service and accelerated 
integrated working. 

The Authority in 2020/21 has demonstrated it was proactive in engaging and 
communicating with key stakeholders to boost and support the public. Key examples 
include setting up a hub at the Civic Centre to co-ordinate and distribute Personal Protective 
Equipment across all sectors with a staff redeployed to assist, facilitating external funding 
to provide a COVID Emergency response panel to provide support to self-isolating 
residents. 

The Council has a key role in the Greater Manchester Agenda including devolution 
initiatives by: 
 

• taking part in the monthly meetings of the Combined Authority with the Leader 
representing the Council; 

• agreeing to both innovation and risk by piloting new initiatives at a regional level 
such as 100% business rates retention; 

• locality working with the NHS at both a Greater Manchester wide level and Oldham 
area; and 

• supporting new initiatives such as increased devolution of Adult Education 
 

As part of the Transparency Agenda the Authority publishes Senior Officer Salaries over 
£50,000 and payments for works, goods and services over £500 on its web site. As part of 
this process, improvements have been made to internal control procedures on 
procurement, which ensure Commissioning and Procurement is fair, transparent, ethical 
and based on the needs of the community and an understanding of the marketplace. The 
Authority is attentive to the need to meet wider social and economic objectives whilst 
achieving value for money (VfM). Consistent decisions are sustained through an e- 
procurement system (the Chest), supported by internal Policies and Procedures. 

The Authority, as part of the 2011 Localism Act and accountability in local pay, agreed its 
annually updated Pay Policy Statement at the Budget Council meeting prior to the start of 
2020/21 to further support the Authority’s preference for openness and transparency. 

Apart from regular liaison with key Government bodies the Authority is also fully engaged 
with the Local Government Association (LGA), Greater Manchester Association of 
Municipal Treasurers and specialist region wide initiatives such as the Association of 
Greater Manchester Authorities (AGMA) Low Carbon Hub. 

Internally there are well established and clear routes on how staff and their representatives 
are consulted and involved in decision making. These includes programmed staff surveys, 
regular staff briefings, internal briefings, and team meetings and staff appraisals. 

During 2018/19 there was a handover of External Audit responsibilities from Grant Thornton 
(UK) LLP to Mazars LLP. Mazars LLP undertook the audit for the last two financial years 
and will undertake the 2020/21 audit. The audit of the Housing Benefit 

Page 228



195 
 
 

subsidy claims, and Teachers Pension Service Return are being undertaken via 
arrangements agreed as a collaborative procurement across all Greater Manchester 
Councils and is being undertaken by KPMG LLP. 

All External audit work is conducted with regard to the Code of Practice produced by the 
National Audit Office. Going forward certain changes are expected to external oversight as 
the recommendations from the Redmond Review are considered. 
 
Partnership Arrangements 

 

The Authority currently delivers a wide range of services, which often involve working in 
partnership with others, many of which involve considerable levels of funding. The financial 
year 2019/20 was the first full year that the Council wholly owned the Unity Partnership Ltd. 
and the benefits of acquisition have continued as planned. 

The Council has another wholly owned Company MioCare Community Interest Company 
(CIC) to assist it to provide key Adult Social Care Services. This company has operated for 
a number of years since becoming operational on 1 December 2013. 

The Authority has continued its plans to integrate with NHS services to improve the 
efficiency of public services. The increased contribution to adult social care services by 
Oldham CCG in 2020/21 highlights the joint working taking place. 

In response to governance failures reported elsewhere in the public domain the Audit 
Committee commissioned a review of risks associated with the governance of wider 
partnerships linked into the Council. This review reported that the risk, as at 31 March 2021 
from the Council’s involvement in partnerships, was currently being well managed. 

It is a requirement of the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2019/20 that, “Where an authority is in a group relationship with other entities and 
undertakes significant activities through the group, the review of the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control should include its group activities”. This has been undertaken via 
the production of the partnership dashboard and a report submitted to the Audit Committee 
highlighting the risks. This has been incorporated into the production of this Statement of 
Accounts and issues for consideration in the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
Risks on Current Significant Projects 

 

The Authority has completed some significant projects, over the last 3 years, which were 
included in the capital programme. An on-going strategy, Creating a Better Place, is a 
complex initiative which will involve working in partnership with others. Some elements of 
partnership working require considerable levels of one-off and recurrent funding from the 
Council. The Reserves Policy supports the resilience of the Council to deliver its aspirations 
as set out in the capital programme. 

Given the complexity of some projects there remains an on-going risk to manage in case of 
an oversight on the long-term financial commitments arising from these projects. The 

Page 229



196 
 
 

Director of Finance has considered the latest position on this financial risk in both the 
Statement of Accounts and Reserves Policy. Individual reports to support investment in 
projects have been prepared in 2020/21 for consideration by Cabinet with appropriate 
comments by key officers to enable appropriate review of the issues including risks before a 
decision is made. This analysis of risk reflects the expenditure incurred on Town Centre 
Developments and new schools in the financial year 2020/21. 

The issues on both partnership risk and current project risk have been incorporated into 
this Annual Governance Statement where necessary. 
 
Review of Effectiveness 

 

The Authority annually reviews the effectiveness of its governance framework including the 
system of internal control. The review of effectiveness is informed by the work of the senior 
managers within the Authority who have responsibility for the development and 
maintenance of the governance environment; The Annual Report of the Head of Internal 
Audit and comments made by the External Auditors and other review agencies and 
inspectorates. 

The Authority’s strategy and objectives are established and embedded through an annual 
refined Business Planning process, which also sets out the framework for the work 
programme focusing predominantly on achieving efficiencies and the transformation of 
services where the most significant savings may be made. This is developed in tandem 
with the Annual Budget Cycle, and the MTFS, underpinned by the Reserves Policy to 
evidence and support financial resilience. 

An internal audit programme is undertaken, which in 2020/21 has focused on key items in 
the Audit Plan such as financial systems, systems assurance, grant audit and providing data 
for the National Fraud Initiative. This is reported to the Audit Committee in relation to the 
Governance, Treasury Management, Fundamental Financial systems and operational 
controls. Where specific matters were brought to the attention of Internal Audit these have 
been investigated in accordance with the Policies of the Council. 

In the financial year 2020/21 it has not been possible to deliver a full 12 months planned 
programme of work by the Internal Audit function. As reported to the Audit Committee the 
programme of work covered an 8-month period reflecting one off support required in 
administering grants to businesses in response to the pandemic. This is reflected in the 
annual opinion and has been a direct impact of the pandemic. 

An external audit of the accounts for the year ending 31 March 2020 was undertaken by 
Mazars LLP and was reported to the Audit Committee on 21 July 2020. At the time of the 
meeting there remained outstanding some technical issues not under the control of the 
Council. It took some time for the audit to be finalised with the accounts being finally agreed 
via delegation authorised by the Audit Committee on 10 November 2020. Despite the 
challenges in finalising sign off, the Auditor commented positively about the standard of the 
accounts and working papers were considered to be of high quality. The accounts were 
approved within the extended statutory deadline. It is planned that the 2020/21 

Page 230



197 
 
 

accounts will be presented for approval at the Audit Committee at a meeting to be arranged 
on 22 July 2021. 
 
Significant Governance Issues 

 

The Annual Governance Statement identifies the following governance issues and 
major risks for the Authority. These are: 

2020/21 Issues Planned Management Action to 
Reduce Risk 

The internal control environment on Adult 
Social Care systems did not sustain the 
improvements in the financial year 2020/21 
for the third year compared to 2017/18. 
Issues identified in the 2020/21 internal 
audits need to be implemented as a priority 
to improve internal control. 

Added impetus will be given to strengthen 
the financial processes linked into the 
Mosaic system when the pressures on the 
service due to the COVID-19 pandemic 
reduce. This will involve regular meetings of 
key staff responsible for the implementation 
of improvements identified. This will include 
a six-monthly report to the Director of 
Finance on the progress made on emerging 
issues and any improvements identified 
throughout the year. 

There are future changes to the Council’s 
financial resilience (from the previous 
certainty guaranteed by the efficiency plan) 
due to uncertainty on matters outside of the 
Council’s control such as Brexit, the longer 
term costs of the COVID-19 pandemic, the 
future level of government support for areas 
of high deprivation and indirectly or the 
impacts of commitments made under 
devolution. An added pressure is that the 
Council’s previous plans to deliver savings 
by Transformation may continue to be 
constrained by the pandemic. 

During 2021/22, despite continuing to deal 
with the COVID response, there are plans 
to improve efficiency around: 

• Delivering further Transformation in 
the Authority via the plans to deliver 
budget savings. 

• Continued integration and co- 
operation with the NHS. 

• Collection of revenues due to the 
Council. 

• Funding available to support the 
capital programme. 

• Realising the value of entities in 
which the Council has a financial 
interest. 

This will be supported by: 

• The Policy Team reviewing on- 
going updates of national and local 
policy. 

• An agreed Reserves Policy subject 
to regular review. 

Page 231



198 
 
 

2020/21 Issues Planned Management Action to 
Reduce Risk 

 
• Joint working with key partners 

such as the NHS to better align 
resources. 

The Director of Finance considers the risks 
as part of the closure of accounts and 
during the financial monitoring 
arrangements for 2021/22. 

The Council has a number of key 
regeneration projects planned for the future 
as detailed in the Creating A Better Place 
Programme. Should one of these high-
profile projects not be delivered as planned 
it is likely to result in reputational damage to 
the Council or increase the financial 
pressure on the Council for the future made 
more challenging due to the COVID-19 
pandemic 

The Capital Investment Programme Board 
receives bimonthly reports on the high 
value projects once construction is 
underway. 

The Council’s Reserves Policy is reviewed 
on a regular basis by the Director of 
Finance to reflect the agreed risks linked 
into the capital strategy. 

An annual review of the major 
Regeneration Projects included within the 
agreed Capital Programme will be 
undertaken by the Council during 2021/22 
to assess the affordability of the capital 
programme in light of the COVID-19 
pandemic and continued uncertainty over 
long term funding. 

The Director of Finance considers the risks 
as part of the closure of accounts and 
during the future financial monitoring 
arrangements for 2021/22. 

The audit opinion of the internal control 
environment for the operation of payroll 
including pension’s administration 
continued to improve as at 31 March 2021 
although it could not be upgraded to 
adequate. Further improvements to both 
the internal control environment and 
efficiency of the service are required which 
in part are linked into the implementation 
of the new integrated HR system cannot yet 
be fully demonstrated. 

The administration of the payroll system will 
be subject to regular review by the Internal 
Audit Service. 
A report will be prepared for the Audit 
Committee at its meeting in September 
2021 outlining the progress made in 
processing payroll on the new system. 

Page 232



199 
 
 

The continued compliance with  the 
National Transparency Agenda has 

There are regular reviews of the internal 
control mechanism including documenting 

Page 233



200 
 
 

2020/21 Issues Planned Management Action to 
Reduce Risk 

increased the risk of the Council of a future 
fraud enhanced by the COVID-19 
pandemic as information included in the 
public domain and obtained from Freedom 
of Information Requests is used to exploit 
the Council 

changes to procedures operated due to 
home working to ensuring adequate 
controls are in place to prevent third parties 
receiving inappropriate payments. 

The minimalist approach to publishing 
information which is a legislative 
requirement under the Transparency 
Agenda is maintained unless the wider 
public interest is served by publication. 

The Council led Group on Information 
Governance takes organisational 
responsibility for the risk. 

The future reforms to Health Integration do 
not result in the efficiencies anticipated due 
to increased demand due to a number of 
factors including the residual impact of the 
pandemic. 

The Council can with Cabinet approval 
increase its flexibility to increase/ decrease 
the contribution to the pooled budget 
managed under Section 75 of the NHS Act 
2006. This is on the assumption this 
flexibility will enable the whole health and 
care system to implement future 
efficiencies to generate overall savings/ 
improved service. This flexibility will be kept 
under continued review to maximise future 
opportunities for efficiency in Adult Social 
Care. 

The Director of Finance considers the 
emerging risks arising from the 
transformation as part of the closure of 
accounts for 2020/21, ongoing review of the 
council’s reserves/ financial resilience and 
ongoing budget monitoring for 2021/22. 

Dedicated Schools Grant is in a deficit 
position which has a Recovery Plan agreed 
by the Department for Education with the 
aim that it will be brought back to break-
even over a three-year timeframe. 

The recovery plan submitted and agreed by 
the Department for Education in the 
financial year 2019/20 has supported the 
stabilisation of the deficit. The actions 
identified in this Recovery Plan have begun 
to be implemented during 2020/21 and will 
continue to reduce the deficit over the three-
year period. The implementation of these 
actions was initially delayed by the wider 
Council response to the COVID- 
19 pandemic and the need to assist schools 
to re-open from 1 June 2020. A 

Page 234



201 
 
 

2020/21 Issues Planned Management Action to 
Reduce Risk 

 review by the DfE is being undertaken in 
2021/22 to assess the progress made in 
reducing the deficit and any 
recommendations made from this will be 
implemented by the Council 

The deficit position and the progress made 
to address the deficit will be subject to 
regular updates as part of the budget 
monitoring reports to be submitted to 
Cabinet and Schools Forum by the Director 
of Finance. 

Should it not be possible to reduce the 
deficit as envisaged then there is a risk a 
further Recovery Plan may need to be 
submitted to the Schools Forum and 
Department for Education for approval. 

The financial resilience of key partners who 
provide services to the Council have 
deteriorated due to the COVID-19 
pandemic which cannot be supported by 
the Council to guarantee continuity of 
service due to our reduction in financial 
resilience. 

Each instance will be considered by the 
Council on a case by case basis as the 
long-term financial impact on key partners 
caused by COVID-19 becomes clear. Each 
request for assistance will be subject to a 
report with appropriate due diligence 
undertaken. 

Emergency support agreed under the 
urgent arrangements for COVID 19 will be 
regularised as normal working under the 
new business as usual is implemented. 

The present contractual arrangements with 
a number of key suppliers needs to be 
reviewed and better documented so any 
amendments required in a future 
emergency can be streamlined. 

A group of key officers led by the Director of 
Finance meets on a minimum of a weekly 
basis to review the present contract 
documentation in place for contracted 
suppliers. This will ensure that appropriate 
revisions are made to ensure future 
improvements are made. 

Should the Director of Finance require it, a 
report will be prepared by a Service Area to 
be presented to the Audit Committee 
outlining plans to contract and commission 
future services. 

There are outstanding legal matters linked 
into ongoing action against other local 
authorities which have the potential to 

Key cases will be subject to regular review 
by key Statutory Officers within the Council 

Page 235



202 
 
 

2020/21 Issues Planned Management Action to 
Reduce Risk 

impact on past custom and practice within 
the Authority which could have a significant 
future financial impact. 

to assess the risk of an adverse financial 
impact. 

Regular monitoring reports of the Annual 
Governance Statement will assess the risk 
to the Council and be reported to the Audit 
Committee 

 
 
 
 
 

Summary 
 

 
The Authority has in place strong governance arrangements which we are confident 
protect its interests and provide necessary assurances to our citizens and stakeholders. 
However, like all organisations we cannot stand still and thus we propose to continue to 
take steps to address the above matters to enhance further our governance 
arrangements. We are satisfied that the steps described address the need for 
improvement identified in the Authority’s review of effectiveness and will monitor their 
implementation and operation, not only as part of our next annual review, but also 
continuously throughout the year. 
 
 

 
Councillor Arooj Shah Helen Lockwood 
Leader of Oldham Council Deputy Chief Executive 

Oldham Council 
 
  

Page 236



203 
 
 

 

7.0 Glossary of Terms 

Accruals Basis 
The accruals principle is that income is recorded when it is earned rather than when it is received, 
and expenses are recorded when goods or services are received rather than when the payment 
is made. 
 
Actuarial Gains and Losses 
For a defined benefit pension scheme, the changes in actuarial deficits or surpluses that arise 
because events have not coincided with the actuarial assumptions made for the last valuation 
(experience gains and losses) or the actuarial assumptions have changed.  
 
Agency Services 
These are services that are performed by or for another Authority or public body, where the 
principal (the Authority responsible for the service) reimburses the agent (the Authority carrying 
out the work) for the costs of the work. 
 
Amortisation 
A charge to the comprehensive income and expenditure statement which spreads the cost of an 
intangible asset over a number of years in line with the Council’s accounting policies.  
 
Appointed Auditors 
The appointment of External Auditors to Local Authorities is undertaken by the Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Limited (PSAA), an independent company limited by guarantee and incorporated 
by the Local Government Association in August 2014. Mazars LLP is the Council’s appointed 
auditor. 
 
Asset 
Items of worth that are measurable in terms of value. Currents assets may change daily, but the 
Council is expected to yield the benefit within the one financial year (e.g. short term debtors). 
Non-current assets yield benefit to the Council for a period of more than one year (e.g. land).  
 
Associate Companies 
An associate is an entity over which the Council has significant influence. 
 
Association of Greater Manchester Authorities (AGMA) 
AGMA represents the ten local authorities in Greater Manchester and works in partnership with 
Central Government, regional bodies and other Greater Manchester public sector bodies. 
 
Balances 
The balances of the Authority represent the accumulated surplus of income over expenditure on 
any of the Funds. 
 
Better Care Fund (BCF) 
The BCF was announced by Government in the June 2013 spending round to ensure a 
transformation in health and social care.  
 
Capital Adjustment Account 
The Account accumulates (on the debit side) the write-down of the historical cost of non-current 
assets as they are consumed by depreciation and impairments or written off on disposal. It 
accumulates (on the credit side) the resources that have been set aside to finance capital 
expenditure. The same process applies to capital expenditure that is only capital by statutory 
definition (revenue expenditure funded by capital under statute). The balance on the account thus 
represents timing differences between the amount of the historical cost of non-current assets that 

Page 237



204 
 
 

has been consumed and the amount that has been financed in accordance with statutory 
requirements. 
Capital Expenditure 
This is expenditure on the acquisition of a non-current asset, or expenditure, which adds to, and 
not merely maintains, the value of an existing non-current asset. 
 
Capital Financing Charges 
This is the annual charge to the revenue account in respect of interest and principal repayments 
and payments of borrowed money, together with leasing rentals. 
 
Capital Receipts 
Income received from the sale of land or other capital assets, a proportion of which may be used 
to finance new capital expenditure, subject to the provisions contained within the Local 
Government Act 2003. 
 
Carrying Amount 
The Balance Sheet value recorded of either an asset or a liability. 
 
Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
CIPFA is the leading professional accountancy body for public services. 
 
Collection Fund 
The Council as a billing authority has a statutory obligation to maintain a separate Collection 
Fund. This shows the transactions relating to the collection of Council Tax and Business Rates 
and its distribution to Local Government bodies. 
 
Community Assets 
These are non-current assets that the Council intends to hold in perpetuity which have no 
determinable finite useful life and, in addition, may have restrictions on their disposal. Examples 
include parks and historical buildings not used for operational purposes. 
 
Contingency 
This is money set aside in the budget to meet the cost of unforeseen items of expenditure, or 
shortfalls in income, and to provide for inflation where this is not included in individual budgets. 
 
Contingent Liabilities or Assets 
These are amounts potentially due to or from individuals or organisations which may arise in the 
future but which at this time cannot be determined accurately, and for which provision has not 
been made in the Council’s accounts. 
 
Co-operative Council 
This is the ethos of the Council embodied by the desire that citizens, partners and staff work 
together to improve the borough and create a confident and ambitious place. 
 
Council Tax Requirement 
This is the estimated revenue expenditure on General Fund services that will be financed from 
the Council Tax after deducting income from fees and charges, General Fund Balances, specific 
grants and any funding from reserves. 
 
Creditors 
Amounts owed by the Council for work done, goods received or services rendered, for which 
payment has not been made at the date of the balance sheet. 
 
Current Service Cost 

Page 238



205 
 
 

Current Service Cost is the increase in the present value of a defined benefit pension scheme’s 
liabilities expected to arise from employee service in the current period, i.e. the ultimate pension 
benefits “earned” by employees in the current year’s employment. 
 
Current Value 
The current value of an asset reflects the economic environment prevailing for the service or 
function the asset is supporting at the reporting date. 
 
Curtailment 
Curtailments will show the cost of the early payment of pension benefits if any employee has 
been made redundant in the previous financial year. 
 
Debtors 
These are sums of money due to the Council that have not been received at the date of the 
Balance Sheet. 
 
Dedicated Schools Grant Adjustment Account  
A temporary ringfenced reserve established by the 2020/21 Code to hold any DSG deficit 
separately from the Council’s General Fund Earmarked reserves.   
 
Deferred Capital Receipts 
These represent capital income still to be received after disposals have taken place and wholly 
consists of principal outstanding from the sale of council houses. 
 
Defined Benefit Scheme 
This is a pension or other retirement benefit scheme other than a defined contribution scheme. 
Usually, the scheme rules define the benefits independently of the contributions payable and the 
benefits are not directly related to the investments of the scheme. The scheme may be funded or 
unfunded (including notionally funded). 
 
Defined Contribution Scheme 
A Defined Contribution Scheme is a pension or other retirement benefit scheme into which an 
employer pays regular contributions as an amount or as a percentage of pay and will have no 
legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the scheme does not have sufficient 
assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods. 
 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) 
MHCLG is a Central Government department with the overriding responsibility for determining 
the allocation of general resources to Local Authorities. 
 
Depreciation 
This is the measure of the wearing out, consumption, or other reduction in the useful economic 
life of property, plant and equipment assets. 
 
Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC) 
A method of valuation that provides a proxy for the market value of specialist assets. 
  
Derecognition 
Financial assets and liabilities will need to be removed from the Balance Sheet once performance 
under the contract is complete or the contract is terminated. 
 
Discounts 
Discounts represent the outstanding discount received on the premature repayment of Public 
Works Loan Board loans. In line with the requirements of the Code, gains arising from the 
repurchase or early settlement of borrowing have been written back to revenue. However, where 
the repurchase or borrowing was coupled with a refinancing or restructuring of borrowing with 

Page 239



206 
 
 

substantially the same overall economic effect when viewed as a whole, gains have been 
recognised over the life of the replacement loan. 
 
 
Earmarked Reserves 
The Council holds a number of reserves earmarked to be used to meet specific, known or 
predicted future expenditure. 
 
 
External Audit 
The independent examination of the activities and accounts of Local Authorities to ensure the 
accounts have been prepared in accordance with legislative requirements and proper practices 
and to ensure the Authority has made proper arrangements to secure value for money in its use 
of resources. 
 
Fair Value 
Fair Value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
Fees and Charges  
Income arising from the provision of services e.g. the use of trade waste services  
 
Finance Lease 
A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of 
a non-current asset to the lessee. 
 
Financial Instruments 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another. The term ‘financial instrument’ covers both 
financial assets and financial liabilities and includes both the most straightforward financial assets 
and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables and the most complex ones such as 
derivatives and embedded derivatives. 
 
Financial Management Code  
Provides guidance for good and sustainable financial management in local authorities. By 
complying with the principles and standards within the code authorities will be able to demonstrate 
their financial sustainability. 
 
Financial Regulations 
These are the written code of procedures approved by the Council, intended to provide a 
framework for proper financial management. Financial regulations usually set out rules on 
accounting, audit, administrative and budgeting procedures. 
 
General Fund 
This is the main revenue fund of the Authority and includes the net cost of all services financed 
by local taxpayers and Government grants. 
 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) 
Created by the Local Government, Economic Development and Construction Act, the Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) assumed its powers and duties on 1 April 2011. It took 
over the functions previously the responsibility of the Greater Manchester Integrated Transport 
Authority (GMITA), which it replaced. It also took over responsibility for transport planning, traffic 
control and wide loads, assumed responsibility for the transportation resources allocated to the 
Greater Manchester region and regional economic development functions. From 1 April 2018 it 
took over responsibilities for activities previously undertaken by the Greater Manchester Waste 

Page 240



207 
 
 

Disposal Authority, the Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Service, and the Greater 
Manchester Police and Crime Commissioner.  
 
 
 
Heritage Asset 
A tangible asset with historical, artistic, scientific, technological, geophysical or environmental 
qualities that is held and maintained principally for its contribution to knowledge and culture. 
 
Housing Benefit 
This is an allowance to persons receiving little or no income to meet, in whole or part, their rent. 
Benefit is allowed or paid by Local Authorities but Central Government refunds part of the cost of 
the benefits and of the running costs of the services to Local Authorities. Benefits paid to the 
Authority’s own tenants are known as rent rebate and that paid to private tenants as rent 
allowance. 
 
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 
Local Authorities are required to maintain a separate account - the Housing Revenue Account - 
which sets out the expenditure and income arising from the provision of social housing. Other 
services are charged to the General Fund. 
 
Impairment 
A reduction in the value of assets below its value brought forward in the Balance Sheet. Examples 
of factors which may cause such a reduction in value include general price decreases, a 
significant decline in a non-current asset’s market value and evidence of obsolescence or 
physical damage to the asset. 
 
Infrastructure Assets 
Non-current assets which generally cannot be sold and from which benefit can be obtained only 
by continued use of the asset created. Examples of such assets are highways, footpaths, bridges 
and water and drainage facilities. 
 
Intangible Assets 
These are assets that do not have physical substance but are identifiable and controlled by the 
Council. Examples include software, licenses and patents. 
 
Interest Cost (Pensions) 
For a defined benefit scheme, the expected increase during the period on the present value of 
the scheme liabilities which arises from the passage of time.   
 
International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 
Defined Accounting Standards that must be applied by all reporting entities to all financial 
statements in order to provide a true and fair view of the entity’s financial position, and a 
standardised method of comparison with financial statements of the other entities. 
 
Inventories  
Amounts of unused or unconsumed stocks held in expectation of future use. Inventories are 
comprised of the following categories: 
 

•  Goods or other assets purchased for resale 
•  Consumable stores 
•  Raw materials and components 
•  Products and services in intermediate stages of completion 
•  Finished goods 

 
Investment Properties 

Page 241



208 
 
 

Property, which can be land or a building or part of a building or both, that is held solely to earn 
rentals or for capital appreciation or both, rather than for operational purposes. 
 
 
 
Joint Venture 
A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties who have joint control of the 
arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. 
 
Leasing Costs 
This is where a rental is paid for the use of an asset for a specified period of time. Two forms of 
lease exist: finance leases and operating leases. 
 
Lender Option Borrower Option (LOBO) 
A LOBO is a type of loan instrument. The borrower borrows a principal sum for the duration of 
the loan period (typically 20 to 50 years), initially at a fixed interest rate. Periodically (typically 
every six months to 3 years), the lender has the ability to alter the interest rate. Should the lender 
make this offer, the borrower then has the option to continue with the instrument at the new rate  
or alternatively to terminate the agreement and pay back the principal sum without penalty. 
 
Lessor and Lessee 
 
The lessor is the legal owner of the asset or property, and he gives the lessee the right to use 
or occupy the asset or property for a specific period. Although the lessor retains ownership of 
the asset, they have reduced rights to the asset during the course of the agreement. 
 
Liabilities 
These are amounts due to individuals or organisations which will have to be paid at some time in 
the future. Current liabilities are usually payable within one year of the Balance Sheet date. 
 
Loss Allowance 
The allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets, such as debtors.  
 
Materiality 
Information is material if omitting it or misstating it could influence the decisions that users make 
on the basis of financial information about the Council.  
 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
This is a financial planning document that sets out the future years’ financial forecasts for the 
Council. It considers local and national policy influences and projects their impact on the general 
fund revenue budget, capital programme and HRA. In Oldham it usually covers a four or five year 
timeframe. 
 
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
MRP is the minimum amount which must be charged to an Authority’s revenue account each year 
and set aside as provision for credit liabilities, as required by the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989. 
 
Non Domestic Rates (NDR) (also known as Business Rates) 
NDR is the levy on business property, based on a national rate in the pound applied to the 
‘rateable value’ of the property. The Government determines national rate poundage each year 
which is applicable to all Local Authorities. 
 
Net Book Value (NBV) 
The amount at which non-current assets are included in the balance sheet, i.e. their historical 
cost or current value less the cumulative amounts provided for depreciation. 

Page 242



209 
 
 

 
Net Debt 
Net debt is the Council’s borrowings less cash and liquid resources. 
 
 
Outturn  
Actual expenditure and income compared to the budget.  
 
Pooled Aligned Budget 
A pooled fund, arising from a Section 75 Agreement between Oldham Council and Oldham CCG, 
but the partners’ respective financial contributions to such a fund are held in their own bank 
accounts.  
 
 
Pooled Budget  
A pooled fund, arising from a Section 75 Agreement between Oldham Council and Oldham CCG, 
comprising financial contributions from both partners hosted by one of the partners in its bank 
account. 
 
Pooled Fund 
This can be either a Pooled Budget or a Pooled Aligned Budget. 
 
Precept 
The amount collected by the Council on behalf of other bodies. For 2020/21 the major precepts 
were payable in relation to the GM Mayor as Police and Crime Commissioner and the Mayoral 
General Precept (including Fire Services). 
 
Premiums 
These are discounts that have arisen following the early redemption of long term debt, which are 
written down over the lifetime of replacement loans where applicable. 
 
Prior Period Adjustments 
These are material adjustments which are applicable to an earlier period arising from changes in 
accounting policies or for the correction of fundamental errors. 
 
Private Finance Initiative (PFI) 
A Central Government initiative which aims to increase the level of funding available for public 
services by attracting private sources of finance. The PFI is supported by a number of incentives 
to encourage Authorities’ participation. 
 
Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) 
PPE are tangible assets (i.e. assets that have physical substance) that are held for use in the 
production or supply of goods and services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes, 
and are expected to be used during more than one year. 
 
Provisions 
Amounts set aside to meet liabilities or losses which it is anticipated will be incurred but where 
the amount and/or the timing of such costs are uncertain. 
 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 
An arm of Central Government which is the major provider of loans to finance long term funding 
requirements for Local Authorities 
 
Related Parties 

Page 243



210 
 
 

Related parties are Central Government, other Local Authorities, precepting and levying bodies, 
subsidiary and associated companies, Elected Members, and all senior officers. For individuals 
identified as related parties, the following are also presumed to be related parties: 
 

• members of the close family, or the same household; and 
• partnerships, companies, trusts or other entities in which the individual, or member of 

their close family or the same household, has a controlling interest. 
 
Remeasurement of the Net Defined Benefit Liability 
Remeasurement of the Net Defined Benefit Liability (asset) comprises: 
 

a) actuarial gains and losses 
b)  the return on plan assets, excluding amounts included in net interest on the net 

defined benefit liability (asset), and 
c) any change in the effect of the asset ceiling, excluding amounts included in net 

interest on the net defined benefit liability (asset). 
 
Reporting Standards 
The Code of Practice prescribes the accounting treatment and disclosures for all normal 
transactions of a Local Authority. It is based on International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS), International Accounting Standards (IAS) and International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) plus UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP) and 
Financial Reporting Standards (FRS). 
 
Reserves 
Amounts set aside to help manage future risks, to provide working balances or that are earmarked 
for specific future expenditure priorities. 
 
Revaluation Reserve 
The Reserve records the accumulated gains on the non-current assets held by the Authority 
arising from increases in value as a result of inflation or other factors (to the extent that these 
gains have not been consumed by subsequent downward movements in value). 
 
Revenue Contributions  
The method of financing capital expenditure directly from revenue. 
 
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute (REFCUS) 
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provision but that 
does not result in the creation of a non-current asset that has been charged as expenditure to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 
 
Section 75 (S.75) Agreement 
An agreement made between a Local Authority and an NHS body under the powers of the 
National Health Service Act 2006 which facilitates the pooling of resources to improve the delivery 
of health and social care.  Locally the agreement is between Oldham Council and Oldham CCG 
 
Subsidiary 
A subsidiary is an entity, including an unincorporated entity such as a partnership, which is 
controlled by the Council. 
 
Treasury Management 
This is the process by which the Authority controls its cash flow and its borrowing and lending 
activities. 
 
Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) 

Page 244



211 
 
 

A strategy prepared with regard to legislative and CIPFA requirements setting out the framework 
for treasury management activity for the Council. 
 
Trust Funds 
These are funds administered by the Council on behalf of charitable organisations and/or specific 
organisations. 
 
 
Unsupported (Prudential) Borrowing 
This is borrowing for which no financial support is provided by Central Government. The 
borrowing costs are to be met from current revenue budgets. 
 

Page 245



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 - Changes to the Draft Statement of Accounts

Change Reason Statements/Notes 

Section Affected

Change Made

Disclosure Note 2 - Expenditure and 

Income Analysed by 

Nature / CIES  

Note 2 has been amended to remove expenditure and Income with schools which is internal to the Council. This has impacted the Gross Income 

& Gross Expenditure on the Net Costs of Services but the Net Expenditure of the Council remains unchanged.  

Disclosure Note 3 – Financing and 

Investment Income & 

Expenditure / CIES - Prior 

Year adjustment (2019/20) 

A prior year amendments have been made to both Note 3 and the CIES to remove the prior year impact of the loss on disposal of academy 

schools which is now included in Other Operating Expenditure in the CIES.

Group Accounts Group Accounts - Core 

Statements and additional 

notes

The Group Accounts have been updated to present the latest position. The changes relate to Miocare Group Accounts to reflect updated financial 

information. An additional disclosure has been included within the Group Accounts detailing the Audit Fees paid to Mazars LLP by the Group 

Entities.  

Narrative Narrative Statement Minor amendments have been made to the Narrative Statement to ensure the most up-to-date information has been provided reflecting the 

passage of time since the preparation of the draft Statement of Accounts.

Disclosure/Presentation Various - Throughout the 

Document 

Improvements to disclosures, narrative and presentation have been made where required.

P
age 247



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Audit Completion Report

P
age 249



01
02
03
04
05
06
07

Contents

Executive summary
Status of the audit
Audit approach
Significant findings
Internal control recommendations
Summary of misstatements
Value for Money

Appendix A: Draft management representation letter
Appendix B: Draft audit report
Appendix C: Independence
Appendix D: Other communications

Our reports are prepared in the context of the ‘Statement of Responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies’ and the ‘Appointing Person Terms of Appointment’ issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited.
Reports and letters prepared by appointed auditors and addressed to the Council are prepared for the sole use of the Council and we take no responsibility to any member or officer in their individual capacity or to any third party.
Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an international advisory and accountancy group. Mazars LLP is registered by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.

2

P
age 250



Audit Committee
Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council
Civic Centre
West Street
Oldham
OL1 1UT

27 July 2021

Dear Audit Committee Members

Audit Completion Report – Year ended 31 March 2021
We are pleased to present our Audit Completion Report for the year ended 31 March 2021. The purpose of this document is to summarise our audit conclusions.

The scope of our work, including identified significant audit risks, key audit matters and other areas of management judgement, was outlined in our Audit Strategy Memorandum which we presented on 10 June 2021. We have
reviewed our Audit Strategy Memorandum and concluded that the original significant audit risks, key audit matters and other areas of management judgement remain appropriate. We would like to express our thanks for the
assistance of your team during our audit.

If you would like to discuss any matters in more detail then please do not hesitate to contact me on 07721 234043.

Yours faithfully

Signed: {{_es_:signer1:signature }}

Karen Murray

Partner, Mazars LLP

Mazars LLP
One St Peter’s Square

Manchester
M2 3DE

Mazars LLP – One St Peter’s Square, Manchester, M2 3DE
Tel: 0161 238 9200 – www.mazars.co.uk
Mazars LLP is the UK firm of Mazars, an integrated international advisory and accountancy organisation. Mazars LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC308299 and with its registered office at Tower Bridge House, St Katharine’s Way, 
London E1W 1DD.
We are registered to carry on audit work in the UK by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. Details about our audit registration can be viewed at www.auditregister.org.uk under reference number C001139861. VAT number: 839 8356 73

P
age 251

http://www.mazars.co.uk/


Section 01:
Executive summary

P
age 252



1. Executive summary

Principal conclusions and significant findings
The detailed scope of our work as your appointed auditor for 2020/21 is set out in the National Audit Office’s
(NAO) Code of Audit Practice. Our responsibilities and powers are derived from the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 and, as outlined in our Audit Strategy Memorandum, our audit has been conducted in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) and means we focus on audit risks that we have
assessed as resulting in a higher risk of material misstatement.

Section 4 of this report we have set out our conclusions and significant findings from our audit. This section 
includes our conclusions on the audit risks, key audit matters and areas of management judgement. The key 
audit matters that were of most significance in our audit of the Financial Statements for disclosure in our 
auditor’s report:

• Valuation of Land & Buildings

• Valuation of Investment Property

• Valuation of the Defined Benefit Pension Liability

Section 4 also includes our conclusions on the audit risks and areas of management judgement in our Audit 
Strategy Memorandum, which include:

• Management override of control

• Valuation of the Council’s investment in Manchester Airport Holdings Limited

Section 5 sets out internal control recommendations and section 6 sets out audit misstatements; of which
unadjusted misstatements total £1.1m. Section 7 outlines our work on the Council’s arrangements to achieve
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Status and audit opinion

We have substantially completed our audit in respect of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2021.

At the time of preparing this report there are some matters remaining outstanding as outlined in section 2. We
will provide an update to you in relation to the significant matters outstanding through a follow up letter.

Subject to the satisfactory conclusion of the remaining audit work, we have the following conclusions:

5

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

Audit opinion
We anticipate issuing an unqualified opinion, without modification, on the financial 
statements.  Our proposed audit opinion is included in the draft auditor’s report in 
Appendix B.

Value for Money
We have not yet completed our value for money arrangements work and will report our 
findings in our Auditor’s Annual Report later in the year. On the basis of the work completed 
to date we do not anticipate having significant weaknesses in arrangements to report in 
relation to the  arrangements that the Council has in place to secure economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources. Further detail on our value for money 
arrangements work is provided in section 7 of this report.

Whole of Government Accounts (WGA)
We have not yet received group instructions from the National Audit Office in respect of our 
work on the Council’s WGA submission.  We are unable to commence our work in this area 
until such instructions have been received.

Wider powers
The 2014 Act requires us to give an elector, or any representative of the elector, the 
opportunity to question us about the accounting records of the Council and to consider any 
objection made to the accounts. We have received correspondence and questions from a 
member of the public. We are currently considering the matter raised.

P
age 253



1. Executive summary

COVID-19 impacts
The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the audit was significant for a second audit year. Although we have
had the full co-operation of the finance team and Council management through the audit, the remote working of
our audit team and the Council’s staff has inevitably meant that the audit work took longer to complete and
finalise than would ordinarily be the case.

6

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 254



Section 02:
Status of the audit

7

P
age 255



Audit area Status Description of the outstanding matters

Income and Expenditure testing We are awaiting the final elements of evidence for our testing of the Council’s other income, payroll expenditure and 
non-pay expenditure.

Property, Plant & Equipment 
testing

We are resolving queries relating to the valuation of the Council’s property, plant & equipment and the disclosure of 
capital expenditure and financing.

Pension liability

We are awaiting the final evidence for our testing of the Council’s defined benefit pension liability. 
In addition we have requested confirmation from the Pension Fund auditor on areas relating to their audit of the 
Greater Manchester Pension Fund. Their audit is not yet complete and the confirmations will be received when that 
audit is completed.

PFI We are completing our work on the Council’s PFI liabilities and the Unitary Payments

Financial instruments We are completing our work on the Council’s Financial Instruments disclosures

IT general controls testing Our IT auditors are awaiting requested information from the Council to complete their testing of the Council’s general 
IT controls

Group consolidation Based on our discussions the Council has updated its group accounts and we have only recently received the 
supporting working papers. We are still completing our work on the Council’s consolidation as a result.

Related party transactions We are completing the final elements of our work on the related party transactions

Financial statements, Annual 
Governance Statement and letter 
of representation

We will complete our final review of the financial statements upon receipt of the signed version of the accounts and 
letter of representation.

2. Status of the audit

8

Our work is nearing completion and there are currently no matters of which we are aware that would require modification of our audit opinion, subject to the outstanding matters detailed below.

Likely to result in material adjustment or 
significant change to disclosures within 
the financial statements.

Potential to result in material adjustment 
or significant change to disclosures 
within the financial statements.

Not considered likely to result in material 
adjustment or change to disclosures within 
the financial statements. 

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 256



Section 03:
Audit approach

9

P
age 257



3. Audit approach

Changes to our audit approach
We provided details of our intended audit approach in our Audit Strategy Memorandum presented to Audit
Committee in June 2021. We have not made any changes to our audit approach since we presented our Audit
Strategy Memorandum.

Materiality
Our provisional materiality at the planning stage of the audit was set at £13.9m for the Group financial
statements and £13.8m for the Council single-entity statements using a benchmark of 2% of gross expenditure
at the Surplus/Deficit at Net Cost of Services level. Our final assessment of materiality, based on the final
financial statements and qualitative factors is £13.61m for the Group financial statements and £13.6m for the
Council single-entity statements using the same benchmark.

Service organisations
We set out in our Audit Strategy Memorandum our approach to auditing the Council’s service organisations. We
confirm there have been no changes to those arrangements during the audit.

Use of experts
We set out in our Audit Strategy Memorandum our planned use of experts to assist in our audit procedures. We
confirm there have been no changes to those arrangements during the audit

.

10

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

Items of account Service organisation Audit approach

Payroll, non-pay expenditure 
and other transactional 
items of account

The Unity Partnership Ltd

We obtained assurance by understanding the 
controls that the Council has in place to 
assure itself that transactions are processed 
materially correctly. 

Our testing included sample testing of 
transactions based on evidence available 
from the Council rather than the service 
organisation.

Item of account Management’s expert Our expert

Defined benefit pension 
assets and liabilities Hyman Robertson actuaries PwC – NAO’s consulting actuary

Property, Plant and 
Equipment and Investment 
Property valuation

Unity Partnership Ltd
We used available third party 
information to challenge the key 
valuation assumptions

Valuation of Manchester 
Airport land Jacobs Ltd Mazars in-house valuation team

Valuation of shareholding in 
Manchester Airport Holding 
Limited

BDO LLP Mazars in-house valuation team

Valuation of Financial 
Instruments Link Asset Services

We reviewed Link’s methodology 
for providing the fair value 
disclosures

P
age 258



Review procedures
Review of the component’s financial information 
prepared for group reporting purposes using the 
component materiality assigned

3. Audit approach

Group audit approach
The Council’s group structure for 2020/21 includes two wholly owned subsidiary companies, Miocare Group Community Interest Company Ltd and The Unity
Partnership Ltd. In auditing the accounts of the Council’s Group financial statements we obtained assurance over the transactions in the Group relating to the
Council’s subsidiary companies.

Our approach reflected the size and complexity of the transactions from the subsidiary companies that are consolidated into the Council’s Group financial
statements. Our approach is outlined below and we confirm there are no changes to the planned approach set out in our Audit Strategy Memorandum.

11

Group component Approach adopted Key points or other matters to report

Oldham MBC The Mazars audit team undertook the full audit of the Council

Miocare CIC Ltd
The Mazars audit team undertook testing of Miocare’s defined benefit pension
liability and carried out review procedures of the remaining consolidated accounting
entries. The component materiality used for these procedures was £5m.

Unity Partnerships Ltd
The Mazars audit team undertook testing of Unity Partnership’s defined benefit
pension liability and carried out review procedures of the remaining consolidated
accounting entries. The component materiality used for these procedures was £6m.

Full audit
Performance of an audit of the component’s financial 
information prepared for group reporting purposes 
using component materiality

Audit of balances and/or disclosures
Performance of an audit of specific balances and/or 
disclosures included in the component’s financial 
information prepared for group reporting purposes, 
using component materiality 

Specific audit procedures
Performance of specific audit procedures on the 
component’s financial information 

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 259



12

Executive summary Status of audit Overall review of the 
financial statements Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 

recommendations
Summary of

misstatements
Additional auditor 

requirements Appendices

3. Audit approach

Risk description Risk of fraud Risk of error
Management 
judgement

Key Audit 
Matter

Audit approach 
Control 

observations
Identified 

misstatements 
Overall conclusion

Si
gn

ifi
ca

nt
 ri

sk
s 

Management 
override of controls Substantive testing O/S O/S

Work is still to be completed on some
areas of testing but based on the work
completed there are no matters to bring
to the Committee’s attention at this
stage.

Valuation of Land & 
Buildings Substantive testing O/S O/S

Work is still to be completed but based
on the work completed there are no
matters to bring to the Committee’s
attention at this stage.

Valuation of 
Investment 
Properties

Substantive testing No No
No matters to bring to the Committee’s
attention.

Valuation of the 
defined benefit 
pension liability

Substantive testing O/S O/S

Work is still to be completed but based
on the work completed there are no
matters to bring to the Committee’s
attention at this stage.

K
ey

 a
re

as
 o

f 
m

an
ag

em
en

t 
ju

dg
em

en
t a

nd
 

en
ha

nc
ed

 ri
sk

s

Valuation of the 
Council’s investment 
in MAHL

Substantive testing No No
No matters to bring to the Committee’s
attention.

The table below summarises our significant risks and other areas of audit focus. The key findings from our audit work in these areas are detailed in section 4.

P
age 260



Section 04:
Significant findings

13

P
age 261



14

4. Significant findings

In this section we outline the significant findings from our audit. These findings include:

• our findings on key audit matters, including:

• why the matter was considered;

• why the matter was considered to be one of the most significance in the audit and therefore determined 
to be a key audit matter;

• how the matter was addressed in the audit including a summary of the auditor’s response to those risks;

• where relevant, key observations arising with respect to those risks; and

• a clear reference to the relevant disclosures in the financial statements.

• if applicable (only in exceptional cases), depending on the facts and circumstances of the entity and the 
audit (these facts must be clearly explained), the auditor’s determination that there are no key audit 
matters to communicate in the auditor’s report. [ISA 701 Para. A60–A63]

• our audit conclusions regarding other significant risks, key audit matters and key areas of management
judgement outlined in the Audit Strategy Memorandum;

• our comments in respect of the accounting policies and disclosures that you have adopted in the financial
statements. On page 20 we have concluded whether the financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with the financial reporting framework and commented on any significant accounting policy
changes that have been made during the year;

• any further significant matters discussed with management; and

• any significant difficulties we experienced during the audit.

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 262



15

Key audit matters

Valuation of Council 
Property, Plant & Equipment

Description of the key audit matter
The CIPFA Code requires that where assets are subject to revaluation, their year-end carrying value should reflect the current value at that date. The Council has adopted a rolling revaluation
model which sees all such property, plant & equipment revalued in a five-year cycle. The valuation of property, plant & equipment involves the use of a management expert (the valuer) and
incorporates assumptions and estimates which impact materially on the reported value. There are risks relating to the valuation process. The Council employs a valuation expert to provide
valuations, however there remains a high degree of estimation uncertainty associated with the valuations of property, plant and equipment due to the significant judgements and number of
variables involved. As a result of the rolling programme of revaluations, there is a risk that individual assets which have not been revalued for up to four years are not valued at the current value
at the balance sheet date. In addition, as the valuations are undertaken through the year there is a risk that the current value of the assets could be materially different at the year end.

Council Dwelling valuations are based on Existing Use Value, discounted by a factor to reflect that the assets are used for Social Housing (EUV-SH). The Social Housing adjustment factor is
prescribed in MHCLG guidance, but this guidance indicates that where a valuer has evidence that this factor is different in the Council’s area they can use their more accurate local factor. There
is a risk that the Council's application of the valuer’s assumptions is not in line with the statutory requirements and that the valuation is not supported by detailed evidence.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter and our observations

Our audit procedures included:

• Obtaining an understanding of the skills, experience and qualifications of the valuer, and considering the appropriateness of the Council’s instructions to the valuer.
• Obtaining an understanding of the basis of valuation applied by the valuer in the year.
• Obtaining an understanding of the Council’s approach to ensure that assets not subject to revaluation in 2020/21 are materially fairly stated.
• Obtaining an understanding of the Council’s approach to ensure that assets revalued through 2020/21 are materially fairly stated at the year end.
• Sample testing the completeness and accuracy of underlying data provided by the Council and used by the valuer as part of their valuations.
• Using relevant market and cost data to assess the reasonableness of the valuation as at 31 March 2021.
• Testing the accuracy of how valuation movements were presented and disclosed in the financial statements. Testing a sample of items of capital expenditure in 2020/21 to confirm that the

additions are appropriately valued in the financial statements.

There are elements of our work that are still to be completed in this area. Based on the work carried out to date there are no matters to bring to the Committee’s attention.

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

4. Significant findings

P
age 263



16

Key audit matters

Valuation of investment 
properties
]

Description of the key audit matter
The CIPFA Code requires that where Investment Property assets are subject to revaluation, their year-end carrying value should reflect the fair value at that date. The valuation of Investment
Property involves the use of a management expert (the valuer) and incorporates assumptions and estimates which impact materially on the reported value. There are risks relating to the
valuation process. The Council employs valuation experts to provide valuations, however there remains a high degree of estimation uncertainty associated with the valuations of property, plant
and equipment due to the significant judgements and number of variables involved.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter and our observations

Our audit procedures included:

• Obtaining an understanding of the skills, experience and qualifications of the valuer, and considering the appropriateness of the Council’s instructions to the valuer.
• Obtaining an understanding of the basis of valuation applied by the valuer in the year.
• Obtaining assurance on the appropriateness of the methodology and assumptions adopted by the Council’s valuer.
• Comparing the valuation to our valuation expert’s estimate of the valuation.
• Sample testing the completeness and accuracy of underlying data provided by the Council and used by the valuer as part of their valuations.

Our work is complete and based on the results of our testing there are no matters to bring to the Committee’s attention.

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

4. Significant findings

P
age 264



17

Key audit matters

Valuation of the Council’s 
and the Group’s defined 
benefit pension liability
]

Description of the key audit matter
The net pension liability represents a material element of the Council and the Group balance sheet. The Council and its consolidated subsidiaries are admitted bodies of Greater Manchester
Pension Fund, which had its last triennial valuation completed as at 31 March 2019. The valuation of the Local Government Pension Scheme relies on a number of assumptions, most notably
around the actuarial assumptions, and actuarial methodology which results in the Council’s and the subsidiaries’ overall valuations. There are financial assumptions and demographic
assumptions used in the calculation of the valuation, such as the discount rate, inflation rates and mortality rates. The assumptions should also reflect the profile of the Council’s and the
subsidiaries’ employees, and should be based on appropriate data. The basis of the assumptions is derived on a consistent basis year to year, or updated to reflect any changes.

There is a risk that the assumptions and methodology used in valuing the pension obligations are not reasonable or appropriate to the Council’s or the subsidiaries’ circumstances. This could
have a material impact to the Council and Group net pension liability in 2020/21.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter and our observations

Our audit procedures included:

• Obtaining an understanding of the skills, experience and qualifications of the actuary, and considering the appropriateness of the instructions to the actuary from the Council and the Group
components.

• Obtaining confirmation from the auditor of the Greater Manchester Pension Fund that the controls in place at the Pension Fund are free from material deficiencies.
• Reviewing a summary of the work performed by the Pension Fund auditor on the Pension Fund investment assets, and evaluating whether the outcome of their work would affect our

consideration of the Council’s and the Group’s share of Pension Fund assets.
• Reviewing the actuarial allocation of Pension Fund assets to the Council and the Group by the actuary, including comparing the Council’s and the Group’s share of the assets to other

corroborative information.
• Reviewing the appropriateness of the Pension Asset and Liability valuation methodology applied by the Pension Fund Actuary, and the key assumptions included within the valuation. This

includes comparing them to expected ranges, utilising information provided by PwC, consulting actuary engaged by the National Audit Office.
• Agreeing the data in the actuarial valuation reports provided by the Pension Fund Actuary for accounting purposes to the pension accounting entries and disclosures in the Council’s and the

Group’s financial statements.

There are elements of our work that are still to be completed in this area, most notably the confirmations from the Pension Fund auditor based on their audit work. Based on the work carried out
to date there are no matters to bring to the Committee’s attention.

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

4. Significant findings

P
age 265



18

Management override of controls Description of the risk
This is a mandatory significant risk on all audits due to the unpredictable way in which such override could occur. Management at various levels within an organisation are in a unique
position to perpetrate fraud because of their ability to manipulate accounting records and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding controls that otherwise appear to be
operating effectively. Due to the unpredictable way in which such override could occur, we consider there to be a risk of material misstatement due to fraud and thus a significant risk on
all audits.

How we addressed this risk
We addressed this risk through performing audit work over:

• Accounting estimates impacting amounts included in the financial statements;

• Consideration of identified significant transactions outside the normal course of business; and

• Journals recorded in the general ledger and other adjustments made in preparation of the financial statements.

Audit conclusion
We have completed our work on the Council’s journals and there are no matters to bring to the Committee’s attention.

Our work on the management estimates is still to be completed and we have not to date identified any significant transactions outside the normal course of business.

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

4. Significant findings

Significant risks

P
age 266



19

4. Significant findings

Key areas of management judgement

Valuation of investment in 
Manchester Airport Holdings Limited Description of the management judgement

The Council uses an external valuation expert to determine the value of its investment in Manchester Airport Holdings Limited at 31 March 2021. The valuation is determined according to
a methodology and applying assumptions. Council officers challenge the valuation assumptions and reach judgements on the valuation to include in the financial statements.

How our audit addressed this area of management judgement
Our approach to auditing the investment in Manchester Airport Holdings Limited includes the involvement of the Mazars in-house valuation team. 

The Mazars in-house valuation team reviewed the methodology and key assumptions used by management’s expert, considering the appropriateness of the methodology and the 
reasonableness of the assumptions used.

Audit conclusion

Our work is complete and based on the results of our testing there are no matters to bring to the Committee’s attention.

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 267



20

4. Significant findings

Qualitative aspects of the Council’s accounting practices
We have reviewed the Council’s accounting policies and disclosures and concluded they comply with the
2020/21 Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting, appropriately tailored to the Council’s circumstances.

Draft accounts were received from the Council on 6th June 2021 and were of a good quality. Good quality
supporting working papers have been made available in a timely manner and these have assisted our audit
progress. Council finance officers have been very helpful in promptly answering our detailed audit queries and
ensuring that Council officer colleagues have prioritised responding to our audit queries.

Significant matters discussed with management
During the audit we maintained a regular dialogue with Council officers. Among the matters discussed through
these conversations were:

Accounting treatment for the Council’s loan made to Manchester Airport in the year

We discussed the Council’s treatment of its loan as capital expenditure in the context of the Capital Financing
regulations and the specific requirements to be met in order to treat loans to other organisations as capital
expenditure. The Council provided a detailed explanation and supporting evidence to confirm that the loan was
provided for capital purposes and the expenditure incurred by the Airport would have been capital had the
Council incurred it itself.

Impairments of financial assets

We discussed the Council’s approach in considering impairments of its financial assets and in particular those
impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. We obtained explanations and evidence to support the Council’s approach
to impairing its assets including those assets, such as the loans to Manchester Airport, which it has not
impaired.

Accounting treatment of government grants

The Council has received material amounts of government grant income in the year, particularly relating to the
government’s financial support to the Council and business in response to the impact of Covid-19. We had
discussions with the Council in respect of their consideration of whether the Council was acting as an agent of
the government or as a principal and whether there were any grant conditions which the Council should take
into account in recognising the income in its accounts.

Significant difficulties during the audit
During the course of the audit we did not encounter any significant difficulties and we have had the full co-
operation of management.

Wider responsibilities
Our powers and responsibilities under the 2014 Act are broad and include the ability to:

• issue a report in the public interest;

• make statutory recommendations that must be considered and responded to publicly;

• apply to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law; and

• issue an advisory notice under schedule 8 of the 2014 Act.

We have not exercised any of these powers as part of our 2020/21 audit.

The 2014 Act also gives rights to local electors and other parties, such as the right to ask questions of the
auditor and the right to make an objection to an item of account. We received questions from one member of
the public. We are continuing our consideration of the questions, but we are satisfied that there are no material
impacts on the 2020/21 financial statements.

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 268



Section 05:
Internal control recommendations

21

P
age 269



5. Internal control recommendations

The purpose of our audit was to express an opinion on the financial statements. As part of our audit we have
considered the internal controls in place relevant to the preparation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures to allow us to express an opinion on the financial statements but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control or to identify any significant deficiencies in their
design or operation.

The matters reported are limited to those deficiencies and other control recommendations that we have
identified during our normal audit procedures and that we consider to be of sufficient importance to merit being
reported. If we had performed more extensive procedures on internal control we might have identified more
deficiencies to be reported or concluded that some of the reported deficiencies need not in fact have been
reported. Our comments should not be regarded as a comprehensive record of all deficiencies that may exist or
improvements that could be made.

Our findings and recommendations are set out below. We have assigned priority rankings to each of them to
reflect the importance that we consider each poses to your organisation and, hence, our recommendation in
terms of the urgency of required action. In summary, the matters arising fall into the following categories:

Priority ranking Description Number of issues

1 (high) In our view, there is potential for financial loss, damage to 
reputation or loss of information. This may have implications 
for the achievement of business strategic objectives. The 
recommendation should be taken into consideration by 
management immediately.

0

2 (medium) In our view, there is a need to strengthen internal control or 
enhance business efficiency. The recommendations should 
be actioned in the near future. 

0

3 (low) In our view, internal control should be strengthened in these 
additional areas when practicable.

1

22

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 270



5. Internal control recommendations

Other recommendations in internal control – Level 3

Description of deficiency 

As part of the interim audit in August 2020 we requested the Housing Benefit to General Ledger 
reconciliations. When we received the reconciliation we noted that the reconciliation was completed in 
March 2021, 7 months after the period end. We also noted that the subsequent months reconciliations 
were also completed in March 2021.

Potential effects

The potential impacts are that imbalances are not identified in a timely manner; that there are unexplained 
items that do not have an adequate investigation, leading to difficulty in identifying and clearing any 
reconciling items; and discrepancies are not able to be rectified in a timely manner and any unusual activity 
is not identified.

Recommendation

Ensure that the Housing Benefit system is reconciled to the General Ledger on a prompt monthly timetable 
within an agreed time frame from month end.

Management response

23

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 271



Section 06:
Summary of misstatements

24

P
age 272



6. Summary of misstatements

This section outlines the misstatements identified during the course of the audit, above the trivial threshold for adjustment of £408,000. The first table outlines the misstatements that were identified during the course of our audit
which management has assessed as not being material either individually or in aggregate to the financial statements and does not currently plan to adjust.

The following page outlines the misstatements that have been adjusted by management during the course of the audit.

25

Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement

Balance Sheet

Dr (£’000) Cr (£’000) Dr (£’000) Cr (£’000)

1 Dr: Short Term Debtors 1,174

Cr: Cost of Services Income 1,174

Our testing of income received after the year end identified one government grant for £228k which related to a 2020/21 grant but was received in May 2021. The Council was already progressing through its 
closedown arrangements and recognised this income in 2021/22. Applying our audit methodology we extrapolated this £228k error, and if the error was representative of the whole population Short Term 
Debtors and Cost of Services Income would be understated by £1,174k.

2 Dr:

Cr:

[Insert description]

3 Dr:

Cr:

[Insert description]

Total unadjusted misstatements 1,174 - - 1,174

Unadjusted misstatements

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 273



6. Summary of misstatements

26

Adjusted misstatements
Based on the work completed to date there are no significant adjusted misstatements to bring to the Committee’s attention.

Disclosure amendments
During our audit we identified a small number of adjustments to the disclosures in the accounts. These have been adjusted by management. The more significant impacts include:

• Note 2 – Expenditure & income Analysed by Nature has been amended to remove expenditure and income with schools which is internal to the Council

• Note 3 – Financing and Investment Income & Expenditure has been amended to remove the prior year impact of the loss on disposal of academy schools which is now included in Other Operating Expenditure in the I&E
Statement

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 274



Section 07:
Value for Money

27

P
age 275



Approach to Value for Money
We are required to consider whether the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The NAO issues guidance to auditors that underpins the
work we are required to carry out and sets out the reporting criteria that we are required to consider. The
reporting criteria are:

• Financial sustainability - How the Council plans and manages its resources to ensure it can continue to
deliver its services

• Governance - How the Council ensures that it makes informed decisions and properly manages its risks

• Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness - How the Council uses information about its costs and
performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services

At the planning stage of the audit, we undertake work to understand the arrangements that the Council has in
place under each of the reporting criteria and we identify risks of significant weaknesses in those arrangements.
Although we describe this work as planning work, we keep our understanding of arrangements under review
and update our risk assessment throughout the audit to reflect emerging issues that may suggest significant
weaknesses in arrangements exist.

The table overleaf outlines the risks of significant weaknesses in arrangements that we have identified, the risk-
based procedures we have undertaken, and the results of our work.

Where our risk-based procedures identify actual significant weaknesses in arrangements we are required to
report these and make recommendations for improvement. Where such significant weaknesses are identified,
we report these in the audit report.

The primary output of our work on the Council’s arrangements is the commentary on those arrangements that
forms part of the Auditor’s Annual Report. We intend to issue the Auditor's Annual Report in [insert date].

Status of our work 
We are yet to complete our work in respect of the Council’s arrangements for the year ended 31 March 2021.  
At the time of preparing this report, we have not identified any significant weaknesses in arrangements that 
require us to make a recommendation, however we continue to undertake work on the Council’s arrangements.  

Our draft audit report at Appendix B outlines that we have not yet completed our work in relation to the 
Council's arrangements. As noted above, our commentary on the Council's arrangements will be provided in 
the Auditor’s Annual Report later in the year. 

7. Value for Money

28

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 276



Appendices

A: Draft management representation letter

B: Draft audit report

C: Independence

D: Other communications

P
age 277



Appendix A: Draft management representation letter

To be provided to us on client headed note paper

[Date]

Dear Karen

Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council - audit for year ended 31 March 2021

This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial statements of Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council (‘the Council’) and its Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 for the purpose of expressing
an opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 (the Code) and applicable law.

I confirm that the following representations are made on the basis of enquiries of management and staff with relevant knowledge and experience (and, where appropriate, inspection of supporting documentation) sufficient to
satisfy myself that I can properly make each of the following representations to you.

My responsibility for the financial statements and accounting information

I believe that I have fulfilled my responsibilities for the true and fair presentation and preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the Code and applicable law.

My responsibility to provide and disclose relevant information

I have provided you with:

• access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial statements such as records, documentation and other material;

• additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; and

• unrestricted access to individuals within the Council you determined it was necessary to contact in order to obtain audit evidence.

I confirm as Director of Finance that I have taken all the necessary steps to make me aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that you, as auditors, are aware of this information.

As far as I am aware there is no relevant audit information of which you, as auditors, are unaware.

Accounting records

I confirm that all transactions that have a material effect on the financial statements have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements. All other records and related information, including 
minutes of all Council, Cabinet and committee meetings, have been made available to you. 

30

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 278



Appendix A: Draft management representation letter (continued)

Accounting policies

I confirm that I have reviewed the accounting policies applied during the year in accordance with Code and International Accounting Standard 8 and consider these policies to faithfully represent the effects of transactions, other 
events or conditions on the Council ‘s financial position, financial performance and cash flows.

Accounting estimates, including those measured at fair value

I confirm that any significant assumptions used by the Council in making accounting estimates, including those measured at current or fair value, are reasonable.

Contingencies

There are no material contingent losses including pending or potential litigation that should be accrued where:

• information presently available indicates that it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability had been incurred at the balance sheet date; and

• the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.

There are no material contingent losses that should be disclosed where, although either or both the conditions specified above are not met, there is a reasonable possibility that a loss, or a loss greater than that accrued, may have 
been incurred at the balance sheet date.

There are no undisclosed contingent gains which should be disclosed.

All material matters, including unasserted claims, that may result in litigation against the Council have been brought to your attention. All known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered when 
preparing the financial statements have been disclosed to you and accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the Code and applicable law.

Laws and regulations

I confirm that I have disclosed to you all those events of which I am aware which involve known or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations, together with the actual or contingent consequences which may arise 
therefrom.

The Council has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect on the accounts in the event of non-compliance.

31

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 279



Appendix A: Draft management representation letter (continued)

Fraud and error

I acknowledge my responsibility as Director of Finance for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud and error. 

I have disclosed to you:

• all the results of my assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud;

• all knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Council involving:
• management and those charged with governance;
• employees who have significant roles in internal control; and
• others where fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

I have disclosed to you all information in relation to any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the Council’s financial statements communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others.

Related party transactions

I confirm that all related party relationships, transactions and balances, have been appropriately accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of the Code and applicable law.

I have disclosed to you the identity of the Council’s related parties and all related party relationships and transactions of which I am aware.

Future commitments

I am not aware of any plans, intentions or commitments that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets and liabilities or give rise to additional liabilities.

Subsequent events

I confirm all events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the Code and applicable law, require adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

Should further material events occur after the date of this letter which may necessitate revision of the figures included in the financial statements or inclusion of a note thereto, I will advise you accordingly.

32

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 280



Appendix A: Draft management representation letter (continued)

Covid-19

I confirm that the Council has carried out an assessment of the potential impact of the Covid-19 Virus pandemic on the Council, including the impact of mitigation measures and uncertainties, and that the disclosures in the 
Narrative Report fairly reflects that assessment.

Going concern

To the best of my knowledge there is nothing to indicate that the Council and the Group will not continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future. The period to which I have paid particular attention in assessing the 
appropriateness of the going concern basis is not less than twelve months from the date of approval of the accounts.

Unadjusted misstatements 

I confirm that the effects of the uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both individually and in aggregate, to the financial statements as a whole. All uncorrected misstatements are included in the Appendix to this letter.

Yours faithfully

Anne Ryans

Director of Finance

33

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 281



Appendix B: Draft audit report

The draft audit report will be included at the conclusion of the audit

34

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 282



35

Appendix C: Independence

As part of our ongoing risk assessment we monitor our relationships with you to identify any new actual or 
perceived threats to our independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your 
auditors.

We can confirm that no new threats to independence have been identified since issuing the Audit Strategy 
Memorandum and therefore we remain independent.

We also confirm that we have received confirmation from our external experts regarding their independence. 

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 283



Other 
communication Response

Compliance with 
Laws and 
Regulations

We have not identified any significant matters involving actual or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations. We will obtain written representations from management that all 
known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when preparing financial statements have been disclosed.

External 
confirmations

We did not experience any issues with respect to obtaining external confirmations.

Related parties We did not identify any significant matters relating to the audit of related parties. 

We will obtain written representations from management confirming that:

a. they have disclosed to us the identity of related parties and all the related party relationships and transactions of which they are aware; and

b. they have appropriately accounted for and disclosed such relationships and transactions in accordance with the requirements of the applicable financial reporting framework.

Going Concern We have not identified any evidence to cause us to disagree with the Director of Finance that Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council will be a going concern, and therefore we consider that 
the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation of the financial statements.

36

Appendix D: Other communications

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 284



37

Appendix D: Other communications

Other 
communication Response

Subsequent events We are required to obtain evidence about whether events occurring between the date of the financial statements and the date of the auditor’s report that require adjustment of, or disclosure 
in, the financial statements are appropriately reflected in those financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

We will obtain written representations from management that all events occurring subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which the applicable financial reporting 
framework requires adjustment or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

Matters related 
to fraud

We have designed our audit approach to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement due to fraud. In addition to the work 
performed by us, we obtained written representations from management, and the Audit Committee, confirming that

a. they acknowledge their responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud;

b. they have disclosed to the auditor the results of management’s assessment of the risk that the financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud;

c. they have disclosed to the auditor their knowledge of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the entity involving:

i. Management;

ii. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or

iii. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements; and

d. they have disclosed to the auditor their knowledge of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting the entity’s financial statements communicated by employees, former 
employees, analysts, regulators or others. 

Executive summary Status of audit Audit approach Significant findings Internal control 
recommendations

Summary of
misstatements Value for Money Appendices

P
age 285



Mazars

Mazars is an internationally integrated partnership, specialising in audit, accountancy, advisory, tax 
and legal services*. Operating in over 90 countries and territories around the world, we draw on the 
expertise of 40,400 professionals – 24,400 in Mazars’ integrated partnership and 16,000 via the 
Mazars North America Alliance – to assist clients of all sizes at every stage in their development.

*where permitted under applicable country laws.

Karen Murray, Partner

One St Peter’s Square
Manchester
M2 3DE

P
age 286



 
 

 

 

 

Members of the Audit Committee  
Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
West Street 
Oldham  
OL1 1UH 
 

  

  

Direct 
line 

+44 (0) 161 234 9248 

Email Karen.muray@mazars.co.uk 

  30 September 2021 
 

Dear Members 

Conclusion of pending matters– Audit completion report 

Following on from our recent meeting and as required by International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland), I am writing to communicate the conclusion of those matters that were marked as outstanding 
within the Audit Completion Report dated 27 July 2021. 

The outstanding matters and the conclusions reached are detailed below: 

Matter Conclusion reached 

Income and Expenditure 
testing 

We have completed our income and expenditure testing. There are 
no matters arising to report to the Committee. 

Valuation of Property, Plant 
& Equipment and 
Investment Properties 

We have completed our work on the Council’s valuations of property, 
plant and equipment and investment property. There are no matters 
arising to report to the Committee. 

Pension liability We have completed our work on the Council’s pension liabilities. In 
addition to the audit procedures listed in our Audit Completion Report 
we also confirmed that the Pension Fund auditor work included 
comparing the asset values used for the actuarial valuation to those 
subjected to audit by the Pension Fund auditor. 

There are no matters arising to report to the Committee. 

PFI We have completed our work on the Council’s PFI disclosures. There 
are no matters arising to report to the Committee. 

Page 287



30 September 2021 

    2/16 
 

Matter Conclusion reached 

Financial instruments We have completed our work on the Council’s Financial Instrument 
disclosures. There are no matters arising to report to the Committee. 

IT general controls testing We have completed our testing of the Council’s IT general controls. 
While there are no material issues identified we have raised two low 
priority recommendations for the Council to address. These are 
included in Appendix A to this letter. 

Group consolidation  We have completed our work on the Council’s consolidation of group 
accounts.  

This completion work concluded that the Council has not correctly 
identified the debtor and creditor intra-group consolidation 
adjustments for its two consolidated subsidiaries, Miocare and Unity 
Partnerships. In producing its group accounts the Council should 
remove the transactions and balances that it has with these entities 
and which they have with the Council. Our analysis indicates that the 
group debtors balance appears to be overstated and is likely to 
include amounts that Miocare and Unity are owed from the Council 
which should be removed on consolidation. The Council has been 
unable to identify the precise value of the overstatement but we are 
satisfied the error could not be material since the total amount of 
debtors for these two entities is itself not remotely material. We have 
reported the total amount of the debtors for Miocare and Unity 
(£2.3m) as an unadjusted audit difference in Appendix A. 

We have also included a low priority recommendation in Appendix A 
to this letter for the Council to address in its closedown arrangements 
for 2021/22. 

Related party transactions We have completed our work on the Council’s related party 
transaction disclosures. There are no matters arising to report to the 
Committee. 

Financial statements, 
Annual Governance 
Statement and letter of 
representation 

We have received the final signed statements and the signed letter of 
representation. There are no matters arising to report to the 
Committee. 

 

  

Page 288



30 September 2021 

    3/16 
 

If you wish to discuss these or any other points then please do not hesitate to contact me. 

Yours sincerely 

 

Karen Murray 
Partner 

  

Page 289



30 September 2021 

    4/16 
 

 
Appendix A – Updated Audit Findings 

Unadjusted audit difference 
 
As reported above the audit work on the group consolidation has identified that the consolidation 
adjustments for the debtors has led to an error. The precise quantification of the error is not possible 
without significant additional work. The total value of debtors which may be affected is those relating to 
Unity Partnership and Miocare that have been consolidated, and these total £2.3m in the final financial 
statements. We are reporting that the total unadjusted difference is this value – which is not material – 
although it is likely that the actual audit difference is lower than that level. The impact of the error is 
that both Group debtors and creditors are overstated by the same amount, and there is no impact on 
the Group Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement or the overall Group Net Assets. 
 
 CIES Balance Sheet 

Dr Cr Dr Cr 
Dr Group Creditors - - £2.3m - 
Cr Group Debtors - - - £2.3m 

 
 
 
Recommendation 1 
 

Description of deficiency  
 
The Council’s closedown arrangements for the consolidation of its group entities includes a process to 
identify transactions and balances within the group entities. This involves interrogating the Council 
records to identify transactions and balances, however it does not include interrogation of the Miocare 
and Unity Partnership accounts and records or agreeing the entries between the three organisations. 

Potential effects 
 
The closedown arrangements may not identify all the transactions and balances within the group that 
should be removed on consolidation of the group accounts. This appears to be the case in 2020/21 
from our analysis which shows that the Miocare and Unity Partnership debtors consolidated into the 
balance sheet are a greater value than the total amount of income consolidated into the CIES. 

 
Recommendation 
 
The Council should review its closedown processes for the group consolidation to incorporate liaison 
with the Miocare and Unity Partnership finance officers to identify all transactions and balances that are 
within the group and remove these on consolidation. 

 
  

Page 290



30 September 2021 

    5/16 
 

 
Recommendation 2 
 

Description of deficiency  
 
Our testing of Council’s IT general controls identified that users with access to Agresso are normally 
configured to use a single sign on (SSO). However this is not configured for all users, and users 
Agresso passwords do not expire if they are not using a SSO. 

Potential effects 
 
Regular password changes is a best practice element of good password controls and not requiring 
them to be changed regularly weakens the password control environment. 

Recommendation 
 
The Council should ensure consistency in the password control requirements for all Agresso users 
regardless of whether they use single sign on or not. 

 
 
 
Recommendation 3 
 

Description of deficiency  
 
Our review of the Council’s IT Service Continuity Plan confirmed that it outlined the planned response 
to various scenarios in the case of not being able to access services. However the plan does not 
incorporate a specific IT disaster recovery strategy and indicates an assumption that the servers and 
broader network infrastructure is unaffected.  

Potential effects 
 
The reliance on IT network and server capacity and performance means that these are critical elements 
of the Council’s control framework and should be subject to disaster recovery procedures. Not clearly 
articulating those procedures increases the risk that IT failures are not promptly and accurately 
resolved. 

Recommendation 
 
The Council should ensure that it clearly articulates its IT disaster recovery strategy and approach and 
should regularly test the disaster recovery approach. 

 
  

Page 291



30 September 2021 

    6/16 
 

Appendix B – Proposed Audit Report 

See following pages 

Page 292



30 September 2021 

    7/16 
 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Oldham Metropolitan 
Borough Council 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion on the financial statements 
We have audited the financial statements of Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council (‘the Council’) and its 
subsidiaries (‘the Group’) for the year ended 31 March 2021, which comprise the Council and Group Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statements, the Council and Group Movement in Reserves Statements, the Council and 
Group Balance Sheets, the Council and Group Cash Flow Statements, the Housing Revenue Account Income and 
Expenditure Statement, the Statement of Movement in the Housing Revenue Account, the Collection Fund 
Statement and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC 
Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council and the Group as at 31st March 
2021 and of the Council’s and the Group’s expenditure and income for the year then ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21. 

 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section of our 
report.  We are independent of the Council in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applicable to public interest entities, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern  
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Director of Finance’s use of the going concern basis 
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 
 
Note 34 (1.1) of the financial statements explains how the Director of Finance formed their judgement that it is 
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of preparation for the Council and the Group. 
 
In accordance with Practice Note 10: Audit of financial statement and regularity of public sector bodies in the United 
Kingdom, our review of management’s assessment of going concern was focused on the extent to which there are 
any indications that the functions of the Council and Group will not continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. 
 
Our audit procedures to evaluate the Director of Finance’s assessment of the Council’s and the Group’s ability to 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included but were not limited to: 

Page 293



30 September 2021 

    8/16 
 

• undertaking an initial assessment at the planning stage of our audit to identify events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Council’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in the context of the guidance in Practice Note 10; 

• obtaining an understanding of the relevant controls relating to the Director of Finance’s going 
concern assessment; 

• making enquiries of the Director of Finance to understand the period of assessment considered 
by them, the assumptions they considered and the implication of those when assessing the 
Council’s and the Group’s continuation of service; 

• obtaining and reviewing the Director of Finance’s written going concern assessment; and 
• considering whether the Director of Finance’s assessment is proportionate to the risks associated 

with going concern for the local government sector. 
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Council's ability to continue as a going 
concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.  
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Director of Finance with respect to going concern are described 
in the relevant sections of this report. 
 
Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) we identified, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall 
audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. 
 
We summarise below the key audit matters in forming our audit opinion above, together with an overview of the 
principal audit procedures performed to address each matter and, where relevant, key observations arising from 
those procedures. These matters, together with our findings, were communicated to those charged with governance 
through our Audit Completion Report. 
 

Key audit matter How our scope addressed this matter 

Valuation of Council Property, Plant and Equipment 
Note 17 to the financial statements discloses information 
on the Council’s holding of property, plant and equipment 
(PP&E) which includes £77.1m of Council Dwellings and 
£500.4m of Other Land & Buildings held at current value 
at 31 March 2021. 
The CIPFA Code of Practice requires that where assets 
are subject to revaluation, their year-end carrying value 
should reflect the current value at that date. The Council 
has adopted a rolling revaluation model which sees all 
such property, plant & equipment revalued in a five-year 

Our audit procedures included, but were not limited 
to: 
• Obtaining an understanding of the skills, 

experience and qualifications of the valuer, 
and considering the appropriateness of the 
instructions to the valuer from the Council.  

• Obtaining an understanding of the basis of 
valuation applied by the valuer in the year.  

• Obtaining an understanding of the Council’s 
approach to ensure that assets not subject 
to revaluation in 2020/21 are materially fairly 
stated. 

Page 294



30 September 2021 

    9/16 
 

Key audit matter How our scope addressed this matter 

cycle. The valuation of property, plant & equipment 
involves the use of a management expert (the valuer) 
and incorporates assumptions and estimates which 
impact materially on the reported value. There are risks 
relating to the valuation process. The Council employs a 
valuation expert to provide valuations, however there 
remains a high degree of estimation uncertainty 
associated with the valuations of property, plant and 
equipment due to the significant judgements and number 
of variables involved. As a result of the rolling programme 
of revaluations, there is a risk that individual assets which 
have not been revalued for up to four years are not 
valued at the current value at the balance sheet date. In 
addition, as the valuations are undertaken through the 
year there is a risk that the current value of the assets 
could be materially different at the year end.  
Council Dwelling valuations are based on Existing Use 
Value, discounted by a factor to reflect that the assets 
are used for Social Housing (EUV-SH). The Social 
Housing adjustment factor is prescribed in MHCLG 
guidance, but this guidance indicates that where a valuer 
has evidence that this factor is different in the Council’s 
area they can use their more accurate local factor. There 
is a risk that the Council's application of the valuer’s 
assumptions is not in line with the statutory requirements 
and that the valuation is not supported by detailed 
evidence. 
 

• Obtaining an understanding of the Council’s 
approach to ensure that assets revalued 
through 2020/21 are materially fairly stated 
at the year end. 

• Sample testing the completeness and 
accuracy of underlying data provided by the 
Council and used by the valuer as part of 
their valuations. 

• Using relevant market and cost data to 
assess the reasonableness of the valuation 
as at 31 March 2021. 

• Testing the accuracy of how valuation 
movements were presented and disclosed 
in the financial statements. 

Our observations 
We obtained sufficient appropriate evidence to 
conclude that the valuation of land & buildings 
included in the financial statements is reasonable. 

Valuation of Investment Property 
The Council’s Balance Sheet discloses their Investment 
Properties to be valued at £18.8m at 31 March 2021. 
The CIPFA Code requires that where Investment 
Property assets are subject to revaluation, their year-end 
carrying value should reflect the fair value at that date.  
The valuation of Investment Property involves the use of 
a management expert (the valuer) and incorporates 
assumptions and estimates which impact materially on 
the reported value. There are risks relating to the 
valuation process.  
The Council employs valuation experts to provide 
valuations, however there remains a high degree of 
estimation uncertainty associated with the valuations of 
property, plant and equipment due to the significant 
judgements and number of variables involved. 

Our audit procedures included, but were not limited 
to: 
• Obtaining an understanding of the skills, 

experience and qualifications of the valuer, 
and considering the appropriateness of the 
instructions to the valuer from the Council. 

• Obtaining an understanding of the basis of 
valuation applied by the valuer in the year.  

• Obtaining assurance on the 
appropriateness of the methodology and 
assumptions adopted by the Council’s 
valuer. 

• Comparing the valuation to our external 
valuation expert’s estimate of the valuation. 

Page 295



30 September 2021 

    10/16 
 

Key audit matter How our scope addressed this matter 

• Sample testing the completeness and 
accuracy of underlying data used by the 
valuer as part of their valuations. 

 
Our observations 
We obtained sufficient appropriate evidence to 
conclude that the valuation of investment properties 
included in the financial statements is reasonable. 

Valuation of the Council’s and the Group’s Defined 
Benefit Net Pension Liability 
The Council’s balance sheet discloses the Council 
pension liability to be valued at £444.2m at 31 March 
2021 and comprises assets of £1,094.3m and liabilities 
of £1,538.5m. 
The Group Balance Sheet discloses the group pension 
liability to be valued at £467.9m at 31 March 2021 and 
comprises assets of £1,225.9m and liabilities of 
£1,654.0m. 
The net pension liability represents a material element of 
the Council and the Group balance sheet. The Council 
and its consolidated subsidiaries are admitted bodies of 
Greater Manchester Pension Fund, which had its last 
triennial valuation completed as at 31 March 2019. The 
valuation of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
relies on a number of assumptions, most notably around 
the actuarial assumptions, and actuarial methodology 
which results in the Council’s and the subsidiaries’ 
overall valuations. There are financial assumptions and 
demographic assumptions used in the calculation of the 
valuation, such as the discount rate, inflation rates and 
mortality rates. The assumptions should also reflect the 
profile of the Council’s and the subsidiaries’ employees, 
and should be based on appropriate data. The basis of 
the assumptions is derived on a consistent basis year to 
year, or updated to reflect any changes. 
There is a risk that the assumptions and methodology 
used in valuing the pension obligations are not 
reasonable or appropriate to the Council’s or the 
subsidiaries’ circumstances. This could have a material 
impact to the Council and Group net pension liability in 
2020/21. 
 

Our audit procedures included, but were not limited 
to: 

• Obtaining an understanding of the skills, 
experience and qualifications of the actuary, 
and considering the appropriateness of the 
instructions to the actuary from the Council. 

• Obtaining confirmation from the auditor of the 
Greater Manchester Pension Fund that the 
Pension Fund has designed and 
implemented controls to prevent and detect 
material misstatement. This included the 
controls in place to ensure data provided to 
the Actuary by the Pension Fund for the 
purposes of the IAS19 valuation of the gross 
asset and liability is complete and accurate.  

• Reviewing a summary of the work performed 
by the Pension Fund auditor on the Pension 
Fund investment assets, and evaluating 
whether the outcome of their work would 
affect our consideration of the council’s share 
of Pension Fund assets. The Pension Fund 
auditor work included comparing the asset 
values used for the actuarial valuation to 
those subjected to audit by the Pension Fund 
auditor. 

• Reviewing the actuarial allocation of Pension 
Fund assets to the Council by the actuary, 
including comparing the Council’s share of 
the assets to other corroborative information. 

• Reviewing the appropriateness of the 
Pension Asset and Liability valuation 
methodology applied by the Pension Fund 
Actuary, and the key assumptions included 
within the valuation. This included comparing 

Page 296



30 September 2021 

    11/16 
 

Key audit matter How our scope addressed this matter 

them to expected ranges, utilising 
information provided by PWC, consulting 
actuary engaged by the National Audit Office.  

• Agreeing the data in the IAS 19 valuation 
report provided by the Pension Fund Actuary 
for accounting purposes to the pension 
accounting entries and disclosures in the 
Council’s and Group’s financial statements.  

Key observations 
We obtained sufficient appropriate evidence to 
conclude that the valuation of the defined benefit 
pension liability included in the financial statements 
is reasonable. 

 
Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit 
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for 
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the 
nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures, 
and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and on the financial statements as a whole. Based 
on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows: 
 

 Council Group 

Overall materiality £13.6m £13.61m 

Basis for determining materiality Materiality has been determined as approximately 2% of gross 
expenditure at the surplus/deficit on provision of services level 

Rationale for benchmark applied 

Gross expenditure at the surplus/deficit on provision of services level 
was chosen as the appropriate benchmark as this is a key measure of 
financial performance for the Council/Group and for users of the 
financial statements 

Performance materiality £10.88m £10.888m 

Reporting threshold £408,000 £408,000 

 
 
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risk of material misstatement in the 
financial statements. In particular, we looked at where the Director of Finance made subjective judgements such as 
making assumptions on significant accounting estimates. 
 
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed sufficient work to be able to give an opinion on the 
financial statements as a whole. We used the outputs of a risk assessment, our understanding of the Council and 

Page 297



30 September 2021 

    12/16 
 

Group, its environment, controls and critical business processes, to consider qualitative factors in order to ensure 
that we obtained sufficient coverage across all financial statement line items. 
 
Our approach to auditing the Group was based on our understanding of the group structure and an assessment of 
the significance of individual components to the group financial statements.  In summary: 

• Full scope audit procedures were carried out on the Council which represents (99.2%) of the 
Group’s total assets, (97.0%) of the Group’s total liabilities, (99.8%) of the Group’s income and 
(93.9%) of the Group’s expenditure.  

• Specific audit procedures were carried on the Defined Benefit Pension Liability of The Unity 
Partnership Limited and Miocare Group Community Interest Company which represents 2.4% of 
the Group’s total liabilities. 

• Analytical procedures were performed on the remaining entries in The Unity Partnership Limited 
and Miocare Group Community Interest Company which were included in the Group financial 
statements.   

 
We also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical procedures to confirm our conclusion that there 
were no significant risks of material misstatement of the aggregated financial information. 
 
Other information  
The Director of Finance is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the Statement of Accounts, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of the Director of Finance for the financial statements 
As explained more fully in the Statement of the Director of Finance’s Responsibilities, the Director of Finance is 
responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes the financial statements, in accordance 
with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2020/21, and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The Director of Finance is also 
responsible for such internal control as the Director of Finance determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
The Director of Finance is required to comply with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2020/21 and prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis on the 
assumption that the functions of the Council will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.. The 

Page 298



30 September 2021 

    13/16 
 

Director of Finance is responsible for assessing each year whether or not it is appropriate for the Council and Group 
to prepare its accounts on the going concern basis and disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern.  
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in 
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including 
fraud. Based on our understanding of the Council we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws 
and regulations related to the Local Government Act 2003 (and associated regulations made under section 21) the 
Local Government Finance Acts of 1988, 1992 and 2012, the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989 and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material 
effect on the financial statements.  
 
We evaluated the Director of Finance’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial 
statements (including the risk of override of controls) and determined that the principal risks were related to posting 
manual journal entries to manipulate financial performance, management bias through judgements and 
assumptions in significant accounting estimates and significant one-off or unusual transactions.  
 
Our audit procedures were designed to respond to those identified risks, including non-compliance with laws and 
regulations (irregularities) and fraud that are material to the financial statements. Our audit procedures included but 
were not limited to: 

• discussing with management and the Audit Committee the policies and procedures regarding 
compliance with laws and regulations;  

• communicating identified laws and regulations throughout our engagement team and remaining 
alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout our audit; and  

• considering the risk of acts by the Council which were contrary to applicable laws and regulations, 
including fraud.  
 

Our audit procedures in relation to fraud included but were not limited to: 

• making enquiries of management and the Audit Committee on whether they had knowledge of 
any actual, suspected or alleged fraud; 

• gaining an understanding of the internal controls established to mitigate risks related to fraud;  
• discussing amongst the engagement team the risks of fraud; and 
• addressing the risks of fraud through management override of controls by performing journal entry 

testing, reviewing management judgements and assumptions in significant accounting estimates, 
and reviewing any significant one-off or unusual transactions.  

Page 299



30 September 2021 

    14/16 
 

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the primary responsibility for the 
prevention and detection of irregularities including fraud rests with management and the Audit Committee. As with 
any audit, there remained a risk of non-detection of irregularities, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal controls. 
 
As a result of our procedures, we did not identify any key audit matters relating to irregularities. The risks of material 
misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit, including fraud, are discussed under “Key audit matters” 
within this report.  
 
We are also required to conclude on whether the Director of Finance’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. We performed our work in accordance with Practice 
Note 10: Audit of financial statement and regularity of public sector bodies in the United Kingdom, and 
Supplementary Guidance Note 01, issued by the National Audit Office in April 2021.   
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s 
report. 
 
 
Report on the Council’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources 
 
Matter on which we are required to report by exception 
We are required to report to you if, in our view we are not satisfied that the Council has made proper arrangements 
for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2021. 
 
We have not completed our work on the Council’s arrangements.  On the basis of our work to date, having regard 
to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021, we have not identified any significant 
weaknesses in arrangements for the year ended 31 March 2021. 
 
We will report the outcome of our work on the Council’s arrangements in our commentary on those arrangements 
within the Auditor’s Annual Report.  Our audit completion certificate will set out any matters which we are required 
to report by exception.  
 
Responsibilities of the Council 
The Council is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and 
effectiveness of these arrangements.  
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in the use of resources 
We are required under section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to satisfy ourselves that the 
Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 
We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Council’s arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating effectively. 
 

Page 300

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities


30 September 2021 

    15/16 
 

We have undertaken our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the guidance issued 
by the Comptroller and Auditor General in April 2021. 
 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception under the Code of Audit 
Practice 
We are required by the Code of Audit Practice to report to you if: 

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014; 

• we make a recommendation under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or 
• we exercise any other special powers of the auditor under sections 28, 29 or 31 of the Local Audit 

and Accountability Act 2014. 
 
We have nothing to report in these respects.  
 
 
Other matters which we are required to address  
We were appointed as the Council’s auditor by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd, in its role as appointing person 
under the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015, on 14 December 2017.  The period of total 
uninterrupted engagement, including previous renewals and reappointments of the firm, is three years covering the 
audit of the financial years ending 31 March 2019 to 31 March 2021. 
 
The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the Council or Group and we 
remain independent of the Council and Group in conducting our audit. 
 
Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the Audit Committee.  
 
 
Use of the audit report 
This report is made solely to the members of Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council, as a body, in accordance with 
part 5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 44 of the Statement of 
Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the members of the Council those matters we are required to 
state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the members of the Council, as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 

Delay in certification of completion of the audit 
We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate until we have completed: 

• the work necessary to issue our assurance statement in respect of the Council’s Whole of 
Government Accounts consolidation pack; and 

Page 301



30 September 2021 

    16/16 
 

• the work necessary to satisfy ourselves that the Council has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.  

 
 
 
 
Karen Murray, Key Audit Partner 
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP 
One St Peter’s Square 
Manchester 
M2 3DE 
30 September 2021 
 

Page 302



 
 

 

 

 

Report to Cabinet  
 
 

Treasury Management Mid-Year Review Report 
2021/22 

 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Abdul Jabbar MBE, Deputy Leader and 
Cabinet Member for Finance and Low Carbon 

 
Officer Contact: Anne Ryans, Director of Finance 

 
Report Author: Lee Walsh, Finance Manager (Capital & Treasury) 
Ext. 6608 

 

15 November 2021 
 

 

 

Reason for Decision 
 
This report advises Cabinet of the performance of the Treasury Management function of 
the Council for the first half of 2021/22 and provides a comparison of performance against 
the 2021/22 Treasury Management Strategy and Prudential Indicators. 

 
Executive Summary 

 
The Council is required to consider the performance of the Treasury Management function 
in order to comply with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) 
Code of Practice on Treasury Management (revised 2017). This report therefore sets out 
the key Treasury Management issues for Members’ information and review and outlines: 

 

• An economic update for the first six months of 2021/22; 

• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy; 

• The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the Capital Strategy, and prudential 
indicators; 

• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2021/22; 

• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2021/22; 

• Why there has been no debt rescheduling undertaken during 2021/22; and 

• A review of compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2021/22. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 303

Agenda Item 8



Members will be aware that one of the roles of the Audit Committee is to scrutinise all Treasury 
Management reports before approval. Therefore, a version of this report was presented to the 
Audit Committee on 2 November 2021 to enable it to have the opportunity to review and 
scrutinise the 2021/22 Treasury Management Mid-Year Review report prior to its presentation 
to Cabinet.  The Committee was content to commend the report to Cabinet.  
 
 
Recommendation 
 

That Cabinet approves and commends to Council the: 
 
a) Treasury Management activity for the first half of the financial year 2021/22 and the 

projected outturn position 
 
b) Amendments to both Authorised Limit and Operational Boundary for external debt as 

set out in the table at Section 2.4.5 of the report. 
 
c) Amendments to the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) as set out in the table 

at section 2.4.5 
 

 

Page 304



Cabinet 15 November 2021 
 
 

 

 

Treasury Management Strategy Mid-Year Review Report 2021/22 
 
1 Background 
 
1.1 The Council operates a balanced budget, which broadly means cash raised during the year 

will meet its cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management operations is to ensure this 
cash flow is adequately planned, with surplus monies being invested with low risk 
counterparties, providing adequate liquidity initially before considering optimising investment 
return. 

 
1.2 The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the Council’s 

capital plans. These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, 
essentially the longer-term cash flow planning to ensure the Council can meet its capital 
spending operations. This management of longer-term cash may involve arranging long or 
short-term loans, or using longer term cash flow surpluses, and on occasion any debt 
previously drawn may be restructured to meet Council risk or cost objectives. 

 
1.3 As a consequence, treasury management is defined as: 
 

“The management of the local authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money 
market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks associated with 
those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.”  
 

1.4 In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, (CIPFA), 
issued revised Prudential and Treasury Management Codes. Within these new codes as 
from 2020/21, all local authorities have been required to prepare a Capital Strategy which is 
to provide the following:  
 

a) a high-level overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing and treasury 
management activity contribute to the provision of services; 
 

b) an overview of how the associated risk is managed;  
 

c) the implications for future financial sustainability.  
   
1.5 The Council has traditionally prepared a Capital Strategy, but the requirements of the 

Prudential and Treasury Management Codes required a revised format and content to ensure 
alignment with both Codes. A report incorporating the new requirements was presented to 
the 2021/22 Budget Cabinet and Budget Council meetings. 

 
2 Current Position 
 
2.1 Requirements of the Treasury Management Code of Practice 
 
2.1.1 Treasury Management reports must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of 

the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management (revised 2017). 
 
2.1.2 The primary requirements of the Code are as follows: 

a) Creation and maintenance of a Treasury Management Policy Statement which sets 
out the policies and objectives of the Council’s treasury management activities. 

b) Creation and maintenance of Treasury Management Practices which set out the 
manner in which the Council will seek to achieve those policies and objectives. 

Page 305



 

  

c) Receipt by the full Council of an annual Treasury Management Strategy Statement - 
including the Annual Investment Strategy and Minimum Revenue Provision Policy - 
for the year ahead, a Mid-year Review Report (this report) and an Annual Report 
(stewardship report) covering activities during the previous year. 

d) Delegation by the Council of responsibilities for implementing and monitoring treasury 
management policies and practices and for the execution and administration of 
treasury management decisions. In Oldham, this responsibility is delegated to the 
Director of Finance. 

e) Delegation by the Council of the role of scrutiny of treasury management strategy 
and policies to a specific named body. In Oldham, the delegated body is the Audit 
Committee. 

2.1.3 This mid-year report has been prepared in compliance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice, and 
covers the following: 

 
• An economic update for the first six months of 2021/22; 

• A review of the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy; 

• The Council’s capital expenditure, as set out in the Capital Strategy and prudential 

indicators; 

• A review of the Council’s investment portfolio for 2021/22; 

• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2021/22; 

• Why there has been no debt rescheduling undertaken during 2021/22; and 

• A review of the compliance with Treasury and Prudential Limits for 2021/22; 

 
2.2 Economic Update for the First Six Months of the Financial Year 

 
The United Kingdom (UK) 
 

2.2.1 At the meeting of The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) on 24 September 2021 the MPC 
voted unanimously to leave Bank Rate unchanged at 0.10% and made no changes to its 
programme of quantitative easing purchases due to finish by the end of this year at a total of 
£895bn; two MPC members voted to stop the last £35bn of purchases as they were concerned 
that this would add to inflationary pressures. 
 

2.2.2 There was a major shift in the tone of the MPC’s minutes at this meeting from the previous 
meeting in August which had majored on indicating that some tightening in monetary policy 
was now on the horizon, but also not wanting to stifle economic recovery by too early an 
increase in Bank Rate. In his press conference after the August MPC meeting, Governor 
Andrew Bailey said, “the challenge of avoiding a steep rise in unemployment has been 
replaced by that of ensuring a flow of labour into jobs” and that “the Committee will be 
monitoring closely the incoming evidence regarding developments in the labour market, and 
particularly unemployment, wider measures of slack, and underlying wage pressures.” In other 
words, the Governor was indicating the potential danger that labour shortages could push up 
wage growth by more than it expects and that, as a result, CPI inflation would stay above the 
2% target for longer.  

 
2.2.3 It also discounted sharp increases in monthly inflation figures in the pipeline in late 2021 which 

were largely propelled by events a year ago e.g., the cut in VAT in August 2020 for the 
hospitality industry, and by temporary shortages which would eventually work their way out of 
the system, indicating, the MPC had been prepared to look through a temporary spike in 
inflation. 
 

2.2.4 Therefore, in August the country was just put on alert.  However, this time the MPC’s words 
indicated there had been a marked increase in concern that more recent increases in prices, 

Page 306



 

  

particularly the increases in gas and electricity prices in October and due again April 2022, 
are, indeed, likely to lead to faster and higher inflation expectations and underlying wage 
growth, which would in turn increase the risk that price pressures would prove more persistent 
next year than previously expected. Indeed, to emphasise its concern about inflationary 
pressures, the MPC pointedly chose to reaffirm its commitment to the 2% inflation target in its 
statement. This suggested that it was now willing to look through the flagging economic 
recovery during the summer to prioritise bringing inflation down next year.  

 
2.2.5 This is a reversal of its priorities in August and a long way from words at earlier MPC meetings 

which indicated a willingness to look through inflation overshooting the target for limited 
periods to ensure that inflation was ‘sustainably over 2%’. Indeed, whereas in August the 
MPC’s focus was on getting through a winter of temporarily high energy prices and supply 
shortages, believing that inflation would return to just under the 2% target after reaching a high 
around 4% in late 2021, now its primary concern is that underlying price pressures in the 
economy are likely to get embedded over the next year and elevate future inflation to stay 
significantly above its 2% target and for longer. 
 

2.2.6 Financial markets are now pricing in a first increase in Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25% in 
February 2022, but this looks ambitious as the MPC has stated that it wants to see what 
happens to the economy, and particularly to employment as furlough ended at the end of 
September. At the MPC’s meeting in February 2022 it will only have available the employment 
figures for November. To get a clearer picture of employment trends, it would need to wait 
until the May 2022 meeting when it would have data up until February 2022. At its May 
meeting, it will also have a clearer understanding of the likely peak of inflation. 
 

2.2.7 The MPC’s forward guidance on its intended monetary policy on raising Bank Rate versus 
selling (quantitative easing) holdings of bonds is as follows: - 
 

• Placing the focus on raising Bank Rate as “the active instrument in most 
circumstances”. 

• Raising Bank Rate to 0.50% before starting on reducing its holdings. 

• Once Bank Rate is at 0.50% it would stop reinvesting maturing gilts. 

• Once Bank Rate had risen to at least 1%, it would start selling its holdings. 
 
European Union (EU) 

2.2.8 The slow roll out of vaccines initially delayed economic recovery in early 2021 but the 
vaccination rate has picked up sharply. After a contraction in GDP of -0.3% in Q1, Q2 came 
in with strong growth of 2%, which is likely to continue into Q3, though some countries more 
dependent on tourism may struggle.  

2.2.9 Recent sharp increases in gas and electricity prices have increased overall inflationary 
pressures but the European Central Bank (ECB) is likely to see these as being only transitory 
after an initial burst through to around 4%, so is unlikely to be raising rates for a considerable 
time.   

German General Election 

2.2.10 With the Christian Democratic Union of Germany (CDU)/ Christian Social Union (CSU) and 
Social Democratic Party (SDP) both having won around 24-26% of the vote in the September 
2021 General Election, the composition of Germany’s next coalition Government may not be 
agreed by the end of 2021. An SDP-led coalition would probably pursue a slightly less 
restrictive fiscal policy, but any change of direction from a CDU/CSU led coalition Government 
is likely to be small. However, with Angela Merkel standing down as Chancellor as soon as a 
coalition is formed, there will be a hole in overall EU leadership which will be difficult to fill. 

China 

2.2.11 After a concerted effort to get on top of the virus outbreak in Q1 2020, economic recovery was 
strong in the rest of the year. This enabled China to recover all the initial contraction. During 

Page 307



 

  

2020, policy makers both quashed the virus and implemented a programme of monetary and 
fiscal support that was particularly effective at stimulating short-term growth.  
 

2.2.12 At the same time, China’s economy benefited from the shift towards online spending by 
consumers in developed markets. These factors helped to explain its comparative 
outperformance compared to western economies during 2020 and earlier in 2021. However, 
the pace of economic growth has now fallen back after this initial surge of recovery from the 
pandemic and China is now struggling to contain the spread of the Delta variant through sharp 
local lockdowns, which will also depress economic growth.  

2.2.13 There are also questions as to how effective Chinese vaccines are proving. In addition, recent 
regulatory actions motivated by a political agenda to channel activities into officially approved 
directions, are also likely to reduce the dynamism and long-term growth of the Chinese 
economy. 

Japan 

2.2.14 During 2021, Japan has had a difficult year in combating the Covid-19 pandemic. However, 
after a slow start, nearly 50% of the population are now vaccinated and Covid case numbers 
are falling. After a weak Q3 there is likely to be a strong recovery in Q4. 

2.2.15 The Bank of Japan is continuing its very loose monetary policy but with little prospect of getting 
inflation back above 1% towards its target of 2%, any time soon and inflation was negative in 
July 2021. New Prime Minister Kishida has promised a large fiscal stimulus package after the 
November 2021 General Election which his party is likely to win. 

World Growth 

2.2.16 World growth was in recession in 2020 but recovered during 2021 until starting to lose 
momentum more recently. Inflation has been rising due to increases in gas and electricity 
prices, shipping costs and supply shortages, although these should subside during 2022.  

2.2.17 It is likely that we are heading into a period where there will be a reversal of world globalisation 
and a decoupling of western countries from dependence on China to supply products, and 
vice versa. This is likely to reduce world growth rates from those in prior decades. 

Supply Shortages 

2.2.18 The pandemic and extreme weather events have been highly disruptive of extended 
worldwide supply chains.  At the current time, there are major queues of ships unable to unload 
their goods at ports in New York, California, and China.  

2.2.19 Such issues have led to misdistribution of shipping containers around the world and have 
contributed to a huge increase in the cost of shipping. Combined with a shortage of semi-
conductors, these issues have had a disruptive impact on production in many countries.  

2.2.20 Many western countries are also having difficulty in filling job vacancies. It is expected that 
these issues will be gradually reduce, but they are currently contributing to a spike upwards in 
inflation and shortages of materials and goods on shelves. 

 
2.3 Interest Rate Forecast 
 
2.3.1 The Council’s treasury advisor, the Link Group, has provided the following forecast of interest 

rates over the period from December 2021 to March 2024 together with Public Works Loan 
Board (PWLB) Rates which are presented at certainty rates (gilt yields plus 80 basis points 
(bps)). 

Page 308



 

  

 

2.3.2 The coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage to the UK and economies around 
the world. After the Bank of England took emergency action in March 2020 to cut Bank Rate 
to 0.10%, it left Bank Rate unchanged at its subsequent meetings. 
 

2.3.3 As shown in the forecast table above, one increase in Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25% has 
now been included in quarter 2 of 2022/23, a second increase to 0.50% in quarter 2 of 2023/24 
and a third one to 0.75% in quarter 4 of 2023/24. 

 
Significant Risks to the Forecasts  
 

2.3.4 There are significant risks to forecasts and these are set out below: 
 

• Covid-19 vaccines do not work to combat new mutations and/or new vaccines take 
longer than anticipated to be developed for successful implementation. 

• The pandemic causes major long-term scarring of the economy. 

• The Government implements an austerity programme that supresses GDP growth. 

• The MPC tightens monetary policy too early, by raising Bank Rate or unwinding 
quantitative easing (QE). 

• The MPC tightens monetary policy too late to ward off building inflationary pressures. 

• Major stock markets, for example in the US, become increasingly judged as being 
over-valued and susceptible to major price corrections.  

• Central Banks become increasingly exposed to the “moral hazard” risks of having to 
buy shares and corporate bonds to reduce the impact of major financial market selloffs 
on the general economy. 

• Geo-political risks are widespread for example, the German General Election in 
September 2021 produces an unstable coalition or minority government and a void in 
high-profile leadership in the EU when Angela Merkel steps down as Chancellor of 
Germany.  

 
The Balance of Risks to the UK Economy 
 

2.3.5 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is now to the downside, including 
residual risks from Covid-19 and its variants, both domestically and their potential effects 
worldwide. 
 
Forecast for Bank Rate 
 

2.3.6 Bank Rate is not expected to go up fast after the initial rate rise as the supply potential of the 
economy has not generally taken a major hit during the pandemic, so it should be able to cope 
well with meeting demand without causing inflation to remain elevated in the medium-term, or 
to inhibit inflation from falling back towards the MPC’s 2% target after the surge to around 4% 
towards the end of 2021.  

Page 309



 

  

2.3.7 Three increases in Bank Rate are forecast in the period to March 2024, ending at 0.75%. 
However, these forecasts may well need changing within a relatively short time frame for the 
following reasons:  

 

• There are increasing grounds for viewing the economic recovery as running out of 
steam during the summer and now into the autumn. This could lead into stagflation 
which would create a dilemma for the MPC as to which actions to take. 

• Some current key supply shortages e.g., petrol and diesel, spill over into causing 
economic activity in some sectors to take a significant hit. 

• Rising gas and electricity prices in October 2021 and April 2022 and increase in other 
prices caused by supply shortages and increases in taxation next April 2022, are 
already going to deflate consumer spending power without the MPC having to take 
any action on Bank Rate to cool inflation. Then we have the Government’s upcoming 
budget in October 2021, which could also end up in reducing consumer spending 
power. 

• On the other hand, consumers have around £200bn of excess savings left over from 
the pandemic for which the timing of spending is unclear. 

• Approximately 1.6 million people came off furlough at the end of September 2021.  It 
is unclear how many of those no longer have a permanent job and will, therefore, be 
available to fill labour shortages in many sectors of the economy. So, supply shortages 
which have been driving up both wages and costs, could reduce significantly within the 
next six months or so and alleviate the MPC’s current concerns. 

• There is a risk that there could be further developments in the Covid-19 pandemic, on 
top of the flu season this winter, which could depress economic activity. 

 
2.3.8 In summary, with the high level of uncertainty prevailing on several different fronts. It is likely 

that these forecasts will need to be revised again soon. 
 

2.3.9 It also needs to be borne in mind that Bank Rate being cut to 0.10% was an emergency 
measure to deal with the Covid-19 crisis hitting the UK in March 2020. At any time, the MPC 
could decide to simply take away that final emergency cut from 0.25% to 0.10% on the 
grounds of it no longer being warranted and as a step forward in the return to normality.  

 
2.3.10 In addition, any Bank Rate under 1% is both highly unusual and highly supportive of economic 

growth. 
 
Forecasts for PWLB Rates and Gilt Yields 
 

2.3.11 As the interest forecast table for PWLB certainty rates above shows, there is likely to be a 
steady rise over the forecast period, with some degree of uplift due to rising treasury yields in 
the US.    

2.3.12 There is likely to be exceptional volatility and unpredictability in respect of gilt yields and PWLB 
rates due to the following factors: 

• How strongly will changes in gilt yields be correlated to changes in US treasury yields? 

• Will the US Federal Reserve (FED) take action to counter increasing treasury yields if 
they rise beyond a yet unspecified level? 

• Would the MPC act to counter increasing gilt yields if they rise beyond a yet unspecified 
level? 

• How strong will inflationary pressures turn out to be in both the US and the UK and so 
impact treasury and gilt yields? 

• How will Central Banks implement their new average or sustainable level inflation 
monetary policies? 

• How well will Central Banks manage the withdrawal of QE purchases of their national 
bonds? 

• Will exceptional volatility be focused on the short or long-end of the yield curve, or 
both? 

Page 310



 

  

 
2.3.13 The forecasts are also predicated on an assumption that there is no break-up of the Eurozone 

or EU within our forecasting period, despite the major challenges that are looming and that 
there are no major changes in international relations, especially between the US and China / 
North Korea and Iran, which have a major impact on international trade and world GDP 
growth.  

Gilt and Treasury Yields 

2.3.14 Since the start of 2021, there has been a lot of volatility in gilt yields, and hence PWLB rates. 
During the first part of the year, US President Biden’s, and the Democratic Party’s 
determination to push through a $1.9trn (equivalent to 8.8% of GDP) fiscal boost for the US 
economy as a recovery package from the Covid-19 pandemic was what unsettled financial 
markets.  

2.3.15 This was in addition to the $900bn support package already passed in December 2020 under 
President Trump. This was then followed by additional Democratic ambition to spend further 
huge sums on infrastructure and an American Families Plan over the next decade which is 
currently caught up in Democrat / Republican debates. Financial markets were alarmed that 
all this stimulus, which is much bigger than in other western economies, was happening at a 
time in the US when: 

• A fast vaccination programme has enabled a rapid opening up of the economy. 

• The economy had already been growing strongly during 2021. 

• It started from a position of little spare capacity due to less severe lockdown measures 
than in many other countries. A combination of shortage of labour and supply bottle 
necks is likely to impact on inflationary pressures more in the US than in other 
countries. 

• The FED was still providing monetary stimulus through monthly QE purchases. 
 

2.3.16 These factors could cause an excess of demand in the economy which could then unleash 
stronger and more sustained inflationary pressures in the US than in other western countries. 
This could then force the FED to take much earlier action to start tapering monthly QE 
purchases and/or increasing the FED rate from near zero, despite their stated policy being to 
target average inflation.  

2.3.17 It is notable that some FED members have moved forward their expectation of when the first 
increases in the FED rate will occur in recent FED meetings. In addition, more recently, 
shortages of workers appear to be stoking underlying wage inflationary pressures which are 
likely to feed through into CPI inflation.  

2.3.18 A run of strong monthly jobs growth figures could be enough to meet the threshold set by the 
FED of “substantial further progress towards the goal of reaching full employment”. However, 
the weak growth in August, (announced 3.9.21), has spiked anticipation that tapering of 
monthly QE purchases could start by the end of 2021. These purchases are currently acting 
as downward pressure on treasury yields.  As the US financial markets are, by far, the biggest 
financial markets in the world, any trend upwards in the US will invariably impact and influence 
financial markets in other countries.  

2.3.19 However, during June 2021 and July 2021, longer term yields fell sharply. Even the large non-
farm payroll increases in the first week of August 2021 seemed to cause the markets little 
concern, which is somewhat puzzling, particularly in the context of the concerns of many 
commentators that inflation may not be as transitory as the FED is expecting it to be. Indeed, 
inflation pressures and erosion of surplus economic capacity look much stronger in the US 
than in the UK.  

2.3.20 As an average since 2011, there has been a 75% correlation between movements in 10-year 
treasury yields and 10-year gilt yields.  This is a significant upward risk exposure to forecasts 
for longer term PWLB rates. However, gilt yields and treasury yields do not always move in 
unison. 

Page 311



 

  

2.3.21 There is also a possible downside risk from the huge sums of cash that the UK population has 
saved during the pandemic. When savings accounts earn little interest, it is likely that some 
of this cash could end up being invested in bonds and so push up demand for bonds and 
support their prices i.e., this would help to keep their yields down.  

 
Balance of Upside Risks to Medium to Long Term PWLB Rates 

2.3.22 One of the key results of the pandemic has been a fundamental rethinking and shift in 
monetary policy by major central banks like the FED, the Bank of England, and the European 
Central Bank (ECB), to tolerate a higher level of inflation than in the previous two decades 
when inflation was the prime target to bear down on so as to stop it going above a target rate.  

2.3.23 There is now also a greater emphasis on other targets for monetary policy than just inflation, 
especially on ‘achieving broad and inclusive “maximum” employment in its entirety’ in the US 
before consideration would be given to increasing rates.  

2.3.24 The FED in America has gone furthest in adopting a monetary policy based on a clear goal of 
allowing the inflation target to be symmetrical, (rather than a ceiling to keep under), so that 
inflation averages out the dips down and surges above the target rate, over an unspecified 
period of time.  

2.3.25 The Bank of England has also amended its target for monetary policy so that inflation should 
be ‘sustainably over 2%’ and the ECB now has a similar policy.  

2.3.26 For Local Authorities, this means that investment interest rates and very short term PWLB 
rates will not be rising as quickly or as high as in previous decades when the economy 
recovers from a downturn and the recovery eventually runs out of spare capacity to fuel 
continuing expansion.   

2.3.27 Labour market liberalisation since the 1970s has helped to break the wage-price spirals that 
fuelled high levels of inflation and has now set inflation on a lower path which makes this shift 
in monetary policy practicable. In addition, recent changes in flexible employment practices, 
the rise of the gig economy and technological changes, will all help to lower inflationary 
pressures.   

2.3.28 Governments will also be concerned to see interest rates stay lower as every rise in central 
rates will add to the cost of vastly expanded levels of national debt (in the UK this is £21bn for 
each 1% rise in rates). On the other hand, higher levels of inflation will help to erode the real 
value of total public debt. 

 
2.4       Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy Update 
 
2.4.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2021/22 was approved at the 

Council meeting on 4 March 2021. The underlying TMSS approved previously now requires 
revision in the light of economic and operational movements during the year. The proposed 
changes and supporting detail for the changes are set out in the next sections of this report. 

 
2.4.2 A decrease is required to both the overall Authorised Limit (the “affordable borrowing limit” 

required by Section 3 of the Local Government Act 2003 above which the Council does not 
have the power to borrow) and Operational Boundary (the expected borrowing position of 
the Council during the year) for external debt. This indicator is made up of external borrowing 
and other long-term liabilities, Private Finance Initiatives (PFI) and Finance Leases. The 
revision to the limits aligns to the reduction in the Capital Financing Requirement as outlined 
at paragraph 2.4.4 and 2.4.5 below. 

 
2.4.3 The Council has the following PFI and Public Private Partnership (PPP) Schemes each 

contributing to the Other Long-Term Liabilities element of the Authorised Limit and the 
Operational Boundary, thus making them both higher than if the Council was not required to 
present PFI schemes in this way: 

 

Page 312



 

  

• Gallery Oldham and Library 

• Sheltered Housing (PFI2) 

• Radclyffe and Failsworth Secondary Schools 

• Chadderton Health & Well Being Centre 

• Street Lighting 

• Housing (PFI4) 

• Blessed John Henry Newman RC College (Building Schools for the Future) 

 

2.4.4 It will be necessary to reduce the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) by £30.889m. Whilst 

approved capital expenditure / funding carry forwards from 2020/21 caused an initial 
increase, this is more than offset by estimated re-phasing and re-alignment and other 
anticipated adjustments in the 2021/22 capital programme resulting in the reduced CFR. 

 
2.4.5 Cabinet is therefore requested to approve the key changes to the 2021/22 prudential 

indicators as set out in the table below which show the original and recommended revised 
figures: 

 

Prudential Indicator 2021/22 Original 
£'000 

Recommended 
Revised 

Prudential 
Indicator 

 £'000 

Authorised Limit 541,500 519,500 

Operational Boundary 516,500 499,500 

Capital Financing Requirement 525,647 494,758 
 
 

2.5 The Council’s Capital Position (Prudential Indicators) 

2.5.1 This section of the report presents the Council’s capital expenditure plans and their financing, 

the impact of the changes in the capital expenditure plans on the prudential indicators and 
the underlying need to borrow together with compliance with the limits in place for borrowing 
activity. 
 
Prudential Indicator for Capital Expenditure 

2.5.2 The table below shows the anticipated half year position and the revised budget for capital 
expenditure. It therefore highlights the changes that have taken place and are forecast since 
the capital programme was agreed at the Council meeting on 4 March 2021. 

 
 

Capital Expenditure by Service 

2021/22 
Original 
Estimate   

£'000 

2021/22 
Revised 
Estimate   

£'000 

Corporate Services 5,320 3,765 

Children’s Services 6,110 15,403 

Communities & Reform 637 36 

Community Health & Social Care 3,409 2,005 

HRA 3,412 785 

People & Place 65,671 29,934 

Funds for Emerging Priorities 1,442 1,115 

Closing balance  86,002 53,043 

Page 313



 

  

2.5.3 The above table shows an anticipated decrease in the capital programme of £32.959m at 
month 6 compared to the March 2021 position, with current forecast spend of £53.043m. 
During the summer months the Council undertook the Annual Review of the Capital 
Programme in line with practice of recent years. The review identified a requirement for 
significant re-profiling across a number of schemes. Most of the re-phasing moved significant 
expenditure (£32.959m) from 2021/22. Some expenditure has been realigned into the later 
years of the capital programme. However, following the review, the overall capital 
programme has reduced by £24.858 (most of which would have been funded by Prudential 
Borrowing) therefore producing an associated revenue financing saving. The budget 
variations largely relate to re-profiling in the People and Place directorate capital programme.  

 
Changes to the Financing of the Capital Programme 

 

2.5.4 The table below draws together the main strategy elements of the capital expenditure plans 
(above) highlighting the original supported (£43.131m) and unsupported elements i.e., 
requiring borrowing (£42.871m), and the expected financing (revised position) arrangements 
of this capital expenditure. The borrowing need element of the table increases the underlying 
indebtedness of the Council by way of the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), although 
this will be reduced in part by revenue charges for the repayment of debt (the Minimum 
Revenue Provision). This direct borrowing need may also be supplemented by maturing debt 
and other treasury requirements. 

 

2.5.5 The overall net reduction in the capital programme has resulted in a change in the mix of 
funding sources required in 2021/22; a decrease in all financing types reducing the forecast 
borrowing need by £17.777m from £42.871m to £25.094m. 

 

Capital Expenditure 2021/22 2021/22 

Original Forecast 

Estimate Position 

£'000 £'000 

Total Capital Expenditure 86,002 53,043 

Financed by:   

Capital receipts (3,999) (5,533) 

Capital grants – Ringfenced (24,210) (9,242) 

Capital grants – Un-ringfenced 

 

(11,459) (11,718) 

Other Resources (51) (671) 

Revenue 0 0 

HRA Revenue (3,412) (785) 

 

Total Financing 
 

   (43,131) 
 
    (27,949) 

 

Borrowing Need 
 

  42,871 
 
   25,094 

 
 

Changes to the Prudential Indicators for the Capital Financing Requirement, External Debt 
and the Operational Boundary 

 

 

2.5.6 The table below shows the CFR, which is the underlying external need to incur borrowing for 
a capital purpose. As previously mentioned in paragraph 2.4.4, the CFR needs to decrease 
by £30.889m. It also shows the expected debt position over the period (the Operational 
Boundary). This indicator has decrease to reflect the revisions to the forecast year end 
position of the capital programme. 

Page 314



 

  

 2021/22 2021/22 

Original Revised 

Estimate Estimate 

£'000 £'000 

Prudential Indicator – Capital Financing Requirement 

CFR – non housing 525,647 494,758 

CFR – housing 0 0 

Total CFR 525,647 494,758 

Net movement in CFR  (30,889) 

 

Prudential Indicator – External Debt / the Operational Boundary 

Borrowing 301,500 284,500 

Other long-term liabilities 215,000 215,000 

Total debt 31 March 516,500 499,500 
 

Limits to Borrowing Activity 
 

2.5.7 The first key control over the treasury activity is a prudential indicator to ensure that over the 
medium term, net borrowing (borrowings less investments) will only be for a capital purpose. 

 
2.5.8 Gross external borrowing should not, except in the short term, exceed the total of CFR in the 

preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2021/22 and next two financial years. 
This allows some flexibility for limited early borrowing for future years. The Council has approved 
a policy for borrowing in advance of need which will be adhered to if this proves prudent. 

 

2.5.9 The CFR calculation is shown in the table below and the Director of Finance reports that no 
difficulties are envisaged for the current or future years in complying with this prudential indicator 
as there is £112.806m headroom between total debt and the CFR. 

 

 2021/22 2021/22 

Original Revised 

Estimate Estimate 

£'000 £'000 

Gross borrowing 197,593 168,374 

Plus: other long- term liabilities* 213,729 213,578 

Total Debt 411,322 381,952 

CFR* (year-end position) 525,647 494,758 

Headroom 114,325 112,806 

      * - Includes on balance sheet PFI schemes and finance leases 

 
2.5.10 A further prudential indicator controls the overall level of borrowing. This is the Authorised Limit 

which represents the limit beyond which borrowing is prohibited and needs to be set and revised 
by Members. It reflects the level of borrowing which, while not desired, could be afforded in the 
short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term. It is the expected maximum borrowing need 
with some headroom for unexpected movements. This is the statutory limit determined under 
section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. Presented in the table below is the original and 
the revised Authorised Limit. 
 
 

Page 315



 

  

Authorised limit for external debt 2021/22 2021/22 

Original Revised 

Indicator 

£'000 

Indicator 

£'000 

Borrowing 321,500
0 

299,500 

Other long-term liabilities* 220,000 220,000 

Total 541,500 519,500 
 

* - Includes on balance sheet PFI schemes and finance leases. 
 

2.5.11   The table above shows a reduction in the Authorised Limit of £22m due to the reduction in 
the capital programme and the associated financing. 

 

2.6 Annual Investment Strategy 
 

2.6.1 The Treasury Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) for 2021/22, which includes the 
Annual Investment Strategy, was approved by the Council on 4 March 2021. In accordance 
with the Code, it is the Council’s priority to ensure security of capital and liquidity.  
 

2.6.2 The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments commensurate 
with proper levels of security and liquidity and with the Council’s risk appetite. In current 
economic climate as detailed in 2.3, it is considered appropriate to keep investments short 
term to cover cash flow needs, but also to seek out value available in periods up to 12 months 
with high credit rated financial institutions, using the Link suggested creditworthiness 
approach, including a minimum sovereign credit rating and Credit Default Swap (CDS) 
overlay information.  

 
2.6.3 As shown by the interest rate forecasts at 2.3, it is now impossible to earn the level of interest 

rates commonly seen in previous decades.  All short-term money market investment rates 
have only risen weakly since Bank Rate was cut to 0.10% in March 2020 until the MPC 
meeting on 24 September 2021 when 6 and 12 month rates rose in anticipation of Bank Rate 
going up in 2022. Given this environment and the fact that Bank Rate may only rise 
marginally, or not at all, before mid-2023, investment returns are expected to remain low. 

 

 Creditworthiness 
 

2.6.4 Significant levels of downgrades to Short and Long Term credit ratings have not materialised 
since the crisis in March 2020. In the main, where they did change, any alterations were 
limited to Outlooks. However, as economies are beginning to reopen, there have been some 
instances of previous lowering of Outlooks being reversed. 

 
 Investment Counterparty criteria 
 
2.6.5 The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the TMSS is meeting the 

requirement of the treasury management function. 

 
 CDS Prices 
 
2.6.13  Although CDS prices, (these are market indicators of credit risk) for banks (including those 

from the UK) spiked at the outset of the pandemic in 2020, they have subsequently returned 
to near pre-pandemic levels. However, sentiment can easily shift, so it remains important to 
undertake continual monitoring of all aspects of risk and return in the current circumstances. 

 
 
 

Page 316



 

  

  Investment Balances 
 
2.6.14 The Council held £103.699m of investments, including property funds as at 30 September 

2021 (£83.540m at 31 March 2021). A full list of investments as at 30 September is included 
at Appendix 1. A summary of investments by type is included in the table below. 

 
2.6.15 The Council ensures enough funds are kept in either instant access accounts and/ or on-call 

accounts to meet its short-term liquidity requirements. As at 30 September the Council held 
£34.200m in Money Market Funds and £24.500m in Notice Accounts of a 35-day notice 
period. Rates on Notice Accounts are currently quite high compared to previous years 
therefore higher balances are currently invested in notice accounts. 

 
Investment Type Total at 30 

September 
2021  
£’000 

 
 
 
 

Property 15,000 

Commercial Paper 4,999 

Fixed (Term Deposits) Bank / Building Society 25,000 

Fixed (Term Deposits) Local Authorities / Public Bodies 0 

Notice Accounts 24,500 

Money Market Fund 34,200 

Total 103,699 
 

2.6.16 The Director of Finance confirms that the approved limits within the Annual Investment 
Strategy were not breached during the first six months of 2021/22. 

 
2.6.17 The Council’s investment strategy looks to achieve a return on its investment of London 

Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID) plus a 5% mark up. The Council will maintain sufficient cash 
reserves to give it its necessary liquidity and may place investments up to 10 years if the 
cash flow forecast allows and the credit rating criteria is met. Performance against this 
benchmark was as follows: 

 
Benchmark Benchmark 

Return 
LIBID +5% 

Council 
Performance 

7 days             (0.08%) 0.010% 

1 month             (0.07%) 0.747% 

3 months             (0.05%) 0.137% 

6 months             (0.02%) 0.215% 

Average Return first 6 months  0.125% 
 

2.6.18 The Council’s performance on its cash investments exceeded its target on all benchmarks 
as can be seen in the table above. 

 
2.6.19 The current investment counterparty criteria selection approved in the TMSS is meeting the 

requirement of the treasury management function. 
 
 Property Fund 
 

2.6.20 In the first six months of the year the Councils investment within the Churches, Charities and 
Local Authorities (CCLA) property fund has generated a return of (4.15%). Given the impact 

Page 317



 

  

Covid-19 has had on investment returns, this fund has continued to perform better than 
expected and rental collection by the fund remains high which should result in continuing to 
receive better than expected dividends. 

 

2.6.21 Due to the huge market uncertainty surrounding Covid-19 and Brexit, the property fund had 
seen a decline in the value up until the end of August 2020 mainly to valuer caution rather 
than any significant increase in pressure to sell properties, however valuations since then 
have continued to increase and are now slightly higher than the level of the original 
investment.  

 

2.7 Borrowing 
 
2.7.1 It is proposed in this report that the Council’s CFR for 2021/22 is revised to £494.758m and 

this denotes the Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital purposes. If the CFR is 
positive the Council may borrow from the PWLB or the market (external borrowing) or from 
internal balances on a temporary basis (internal borrowing). The balance of external and 
internal borrowing is generally driven by market conditions. 

 
2.7.2 The table within paragraph 2.5.9 shows the Council has expected year end borrowings of 

£381.952m and will have utilised £112.806m of cash flow funds in lieu of borrowing. This is 
a prudent and cost-effective approach in the current economic climate but will require 
ongoing monitoring in the event that upside risk to gilt yields prevails. 
 

2.7.3 The capital programme is being kept under regular review due to the effects of the Covid-19 
pandemic and shortages of materials and labour. The borrowing strategy will, therefore, also 
be regularly reviewed and then revised, if necessary, in order to achieve optimum value and 
risk exposure in the long-term.  
 

2.7.4 At this point it is not anticipated that borrowing will be undertaken during this financial year. 
 

2.7.5 The Council applied in September 2021 for the PWLB certainty rate reduction. This entitles 
the Council to receive a 20-basis point rate reduction on the prevailing rate of PWLB on any 
borrowing undertaken from 1 November 2021 to 31 October 2022.   

 
2.7.6 Current PWLB certainty rates are set out in the following table and show for a selection of 

maturity periods over the first half of 2021/22, the range (high and low points) in rates and 
the average rates over the period. In addition, Appendix 2 tracks the movement in the 
PWLB certainty rate over the period April to September 2021 across the same range of 
loan terms as is used in the table below.  
 
 

Maturity Rates 1 Year 5 Year 10 Year 25 Year 50 Year 

Low 0.78% 1.05% 1.39% 1.75% 1.49% 

Date 08/04/21 08/07/21 05/08/21 17/08/21 10/08/21 

High 0.98% 1.42% 1.81% 2.27% 2.06% 

Date 24/09/21 28/09/21 28/09/21 13/05/21 13/05/21 

Average 0.84% 1.16% 1.60% 2.02% 1.81% 

Spread 0.20% 0.37% 0.42% 0.52% 0.57% 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 318



 

  

2.8 Debt Rescheduling 
 
2.8.1 Debt rescheduling opportunities have been very limited in the current economic climate 

given the consequent structure of interest rates and following the increase in the margin 
added to gilt yields which has impacted PWLB new borrowing rates since October 2010. 
No debt rescheduling has therefore been undertaken to date in the current financial year.  
 

2.9 Compliance with Treasury and Prudential Indicators 
 
2.9.1 It is a statutory duty for the Council to determine and keep under review the affordable 

borrowing limits. During the half year ended 30 September 2021, the Council has operated 
within the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the Council’s Treasury Management 

Strategy Statement for 2021/22 and continues to manage its treasury affairs in a prudent 
manner.  The Director of Finance reports that no difficulties are envisaged for the current or 
future years in complying with these indicators.   
 

2.9.2 All treasury management operations have also been conducted in full compliance with the 
Council's Treasury Management Practices. 

 
2.10 Other Key Issues  

 
 International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 16 – Leases 

 
2.10.1 IFRS 16 is a new standard for lease accounting which should have come into force in January 

2019. The changes apply to the accounting arrangements for lease agreements that 
organisations take out for property, plant and equipment (PPE).  The standard for the public 
sector should have commenced from 1 April 2020. However, due to COVID-19 and the 
additional pressure Local Authorities are facing in these unprecedented times, the Financial 
Reporting Advisory Board (FRAB), announced the deferral of International Financial 
Reporting Standard 16 (IFRS 16) implementation to 2022/23.  
 

2.10.2 Previously, leases were split into finance leases and operating leases however, from 1 April 
2022 they will now be accounted for as finance leases. Under the current regime, operating 
leases were not included in Balance Sheets as assets and expenditure was charged to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the Council’s accounts. Under IFRS 

16 all leases must now be accounted for on the Balance Sheet. Work is currently ongoing to 
assess the full impact, but an estimate has been included in the Council’s CFR so that the 

Council’s prudential indicators are not adversely affect by the implementation of IFRS 16. 

 
Code Consultation  

 
2.10.3 In April 2021, CIPFA consulted on the principles to support the changes to the Prudential 

Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (Prudential Code) and the Treasury 
Management in the Public Services Code of Practice and Cross-Sectoral Guidance Notes 
(Treasury Management Code) to which the Council provided a response. On 21 September 
2021, CIPFA issued stage 2 of the consultation process and provided an amended draft of 
the two revised Codes for further consultation. The consultation closes on 16 November 2021 
and the Council is currently preparing a response. Members should note that if the proposed 
changes to the Treasury Management Code is approved there will be a significant change to 
the Council’s Treasury Management Practices (an internal document that covers the 

process, approvals and governance of the Treasury Management operations of the Council).  
Members will be updated when the consultations have been completed and the revised 
Codes are issued with any significant changes brought to their attention.   

 
 
 
 

Page 319



 

  

3 Options/Alternatives 
 
3.1 In order that the Council complies with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Code of Practice on Treasury Management the Council has no option 

other than to consider and approve the contents of the report. Therefore, no 
options/alternatives have been presented. 

 

4 Preferred Option 
 

4.1 As stated above, the preferred option is that Cabinet approves the recommendations in the 
Treasury Management Mid-Year Review Report and commends to report to Council. 

 
5 Consultation 

 
5.1 Consultation has taken place with Link Asset Services (the Council’s Treasury Management 

Advisors), and senior officers. The report was presented to the Audit Committee on 2 
November 2021 for scrutiny prior to its consideration by Cabinet.  All matters raised by Audit 
Committee Members were addressed at the meeting to the satisfaction of the Committee and 
the Committee was content to commend the report to Cabinet.   

 
6 Financial Implications 
 
6.1 All included within the report. 
 

7 Legal Services Comments 
 

7.1 None. 
 

8 Co-operative Agenda 
 

8.1 The Council ensures that any Treasury Management decisions comply as far as possible with 
the ethos of the Co-operative Council. 

 

9 Human Resources Comments 
 

9.1 None. 
 

10 Risk Assessments 
 

10.1 There are considerable risks to the security of the Authority’s resources if appropriate treasury  

management strategies and policies are not adopted and followed. The Council has 
established good practice in relation to treasury management which has previously been 
acknowledged in both Internal and the External Auditors’ reports presented to the Audit 

Committee. 
 

11 IT Implications 
 

11.1 None. 
 

12 Property Implications 
 

12.1 None. 
 

13 Procurement Implications 
 

13.1 None. 

Page 320



 

  

14 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 

14.1 None. 
 

15 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 

15.1 None. 
 

16 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 
 

16.1 No. 
 

17 Key Decision 
 

17.1 Yes 
 

18 Key Decision Reference 
 

18.1 FCL-13-21 
 

19 Background Papers 

 
19.1 The following is a list of the background papers on which this report is based in accordance 

with the requirements of Section 100(1) of the Local Government Act 1972. It does not 
include documents, which would disclose exempt or confidential information as defined by 
that Act. 

 
File Ref: Background papers are contained with Appendices 1, 2A, 2B & 2C 
Officer Name: Lee Walsh/Talei Whitmore 
Contact No:     0161 770 6608 / 4424 
 

20 Appendices 
 

Appendix 1        Investments as at 30 September 2021 
Appendix 2A PWLB Certainty Rate Variations 2021/22 
Appendix 2B    Comparison of Borrowing parameters to actual external borrowing - Table 
Appendix 2C     Comparison of Borrowing parameters to actual external borrowing - Graph 

Page 321



 

 

Appendix 1 Investments as at 30 September 2021 
 

 

 
 
 
 

18 

Investments Type 30th 

September 

2021 £'000

Interest Rate Date of 

Investment

Date of 

Maturity

CCLA Property Fund Property 15,000         4.15% Prior Years open

Total Property Fund 15,000         

Transport for London 4,999           0.12% 15-Sep-21 10-Nov-21

Commercial Paper 4,999           

Close Brothers Ltd Fixed 5,000           0.25% 25/05/2021 25-Nov-21

Close Brothers Ltd Fixed 5,000           0.25% 29/06/2021 29-Dec-21

Nationwide Building Society Fixed 5,000           0.07% 01/07/2021 04-Jan-22

Goldman Sachs Fixed 5,000           0.18% 02/08/2021 01-Feb-22

Nationwide Building Society Fixed 5,000           0.07% 23/09/2021 23-Mar-22

Total Fixed Investments 25,000         

Santander 35 day call 2,500           0.30% 03-Jun-20 open

Santander 95 day call 2,500           0.40% 30-Apr-21 open

Bank of Scotland 95 day call 5,000           0.05% 26-Jul-21 open

Bank of Scotland 95 day call 5,000           0.05% 03-Aug-21 open

Santander 180 day call 5,000           0.38% 28-May-21 24-Nov-21

Barclays O/night 4,500           0.01% 30-Sep-21

Total Investments on call 24,500         

Invesco Sterling Liquidity MMF 10,000         0.01% 23-Sep-21

Aberdeen Sterling Liquidity MMF 19,520         0.01% 30-Sep-21

Federated Sterling Liquidity 3 MMF 14,680         0.01% 28-Sep-21

Total MMF 34,200         

Total 103,699       

P
age 322



 

 

Appendix 2  

2A) PWLB Certainty Rate Variations 2021/22 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
19

P
age 323



20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
PWLB RATES.  There was much speculation during the second half of 2019 that bond markets were in a bubble which was 
driving bond prices up and yields down to historically very low levels. The context for that was heightened expectations that 
the US could have been heading for a recession in 2020. In addition, there were growing expectations of a downturn in 
world economic growth, especially due to fears around the impact of the trade war between the US and China, together 
with inflation generally at low levels in most countries and expected to remain subdued. Combined, these conditions were 
conducive to very low bond yields. While inflation targeting by the major central banks has been successful over the last 30 
years in lowering inflation expectations, the real equilibrium rate for central rates has fallen considerably due to the high 
level of borrowing by consumers. This means that central banks do not need to raise rates as much now to have a major 
impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc. The consequence of this has been the gradual lowering of the overall level of 
interest rates and bond yields in financial markets.  Over the year prior to the coronavirus crisis, this resulted in many bond 
yields up to 10 years turning negative in the Eurozone. In addition, there was, at times, an inversion of bond yields in the US 
whereby 10 year yields fell below shorter-term yields. In the past, this has been a precursor of a recession.   
 
 
 
 

Page 324



21 

 

 

Gilt yields had, therefore, already been on a generally falling trend up until the coronavirus crisis hit western economies 
during March 2020 which caused gilt yields to spike up.  However, yields then fell sharply in response to major western 
central banks taking rapid policy action to deal with excessive stress in financial markets during March and starting massive 
quantitative easing driven purchases of government bonds: these actions also acted to put downward pressure on 
government bond yields at a time when there was a huge and quick expansion of government expenditure financed by 
issuing government bonds. Such unprecedented levels of issuance in “normal” times would have caused bond yields to rise 
sharply.   
 
At the start of January 2021, all gilt yields from 1 to 8 years were negative: however, since then all gilt yields have become 
positive and rose sharply during the spring, especially in medium and longer-term periods, until starting a significant decline 
since May which was then sharply reversed in August / September. Repeated assurances by the Fed in the US, and by other 
major world central banks, that inflation would spike up after Covid restrictions were abolished, but would only be 
transitory, allayed investor fears until August / September when high inflation was again seen as a growing danger and both 
central banks in the US and UK gave indications that monetary policy tightening was now on the horizon. There is 
considerable concern that the US Fed is taking a too relaxed view that inflation pressures in the US are purely transitory 
and that they will subside without the need for the Fed to take significant action to tighten monetary policy.  Lack of 
spare economic capacity and rising inflationary pressures are viewed as being much greater dangers in the US than in the 
UK.  This could mean that rates will end up rising faster and further in the US than in the UK if inflationary pressures were 
to escalate; the consequent increases in treasury yields could well spill over to cause (lesser) increases in gilt yields.   
  
Correlation between 10 year US treasury yield and 10 year gilt yield 
The Link Group forecasts have included a risk of a 75% correlation between movements in US treasury yields and gilt yields 
over 10 years since 2011.  As US treasury yields are expected to rise faster and further than UK gilt yields, there is an upside 
risk to forecasts for gilt yields due to this correlation. The graph below shows actual movements in both 10 year yields and 
forecasts by Link (gilt only) and Capital Economics. 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 325



22 

 

 

• Yields on 10 year Gilts and Treasuries initially both fell during the first quarter of 2020, as signs emerged that the COVID-
19 virus would become a global pandemic which would lead to a sharp downturn in economic growth.  

• The correlation between 10 year yields in the UK and the US lessened during the second half of 2020 when US yields 
displayed an increasing tendency to rise, whilst UK yields remained more range bound. This divergence was consistent 
with the relatively better economic performance registered by the US during the pandemic, which was aided by 
historically low US business inventory levels needing to be rebuilt.   

• During late 2020 gilt yields rose significantly, reflecting optimism that the fast vaccine roll-out in the UK would support 
a strong economic recovery during 2021. 

• During September 2021, treasury yields rose sharply in response to growing investor concerns around high inflation and 
indications from the Fed that tapering of quantitative easing purchases of treasuries are likely to occur in the near 
future. Gilts also rose sharply, as did investor concerns around a sharp increase in inflation in the UK which is now likely 
to go over 4%.  In addition, the MPC meeting in September 2021 flagged up major concerns around the strength of 
inflation which may require Bank Rate to go up much faster than had previously been expected.    

 
 

2B) Comparison of borrowing parameters to actual external borrowing (Table) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Actual Estimated Estimated Estimated

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

CFR (including PFI and finance leases) £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

GFCFR £491,714 £494,758 £540,858 £590,200

Total CFR £491,714 £494,758 £540,858 £590,200

CFR (excluding PFI and finance leases)

GFCFR £268,347 £281,446 £336,454 £390,662

Total CFR £268,347 £281,446 £336,454 £390,662

External Borrowing £172,843 £168,374 £238,374 £308,374

Deferred Liabilities £224,405 £213,578 £204,404 £199,538

Total Debt £397,248 £381,952 £442,778 £507,912

Authorised Limit £537,500 £519,500 £565,500 £624,000

Authorised Limit ex Deferred Liabilities £313,095 £305,922 £361,096 £424,462

Operational Boundary £512,500 £499,500 £545,500 £594,000

Operational Boundary ex Deferred Liabilities £288,095 £285,922 £341,096 £394,462

CAPITAL FINANCING REQUIREMENTS

Page 326



23 

 

 

 

 

2C) Comparison of borrowing parameters to actual external borrowing (Graph) 

Page 327



21 

 

 

 

Page 328



 

 

  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Reason for Decision 
 
At its meeting on 24th September 2021, the Combined Authority considered and approved the 
following paper concerning the new GM VCSE Accord. This is a tri-partite Agreement with the GM 
Health and Social Care Partnership and the GM VCSE Leadership Group on behalf of the VCSE 
sector in Greater Manchester. 
 
In the discussion at the meeting, Leaders noted that this agreement has an implication for the 
relationship of all local authorities with their local voluntary organisations, community groups and 
social enterprises. As stated at section 2.7 in the report, the success of this Accord and the shared 
commitments that it contains will rely on their recognition, adoption and action at a locality and 
neighbourhood level. 
 
The Combined Authority authorised the Mayor of Greater Manchester, the GM Portfolio Lead for 
Community, Co-operatives, Voluntary Sector and Inclusion and the Chief Executive of the 
Combined Authority to sign the Accord Agreement on their behalf. Furthermore, all the Leaders 
present at the Combined Authority also signed a copy of the Accord following the meeting. 
 
Recommendations 
 
Cabinet members are asked to: 
 

1. Consider the new GM VCSE Accord as presented in the attached paper, and the 
implications that the commitments it contains will have on work with the VCSE sector in 
Oldham. 
 

2. Approve and endorse the new GM VCSE Accord, noting the work that’s happening in 
Oldham to deliver on the commitments (see Annex 3). 

Report to Cabinet  

 
Refresh of Greater Manchester VCSE 
Accord 
 

Portfolio Holder:  
Cllr. Arooj Shah, Leader of the Council  
 
Officer Contact:  
Rebekah Sutcliffe, Strategic Director of Communities & Reform  
 
Report Author: Jonathan Downs (Corporate Policy Lead)  
 
15.11.2021 
 
 

Page 329

Agenda Item 9



 

  2 

 
 
 
Cabinet 15.11.2021 
 

1 Background 

 

1.1 The work described in this paper is set within a period of extreme demand and dependence 

placed on both the public and VCSE sectors. It is also a time of great uncertainty. Local 

Authority and other public budgets are under immense pressure and that budgeting will 

have a direct impact on VCSE organisations in terms of grants and commissioning, but also 

an indirect impact – reductions and pressures in public services often displace need and 

put more pressure on charities and communities. Moving forwards, active involvement of 

voluntary organisations, community groups and social enterprises in places and 

neighbourhoods will be key if Greater Manchester is able to bring society and the economy 

back together and address the emerging priorities of tackling inequalities, building 

confidence, behaviour change, and co-design of a resilient city region. Put simply, there is 

a need to take a practical approach where responsibility and risk are shared, and the public 

and VCSE sectors work together to support the same places and communities. 

 

1.2 As part of the delivery of the Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS), in November 2017 and 

on behalf of the GMCA, an Accord was signed by the Mayor of Greater Manchester with 

the VCSE sector, which set out new, improved standards of working with VCSE 

organisations. The Accord acts as a framework for the delivery of the vision set out in the 

Greater Manchester Strategy and as a result, the VCSE sector is engaged in the 

development, governance and delivery of the GMS including relevant consultation and co-

design. 

 

1.3 VCSE leaders in GM have come together to form the VCSE Leadership Group, which seeks 

to promote the role and involvement of the VCSE sector and communities in devolution and 

has given a broader group of VCSE leaders with which to work. 

 

1.4 The GM VCSE Leadership Group also entered into a Memorandum of Understanding with 

the Health and Social Care Partnership, which has seen £1.2m of Health and Social Care 

Transformation Funding flow into the VCSE Leadership Group and the wider sector over 

the last 4 years. 

 

1.5 As part of the delivery of the VCSE Accord, in January 2020 the GM VCSE Leadership 

Group published a Policy Paper for the future development of the sector, which is entitled 

organisations, Community groups and Social Enterprises (VCSE) in Greater Manchester – 

the next 10 years. The paper describes the role of VCSE anchor organisations and local 

VCSE infrastructure organisations which support and facilitate the operation of the wider 

sector, as well as that of the specialist groups and organisations which support, represent 

and champion particular communities of identity or experience. 

1.6 During the COVID-19 pandemic, the response of VCSE organisations has been incredible 

in its strength, its depth and the speed at which it has mobilized. Furthermore, community 

volunteers have offered and continue to provide their support and are integrating with 

emergency support structures at this time. The VCSE sector has been quick to adapt at 

pace and with a huge degree of accuracy and efficacy to meet the needs of GM 

communities. 

Page 330



 

  3 

1.7 However, this response has not been without its challenges, and VCSE leaders have 

identified several risks and issues which are inhibiting their capacity to work effectively as 

part of the emergency effort. On 29th July the GM State of the VCSE Sector Report was 

published, providing a snapshot of the role and health of the VCSE sector in GM. The 

report shows that Greater Manchester is home to around 17,000 voluntary, community 

and social enterprise groups and organisations, and nearly 500,000 volunteers giving a 

total of 1.4 million hours each week. These groups, organisations and volunteers are well-

networked with strong, distributed leadership, established communications channels and 

have evidenced their ability to convene and act together in the interests of Greater 

Manchester’s communities. 71% of the VCSE sector are micro-organisations with an 

annual income under £10,000, and 57% of organisations work across specific 

neighbourhoods and communities across Greater Manchester. However, despite an 

increase in both the number of VCSE organisations and of volunteers since the last report 

in 2017, the overall turnover of the sector has decreased in real terms. Six key 

recommendations were made in the State of the Sector report and all were endorsed by 

the Mayor of Greater Manchester at the report’s launch event. 

 
2 GM VCSE Accord  
 
2.1 As part of the recovery from the pandemic and to facilitate both the refresh of the Greater 

Manchester Strategy and the development of the Integrated Care System, it would be 
advantageous to have a unified way of working between the local authorities, GMCA, the 
Integrated Care System and the GM VCSE sector, represented by the GM VCSE 
Leadership Group. This would allow a single conversation with the sector in relation to all 
aspects of the GMS and its partner strategies. It would also enable a focus on sustaining 
their valuable work in communities and creating a more resilient VCSE sector. 

 
Co-production of the new Accord 

 
2.2 The development of this new Accord is the product of a series of structured conversations 

held in July and early August with stakeholders including GM VCSE networks, local VCSE 
infrastructure organisations, local VCSE leaders and a range of GMCA and GM Health and 
Social Care commissioners, local authority policy leads and other statutory sector 
stakeholders. 

 
2.3 Development of the draft new Accord agreement has also been informed by reflection on 

the success of the original VCSE Accord undertaken by the GM VCSE Leadership Group 
and officers at GMCA, as well as by learning gleaned from the evaluation report of the GM 
VCSE Engagement Programme for the GM Health and Social Care Partnership, carried out 
by Cordis Bright in early 2021. Furthermore, the Accord has been developed following 
consideration of our learning and reflections from the Covid-19 pandemic, the 2021 report 
of the GM Independent Inequalities Commission, and the Marmot report ‘Building Back 
Fairer in Greater Manchester’. 

 
Draft Accord Agreement 

 
2.4 Annex 1 attached contains the draft GM VCSE Accord agreement for approval of the GMCA 

at this time. 
 
2.5 Annex 2 contains a technical annex to the Accord agreement, which describes the context 

surrounding the GM VCSE Accord, and an explanation of how it will be delivered. 
 
2.6 The Accord is a three-way collaboration agreement between the Greater Manchester 

Combined Authority and the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership and 

Page 331



 

  4 

the GMVCSE Sector represented by the GM VCSE Leadership Group, based in a 
relationship of mutual trust, working together, and sharing responsibility. It will act as a 
framework for collaboration involving VCSE leaders and organisations in the delivery of the 
GMS and in the thematic strategies and delivery plans that will exist to deliver the GMS 
vision, including the strategic plan of the new GM Integrated Care System. It will also deliver 
the ambitions set out in the VCSE Policy Paper described at section 1.7 above. 

 
2.7 The purpose of this Accord is to further develop how we work together to improve outcomes 

for Greater Manchester’s communities and citizens. The agreement is intended to work in 
several ways: 

 
• Through a shared understanding of the contribution that VCSE organisations make 

towards tackling inequality in society, creating a more inclusive economy and 
addressing the climate crisis. 

• Through the building of effective partnerships and relationships between the 
statutory sector with VCSE organisations across different geographies (for example 
GM-wide, district-wide, or in neighbourhoods and communities) 

• Through a shared vision, ways of working principles and set of commitments which 
underpin these partnerships and relationships 

• Through a 5-year iterative programme of enabling and developmental activities 
driven at a GM-wide footprint, which aims to maximise the ability of VCSE 
organisations to deliver beneficial outcomes in communities and localities. 

 
2.8 The success of this Accord and the shared commitments that it contains will rely on their 

recognition, adoption and action at a locality and neighbourhood level. This is a high-level 
agreement which builds from existing good practice to embed effective ways of working with 
the VCSE sector across all places in GM. It aims to achieve consistency without losing the 
uniqueness and innovation of voluntary organisations, community groups and social 
enterprises. As stated above, the actions invested in at a GM footprint aim to enable and 
facilitate what is happening in localities, neighbourhoods and communities. All commitments 
will be achieved in partnership. The Accord represents a commitment to ensure ‘fair’ 
representation from all ten boroughs in any decision-making processes affecting the VCSE 
sector, and acknowledgement that this may need different approaches for different places to 
accommodate this to happen. The Accord will recognise the different needs and 
requirements of each place and its populations in order to be successful in its aims. 

 
2.9 The VCSE Leadership Group and the original Accord have been recognised as being 

nationally significant in terms of the progressive collaboration between VCSE organisations 
and their partners. However, this new Accord agreement will be ground-breaking in the ability 
of the statutory and VCSE sectors to move forward together in the post-Covid period. 
Already, new forms of collaboration are being developed, including the proposed VCSE-led 
Alternative Provider Federation, which it is hoped will sit as part of the new GM Integrated 
Care System. GM is leading the way in terms of the strength of its VCSE leadership and 
partnership working. 

 
Implementation, governance and evaluation 
 

2.10 The 5-year iterative programme of enabling and developmental activities driven at a GM-
wide footprint will be outlined in an Implementation Plan supported by annual delivery plans 
which contain actions, responsibilities, timescales, targets and outcomes for delivery. This 
Implementation Plan will be used as the basis for a partnership funding agreement between 
the GMCA, Health and Social Care Partnership and the GM VCSE Leadership Group, which 
will cover the length of this Accord agreement, but be subject to annual review and 
confirmation of budgets for the GMCA and GM Integrated Care System. 

 

Page 332



 

  5 

2.11 The VCSE Accord will be endorsed through individual ‘governance’ structures but will be 
owned jointly by the GM Combined Authority, the GM Health and Social Care Partnership 
(with approvals through the GM Partnership Executive Board and Health and Care Board) 
and the GM VCSE Leadership Group. Representatives from the three parties will meet 
every 3 months as a VCSE Accord Management Group to review progress made towards 
the shared objectives and targets set out in the Implementation Plan, to monitor the budget 
and spend, and to make any necessary adjustments to delivery. The VCSE Accord 
Management Group will be jointly and equally accountable for the delivery and risk 
associated with the work in this agreement and will also be responsible for evaluation of the 
effectiveness of the Accord.  

 
2.12 Annex 3 outlines how Oldham is currently meeting the commitments set out in the Accord, 

as well as highlighting complimentary work areas.  
 
3.0 Recommendations 
 
3.1 Consider the new GM VCSE Accord as presented in the attached paper, and the 

implications that the commitments it contains will have on work with the VCSE sector in 
your district. 

 
3.2 Approve the new GM VCSE Accord and confirm endorsement on behalf of your district. 
 
4 Consultation 
 
4.1 N/A 
 
5  Financial Implications  
 
5.1 To support this work, a budget of £228,400 was approved by the GMCA in September 2020 

from the Cultural and Social Impact Fund, with approval delegated to the GMCA Treasurer, 
in consultation with the Community, Co-operatives and Inclusion Portfolio Leader and Chief 
Executive to award grant agreements, subject to final agreement of GMCA budgets for 
2021/22 onwards. The GM Health and Social Care Partnership has also agreed to provide 
£180,000 in the current financial year towards delivery of the new VCSE Accord. 

 
6 Legal Services Comments 
 
6.1 The VCSE Accord is a partnership agreement which will involve all parties offering to bring 

resources (financial and non-financial) into the arrangement. It will enable shared delivery 
and shared accountability, as well as shared risk for the actions taken across the VCSE 
Leadership Group, GMCA and Health and Social Care Partnership. 

 
7 Co-operative Agenda 
 
7.1 The VCSE Accord is an agreement that has been coproduced and supports and continues 

to strengthen our already successful partnership with the VCSFE sector. (Sarah Whittle) 
 
 
 
8 Human Resources Comments 
 
8.1 N/A 
 
9 Risk Assessments 
 
9.1 N/A 

Page 333



 

  6 

 
10 IT Implications 
 
10.1 N/A 
 
11 Property Implications 
 
11.1 N/A 
 
12 Procurement Implications 
 
12.1 N/A 
 
13 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
13.1 N/A 
 
14 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
14.1 N/A  
 
15 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 
 
15.1  N/A 
 
16 Key Decision 
 
16.1 No  
 
17 Key Decision Reference 
 
17.1 N/A 
 
18 Background Papers 
 
18.1   N/A 
 
19 Appendices  
 
19.1 Annex 1 – GM VCSE Accord Draft  
 
19.2 Annex 2 – GM VCSE Accord Annex  
 
19.3 Annex 3 – Oldham’s Commitment to the GM VCSE Accord 2021 

 

Page 334



 

1 
 

  

GM VCSE Accord Agreement 

This is a three-way collaboration agreement between the Greater Manchester Combined 

Authority and the Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership and the GM Voluntary, 

Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) Sector* represented by the GM VCSE Leadership Group, 

based in a relationship of mutual trust, working together, and sharing responsibility. The purpose 

of this Accord is to further develop how we work together to improve outcomes for Greater 

Manchester’s communities and citizens. 

*When we talk about the VCSE sector in Greater Manchester, we mean voluntary organisations, 

community groups, the community work of faith groups, and those social enterprises where profits 

will be reinvested in their social purpose. 

1.1 Introduction 

VCSE organisations play a hugely valuable role in the economy and society of Greater Manchester. In 

2021, their offer is more vital and relevant than ever, as shown through the ability to mobilise at 

scale during the recent pandemic. The reports of the Independent Inequalities Commission ‘Good 

Lives for All’ and the Marmot Build Back Fairer review make frequent reference to the VCSE sector’s 

knowledge and its tested practical solutions to tackling entrenched inequalities, addressing 

environmental problems, and improving wellbeing. Local authorities, NHS and health systems have 

welcomed the role of the VCSE sector as a strategic partner in the emergency response and recovery 

efforts, and this Accord seeks to make the successful integration of VCSE groups, organisations and 

leaders the way we do business in Greater Manchester.  

The attached Annex document contains further details of the context, governance and 

implementation of this Accord agreement. 

1.2 Purpose and scope 

The Accord will act as a framework for collaboration involving VCSE leaders and organisations in the 

delivery of the Greater Manchester Strategy (GMS) and in the thematic strategies and delivery plans 

that will exist to deliver the GMS vision, including the 

development of the strategic plan of the new GM 

Integrated Care System. VCSE representatives will be 

involved in the development, governance and delivery 

of these strategies, including co-design of relevant 

activities, and thereby take a key role in work to build a 

resilient local economy, tackle inequalities and 

inequities, and improve the health and wellbeing of the 

people who live, work and study in Greater 

Manchester. The Accord will also deliver the ambitions 

set out in the VCSE Policy Paper, which was published 

by the GM VCSE Leadership Group in 2020 and sets out 

a developmental ambition for the VCSE Sector, as 

shown in Figure 1 (right). 

This agreement is intended to work in a number of ways: 

Page 335

file:///C:/Users/anne.lythgoe/Desktop/VCSE%20Investment/GM-VCSE-Position-Paper-Final.pdf%20(vcseleadershipgm.org.uk)


 

2 
 

 Through a shared understanding of the contribution that VCSE organisations make towards 

tackling inequality in society, creating a more inclusive economy and addressing the climate 

crisis. 

 Through the building of effective partnerships and relationships between the statutory 

sector with VCSE organisations across different geographies (for example GM-wide, district-

wide, or in neighbourhoods and communities) 

 Through a shared vision, ways of working principles and set of commitments which underpin 

these partnerships and relationships 

 Through a 5-year iterative programme of enabling and developmental activities driven at a 

GM-wide footprint, which aims to maximise the ability of VCSE organisations to deliver 

beneficial outcomes.  

1.3 Contribution of VCSE organisations  

The 2021 State of the VCSE Sector report shows that Greater Manchester is home to around 17,000 

voluntary, community and social enterprise groups and organisations, and nearly 500,000 volunteers 

giving a total of 1.4 million hours each week. These groups, organisations and volunteers are well-

networked with strong, distributed leadership, established communications channels and have 

evidenced their ability to convene and act together in the interests of Greater Manchester’s 

communities. 71% of the VCSE sector are micro-organisations with an annual income under £10,000, 

and 57% of organisations work across specific neighbourhoods and communities across Greater 

Manchester. 

VCSE organisations work across every aspect of tackling inequality and inequity in Greater 

Manchester including skills, employment and enterprise; health and social care; housing and 

transport; environmental issues and carbon reduction; poverty reduction; inclusive economic growth 

and inclusive governance. They also work at a variety of footprints – from community and 

neighbourhood to GM-wide and national, as well as having their origins in business (such as 

charitable foundations) and the statutory sector (such as NHS charities) as well as in communities. 

1.4 Tri-partite Agreement - Shared Vision and principles 

From this point on, where the words ‘we’ or ‘our’ or ‘us’ are used, this includes the three parties to 

this agreement acting with a single voice. 

Our shared vision is for a thriving VCSE sector in Greater Manchester that works collaboratively 

and productively with the GM Integrated Care System1, the GM Combined Authority, its 

constituent local authority members and statutory partners2.  

This vision is based in our shared values, will be supported by a sustainable infrastructure and have 

strong leadership. We will operate on the basis of mutual trust, respect and transparency.  

We will acknowledge the value to communities of place, identity and experience and understand the 

role of local people in leading, shaping and connecting VCSE organisations to create the ‘ecosystem’ 

described in the VCSE Policy Paper. We will work using the subsidiarity principle, meaning that 

decisions and issues are taken and addressed as close to communities as possible, coming together 

at a Greater Manchester level where there is a demonstrable benefit of doing so. 

                                                           
1 The final governance of the Integrated Care System is to be finalised, but will include Integrated Care Board, 
Integrated Care Partnership, GM NHS Trusts, other non-NHS Providers and delivery partners 
2 Including Transport for Greater Manchester 

Page 336

http://www.10gm.org.uk/stateofthesector.html


 

3 
 

1.4 Building from a strong track record of innovation and partnership 

The Agreement does not start from scratch and is built on the strong foundations created over the 

last 5 years, since the previous GM VCSE Accord and Memorandum of Understanding with the 

Health and Social Care Partnership were put in place. 

It is clear from recent evaluation exercises that VCSE sector representatives are “at the table” in the 

places where important decisions are made across the NHS, Health and Social Care and GMCA 

partnerships. Increased VCSE involvement means that people and communities are more likely to be 

discussed, and prevention and community engagement more likely to be considered across service 

planning and commissioning.  

Substantial progress has been made on the strategic front, with the publication of a Policy Position 

Paper by the GM VCSE Leadership Group and specific responsibilities identified for the sector in the 

2020 GM ‘Living with Covid’ Plan. 

Furthermore, work led by VCSE-led groups such as the GM Social Enterprise Advisory Group, GM 

Equality Network (GM Eq=al) and the GM Social Value Network, for example, have driven forward 

key policy improvements. 

Products of the collaboration over the last 5 years include the GM VCSE Commissioning Framework, 

a powerful tool for public sector organisations to work effectively with VCSE organisations. There has 

been strong VCSE involvement and leadership in a number of joint programmes which explore the 

role of co-production in service reform and commissioning, and further information is contained in 

the Annex. 

However, whilst the presence of VCSE organisations on decision making bodies represents progress, 

there is some way to go yet before the level of collaboration and co-production that we envisage is 

achieved. Furthermore, it is clear that the level of VCSE engagement and involvement differs 

between localities. The journey towards becoming equal partners needs a further shift in power, in 

resources and a greater amount of truly collaborative activity. This new Accord sets out 8 

commitments, which aim to continue the transition towards greater parity in the relationship 

between the VCSE and statutory sectors. We recognise that the shift in the balance of power and 

how we will work together will also require each of us to take different responsibilities – for example 

in our investment, delivery, or engagement – but we will share the delivery and the accountability 

for our actions. 

In order to maximise the VCSE contribution, the GM statutory sector will recognise, incorporate, and 

invest. VCSE leaders and organisations will focus on developing their workforce capacity and 

capability, on diversifying the income base and creating new partnerships and collaborations within 

their ‘ecosystem’. The Accord will build from and work with existing structures across each locality, 

and recognise the different needs and requirements of each place and its populations in order to be 

successful in its aims. 

1.5 Shared commitments for 2021 – 2026  

The success of this Accord and the following shared commitments will rely on their recognition, 

adoption and action at a locality and neighbourhood level. As stated above, the actions invested in at 

a GM footprint aim to enable and facilitate what is happening in localities, neighbourhoods and 

communities. All commitments will be achieved in partnership and equitable involvement from all 10 

districts of Greater Manchester. 

Page 337



 

4 
 

Commitment 1: We will work together to achieve a permanent reduction in inequalities and inequity 

within Greater Manchester, addressing the social, environmental and economic determinants of 

health and wellbeing. 

Our aim is to ensure active VCSE participation and parity in strategic work to enhance equality, 

equity and wellbeing. 

Examples of routes through which this commitment will be supported at a GM footprint include: 

 Effective representation of the VCSE sector on relevant groups including: the GM Integrated 

Care Partnership, the GM Health and Care Board, GM Commissioning Hub, Joint 

Commissioning Board, Population Health Board, Reform Board, Tackling Inequality Board, 

Vulnerable and Marginalised Women’s Board, Justice and Rehab group, Employment and 

Skills Advisory Board, Gender Based Violence Board, GM Accessible Transport Group and 5-

year Environment Plan Forum, for example. 

 Programmes set up to address key inequalities issues, such as food poverty, fuel poverty, 

homelessness, accessible transport, active travel, digital and environmental exclusion and 

abuse/hate crime, which bring together the GM VCSE sector with public and private sector 

partners to drive action through collaboration. 

 Involvement of the VCSE sector in the development and delivery of the revised GM Strategy 

and GM ICS Strategic Plan. 

 Further development of the capacity of the GM Equality Alliance as a coalition to connect 

communities to policy makers, and vice versa, and to assist with strategic equality and 

diversity work within the city-region 

 

Commitment 2: We will embed the VCSE sector as a key delivery partner of services for communities 

in Greater Manchester 

Our aim is to ensure that VCSE organisations are seen as integral to the delivery of services in 

communities, alongside statutory-run services and commissioned contracts. 

Examples of routes through which this commitment will be supported at a GM footprint include: 

 Embedding of learning and recommendations from the review of GM emergency structures 

and ensuring the VCSE sector plays a key role in local and GM wide recovery programmes, 

including VCSE involvement in responses that relate to specific communities or places  

 Development of the Alternative Provider Federation as a place-based partnership of social 

enterprise and charitable organisations operating at scale across the ICS footprint. 

 Building from the VCSE leadership around mental health to embed VCSEs in governance of 

Local Care Organisations (through the Mental Health Leaders Group). 

 Increasing understanding of each other; building knowledge and understanding of the 

diverse VCSE sector across the public sector, promoting understanding of GM structures in 

VCSE organisations and furthering the potential to drive forward strategies and action plans 

on a GM footprint. 

 

Commitment 3: We will build a financially resilient VCSE sector that is resourced to address our 

biggest challenges of ending poverty and inequality in Greater Manchester. 

Page 338



 

5 
 

Our aim is to work together to maximise new funding sources, ways of contracting and grant-

giving arrangements. 

Examples of routes through which this commitment will be supported at a GM footprint include: 

 Develop and put into place an investment approach based on long-term, core funding to 

support strategic VCSE capacity and infrastructure in delivering the visions of the GMS and 

GM Integrated Care System. This should explore principles and guidelines, as well as models 

for investment brokerage, asset transfer and spatial planning for the VCSE sector 

 Fully implement the principles of the GM Commissioning Framework in all parts of the GM 

system  

 We will grow VCSE infrastructure capacity in each of the 10 districts of Greater Manchester 

and at a Greater Manchester level. This will enable VCSE organisations to act as funding 

anchors, playing a strategic role of grant-giving to VCSE organisations channelling public 

money and raising investment for communities 

 Put in place ‘core funding’ pilot projects to understand how this will enable improved 

outcomes, more effective VCSE services and enhanced sustainability for the sector 

 

Commitment 4: We will grow the role of the VCSE sector as an integral part of a resilient and inclusive 

economy where social enterprises, co-operatives, community businesses, charities and microsocial 

business thrive. 

Our aim is to increase the market share of social economy organisations in Greater Manchester. 

Examples of routes through which this commitment will be supported at a GM footprint include: 

 Create a Community Wealth Hub to support and grow co-operatives, mutuals, social and 

community enterprises, staffed by people from the co-operative and community sector who 

understand the market. 

 Put in place support for the further development of the Alternative Provider Federation as 

an alliance of non-extractive organisations (of all sectors) to address new market 

opportunities beyond health and care and into other neighbourhood services. 

 Set up a Community Investment Platform to tap into local savings, unlock community 

investment and build-up assets to share wealth with everyone in Greater Manchester. 

 

Commitment 5: We will build on our existing strengths to build the best VCSE ecosystem in England 

Our aim is to enable VCSE organisations to become ‘anchors’ for their place or their community, 

creating resources, support and connections for them to thrive. 

Examples of routes through which this commitment will be supported at a GM footprint include: 

 Formally adopting the principles of the GM VCSE Policy Paper and embed its 

recommendations within the refreshed GM Strategy and GM ICS Strategic Plan 

 Agreement of and investment in the development of a clear arrangement of Greater 

Manchester, locality and neighbourhood ‘infrastructure’ of community anchor organisations, 

including ‘fair’ representation from all ten boroughs in any decision-making processes.  

 Agreement of minimum standards of involvement for leaders from VCSE organisations in 

partnerships and delivery governance across each of the 10 local authority areas 

Page 339



 

6 
 

 Further develop the role of the VCSE Leadership Group at the heart of a collaborative 

representative ‘social architecture’ for the VCSE sector at a GM level, recognising the 

complexity and diverse nature of the sector 

 

Commitment 6: We will put into place meaningful mechanisms to make co-design of local services the 

norm, including expanding channels for service design to be informed by ‘lived experience’. 

Our aim is to create arrangements to enable local people, groups and organisations to be involved 

in the design of the services which are provided for them. 

Examples of routes through which this commitment will be supported at a GM footprint include: 

 We will work together to further implement the principles of GM Model Reform White 

Paper, including neighbourhood pilots in 10 pathfinder deprived communities. 

 Support VCSE infrastructure organisations in localities to engage with LCOs, PCNs and local 

NHS/health governance within the ICS structure 

 Helping to create the Greater Manchester ‘Live Well – Beyond Social Prescribing Plan’ in 

partnership with existing social prescribing providers and communities.  

 Continue and build on leadership from and lived experience facilitated by the VCSE sector 

around specific programmes of work (including mental health, homelessness, food poverty, 

carers and digital inclusion for example) to act as catalysts and connectors for communities 

in GM 

 

Commitment 7: We will fulfil the potential for building productive relationships between the VCSE, 

public and private sectors to address inequity and build back fairer 

Our aim is to work closely with local businesses as well as the public sector to increase their focus 

on social value and addressing inequalities 

Examples of routes through which this commitment will be supported at a GM footprint include: 

 Work together with all Greater Manchester Local Authorities and public sector organisations 

to put in place Employer Supported Volunteering, secondments, work shadowing and other 

arrangements in conjunction with their local VCSE infrastructure, to enable the sharing of 

expertise and knowledge between sectors 

 Developing collective responsibilities for achieving outcomes against equality objectives, 

which include an increased role for neighbourhood level political leadership alongside local 

communities, VCSE organisations, local businesses and public bodies 

 Facilitate increased collaboration between population health and inclusive economy 

colleagues to highlight the intersectionality of population health and economy, and how the 

VCSE can contribute, lead and innovate  

 Fully utilise the GM ICS structures to facilitate collaboration between partners in a place 

across health, care services, public health, and voluntary sector to overcome competing 

objectives and improve outcomes 

 

 

Page 340



 

7 
 

Commitment 8: We will put in place a comprehensive workforce programme to support organisational 

and workforce development for VCSE employers based on and facilitating a more integrated public 

facing workforce 

Our aim is to improve capacity, capability and employment standards across the paid and 

voluntary VCSE workforce in Greater Manchester 

Examples of routes through which this commitment will be supported at a GM footprint include: 

 Develop and deliver GM VCSE Race Equality Action Plan 

 Develop the skills of VCSE Leaders. increase opportunities for peer support and learning for 

system leaders in the VCSE sector and create more opportunities for multi-agency connection 

and increasing awareness of good practice in VCSE leadership 

 Achieve our ambition for 100% of VCSE organisations in Greater Manchester to pay the real 

Living Wage 

 Increase VCSE organisations’ involvement as Supporters, Members and Advocates for the 

sector in the GM Good Employment Charter 

 Enhanced leadership support for those at the forefront of networks of VCSE organisations 

who represent particular communities of identity and marginalised groups 

 Link the VCSE workforce programme with GM workforce development programme, ensuring 

that the VCSE workforce is able to benefit from access to Higher Educational Establishments 

funding and placements. 

 

The content of this Agreement has been developed following a series of structured conversations 

with key stakeholders in the Accord through the spring and summer of 2021, including VCSE 

organisations from across the whole of Greater Manchester, as well as representatives from the 

Greater Manchester Combined Authority, the GM Health and Social Care System, NHS and local 

authorities. 

The final version of the Accord has been shared for sign off by the GM VCSE Leadership Group, the 

Combined Authority and Health and Social Care Partnership governance structures. It will be 

supported by a five-year implementation plan for work driven at a GM footprint and funding 

agreement for implementation of that plan, as well as a review of the operation and membership on 

the GM VCSE Leadership Group. 

Page 341



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

1 
 

  

GM VCSE Accord 2021: 

ANNEX – Context, governance and implementation 

This Annex describes the context surrounding the GM VCSE Accord, and an explanation of how it will 

be delivered.  

It should be noted that as the arrangements, budgets and governance for the GM Integrated Care 

System are currently in development, it may be necessary to update this document and seek further 

ratification over the coming months. 

1.0 Background and context for the Accord 

1.1 Context 

The original GM VCSE Accord was signed in November 2017 by the Mayor of Greater Manchester on 

behalf of the GMCA, with several hundred representatives of the VCSE sector. It was an agreement 

for 5 years until November 20221.  

The Memorandum of Understanding between GM Health & Social Care Partnership2 and the VCSE 

sector in Greater Manchester is a 5-year agreement signed in January 2017, which built upon the 

work by the then VCSE Devolution Reference Group that supported the Partnership in its goals for 

improving the health and wellbeing of Greater Manchester. 

The new Accord agreement will replace both the 2017 GM VCSE Accord and the Memorandum of 

Understanding with the GM Health and Social Care Partnership. 

In January 2020, the GM VCSE Leadership Group published its VCSE Policy Paper3 which describes 

the role and potential contribution of the VCSE sector as a positive force in a ‘system’ which will 

strive for change and the future improvement of Greater Manchester. The Policy Paper sets out the 

sector’s ‘offer’ to build from successful work that is already in place, and play a greater role in 

system change, solutions with communities, and building a truly inclusive and equitable economy. It 

also describes a vision and the development and transformation which needs to take place within in 

the VCSE sector over the next 10 years. 

In February 2021 the Government in the White Paper: ‘Integration and Innovation: Working 

together to improve health and social care for all,’ announced a number of new measures as part of 

a proposed Health and Care Bill which included the creation of statutory Integrated Care Systems. 

It details how systems and their constituent organisations will accelerate collaborative ways of 

working in future to improve population health and healthcare; tackle unequal outcomes and access 

and put the citizen at the heart of their care.  

Integrated Care Systems will do this through: 

                                                           
1 Accord between Mayor and GM Combined Authority and the VCSE Sector | www.gmcvo.org.uk 
2 MoU between GM Health & Social Care Partnership an the VCSE sector in Greater Manchester — VSNW 
3 GM-VCSE-Position-Paper-Final.pdf (vcseleadershipgm.org.uk) 

Page 343

https://www.gmcvo.org.uk/publications/accord-between-mayor-and-gm-combined-authority-and-vcse-sector
https://www.vsnw.org.uk/publications/2017/6/22/mou-flyer
https://vcseleadershipgm.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/GM-VCSE-Position-Paper-Final.pdf


2 
 

2 
 

 Stronger partnerships in local places between the NHS, local government and others, including 

the VCSE sector, 

 Collaboration between partners in a place across health, care services, public health, and 

voluntary sector to overcome competing objectives. 

 Developing strategic commissioning through systems with a focus on population health 

outcomes.  

 And driving innovation through the use of digital and data to drive system working, connect 

health and care providers to improve outcomes. 

Since 2016 GM has evolved the way it works to move toward an approach which allows delivery of 

the maximum benefit for our population: more closely aligning and integrating different parts of the 

NHS, as well as bringing the NHS far closer to wider partners.  

GM views place, and partnerships within place as very important. For most people their day-to-day 

support needs will be expressed and met locally in the place where they live. The VCSE sector can 

play a major role in these formal and informal partnerships, networks and collaborations which have 

been set up at local ‘place’ level, bringing local community knowledge and insight as well as the 

benefits of working at scale. 

GM is now setting out the next five years of its journey through a refreshed GM health and care 

strategy. The VCSE sector as a vital cornerstone of a progressive health and care system and as such 

the sector needs to be positioned as a strategic partner in shaping, improving and delivering services 

and developing and delivering plans to tackle the wider determinants of health. This Accord 

provides an opportunity for the VCSE sector to be at the heart of the opportunities presented by the 

formal ICS and the new GM Health and Care Strategy. 

The Accord will also be an integral mechanism for delivery of the refreshed Greater Manchester 

Strategy, due to be published later in 2021. This agreement will enable the VCSE and statutory 

sectors to collaborate around key GMS outcomes. 

1.2 Process involved in the development of this Accord 

The development of this Accord is the product of a series of structured conversations held in July 

and early August 2021 with the following stakeholders: 

- GM VCSE networks 

- Local VCSE infrastructure organisations 

- Local VCSE leaders (invited via LIOs) 

- A range of GMCA and GMHSCP Commissioners, policy leads and statutory sector 

stakeholders 

As well as wide stakeholder engagement, this Accord agreement has been informed by reflection on 

the success of the original VCSE Accord undertaken by the GM VCSE Leadership Group and officers 

at GMCA, as well as by learning gleaned from the evaluation report of the GM VCSE Engagement 

Programme4 for the GM Health and Social Care Partnership, carried out by Cordis Bright in early 

2021. Furthermore, the Accord has been developed following consideration of our learning and 

reflections from the Covid-19 pandemic, the 2021 report of the GM Independent Inequalities 

Commission, and the Marmot report ‘Building Back Fairer in Greater Manchester’.  

                                                           
4 https://www.gmcvo.org.uk/publications/gm-health-and-social-care-vcse-engagement-project-evaluation 

Page 344

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/YLWlCZ4AZc732nmtzFIsb?domain=gmcvo.org.uk


3 
 

3 
 

On 29th July the GM State of the VCSE Sector Report was published, providing a snapshot of the role 

and health of the VCSE sector in GM. This report contained six key recommendations which were 

endorsed by the Mayor of Greater Manchester at the launch event. The six recommendations align 

closely to the eight commitments within the draft VCSE Accord.  

1.3 Detailed Scope 

This Accord agreement relates to the relationship between voluntary organisations, community 

groups and social enterprises and statutory sector organisations, including local authorities and NHS, 

in places and communities across GM.  The success of the Accord and the shared commitments that 

it contains will rely on their recognition, adoption and action at a locality and neighbourhood level. 

GMCA and the Health and Social Care Partnership will provide investment towards the following 

activities: 

 The involvement of VCSE leaders, organisations and groups in the development and delivery 

of the Greater Manchester Strategy, the new Integrated Care System Strategic Plan and any 

strategies which have a GM footprint, including projects and programmes led by the Greater 

Manchester Combined Authority and through the GM Integrated Care System, including 

collaborative work across districts. 

 The role, function and purpose of the VCSE within new Provider Collaboratives and 

partnership arrangements both at GM and place level as part of the development of the new 

ICS, including the building of relationships with NHS Providers. 

 VCSE sector leadership, infrastructure, capacity and support which takes place at a GM 

footprint. 

1.4 Who is involved? 

The Accord is a tripartite agreement between the Greater Manchester Combined Authority, and the 

Greater Manchester Health and Social Care Partnership, and the Voluntary, Community and Social 

Enterprise Sector in Greater Manchester, represented by the GM VCSE Leadership Group.  

1.5 Time scales 

This new Accord agreement will be for period of five years commencing on 1st October 2021. It will 

be subject to an annual review and reporting process through the GM VCSE Leadership Group, 

Combined Authority and GM Integrated Care System governance. 

 

2.0 Examples of successes from which this Accord is built 

2.1 Key strategic pieces of work 

The increasing focus on the social, economic and environmental determinants of health and 

inequality has brought opportunities for the VCSE to show how its work can make an impact. 

Understanding the distinctive contribution that the VCSE sector can make to a shared aim to address 

inequality and improve the health and wellbeing of the population has helped to unlock some 

opportunities for the sector to be involved in conversations about how to bring about the desired 

change. The GM Devolution VCSE Reference Group (now the GM VCSE Leadership Group) has been a 

key body for the statutory sector to work with around Taking Charge, the GM Health and Social care 

Partnership Strategic Plan and the Greater Manchester Strategy. 

Page 345



4 
 

4 
 

The Living with Covid Recovery Plan was developed in the summer of 2020 with the VCSE sector 

playing a major role – both in the delivery of key actions, but also in leading a number of the tasks 

identified in the implementation plan. The Plan has allowed work to move forward around 

volunteering, mutual aid, emergency support, and social value, for example. 

In 2021, the refresh of GMS will be designed to link with the refresh of the VCSE Accord and will 

enable VCSE involvement across the main themes. Work around the VCSE Accord and through the 

GM VCSE Leadership Group has enabled the involvement of a diverse group of VCSE sector 

representatives in strategic discussions. 

2.2 Improved Standards of Working with the VCSE sector  

This is an area where a huge amount of progress has been made. VCSE organisations have been 

involved in and in some cases led some innovative and effective pieces of work. With the increased 

recognition of the role of the VCSE sector has come a strengthening of individual relationships. Both 

statutory and VCSE stakeholders report that people from VCSE sector are seen as valued and trusted 

colleagues and treated as equals in the formal and informal conversations. 

Examples of relevant activities include: 

 Co-production projects – there has been strong VCSE involvement and leadership in a 

number of joint programmes which explore the role of co-production in service reform and 

commissioning. Considerable co-production with the VCSE sector has also informed the 

development of the GM Homelessness Prevention Strategy by the VCSE-led Homeless Action 

Network.  

 VCSE Commissioning Framework5 – building from the MOU with the GM Health and Social 

Care Partnership, and on behalf of the VCSE Leadership Group, a GM VCSE Commissioning 

Framework has been developed and agreed by the GM Commissioning hub. This Framework 

was the product of intense consultation and interaction with commissioners, commissioned 

VCSE groups, and leaders from both the health and social care environment and the VCSE 

sector across the ten localities. It will be important to build from this work in any future 

Accord and roll out across GMCA and local authority commissioners of services from VCSE 

organisations. 

2.3 Partnerships and Policy development 

Examples of relevant activities include: 

 From their inception, VCSE representatives have had a strong role in the work of the GM 

Reform Board and Tackling Inequality Board6. The latter has an equal split in membership 

between VCSE representatives and the statutory sector. Through these partnerships, the 

VCSE sector is able to influence and shape policy developments such as the Greater 

Manchester Model. 

 Emergency structures – during the Covid pandemic, VCSE representation has been strong 

across both the GM and locality level emergency structures, with the Chair of the Leadership 

group sitting on the GM SCG. 

 Equalities – GM now has 7 Panels and partnerships7 which enable engagement and voice of 

communities of identity, including the GM Youth Combined Authority. These have all been 

                                                           
5 VCSE Commissioning Framework and Delivery Plan | www.gmcvo.org.uk 
6 Tackling Inequalities Board - Greater Manchester Combined Authority (greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk) 
7 Equalities - Greater Manchester Combined Authority (greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk) 

Page 346

https://www.gmcvo.org.uk/publications/vcse-commissioning-framework-and-delivery-plan
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/equalities/tackling-inequalities-board/
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/what-we-do/equalities/


5 
 

5 
 

established since the signing of the VCSE Accord and enable diverse communities to shape 

and challenge policy at a GM footprint.  

 The Mental Health Leaders Group – facilitated by VCSE leaders has ensured that best 

practice is being shared and replicated between member organisations.  

 The Homelessness Action Network - stands out as an example of best practice in bringing 

together the full range of statutory and VCSE sector partners, frontline workers and people 

with lived experience in an open and flexible digital forum which allows for collaborative 

problem solving.  

 Economy – following an extensive recruitment process, the GM Local Enterprise Partnership 

has three members with roots in the VCSE sector. Furthermore, there has been VCSE 

Leadership Group involvement in the Brexit Resilience and other economic strategy group 

discussions 

 Environment – VCSE representation has been key in the development of the GM 

Environment Plan and in the two Green Summits. It’s clear that the sector has a strong 

influence on this agenda. 

 Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) – the PCC team has worked extremely closely with 

the VCSE sector and with its services users. VCSE representatives have joined the GM 

Violence Reduction Unit programme, and lead activities as part of its operation.  

2.4 Engagement and lived experience 

Over the last 5 years there has been increased information sharing and dialogue between the 

statutory and VCSE sectors, through the creation of formal communication and engagement 

channels which had not previously existed. As a result, stakeholders have reported that there had 

been an increase in the understanding of the VCSE sector and the communities it represents 

amongst statutory partners, that processes had become more inclusive and that more “community 

voice” is evident in the thinking of statutory organisations. 

2.5 Specific pieces of work 

 Genuinely inclusive engagement has been evident in the Big Alcohol Conversation, which 

provided grant funding to small voluntary sector and community groups to conduct 

consultations with the communities they represent and which would not have been reached 

by a mass media campaign. 

 Response to COVID-19. The close involvement of the VCSE sector in the response to COVID-

19 in GM, particularly in the homelessness and mental health sectors, has been seen to have 

been successful in providing a huge impact on people’s lives. 

 GM smoking campaign. The VCSE sector led on the campaign and its evaluation highlighted 

evidence of clear impact in terms of smoking quits.  

 Homelessness provision. The homelessness sector in GM is a clear example of where 

significant progress has been seen, for example in the offer to street homeless through the A 

Bed Every Night programme.  

 Social prescribing. The active involvement of VCSE leaders in the social prescribing work in 

GM has substantially helped build the programme, and research carried out by Salford CVS 

developed guidelines on how to improve social prescribing services. 

 

 

Page 347



6 
 

6 
 

3.0 Delivery of this Accord Agreement 

3.1 Governance / management arrangements for the Accord 

The VCSE Accord will be signed off through individual ‘governance’ structures but will be owned 

jointly by the GM Combined Authority, the GM Health and Social Care Partnership (with approvals 

through the GM Partnership Executive Board and Health and Care Board) and the GM VCSE 

Leadership Group.  

Representatives from the three parties will meet every 3 months as a VCSE Accord Management 

Group to review progress made towards the shared objectives and targets set out in the 

Implementation Plan, to monitor the budget and spend, and to make any necessary adjustments to 

delivery.  

The VCSE Accord Management Group will be jointly and equally accountable to the three parties in 

this agreement and will also be responsible for evaluation of the effectiveness of the Accord 

agreement. The Group will be made up of members of the GM VCSE Leadership Group, and officers 

from the GMCA and ICS.  

3.2 Role of the GM VCSE Leadership Group 

Formerly known as the VCSE Devolution Reference Group, the GM VCSE Leadership Group works to 

support VCSE sector engagement across Greater Manchester’s devolution agenda.  

This Accord agreement has been brokered by and is signed by the GM VCSE Leadership Group on 

behalf of the VCSE sector in Greater Manchester.  

For the purpose of delivering this Accord agreement, the GM VCSE Leadership Group will sit at the 

heart of a collaborative representative ‘social architecture’ for the VCSE sector at a GM level, 

recognising the complexity and diverse nature of that sector. It will take responsibility on behalf of 

the VCSE sector to drive forward the Accord agreement and the work to implement it at a GM 

footprint. 

The Leadership Group has reviewed its operation and membership to ensure that it can be fully 

accountable to the wider VCSE sector for delivery of the Accord agreement. Members of the 

Leadership Group are expected to be ‘catalysts and connectors’ on behalf of the sector. They will be 

supported by other collaborations and networks, leadership at a thematic and locality level, and will 

commit to engaging with leaders and stakeholders operating across all 10 boroughs of Greater 

Manchester. 

For the VCSE Accord to be successful strong relationships and stabilities across the VCSE and 

statutory sector must also play out in individual localities and neighbourhoods. This will mean that 

the VCSE Leadership Group must have strong links into the 10 local authority areas, include 

representation of VCSE Infrastructure (LIOs), providers (Provider Federation) and equalities (GM 

Equal) as members. 

3.3 Implementation plan and funding agreement 

Delivery of the Accord will be progressed through the development of a detailed GM 

Implementation Plan. This will contain the shared commitments set out in the Accord agreement, 

together with a comprehensive framework for delivery. The 5-year vision and objectives will be 

underpinned by annual delivery plans which will provide information on the agreed actions, 

responsibilities, timescales, targets and outcomes for delivery of this Accord agreement. 

Page 348



7 
 

7 
 

The GM Implementation Plan will be used as the basis for a partnership funding agreement between 

the GMCA, Health and Social Care Partnership and the GM VCSE Leadership Group, which will cover 

the length of this Accord agreement, but be subject to annual review and confirmation of budgets 

for the GMCA and GM Integrated Care System. 

3.3 Evaluation and review 

The Accord will be a living document to be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure that it remains 

relevant and fit for purpose. An annual report will be provided to the GM VCSE Leadership Group, 

the Combined Authority and Integrated Care System governance arrangements.  

Page 349



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
Annex 3 – Oldham’s Commitment to the GM 
VCSE Accord 2021 
 
1.0 Commitment 1: We will work together to achieve a permanent reduction in 

inequalities and inequity within Greater Manchester, addressing the social, 

environmental and economic determinants of health and wellbeing. 

1.1 In September 2021 we launched our new Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Strategy. 

The "Building a Fairer Oldham" strategy aims to expand on the successful work 

already happening to tackle unfairness across the borough and create a more equal 

Oldham, where people from all communities can fulfil their potential. The strategy 

was coproduced with Oldham’s EAG, and the Voluntary, Community, Faith, and 

Social Enterprise (VCFSE) sector. 

1.2 Oldham’s Poverty Action Plan (formally adopted in December 2020) aims to reduce 

socio-economic inequality across the borough, while also tackling the economic 

determinants of health and wellbeing. The Action Plan focuses on practical solutions 

to support people in poverty in Oldham, but more importantly also aims to create 

steps out of poverty. The Action Plan is a partnership document, owned by the wider 

system including the VCFSE sector, with the aim of working collaboratively to tackle 

the wider determinants of poverty. 

1.3 To ensure our approach to tackling inequality is based on lived experience, in 

September 2021 we launched Oldham’s Poverty Truth Commission. The 

Commission brings together people with real experience of hardship with others who 

have the power, influence and/or authority to do something about it. The aim is to 

build relationships and trust between local people and civic leaders that increase 

understanding of poverty and bring about changes in policy and practice that make a 

real difference. The Commission will meet over 2021 / 2022, developing a series of 

recommendations that will inform a final report in Autumn 2022.  

1.4 We are also committed to generating social value, reducing health inequalities 

through action on the social determinants of health – for example, by improving 

employment and housing. The Social Value Portal (SVP) toolkit had recently been 

embedded into the Council’s procurement process to maximise opportunities and 

measure, monitor and report on social value elements of projects.  A working group 

and the SVP team had produced three sets of TOMS (Themes, Outcomes and 

Measures) bespoke to Oldham, aligned with the Oldham Model and based on 

National TOMS.  ‘Multipliers’ might be added to the TOMS to focus bidders’ attention 

on specific measures such as spend through local supply chains and supporting 

small- and medium-sized enterprises’ (SME) business continuity during the 

pandemic. 

2.0 Commitment 2: We will embed the VCSE sector as a key delivery partner of 

services for communities in Greater Manchester. 

2.1 Oldham Council has a strong and long-standing relationship with the VCFSE sector, 

supporting the role of the sector through for example, the Thriving Communities 

Programme. The Oldham Social Prescribing Innovation Partnership is a pioneering 

three-year Innovation Partnership on behalf of Oldham Cares (our integrated care 

Page 351



 
 
 

organisation) to a local consortium of voluntary and community organisations. The 

commissioning model draws power from the social value act and focuses on 

innovating and iterating the service model through coproduction with partners and 

residents to get the best service and offer possible to meet resident’s needs. 

2.2 The Partnership is focusing on developing social prescribing – specifically linking in 

residents/patients who have ‘more than medical’ needs e.g. social isolation, 

loneliness, low level mental health or physical health (they may want to join a walking 

group or a coffee morning for depression) or just wanting to better navigate other 

parts of wider public system such as welfare. The objectives of the partnership are to; 

improve the health and wellbeing for people in Oldham through ‘more than medical’ 

care and support, build upon community capacity and reduce pressure on the health 

and care system. 

2.2 Oldham’s VCFSE sector has also been integral to tackling inequality across Oldham, 

especially inequalities caused or exacerbated by the pandemic. In March 2020 the 

Council was given a statutory duty to coordinate food, self-care, medical supplies and 

other forms of necessary assistance to vulnerable groups in response to COVID-19. 

The Community Bronze Group was established with joint leads from the Council and 

Action Together (representing Oldham’s VCFSE sector) and within days, 5 Hubs 

were mobilised to coordinate food, medicines, mutual aid, volunteering and 

community intelligence. 

2.3 At the start of the COVID-19 pandemic we also established Oldham’s Equality 

Advisory Group (EAG), bringing together key community representatives (especially 

those with protected characteristics) to help shape and inform Oldham’s COVID-19 

response. The EAG has been represented at all levels of Oldham’s COVID-19 

response governance, ensuring that any potential inequalities caused by COVID or 

by our response can be identified and mitigated. As we start to recover from the 

impact of the pandemic, the responsibility of the EAG has shifted, focusing on the 

wider determinants of inequality in Oldham to help shape the design and delivery of 

services.  

2.4 In 2021, emergency funding was allocated to charities in Oldham that support victims 

and survivors of domestic abuse and sexual violence to adapt their services while the 

pandemic continues. Oldham Community Safety and Cohesion Partnership recently 

awarded £100,000 to 10 projects across the Oldham Borough who are promoting 

healthy relationships and supporting young people affected by domestic violence and 

abuse and prevent them from becoming involved in violence themselves. 

3.0 Commitment 3: We will build a financially resilient VCSE sector that is resourced to 

address our biggest challenges of ending poverty and inequality in Greater 

Manchester. 

3.1 Our ambition in Oldham is to empower communities to do more for themselves and 

to develop an asset-based approach to early intervention.  This is dependent on a 

sustainable and thriving VCSFE sector. We aim to develop a strategic approach to 

investment in the sector, bringing internal and external funding together to invest 

around shared priorities and outcomes for Oldham. This will be at the heart of a wider 

approach to supporting the sector from our social value procurement policy, how we 

use our physical assets, to how we develop a new approach to commissioning. 

3.2 Oldham’s VCFSE sector has been critical to supporting the local COVID-19 

response, helping ensure communities are engaged, providing essential support 

Page 352



 
 
 

(food, medicine, etc) and supporting the wider system. However, COVID-19 will have 

had a direct and immediate impact on the resilience and sustainability of the VCFSE 

sector for a variety of reasons, including: 

• Reduced ability to fundraise and generate revenue through trading, rental income 

etc.  

• VCFSE organisations were already operating with historically low levels of 

financial reserves 

• Existing volunteering capacity reduced as a result of sickness, and self-isolation. 

Many volunteers fall into groups particularly vulnerable to COVID-19. 

• Demand on their services increasing significantly given additional pressures on 

already vulnerable groups, as well as many more people needing support due to 

financial hardship, sickness, bereavement etc. 

3.3 The infrastructure support to the VCFSE which Action Together provide is key to the 

development and sustainability of the local sector, as well as providing representation 

and voice to small groups and organisations. The sector contributes across all six 

themes of Oldham’s COVID-19 recovery plan, in particular Driving Equality and 

Improving Health & Safeguarding the Most Vulnerable. 

3.4 We are currently exploring options to create a One Oldham Fund, establishing a 

single grant investment fund for the VCFSE in Oldham. This would enable us to 

continue investment in the sector beyond the existing COVID-19 Recovery Fund. 

This first phase would focus on supporting organisations to remain viable, to continue 

to deliver the ongoing COVID-19 response and to contribute to the delivery of 

Oldham’s Covid Recovery Strategy priorities within this financial year.  

3.5 Alongside this initial investment work will continue to explore with DHSC colleagues 

whether the (Contain Outbreak Management Fund) COMF or other COVID-19 

funding could be used for a second phase of the fund which would enable us to make 

multi-year investments on a larger scale to support the viability and resilience of our 

VCFSE over the medium-term. 

4.0 Commitment 4: We will grow the role of the VCSE sector as an integral part of a 

resilient and inclusive economy where social enterprises, co-operatives, community 

businesses, charities and microsocial business thrive. 

4.1 In February 2020 Oldham hosted a conference to explore how the social economy can 

play a much more central role in the economic and community wellbeing of places 

across the country. Participants explored key learning and shared experiences about 

what has worked in different places to shape a future vision for place-based, co-

operative and social enterprise innovation. Following the conference, Oldham and the 

GMCA applied for funding from the Co-operative Councils’ Innovation Network to 

explore how the recommendations from the conference could be put into practice on 

a GM footprint. This piece of work was delayed due to the pandemic; however, we are 

now in the process commissioning a delivery partner to undertake research across 

GM, looking at how the social economy could be further supported, developed and 

promoted.  

4.2 In September 2021 Oldham Council launched a new Social Enterprise Programme 

(funded through the Local Access fund), in partnership with Oldham Enterprise Trust, 

Upturn Enterprises, First Choice Homes Oldham, Regenda Housing and Action 

Together. The partnership with see £2 million of funding to support the development 

Page 353



 
 
 

of stronger, more resilient and sustainable social economies in disadvantaged places. 

The spectrum of support will include:  

• Pre-start-up; inspiring people; active engagement through schools, colleges and 

community organisations; network events facilitating peer mentoring; are you a 

social entrepreneur and idea development sessions; small ‘try it’ grants; hosted 

incubation; and start-up support. 

 

• Development; product/service development; organisational development with 

emphasis on marketing, digital and financial capability and capacity; professional 

mentoring; customer engagement and service; social impact measuring; social 

investment options 

 

• Scale-up; growth planning; product and market diversification; specialist business 

support; systems upgrades; professional mentoring; social impact reporting; social 

investment 

4.3 The ambition is that the Local Access funding creates the opportunity to prepare and 

shape a business start-up programme for social entrepreneurs that will: 

• Put Social Enterprise into the heart of the matter 

• Make Oldham the place for Social Enterprises to emerge and thrive 

• Help solve the issues that we need to address in our diverse communities, 

unlocking and encouraging talent and potential as we go. 

• Help organisations and businesses confidently engage with Social Enterprises get 

what they specify. 

• Promote the benefits of a social enterprise business model to new and existing 

businesses. 

5.0 Commitment 5: We will build on our existing strengths to build the best VCSE 

ecosystem in England 

5.1 Oldham has a rich community of VCFSE organisations. There is estimated to be a total 

of 1,231 VCFSE organisations in total, including registered charities and social 

enterprises. 89% of these organisations are micro or small with income less than a 

£100k per annum.  

5.2 Action Together have a key role in community development and capacity building of 

voluntary, community, faith and social enterprise (VCFSE) sector which therefore 

increases the ability of communities to help themselves with reduced dependence 

upon Council and partner services. They also provide strategic leadership and 

representation of the sector and therefore provide a key conduit for public sector 

partners’ relationship and communication with the VCFSE sector. 

5.3 During the last 18 months Action Together have been integral to Oldham’s COVID-19 

response. They have provided strategic leadership to the Community Bronze 

humanitarian aid response as well as providing specific support to the foodbank, 

recruiting emergency response volunteers, supporting community engagement and 

delivering the COVID-19 Response Fund. They have also been a key partner and 

conduit for emergency funds to the sector including the DEFRA Emergency Assistance 

grant, Community Conversations funding and MHCLG Community Champions Fund. 

Action Together have continued to convene VCFSE networks, and develop new ones 

as needed, for example the Food Solutions Network and Community Engagement 

Page 354



 
 
 

Network, and to represent the sector in key forums such as Silver/Strategic 

Coordination Group and the Equalities Advisory Group.  

5.4 Through Oldham’s Thriving Communities Programme, we have also made Fast Grants 

available, supporting smaller community groups across Oldham to access funding. 

There are lots of groups across Oldham who provide essential support to their 

communities, so Fast Grants aim to support these groups. £60k is made available each 

year for three years (2018 – 2021), with groups awarded anything between £50 and 

£500. 130 grants awarded were awarded in 2019 – 2020, with 2020/2021 funds rolled 

into the Action Together COVID-19 Recovery Fund. 

6.0 Commitment 6: We will put into place meaningful mechanisms to make co-design of 

local services the norm, including expanding channels for service design to be 

informed by ‘lived experience’. 

6.1 Greater Manchester is now working collectively to develop its proposals for the 

redesign of the GM health and care system to ensure greater levels of integration. In 

Oldham this means harnessing the combined strengths of our public services, the 

VCFSE sector and our communities. 

6.2 Since March 2020 we have been implementing our place-based model of public 

service delivery, providing services across 5 areas. This has included bringing together 

Early help, mental health, welfare rights, housing providers, voluntary and community 

crisis support, and aligning with our COVID-19 hubs to meet the needs and priorities 

of our residents and communities. 

6.3 This approach involves working as ‘one public service’ through system leadership, 

shared plans, data, systems and outcomes, while developing a new relationship with 

people and communities and focusing on early intervention and prevention. During the 

pandemic we have co-designed Oldham’s vaccination programme with partners and 

communities, breaking down the barriers to community engagement through Oldham’s 

Community Champions programme. The Community Champions programme has 

invested over £300k of funding in grants to VCFSE groups and organisations who are 

at the heart of the communities who are most at risk from coronavirus, breaking down 

barriers to vaccination through myth busting and through the use of culturally 

appropriate and accessible communications channels. 

6.4 As part of Oldham’s Thriving Communities programme and approach to early 

intervention and prevention, we have also funded 5 three-year projects through the 

Social Action Fund (totalling £850k over three years), with a focus on addressing social 

isolation and loneliness alongside wider Oldham Cares outcomes around mental 

health and long-term conditions which are often connected to loneliness. The projects 

have had to adapt their models during the pandemic and are increasingly delivering 

virtual and resource pack-based activities, as well as supporting the humanitarian aid 

response for Oldham, including: 

• BAME consortium – BAME Connect programme of activities e.g. Yoga & Connect, 

Cook & Connect plus a befriending offer 

• Wellbeing leisure – community based physical activity, working with community 

partners to deliver exercise opportunities and train volunteers 

• Oldham Play Action Group – intergenerational activities and cooking – virtual 

activity programmes e.g. families in pre-xmas ‘bake off’ challenge  

• Groundwork consortium – focusing on food and growing activities 

Page 355



 
 
 

• Street Angels - twice weekly drop-in for food and clothing (outside), as well as on 

street support to night time economy (when possible) 

6.5 Oldham’s commitment to lived experience is also demonstrated through the recent co-

design of Oldham’s Domestic Violence Strategy, which involved commissioning The 

Collective Partnership/Inspire Women to undertake a series of activities and events 

across Oldham, giving women with lived experience of domestic violence and abuse 

the opportunity to have their voices heard and included in the new strategy document. 

This approach is also being taken with Oldham’s Poverty Truth Commission, which 

brings together people from across Oldham who have experienced poverty to share 

their experiences and help the future design and delivery of services. (Please see 

section 1.3 for further details).  

7.0 Commitment 7: We will fulfil the potential for building productive relationships between 

the VCSE, public and private sectors to address inequity and build back fairer 

7.1 Our VCFSE sector have been supporting those people most impacted by COVID-19 

who are often already affected by existing inequality and vulnerability. Action 

Together have a key role in supporting those organisations to access funding and 

recruit volunteers as well as convening thematic networks and representing the 

sector strategically.  

7.2 Continuing this support to the sector will help to ensure we are able to deliver our 

recovery plan objectives both by enabling the sector to continue to deliver and 

providing voice to marginalized groups and communities. Action Together also 

distribute local grant funding to VCFSE organisations in the borough which enables 

quick distribution of funds through a route accessible to all local groups who may not 

be eligible or be disadvantaged in their applications to external funding sources. 

8.0 Commitment 8: We will put in place a comprehensive workforce programme to 

support organisational and workforce development for VCSE employers based on and 

facilitating a more integrated public facing workforce 

8.1 As a local authority we are championing the creation of a more inclusive workforce, 
The Team Oldham Workforce Strategy ensures that our employment processes and 
conditions are free from discrimination and that we work towards removing barriers to 
employment, development and career opportunities for everyone. We are committed 
to building an inclusive Team Oldham where the workforce reflects the borough we 
serve and the needs of all citizens, and where colleagues feel confident about being 
themselves at work.  

 
8.2 The profile of the existing Team Oldham workforce does not currently reflect the 

diversity of our communities and as a partnership we have recognised that we need 
to accelerate improvements in this area. To increase the pace of change we are 
setting ambitious targets and actions to ensure our actions match our ambition, 
detailed in both Oldham’s Workforce Strategy and Oldham’s Equality, Diversity and 
Inclusion Strategy.  

 

8.3 The greatest challenges we face to having a diverse workforce is increasing the 
number of people with disabilities we employ and ensuring good levels of 
progression for our black and minority ethnic communities. This means we need 
to have both generic and targeted measures in place to address these 
challenges. We already ensure that all disabled candidates who meet essential 
criteria are guaranteed an interview and steps are taken to support people who 

Page 356



 
 
 

need adaptations of any nature but there is still work to do and we have an 
ambitious Apprenticeship and Kick Start programme which aims specifically to 
offer new opportunities to those people who may not normally look to find 
employment across the Oldham Partnership. 

 
8.4 We will review and refresh our workforce programme considering the new 

accord, creating opportunities for peer support and learning for system leaders in 
the VCFSE sector, exploring how we develop a programme of strategic 
engagement and development support for the sector. 

 

Page 357



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Reason for Decision 
 
To provide a decision on the appointment of an Architect led multi-disciplinary design team 
for Oldham Performance Space for the next steps in design development for the Oldham 
Performance Space project; and authorize further delegation(s) for the appointment of 
external advisors (for the provision of professional services), in the required configuration, 
to support the Council in delivery of the project 
 
Executive Summary 
 
The Council completed the feasibility exercise for a new theatre and performance space, 
based within a redeveloped Old Post Office and former Quaker Meeting House at 84 
Union Street and have been successful in obtaining a Towns Fund grant towards the 
capital project. This funding is subject to successfully completing Phase 2 of the Towns 
Fund process and submitting a project (full) business case by June 2022.  
 

Report to CABINET                                                               Part A 

 
Oldham Performance Space:  
Design Team appointment  

 

Portfolio Holder:  
Councillor Arooj Shah, Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder 
for Economic and Social Reform 
 
Councillor Abdul Jabbar, Deputy Leader of the Council and 
Portfolio Holder for Finance and Low Carbon 
 
Councillor Shaid Mushtaq, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Education, 
Skills and Culture 
 
 Officer Contact(s): Katrina Stephens, Director of Public Health   
                                 Emma Barton, Director of Economy 
 
15th November 2021 
 
 

Page 359

Agenda Item 10



 

  2 

In order to progress into the next phase of the project development, the Council will need 
to commission a multi-disciplinary design team to develop the design through RIBA stages 
2 and 3 and submission of the Planning and Listed Building Consent applications.  
 
A fully compliant mini competition tender process has been carried out which will enable 
the next phase of design to commence in October 2021. 
 
Further professional service contracts will be required for cost consultancy, project 
management and net zero carbon advice, to support delivery. 
 
Recommendations 
 
Cabinet is recommended to:  
 

1. Authorise formal agreement and award of the contract for professional services for 

an Architect led multi-disciplinary design team. 

 

2. Delegates approval to the Cabinet Member for Economic and Social Reform in 

consultation with the Director of Economy, the Director of Legal Services, the 

Director of Finance (or their nominees), and the Cabinet Member for Finance, to 

appoint external advisors (for the provision of professional services), in the required 

configuration, to support the Council in delivery of the project to meet the 

information requirements and timescales set by the Towns Fund process. 

 

3. Authorises the Director of Legal Services or his nominated representatives to sign 

and/or affix the Common Seal of the Council to all contractual documentation and 

associated or ancillary documentation required to give effect to the above 

authorisations, delegations, and recommendations in this report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 360



 

  3 

 
 
 
 
 
Cabinet 15th November 2021 
  
 

Oldham Performance Space: Design Team appointment 
 

1 Background 
 

1.1 In August 2020 the Council’s advisors submitted the RIBA stage 1 feasibility and 
feasibility cost plan for a new performance venue for Oldham town centre. The 
Oldham Making Space for Live Performance Feasibility report and Making Space 
Vision provided the basis for the application for a Towns Fund grant. 

 
1.2 The Town Investment Plan supporting the Towns Fund bid included a cost estimate 

of £20m for the delivery of the project. 
 
1.3 In June 2021, the Government announced that Oldham Council had secured 

£24.4m from the Towns Fund for four approved projects. The Heads of Terms 
document that followed confirmed the funding envelope being offered. 

 
1.4 The grant application described how Making Space for Live Performance will 

provide a new flexible performance space in the town centre for use by local arts 
and culture providers, including a new home for the Oldham Coliseum Theatre. 
Based within a redeveloped Old Post Office and former Quaker Meeting House at 
84 Union Street, which will both be retained as part of the project, it will provide 
additional creative arts and performance spaces that meet modern requirements.  It 
will play a significant role in post-Covid-19 recovery. 

 
1.5 The new performance space in Oldham’s Cultural Quarter will target a net-zero 

carbon home for the arts and to widen audiences and creative practice, offer 
training and employment opportunities to local people, and enhance socio-
economic profile of the town centre. The vision is to enhance and enrich the lives 
and life chances of the people of Oldham and to inspire a new generation of artists 
while serving an audience market in Oldham, GM and West Yorkshire. 
Sustainability aspirations include options in consideration of the Council’s 
commitment to be carbon neutral as an organisation by 2025.  The Council have an 
aspiration for this development to achieve net-zero carbon in both construction and 
operational terms, following the definition set out by the UK Green Building Council. 

 
1.6 In August 2021 Cabinet approved £6.133m allocated toward the Performance 

Space from the Towns Fund grant award; with the remainder of the project estimate 
provided by Council resources and match funding. 

 
1.7 The Towns Fund grant funding is subject to successfully completing Phase 2 of the 

Towns Fund process, comprising detailed project development and business case 
assurance at the local level; the funding offer is subject to Government approval of 

Page 361



 

  4 

project (full) business cases to be developed over 12 months from receipt of Heads 
of Terms in June 2021.   

 
1.8 In August 2021 officers commenced a procurement exercise for the appointment of 

an architect led multi-disciplinary design team 
 
 

2 Current Position 
 

2.1 To deliver on the next stages of project development, the Council needs to 
progress the Towns Fund business case. To meet the Towns Fund timescales and 
funding requirements, the Council will also need to commission a multi-disciplinary 
design team to progress the design through RIBA stages 2 and 3. This will allow 
the required design and costing information to be available for the Towns Fund 
(full) business case submission in May 2022. 

 
 

3 Options/Alternatives 
 

3.1 Option 1 – proceed to the next stage of project development (enter into 
contract at the earliest opportunity) 

 
3.1.1 The timescales required by the Towns Fund process are challenging for a complex 

project such as a state-of-the-art theatre, inserted into grade II listed building(s). 
To meet the deadlines for the Towns Fund business case submission, the Council 
have notified the successful organization, and entered into a limited scope of 
service allowing sufficient notice for mobilization of the team. 

 
3.1.2 A fully compliant mini competition tender process has been carried out using the 

Bloom framework (section 13 Procurement Implications). The lead consultant will 
act as multi-disciplinary lead for the flowing consultants: 

 
 Acoustic  
 Interior design  
 Fire  
 Landscape design  
 MEP  
 Planning   
 Principle Designer  
 Structures and Civils  
 Sustainability   
 Theatre Specialist (technical)  

 
3.1.3 The lead consultant will be responsible for the co-ordination of the design of the 

Project and for the appointment, coordination, management, and programming of 
the activities of the Design Team. 

 
3.1.4 At the end of RIBA stage 2 an outline business case will be undertaken as part of 

the process for securing the Towns Fund grant. Further analysis will then be 
undertaken at the end of RIBA stage 3 before final submission to Government of 
the Final Business Case (Towns Fund). 

Page 362



 

  5 

 
3.2 Option 2 – Do not appoint the Performance Space design team.  
 
3.2.1 Should the Council decide not to appoint the design team, the Towns Fund critical 

path milestones (Full Business Case) by May 2022, necessary to meet the funding 
deliverables, would not be achievable. If the Council does not proceed with the 
appointment, to progress the design, in accordance with the programme 
milestones, the risk that the Towns Fund grant would be withdrawn for this project 
would be significant. 

 
3.2.2 This option would put the project on hold and require an exercise in engagement 

and communications with the Coliseum Theatre and wider stakeholders (eg ACE) 
to mitigate reputational damage and work towards an understanding of an 
alternative approach to performance and theatre productions in the Town Centre. 

 
4 Preferred Option 
 
4.1 Option 1 – proceed as planned 
 
 Implement the outcome of the procurement process and award the contract for 

professional services for an Architect led multi-disciplinary design team. This 
option provides the Council with the optimum cost and quality services, providing 
the most commercially advantageous solution to deliver on the Council’s ambitions 
for the next stage of design development.  

 

 
5 Consultation 
 

5.1 Extensive consultation has taken place over the last 48 months through the 
development of the Towns Fund application process.  

 
5.2 Consultation and engagement work took place with stakeholders, partners, 

Council teams and services, elected members, public sector organisations and 
different voices from our local communities to help define the ambitions for the 
new theatre.   

 
5.3 Portfolio Holders have been consulted on the Performance Space feasibility, and 

both staff and elected members have been engaged throughout this process to 
allow ideas and suggestions to be fed into the preferred solutions.   

 
5.4 Project consultation will take place at the applicable time in conjunction with 

standard practice for project development / planning application considerations.  
 
5.5 Further consultation and engagement will continue through the Council’s Big 

Conversation about the town centre which went live on 18 October 2021 
 
 

6 Financial Implications 
 
6.1 Finance implications are covered in Part B of the report. 
 

Page 363



 

  6 

7 Legal Comments 
7.1 Legal implications are covered in Part B of the report. 
 
 
8 Co-operative Agenda 
 

8.1 The acceptance of the Towns Fund grant award to deliver four projects in Oldham 
town centre supports the Co-operative Agenda by achieving outcomes that 
contribute to making Oldham a place to invest and do business, and a 
regenerated town which grows the business base. 

 
 

9 Human Resources Comments 
 

9.1 n/a 
 
 

10 Risk and Assurance  
 
10.1 Risk implications are covered in Part B of the report. 
 
 

11 IT Implications 
 
11.1 IT implications are covered in Part B of the report. 
 

 
12 Property Implications 
 
12.1 Property implications are covered in Part B of the report. 
 

 
13 Procurement Implications 
  
13.1 Procurement implications are covered in Part B of the report. 
 

 
14 Environmental and Health & Safety Implications 
 
14.1 Environmental and Health and Safety implications are covered in Part B of the 

report. 
 

 
15 Equality, community cohesion and crime implications 
 
15.1 There has been a detailed stage one Equality Impact Assessment completed for 

the Creating a Better Place programme. Colleagues in Policy have reviewed this 
document and have given feedback and some suggested additions and elements to 
explore.  

 

 
16 Equality Impact Assessment Completed? 

Page 364



 

  7 

 
16.1  Yes 
 
 
17 Key Decision 
 
17.1 Yes 
 

 
18 Key Decision Reference 
 
18.1 ESR-05-21 
 
 
19 Background Papers 
 
19.1 None  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 365



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 367

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 18th October 2021
	Minutes

	6 Oldham Council Corporate Peer Challenge : Action Plan
	Oldham Council Action Plan in response to Peer Challenge report

	7 Final Accounts 2020-21
	Appendix 1 Statement of accounts 2020-21 final
	1.0 Preface
	1.1 Introduction to the 2020/21 Statement of Accounts by Councillor Abdul Jabbar MBE, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Green
	1.2 Narrative Report
	2.0 Statements to the Accounts
	2.1 Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts
	2.2 Auditors Report
	3.1 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
	3.2 Movement in Reserves Statement
	3.3 Balance Sheet
	3.4 Cash Flow Statement
	3.5 Index of Explanatory Notes to the Accounts
	3.6 Explanatory Notes to the Financial Statements
	4.1 Housing Revenue Account (HRA)
	5.0 Group Accounts
	6.0 Annual Governance Statement 2020/21
	Scope of Responsibility
	The Purpose of the Governance Framework
	The Governance Framework
	Communicating the Authority’s Vision
	Inclusive Economy
	Thriving Communities
	Co-operative Services

	Co-operative Council in a Co-operative Borough
	COVID 19 Pandemic
	Key elements of the Governance Framework
	Principle A – Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and respecting the rule of law
	Principle B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement
	Principle C – Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, social and environmental benefits
	Principle D – Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of the intended outcome
	Principle E – Developing the entity’s capacity including the capability of its leadership and the individuals within it.
	Principle F – Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public management
	Principle G – Implementing good practices in transparency, reporting and audit to deliver effective accountability

	Partnership Arrangements
	Risks on Current Significant Projects
	Review of Effectiveness
	Significant Governance Issues
	Summary
	7.0 Glossary of Terms

	Appendix 2 Adjustments to the draft Statement of Accounts
	Appendix 3 Oldham MBC - Audit Completion Report 2020-21 Issue Draft
	Slide Number 1
	Contents
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16
	Slide Number 17
	Slide Number 18
	Slide Number 19
	Slide Number 20
	Slide Number 21
	Slide Number 22
	Slide Number 23
	Slide Number 24
	Slide Number 25
	Slide Number 26
	Slide Number 27
	Slide Number 28
	Slide Number 29
	Slide Number 30
	Slide Number 31
	Slide Number 32
	Slide Number 33
	Slide Number 34
	Slide Number 35
	Slide Number 36
	Slide Number 37
	Slide Number 38

	Appendix 4- Oldham MBC ACR Completion Follow Up Letter 2020-21
	Independent auditor’s report to the members of Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council


	8 Treasury Management Mid Year Review 2021/22
	9 Refresh of Greater Manchester VCSE Accord
	Annex 1 - GM VCSE Accord draft 31.08.21 v5.0 FINAL
	Annex 2 - GM VCSE Accord Annex 31.08.21 v5.0 FINAL
	Item 4g Annex 3 - Oldhams Commitment to the GM VCSE Accord 2021 - Final

	10 Oldham Performance Space: Design Team appointment
	12 Oldham Performance Space: Design Team appointment

